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PREFACE.

TrE biography of a statesman to whose care “ the
three greatest dependencies of the British Crown
were successively entrusted,” calls for no introduc-
tion to explain or to justify the circumstance of
its publication. But something may be said, in this
place, respecting the materials upon which the pre-
sent Memoir is based, and the considerations which
have influenced the manner of its construction.

When in the autumn of 1846 Lord Metcalfe
was mercifully removed from what had long been to
him a world of suffering, there was found in his will
a special clause, giving and bequeathing to one of
his trustees ¢ all his papers, as well those in his own
possession as in the hands of his agents, Maessrs.
Cockerell and Company, consisting principally of
private correspondence,” to be disposed of by the
said trustee under instructions from the testator,
and failing such instructions at his own discretion.
Lord Metcalfe died, leaving no instructions regard-
ing the papers. They, therefore, became absolutely
the property of the trustee, who, after taking coun-
sel with some of the nearest and dearest friends of
the deceased, did me the honor to request that I
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would take charge of the papers, with the object of
founding upon them a Memoir of the life of Lord
Metoalfe.

The collection was one of considerable bulk. It
comprised several large boxes, containing an im-
mense mass of private letters addressed to Charles
Metcalfe, from the time when he was a boy at Eton
almost to the very day of his death. Here and there
. I found a few drafts or copies of letters written by
Metcalfe himself, mixed up with those of which he
had been the recipient. There were, also, one or
two collections of Metcalfe’s letters, written in a
strain of unreserved confidence and familiarity to
intimate private friends, who had died in India, and
whose executors had seemingly returned the cor-
respondence to the writer. In addition to these
there were some early journals and common-place
books—written at Eton, on the voyage to India,
or during the first years of the writer’s residence
in that country; copies of all his letters written
whilst on his Mission to Lahore in 1808 ; of all, or
nearly all, his minutes written when a member of
the Supreme Government of India; and of his con-
fidential letters and despatches written subsequently
from Jamaica and Canada. Nor must I omit to
state that there was one large box entirely filled
with public addresses of congratulation or condo-
lence—of welcome or farewell—voted to him in the
three great dependencies of which he was some-
time the head.

After the first hasty examination of these papers,
I had little doubt that they had been preserved for
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the purpose to which I was about to devote them.
Nothing fortifies and encourages a biographer so
much as such an assurance as this. Metcalfe had a
very early prescience that he was destined to be
great. When yet little more than sixteen he wrote,
not lightly and jestingly either, of the ¢ fervent
biographer,” who was to seize upon the traits of
character indicated in the self-searching entries in
his Common-place Book. But carefully as all these
papers had been preserved, and multitudinous as
were the records, they were hardly to be regarded
as the best, or most legitimate materials of bio-
graphy. Of the thousands of letters which passed
into my hands, there was hardly one which was not
of some use, as suggesting an idea, strengthening
an impression, contributing something to the full
comprehension of a trait of character, or supplying
a clue to the elucidation of some incident in Met-
calfe’s life. Yet the entire collection did not supply
complete materials for a biography. Whilst there
was a superabundance of letters addressed Zo Lord
Metcalfe, there was an obvious want of letters
written by him. The want, however, was soon sup-
plied. Although some of his most intimate friends
and cherished correspondents had either not re-
tained, or had destroyed upon leaving India all the
letters they had received from him, or had been
deprived of them by some of those moving accidents
by flood and field which are the constituents of a
stirring Indian career, others had carefully preserved
the letters of their friend, and, in some instances,
these memorials had survived the recipients of them.
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In a little time, either my own inquiries, or those of
influential friends who entered heartily into the un-
dertaking, and were eager to contribute all they
could to its success, elicited from different quarters
all that I desired. There was one collection of early
letters preserved by the late Mr. John Walter Sherer,
of the Civil Service, one of Metcalfe’s earliest friends,
which as illustrating a most interesting epoch of his
career, the records of which were by no means plen-
tiful, I have found of the greatest service. Some
family letters in the possession of Lord Monson—
Metcalfe’s first cousin—which were freely placed at
my disposal, afforded additional materials, for which
I am most grateful; whilst others, illustrative of
what may be called the mid-career of the writer,
were forwarded to me a very little time before his
death, by Sir Richard Jenkins, one of the most dis-
tinguished of Metcalfe’s diplomatic cotemporaries.
Of letters relating to a later period, after Metcalfe
had become famous, it may be supposed that there
was no lack. It is the want of authentic records
of early life that is commonly the biographer’s great
stumbling-block.

It will be seen that I have had no such difficulty
to surmount. The records of Metcalfe’s early life,
some may think, have, in these pages, been unduly
amplified. But, rightly or wrongly, what I have done,
I have done advisedly—systematically. What is for
the most part a necessity often comes in time to be
accepted as a rule. But I have not been able to per-
suade myself that because, in a large number of
biographical works, three-fourths of the space is
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assigned to the few closing years of a distinguished
career—to the record of circumstances illustrative of
a great man’s made reputation—that this is neces-
sarily the way in which biography ought to be
written. Doubtless, however, it is often the way
in which it must be written, or not at all. I am
inclined to think that the narrative of the steps by
which a man has risen to greatness is neither less
interesting, nor less instructive, than an account of
his achievements after the ladder of public life has
been ascended, and he stands on an eminence of popu-
larity before the world ;—in a word, that the History
of Promise is not less valuable than the History of
Performance. The History of a great man’s public
performances are often part and parcel of the History
of the country which he has served. They belong
rather, indeed, to the Historian than the Biographer ;
and though Ignorance may misunderstand, or Party-
spirit may misrepresent them, there is little chance
of their being overlooked. Not always is that, which
is historically the most important, biographically the
most interesting. Itisthefunction of the Biographer
to supply what is beyond the scope of the Historian.
When he reaches that stage of his inquiries at
which the history of the individual becomes the
history of the country, it would seem to be less his
duty to expand than to contract the narrative. At
all events, it is not his business to confine his efforts
mainly to the illustration of those events which
would be known to the public without his assistance.

If T have erred in devoting too much space to the
earlier career of Charles Metcalfe, I have done so at
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least with design and intention. The first volume em-
braces the first thirty-five years of his life, including
the first twenty years of his official career. In the
second volume are contained the annals of the last
quarter of a century of his life. It so happened that
the last twelve years of his Indian career embraced
a season of remarkable historical uneventfulness—
a state of quiescence very much the result of those
measures which he had advocated with so much
energy and ability when in a more subordinate offi-
cial position. It is well known that Sir Charles
Metcalfe liberated the Indian Press. It is well
known that he differed from his Council, in Canada,
on the question of *“ Responsible Government.” But
it is not known how large a share he had in the
authorship of those great measures for the consoli-
dation of our Indian Empire, which shed so much
lustre on the administration of Lord Hastings,
which have preserved the whole continent in peace,
and prepared the country for those internal im-
provements which could take root only in an undis-
turbed soil and under a quiet sky. During the first
twenty years of Metcalfe's Indian career it was his
fortune to live in stirring times; and, although in
a comparatively subordinate position, the character
of his mind and the impress of his opinions were
stamped largely upon them. During the whole of
the administration of Lord William Bentinck, and
the earlier years of Lord Auckland’s reign, when
Sir Charles Metcalfe occupied a prominent station
in the Indian Government, India was lapped in re-
pose. With one or two remarkable exceptions, it



PREFACE. x1

may be said that the history of his public life during
that period of his career is to be found in his Coun-
cil minutes. A collection of these minutes would
form one of the most valuable works on the subject
of Indian administration that could be given to the
public—but it is hardly within the scope of legiti-
mate biography to insert them in these volumes.

At the same time I am not unconscious it may
be said that, in some parts of this work, I have my-
self suffered the biographical to merge into the his-
torical—and such a stricture would not be without
justice, so far at least as regards the fact. But
here, again, if T have erred, I have erred designedly,
and after mature consideration. I am sorry to say
that Indian and Colonial biography cannot be tried
by the same test as that which is applied to memoirs
of English soldiers and statesmen. In the latter
case, the biographer may fairly assume the posses-
sion by the reader of a certain knowledge of the
leading events of English history, to which reference
i1s made in the course of his work. There is no
necessity that he should halt to explain who was
Napoleon Bonaparte or Daniel O’Connell ; or what
was the Catholic-Emancipation or the Parliamen-
tary-Reform Bill. But I am afraid that it is neces-
sary to explain who were Dowlut Rao Scindiah and
Jeswunt Rao Holkar—what was the position of the
King of Delhi after the first Mahratta war—and
what the constitution of the Agra Government after
the passing of the Charter-Act of 1834. I have had
all along an uneasy consciousness, that whilst there
are many readers for whom such explanations are
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wholly unnecessary, there are others for whom I must
explain these things, or leave the narrative of Met-
calfe’s connexion with them in a state of total
obscurity. It is better to err on the side of ful-
ness and perspicuity. I have endeavored to supply
just the necessary amount of general information
and no more; and as I have drawn the historical
portion of the work mainly from original and exclu-
sive sources, I am not without a hope that even
the instructed reader will find something in these
passages not altogether unworthy of his attention.
There are difficulties peculiar to Indian biography.
No man will rejoice more than myself when they are
removed.

‘Whenever I have had the opportunity, I have al-
lowed Charles Metcalfe to tell his own story. When
the choice has lain before me of using his words or
my own, I have always employed the former. I
might have made the narrative briefer, but it would
have been less authentic. As it is, I feel that 1
have omitted much illustrative matter, to me of very
great interest; and it is not impossible that some
readers might wish that certain points of his career
had been more minutely elaborated. This, however,
more or less, will always be the case. In the present
instance, the reproach of such insufficiency is hardly
to be escaped, for nothing has heen more apparent
to me since I commenced this biography, than that
there is a remarkable difference of opinion regarding
what were the most important epochs of Charles
Metcalfe’s life. I have seldom found any two
men to agree upon the subject. In like manner,
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some will think that I have devoted too much space
to the Statesman, others, too much to the Man. I
have endeavored from first to last to bear in mind
that Charles Metcalfe was both. I am not without
a hope that those who knew him, as intimately in the
one relation as the other, will be the most ready to
acknowledge the fidelity of the entire portrait.

My obligations are numerous to those who have
spontaneously aided me with valuable materials, or
with counsel scarcely less valuable ; nor less to others
who, in eminent public or private stations, have re-
sponded promptly and courteously to applications
made to them for permission to make use of cor-
respondence in my possession, in which they have
personally or officially had any original or acquired
property. If I were to follow only my own incli-
nation, I would make individual acknowledgments
of all my obligations, but such expressions of thank-
fulness it is often more pleasant to utter than to
receive ; and, perhaps, the most acceptable manifes-
tation of gratitude for the assistance of all kinds
that has been rendered to me, will be found in the
earnestness with which I have endeavored to turn
it to account in the pages of this Biography.

London, August, 1854.
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THE .

LIFE OF LORD METCALFE.

CHAPTER 1.

[1785—1800.]
BOYHOOD.

Birth of Charles Theophilus Metcalfe—The Metcalfe Family—Major Thomas
Metcalfe—Theophilus and Charles—Early Days—The School at Bromley—
Eton—The Writership—The Voyage to India.

O~ the 30th of January, 1785, a few days before
Warren Hastings ceased to be Governor-General
of India, was born in the city of Calcutta to
Major Thomas Theophilus Metcalfe, of the Bengal
Army, and to Susannah his wife, a second son, who
in course of time was christened Charles Theophilus.
The house in which he was born, was then, and after-
wards, known as the ¢ Lecture House.”* Whether
it still exists, or to what uses it may have since been
put, I have not been able to discover. '

* My authority for this statement some judgment, not to have a room
is a letter from Major Metcalfe to his in the Lecture House. Your objec-
son, written during the first year of tions were just, though it required
Charles’s residence in India, in which some forbearance—particularly beiny
he says: “1 give you some credit for the Aouse you were born in.”
having determined, and I think with

VOL. I. B
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The Metcalfes appear to have been of a good old
Yorkshire stock ; and to have numbered many mem-
bers of their family distihguished in their genera-
tion. One Thomas Metcalfe was Chancellor of the
Duchy of Lancaster, in the reign of Richard the
Third. The valor of James Metcalfe displayed in
the battle of Agincourt, earned for him the honor of
knighthood, and he was dubbed Sir James Metcalfe
of Nappa. In the 15th century, another Thomas
Metcalfe was High Sheriff of the County, and it is
narrated of him, that he rode to the assizes, attended
by fifteen Metcalfes, all mounted on white horses.
In the reign of Charles the Second, another Met-
calfe, Theophilus by name, distinguished himself in
another way. He was the first to reduce short-
hand writing to a system, and to publish an account
of it. He went to London, was rewarded for his
invention, and in remembrance of it was especially
permitted to add a hand and pen to the heraldic
adornments of his family scutcheon. He, or his son,
afterwards settled in Ireland, and from him the sub-
ject of this Memoir was lineally descended.

I can nowhere find it recorded that Charles Met-
calfe was learned in these genealogies, or held his
ancestors of any account. But he was greatly and
reasonably proud of his father. That father was
the son of Thomas Metcalfe, an officer of the King’s
Army, who married the daughter of the Reverend
Thomas Williams. At an early age he was des-
patched as a cadet to India, with a letter of intro-
duction to Lord Clive; but any expectations he
may have based upon it were disappointed, for the
great man had left the country before young Met-
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calfe’s arrival. So the friendless boy was thrown
upon his own resources, and for a time so cheerless
was his situation, and so sombre his prospects, that
he determined to leave the service, and actually
called upon the commanding-officer of his regiment
to tender his resignation. An accident caused him
to abandon the intention as hastily as he had formed
it;* and from that time he determined to achieve
success by a steadfast course of professional perse-
verance.

And in due time he did achieve it. Those were
days in which rapid fortunes were sometimes made
by lucrative Government contracts. It seems that
Thomas Metcalfe soon contrived to detach himself
from the go-cart of regimental routine, and to obtain
employment on the Staff. He was for several years
¢« Agent for Military Stores;”’ and it was doubtless
in this situation that' in course of time he made a
respectable fortune.t

‘Whilst thus Thomas Metcalfe, having risen through
the different gradations of the service up to the rank
of Major, was supplying the army with stores and
making a fortune, he took unto himself a wife. In
the year 1782 he married the widow of a Major
Smith, of the Bengal Army. Five or six years be-
fore, this lady, then Susannah Debonnaire, daughter
of a gentleman resident at the Cape of Good Hope,
had gone out with a sister to join her father in that
settlement ; but it was deemed expedient that the

* Major Metcalfe’s own version of pany’s Records, whence it was ex-

this anecdote is given in a subsequent tracted for me by Mr. Waud, uader
chapter, page 75. He was a cadet of whose admirable arrangements all the
1767. historical wealth of the India House
1 The fact stated in the text is has been rendered peculiarly acces-
given on the authority of the Com- sible to the student.
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young ladies should pursue their voyage to Madras,
where Lord Pigot, a friend of Mr. Debonnaire, was
then Governor of the Presidency. Between the
Cape and the ‘coast her sister died, under very me-
lancholy circumstances, and she narrowly escaped a
similar fate. Arriving, however, alive, though in
shattered health, at Madras, she attracted the re-
gards of Major Smith, to whom she was married in
August, 1776, and soon afterwards proceeded with
her husband to Bengal. He died, leaving no issue;
and in 1782 the widow became the attached and
devoted wife of Thomas Theophilus Metcalfe.

The eldest son, born on 19th of September, 1783,
was called Theophilus John; the second, as I have
said, Charles Theophilus. They were very young when
their parents returned to England. Soon after his
arrival, Major Metcalfe bought a house in Portland-
place, and began to canvass for a seat in the Direc-
tion of the East India Company. He was a man of
active business habits, good sterling common sense,
and an integrity beyond all impeachment. Alto-
gether he was a reliable man. Tn process of time
he became, as he intended, an East-India Director.*
Then he bethought himself of obtaining a seat in
Parliament ; and in due course he was returned for
the borough of Abingdon, which he represented in
several Parliaments. A loyal gentleman, a Tory,
and a staunch supporter of William Pitt, on whose
recommendation, in 1802, he was created a Baronet,
he was an active and assiduous, rather than a bril-
liant member of the House of Commons. But he

* At the general election in April, 1789,
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often spoke, and with good effect, bringing his sound
practical sense and his extensive experience to bear
on many of the questions of the day; but more
especially on those relating to the conduct of our
Indian affairs. He was also an active Director of
the Globe Insurance Company in days when In-
surance Offices were few, and to be a Director of
such a Company was esteemed an honor by men of
high repute. He had brought with him no languor
or lassitude from the East; and altogether was as
robust a man of business as if he had never wiped
the baked dust of Calcutta out of his blinded eyes.

He had several children born to him, of whom
five survived their childhood. They were brought
up, with a sensible kind of indulgence, under the
eye of their mother, who was a woman of strong
understanding, and of great sincerity of character.
Her affection for her children seldom displayed itself
in any maternal weaknesses, but was manifested in
an eager desire to advance their worldly interests,
whatever might be the immediate sacrifice of self.
If she had any partialities, they were in favor of
her eldest son, Theophilus—a fine manly boy, of
whom frequent mention will be made in subsequent
portions of this narrative.

Of the infant days of Charles Metcalfe little is
known beyond what he afterwards recorded of him-
self. He seems to have encountered, like most other
children at the threshold of life, the great stumbling-
block of an unprincipled or an injudicious nurse.
“The woman to whom my infant years were en-
trusted,” he wrote in a Common-place Book which
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he kept in his youth, ‘ used to convey me, by way
of punishment, to a dark room, and representing
the coming of the Old Man (a famous bugbear in
the mouths of nurses) as every minute to be ex-
pected. Here was I left, whilst probably the foolish
woman would groan and make use of several other
means to terrify me. The consequence was, that
throughout my childish and boyish years, I was a
prey to the most horrid fears; and such an effect
has this treatment had on my imagination, that I
am even now much weaker on this point than I
could wish to be.” 8o often are the nursery annals of
great men, and of little, contained in such sentences
as these, that I might almost have recorded them
without a misgiving, even if I had not found them
written down by the hand of Charles Metcalfe him-
self.

At an early age Charles Metcalfe was sent to
school at Bromley, in Middlesex. The establishment
was kept by a Mr. Tait. How it was obtained I do not
know, but this gentleman had a considerable ¢ In-
dian connexion;” and among his pupils were divers
Pattles, and Plowdens, and others bearing names
with which East-Indian Registers have long been
familiar. It was partly on this account, and partly,
perhaps, because some members of Mrs. Metcalfe’s
family resided in the neighbourhood of Bromley,
that Mr. Tait’s academy was fixed upon as the first
training-house for the young Metcalfes. Its recom-
mendations were, I believe, chiefly of an extrinsic
character. Scholastically, perhaps, there was not
very much to be said in its favor.
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To this period of Charles Metcalfe’s early career
there are but few allusions in his letters and journals.
In 1841, nearly half a century after he had been
boarded and birched at good Mr. Tait’s, being then
Governor of an important Crown colony, he wrote
to a near relative, in answer to some family inquiries:
¢« I remember, at Bromley, a fine-looking old gentle-
man, of the name of Debonnaire, who, with his family,
occupied the pew in church next to that of our
school, and whose broad shoulders and peculiar coat
of remarkable pattern are impressed on my memory.
I quitted Bromley in September, 1795. I also re-
member ¢ Aunt Winch,’ as she was called, who used
to board and lodge in Tait’s house, and had my bro-
ther Theophilus and myself sometimes in her room.
I paid her and the school at Bromley a farewell visit
on my departure from England for India, on which
occasion she gave me 2/., encumbered with a laud-
able injunction to purchase the Whole Duty of Man.
...... I have a faint impression that the Le-
fevres, whom I then understood to be relatives of
the Debonnaires, had been the occupants of the
house then in Tait’s possession, which had some old
ceilings of carved wood that we boys used to think
very fine.”

From Charles Metcalfe’s own recorded reminis-
cences little more can be gathered regarding his so-
Journ at the Bromley School. His surviving school-
fellows are not many; but I am told that he was
then a boy of a reserved and retiring nature, and
that the more showy qualities of his elder brother
entirely shone him down. It is remembered that
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Mrs. Metcalfe would pay occasional visits to the
school; and it was well known even to the boys
that Theophilus was the mother’s favorite. Among
the most memorable incidents of that period of
Charles Metcalfe’'s life, was the preparation of a
dramatic entertainment, which caused great excite-
ment for many weeks in the school. The play was
Julius Ceesar; and there was a great show of people
to witness the performance. Theophilus Metcalfe
played Mark Antony. To Charles were assigned the
two humble parts of Flavius and Friend to Brutus.*

After the Christmas holidays of 1795-96, Charles
Metcalfe being then just eleven years old, was
entered at Eton. He went to that famous seminary
as an Oppidan, and hoarded with his tutor, Mr.
Goodall, afterwards head-master and provost of the
college. Dr. Heath was then preceptor-in-chief. As
at the private school, so at the public, he was known
as a quiet, retiring boy. He was not celebrated for
his adroitness in any athletic exercises. He was
neither a cricketer nor a boater. I am not sure
that he ever played at fives. But it is on record,
and on very sufficient authority, that he was once
seen riding on a camel. “I heard the boys
shouting,” said Dr. Goodall, many years after-
wards, ‘“and went out and saw young Metcalfe
riding on a camel; so you see he was always
Orientally inclined.”

Many who knew Charles Metcalfe will, doubtless,
* A printed play-bill, containing a served by Charles Metcalfe tothelatest

list of the Dramatis Personee and the day of his life.
names of the performers, was pre-
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accept the worthy Doctor’s interpretation of this
feat, for such gymnastic achievements were not at
all in the young gentleman’s way. It is not even
on record that, in those early days, he ever trusted
himself on the back of a pony. He was, at all times
of his life, so miserable a horseman, that he seldom
took equestrian exercise for any length of time
without falling off and hurting himself. So that,
except upon the hypothesis that the boy was Ori-
entally inclined, it is not easy to account for the
camel-riding exploit of the studious Etonian.

He was very studious, indeed, at Eton. He went
there when he was eleven years of age, and left when
he was only fifteen. But Goodall was always of
opinion that Metcalfe minor was a boy of very high
promise ; and, perhaps, there was not among his
many pupils one to whom he was more sincerely
attached. The affection was reciprocal. And it was
lasting. Death only put a period to it.

When it is said that Charles Metcalfe was stu-
dious, it is not meant that he merely learnt his
lessons—that he sapped at Latin and Greek, got up
his derivations, wrote lyrics with great success, and
was sometimes sent up for good. Doubtless, all this
was done in the common course of things. But a
boy may accomplish all this at Eton and still have
much time for the playing-fields or the river. Neither
had any charms for Metcalfe. His play-hours were
spent for the most part in-doors. He read English,
he read French, he read Italian. e wrote poetry.
He was fond of drawing. Already was he becoming
somewhat prone to disputation. A whole holiday
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was for him of value only as it gave him more time
to puzzle over ““Rowley’s” poems, to read Gibbon,
or to translate Ariosto and Rousseau.

Towards the close of his career at Eton he began
to keep a journal.* His entries in it exhibit clearly
the studious life that he led. They exhibit, too,
something more than this. The annals of his last
month at Eton afford some curious indications of
the resolution of the boy—of his disposition to do
what he afterwards called ¢ holding out” against
opposition. It appears that, in defiance of their
tutor’s orders, Metcalfe and some other boys were
determined to drink tea in each other’s rooms after
the hour prescribed by authority. Some of the

entries in the following passages relate to this act of
sedition :

JOURNAL BEGAN IN MARCH, 1800.

“ Monday, 3rd.—Whole school-day. Not well. Wrote an
anecdote to the editor of the Naval Chronicle. Drank tea
after six in Hervey’s room, according to agreement. Afraid
the plan of bringing in that custom won't succeed. Passed the
evening in Hervey’s room. Supped with Neville; went to bed
full of turkey.

Tuesday, 4th.—Whole holiday. Not well. Employed at
verses; good theme. Read the ¢ Age of Louis XIV. Mem.
Write to the editor of the Military Journal. Heard of Parson
Grey's being drunk. Drank tea solo. Finished verses; gave

to tutor; he liked them. Passed the remainder of the evening
in Neville’s room, reading.

' * On the cover of his first diary the to intersperse it with observations, re-
young journalist wrote: “ First con- flections, &c. &c.; so that it will be the
ceived the idea of this journal on the general rendezvous not only of my

Ist of March; intend not only to actions, but my thoughts.”—
make it a rela’tion of facts, butyalso ’ Y thonghts."—C. T M.
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Wednesday, 5th.— Whole school-day. Did translation.
Drank tea in Neville’s room, according.to agreement, after six.
My hopes gain on my fears, though the latter are still pre-
dominant. Re-translated four pages of my translation from
Rousseau. Passed the rest of the evening in Neville’s room,
between reading and rowing.

Thursday, 6th.—Half-holiday. Wrote a letter. Tonson sat
in my room ome hour and a half. Adjourned to Spires’s.
Tutor jawed about drinking tea after six. Drank tea with
Tonson. Drew. Passed the remainder of the evening in
Neville’s room.

Friday, 7th—Whole school-day. Drank tea with Shaw,
according to our convention, after six. Tutor jawed with great
spirit. Destruction of our plan must in the end come on; we
are at our last struggle; all our endeavors now are the exertions
of despair, and we must only think how to resign nobly; in
such cases as these, unanimity is required to obtain success, and
that has not been obtained. Did Greek with my tutor. The
remainder of the night in Neville’s room.

Saturday, 8th—Common Saturday. Saw Rooke just going
to Ireland, and thence expects a trip to France. Gave Nepean
tea. Passed the evening in Neville’s room, reading. Finished
Voltaire’s ¢ Life of Louis XIV.” Mem. Follow up the inquiry
about the Iron Mask; ask my tutor to lend me Gibbon.

Sunday, 9th.—Did theme. Read Ariosto with Melville and
Shaw; make laws for the sake of due attention to the book.

Monday, 10th.—Whole school-day; did some Homer. Mem.
These epic poets are very free in their ideas; for instarfce, in
the 290th line of the Book eyov, Aneas has got a stone in
his hand in the act of throwing it at Achilles, who is rushing
with his sword drawn on Aneas; but Neptune, who perceives
destruction impending over Eneas, is determined to ward it off;
accordingly addresses the other gods in a speech of sixteen
lines, to which Juno makes answer in one of nine; in the mean
time, we must suppose the stone pendent in the air, and
Achilles in the act of rushing forward, but both very com-
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plaisantly waiting till their godships have finally decided.
Perhaps it would have been better to have introduced Minerva
with her zgis, turning these heroes into stone till the speeches
were done with. To be sure, that would be comprehensible,
whereas the other idea is so sublime as to be above the weak
understanding of us mortals. Gave tea to Neville, Hervey,
and Shaw, after six, according to agreement. Had a most
tremendous jaw from my tutor, who said nothing but that it
was a serious inconvenience, but could not bring one argument
to prove that it was so. After supper did verses.

Tuesday, 11th—Whole holiday. Gave Lamb breakfast.
Finished verses. Gave Tonson tea. Began a French letter.
Read Ariosto with Neville and Shaw. Begun ¢ Life of Charles
the Twelfth.’

Wednesday, 12th.—General fast. Drank tea with Shaw.
Read Ariosto with Neville and Shaw.

Thursday, 13th—Play at four. Read some of Lucan and
Cicero. Drew. Read Ariosto with Neville and Shaw. Read
Voltaire’s ¢ Life of Charles XII.

Friday, 14th.—Read part of Horace’s ¢ Art of Poetry.” Whole
school-day. Read some Lucan. Drank tea with Hervey after
six. We have conquered; and my tutor, not finding an
argument against us, was obliged to consent; so that now we
do it lawfully. Had it not been for our last despairing
struggles we should have failed. Read the continuation of the
“Iron Mask’ (which Voltaire mentions in his *Siécle de
Louis XIV) in Gibbon. It is most probably, as he says, a son
of Catdinal Mazarin and Anne of Austria, as indeed I think
there are strong suspicions that Louis XIV. was. Read
Gibbon’s ¢ Antiquities of the House of Brunswick and Este.”
Read Gibbon’s ¢ Observations on Bishop Warburton’s Expla-
nation of his Sixth Book of the Zneid.” Read part of Gibbon's
‘ Journal;" and finished Voltaire’s ¢ Life of Charles XII.

Saturday, 15th—Common Saturday. Read Lucan, Greek

Testament. Read Rowley’s ¢ Poems.” Gave Shaw tea. Passed
the evening in Hervey’s room.
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Sunday, 16th.—Learnt ‘ Fourth Satire’ of Juvenal for my
tutor. Read Rowley’s ¢ Poems.” Gave Grose tea. Did verses.

Monday, 17th—Whole holiday. Read Rowley’s ¢ Poems.’
Drank tea with Nepean. Did some lyrics. -

Tuesday, 18th.—Whole school-day. Read Homer. Cicero.
Finished Rowley's ¢ Poems.” Drank tea with Shaw. Finished
Iyrics. Translated three pages of Rousseau.

Wednesday, 19th.—Whole school-day. Read Homer. Virgil.
Read a dissertation on Rowley’s Poems, tending to prove from
the language that they were not written in the 15th century, but
by Chatterton. Gave Neville, Hervey, and Shaw tea. Wrotea
letter. Entered into a train of thoughts on public schools in gene-
ral, and Eton in particular. I conceive the advantages of a public
school to be so great, that I shall here take an opportunity of
cnumerating them. Many have objected to a public education,
with the idea that it gives an inclination to extravagance, dissi-
pation, and vice, which would never be acquired in private
schools. I will not pretend absolutely to deny it; but still, how
much more dangerous is 1t to rush from the close constraint of
a private education to the unbounded liberty of the world; in a
public school the chains are relaxed by degrees, and by imper-
ceptible gradations we arise at perfect freedom. At the head of
one of these schools every one is so much master of himself that
he feels no extraordinary emotions on entering into lifc, being
accustomed to the liberty which is increased in a very small
degree by that event. Secondly, at a public school every vice
and every virtue which we meet with in the world is practised,
although in miniature every deception is triflingly displayed
which one would be open to in life; we learn to abhor vice,
consequently shun it; we learn to admire virtue, consequently
imitate it; we learn to beware of deception, consequently to
avoid 1t; in short, a public school is but a humble imitation
of the theatre of the world ; it is what one conceives of a
drama acted by boys, where the actors are small. On the con-
trary, the sudden transition from a private school into life is too
quick, the contrast too great; unaware of deception, we are
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liable to it; ignorant of vice, we are led into it; not having the
practice of virtue before our eyes, we know not what it is.
Thirdly, where is that emulation at a private which is the
great actor in a public school? The praise of others naturally
excites us to wish for the same ourselves, and to obtain it we
must deserve it; if a friend or a rival be superior to us in some
respects, we naturally wish to render him inferior; if inferior, we
naturally wish to maintain our superiority; this is the great
stimulus to industry, and, consequently, virtue, for industry is
the parent of all virtue; this is the stimulus which acts as well
in youth as manhood; 1t guides us through life to glorious
and virtuous deeds. In a private education the mind is
clogged, and feels not these happy incitements; it has not
that field for ambition which a public one has. Fourthly,
the very freedom, the very pleasures of a public school,
which have been so constantly objected to it, are additional
arguments to my assertion. From study to relaxation, from
relaxation to study, is a delightful transition; in the other way
of education one trudges on in the usual method of teasing
application, and when study no longer becomes a merit it
loses all its pleasures; if study arises from free will, it is
always brisk, happy, and successful; if from force, it is dull,
tedious, and seldom, I may say never, retains what it is
meant to acquire. The trammels of a boarding-school confine
the mind; the relaxation there admitted of is too little to have
any effect; the little too they have is in the same round of
childish amusements which, after the age of childhood, are no
amusement at all. Within the walls of a play-ground, with
precise hours marked out for play, what exertion can there be
to industry? what emulation for superiority? There is in
general some one petty tyrant who commands them all. Were
I contending the point with an opponent, I might bring for-
ward other arguments; from the above, I would infer that
public education is a much better mode than private, and that
the very freedom of the former is a great cause of its superiority.

That this freedom may be carried too far, is an undoubted
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fact; T have witnessed it at Eton, and, from the little I have
seen of Westminster, I will venture to affirm that 1t is still
more dissipated than Eton; but nevertheless, take all the ad-
vantages and disadvantages, the former will preponderate in
every public school ; for, exclusive of the others which I above
have mentioned, the advantage of making acquaintance who
will be of service through life is no contemptible one; every
one remembers with retrospective joy the years passed at Eton,
and a friendship there formed and established will be main-
tained throughout hfe.

Thursday, 20th.—Half-holiday. Read Lucan. Drank tea
alone. Read Ariosto with Shaw and Neville.

Friday, 21st—Whole school-day. Read Horace. Lucan.
Read Bryant’s ¢ Dissertation on Rowley’s Poem,” tending to
prove they were actually written by him. Drank tea with
Hervey. Read Ariosto with Neville and Shaw. Read Xeno-
phon with my tutor.

Saturday, 22nd—Common Saturday. Read Callimachus.
Continued Bryant’s Dissertation. Saw the College Library.
Read Xenophon with my tutor. Read Ariosto with Neville
and Shaw.

Sunday, 23rd.—Learnt part of the Fifth Satire of Juvenal for
my tutor. Dr. Norbury, the deceased Fellow, was buried in the
church. Did theme. Read Ariosto with, &. Read Bryant's
Dissertation. Drank tea with Tonson.

Monday, 24th—Half-holiday. Read Homer. Did lyrics.
Read Bryant’s Dissertation.

Tuesday, 25th—Whole holiday. Wrote a French letter.
Read Bryant’s Dissertation.

Wednesday, 26th.—W hole school-day. Read Homer. Virgil.
Concluded Bryant’s Dissertation. Began Tyrwhitt’s, tending
to prove that they were written by Chatterton. Took a soli-
tary walk, and employed myself in making a few verses to
Solitude. Drank tea with Neville. Re-translated part of my
translation of Rousseau. Read Ariosto, &e.

Thursday, 27th.—Play at four. Read Lucian. Cicero.
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Wrote a letter. Finished Tyrwhitt's Dissertation. Began
Warton's on the same side of the question. Read Ariosto, &c.
Took a walk with Tonson and Kelsale.

Friday, 28th.—Whole school-day. Read Horace. Lucian.,
Finished Warton's Dissertation. After having finished all the
Dissertations, I am now quite at a loss which to give it to: had I
read the poems, and taken no trouble about convincing myself,
I should have formed an opinion that they were Rowley’s, and
could have supported my opinion with arguments ; but now I
am quite in the dark. I think Bryant proves they were not
written by Chatterton, and Tyrwhitt that they were not written
by Rowley. The idea of a third person is still more chimerical
than either of these. Who were they written by, then? I
believe they must have written themselves. Drank tea with
Shaw. Read Ariosto.

Saturday, 29th.—Whole holiday. Read Goldsmith’s ¢ De-
serted Village.” Drank tea with Grose. Some more poems,
sald to be Rowley’s. Turned first Eclogue of Rowley’s poems
into modern English verse.

Sunday, 30th.—Took a solitary walk, Made a few stanzas,
a Simile to Human Life. Gave Tonson tea. Took a walk with
him. Read Ariosto.

Monday, 31st.—Whole school-day. Read Homer. Cicero.
Gave tea to Neville, Hervey, and Shaw. Packed up. Read

Ariosto.”

There is much in all this that is worthy of notice.
In after days, Charles Metcalfe used to say that
nearly all the literary knowledge which he had ac-
quired in the course of his life, had been gained as g
boy at Eton—he had never been able to read much
at a later period of his career. How great was his
application then, how varied his pursuits, may be
gathered from these extracts. Great men are not
to be tried by ordinary rules; they make rules for
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themselves. I would rather think of a fine open-
spirited boy, boating, swimming, playing, even get-
ting into mischief at school, and in the holidays
spending half his time on the back of a pony; and L
should, as a rule, believe that in such training there
were more hopeful assurance of turning him, in due
time, into a useful servant of the State, than in the
discipline of such continued book-work as is recorded
in Charles Metcalfe’s journal. But it was fortunate,
in this instance, that the bent of the boy’s inclina-
tion was rather towards intellectual than muscular
exercise—that he spent his leisure hours with
Ariosto and Chatterton, with Gibbon and Voltaire,
rather than with the boats’ crews and the Eton
elevens. If he had been captain of the boats, and
beaten Harrow and Winchester off his own bat, he
could not have grown into a manlier character. The
finest physical training in the world could not have
made him a robuster statesman. But if he had not
acquired a love of literature, and some knowledge of
books at school, he would never have acquired them
at all; and though he might still have distinguished
himself greatly on the theatre of the world, it is
hard to say how much might have been wanting from
the completeness of the character, which it is the

business and the privilege of the biographer to illus-
trate in these pages.*

STUDIOUS HABITS.

* It is probable that these studious
habits were strengthened, if not ge-
nerated, in the boy, by theexhortations
of his mother, who was wont to sti-
mulate him to new exertions in such a
strain as the following: “ I am glad
you perseverein your endeavors,” she

VOL. I. C

wrote to Charles, in 1799; * you must
succeed; but to acquire knowledge re-
quires resolution, without which no-
thing can be attained. Mrs. S. made
a very deep impression on me the
other day, by telling me that a very
clever man said, if a person would
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That he read what he did at Eton, Charles Met-
calfe in after years continually rejoiced; but he
lamented that he had not enjoyed more extended
opportunities of self-improvement. ¢ Were I dis-
posed,” he wrote two years afterwards, ¢to lament
that which is irretrievable, I should never cease to
regret that I was removed from Eton at the time
that I was. 1T left it at the age of fifteen, at a time
when my ideas were ripening—when I was attached
to the studies in the pursuit of which I was engaged,
had objects towards which I was directing my exer-
tions, and had formed plans which promised success.
Five years more might well have been spared to
Eton and a University, after which there would
have been plenty of time for India.” But now he
was taken away from Eton, that he might be shipped
off to India at once.

It was an awkward fact in the lives of the two
young Metcalfes — Theophilus and Charles —that
their father was an FEast-Indian Director. So,
doubtless, at least they regarded it. Already was
the elder brother under sentence of banishment to
China. And now it was decreed that the younger
should be despatched to Bengal. A China writer-
ship was, in those days, the best bit of preferment

read three hours a day seriously and
well-chosen books, for four years, he
could not fail of heing so clever and
able, that he might fill any office or
place in the kingdom—that the Mi-
nisters would be happy to have his
abilities. I have read more
regularly every day since her observa.
tion. [ wish it had made as deep an
impression on Theophilus—but books
seem to give him no pleasure. What a

pity! With his quickness and com-
prehension he would, if he chose, be a
very shining character. I think,if I
were you, I would adopt the plan.
It’s astonishing what a number of
volumes you will get through in that
time.” Her maternal penetration
had not at this time discovered that
it was not Theophilus, but Charles,
who was destined to be the shining
character,
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in the world. It was a certain fortune in a very
few years. The appointments in that service were
so few and so lucrative, that they were commonly
reserved for the Directors™ own sons. Major Met-
calfe saw clearly the advantages of such a provision
for his eldest boy. He had an easy fortune of his
own ; but he had a large family, and, divided among
so many children, his 4000/. a year would not have se-
cured a sufficiency to any. The baronetcy hadnot then
been attained, nor a family estate purchased; and if
they had been, it is doubtful whether Thomas Met-
calfe would have “made an eldest son’ and left
Theophilus to amuse himself. As it was, he wisely
determined that the boy should work for himself;
and there being no easier and no more rapid road to
fortune than the Company’s Factory at Canton, the
prudent father determined, in 1799, to despatch his
first-born, in the following year, to ¢ Cathay.”

To Theophilus, who had left Eton some little time
before, and had been dissipating, as he called it, in
Scotland and Wales, this decision was a heavy blow.
He was already tasting the sweets of independent
life in England—making friends, falling in love,
acting at masquerades, drinking his bottle of wine,
and exhibiting other symptoms of premature man-
hood. The thought of being cut short in this career
of glory was grievous to him in the extreme. So he
cast about in his mind how he could escape the
scntence recorded against him ; and began to think
whether Charles could not be persuaded to go to
China in his room.

The two brothers had not always walked hand-in-

c2 .
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hand with each other. The breaches between them
were frequent—as frequent they will be between
boys of different character, each with pretensions
of his own, each after his own fashion egotistical and
intolerant (and there is no egotism and intolerance
equal to that of clever boys) ; but there was a fund of
good brotherly love at the bottom of their hearts,
even when they were most vehement in their denun-
ciations of each other. All through the year 1799,
this fraternal antagonism seems to have been at its
height. Their good mother declared that she quite
dreaded the approach of the holidays on this ac-
count, and strenuously exhorted them to peace.
Her exhortations were not at first successful. Early
in November, the two brothers fell to quarrelling
over the politics of the day. Charles was at that
time, like his father, a Tory and a Pittite; whilst
Theophilus was in Opposition. Charles declared that
the Ministers were the only men capable of governing
the country, and called his brother a democrat.
Upon this Theophilus fired up, and, adverting to
the expedition to Holland, asked what was to be
said of  Ministerial liberality, which now accuses
the Russians, accuses the Austrians, accuses any-
thing but those who would have taken all the credit
if it had succeeded—so much for Ministers, for the
only men who can govern the country, or in other
words, can lose our credit by secret expeditions.”
Men got from politics into personalities more ex-
peditiously in those days than they do now; and
hoys followed their example. So Theophilus, having
disposed of Pitt and his colleagues, told Charles that
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as he treated all his opinions with insolence, he de-
sired that the correspondence might drop. ¢ You
may,” he added, ¢“(by dint of application) have
made yourself a better classical scholar than I (by
idleness) have made myself; but still, I do not
lower my abilities, in my own opinion, so as to need
advice from a younger brother.”” Charles was,
doubtless, inclined to be a little self-opinionated and
dictatorial (and in this there were the germs of what
afterwards came to be a noble self-reliance) ; but,
although the rupture for a week or two was com-
plete, it was not likely to be of long continuance be-
tween two such fine-hearted boys, and they were
soon writing to each other in fitting terms of bro-
therly love.

Then it was that the great question of the China
writership rose up for consideration. When Charles
Metcalfe came home to Portland-place for the
Christmas holidays of 1799-1800, Theophilus was
in Wales, on a visit to Lord Newborough. Thence
he wrote to his brother to sound him about China,
bravely assuming at the outset that Charles could
not possibly object to so excellent a provision for a
younger brother :

“When I consider,” he wrote in January, 1800, * of the
difference between you and me, I am astonished. You, a studi-
ous, grave fellow, studying five hours a day; me, a wild idle
dog, who does not look into a book from the rising to the set-
ting of the sun. You, who would like to go to China to make
a large fortunc; me, who would like to stay in England and
spend what T have. . . . . . . Added to this differ-
ence between us, another great one is, you would not give a



22 BOYHOOD.

for a glass of wine, and I with pleasure will drink a
bottle with any friend. Would, Charles, that you were to bend
your way to China in my stead ! and I know not why I should
be refused remaining in England, when I seem so anxiously to
wish it. . . . . . What, because the world styles it
good, is a young man to be sent to a place which least of all
suits his disposition, to be shut up for ten or twelve years from
all relations and friends.”

But Charles having no stronger taste for China

than Theophilus, wrote his brother to that effect.
The elder, however, would not still abandon all hope
of the vicarious sacrifice to Mammon, on which he
had set his heart. ¢ If you are inclined to make
money,” he wrote, ¢ which your disposition in some
degree shows, China is the best place.
I have written to my father on this subJect but I
have one question to ask you. If it is offered to
you, are you determined not to go? I requestyou to
keep this letter, and you will see hereafter that I
was your brother.” Charles was not to be per-
suaded, though he kept the letter. He still said,
that if the decision depended upon himself, he
would have nothing to do with the China factory.
He hoped his brother would not be offended ; but
he had no wish to be offered up in his place. To
this Theophilus frankly replied that he could not
conceive why he should be offended. As it is a
maxim of mine,” he said, “first to please myself,
and then my friends, I cannot be angry at your
doing the same.”

But whilst these young gentlemen were arrang-
ing for themselves the business of their future dis-



LEAVING ETON. 923

posal, the elder Metcalfes were settling everything
for them, and leaving little choice to the boys.
Both, after a few years, acknowledged that their
parents were right. But when it was finally de-
cided—and all escape from the decision was impos-
sible—that Theophilus should be despatched to
China, and that Charles should "go as a writer to
Bengal, the two boys were ready to die with vexa-
tion. Charles was very sorry to leave Eton. He
loved the school. He loved his tutor. He loved
many of his school-fellows; and he loved his books.
He was sorry to think of leaving England ; for he
loved his parents, and he loved his sisters. Mus.
Metcalfe, though Theophilus was her favorite, some-
times acknowledged that Charles was the more
dutiful and attentive of the two. By his sisters,
into whose school-room he would make frequent
disturbing incursions, he was held in the fondest
affection. He was very loving and very loveable.
He was not one who could be banished to a distant
country without grievous laceration of the heart.

In the year 1800, and at the end of March,
Charles Metcalfe quitted Eton. In those days boys
were sent fresh from public or private schools, or
from no school at all, to embark on board ship, and
sail for the land where they were to become Judges,
or Ambassadors, or Ministers of Finance. That
under this system some great administrators rose
into eminence is not to be denied. But in the cha-
racter and qualifications of the general body of the
Indian Civil Service, under an improved educational
system—a system of special training still to be im-
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proved—a great and progressive advance during the
last half century may be clearly discerned. When
Major Metcalfe entered in his list the name of his
son Charles Theophilus, the service of which he was
about to become a member had emerged from the
slough of corruption in which it had once been
sunk ; and though some who had belonged to it in
the old bad times were still in its ranks, it had
become a respectable profession. Lord Cornwallis
and Sir John Shore had nursed the infancy and sus-
tained the childhood of its respectability ; and now
Lord Wellesley was watching the progress of its
adolescence. Instead of a race of men, who were
more than three-fourths traders, growing rich upon
irregular and unrecognised gains, there was fast
growing up an army of administrators, receiving
fixed pay for fixed service, and adding nothing to
their stores that was not to be found in the audit-
books of the Government. All that they wanted
was more training to fit them for the publie service,
and this was soon about to be supplied. At no
period were the prospects of the profession better ;
at no period were higher emoluments to be obtained
with more honor; at no period was there finer
scope for action, or a greater likelihood of a youth
of energy and ability soon rising to fame and fortune.

Of Charles Metcalfe’s abilities, his father had &
high opinion. He knew, too, that his son had great
powers of application; and he predicted that the
union of the two would enable him to command
success. He was one of the few India Directors
who neither at that nor a later period were alarmed
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by the vigor and determination of Lord Wellesley.
He believed that under the Government of that great
man there were the fairest prospects of his son
laying the foundation of future eminence as a states-
man; and though, if he had been swayed only by
the impulses of parental affection, he would have
retained both his elder sons in England, he now re-
solutely decreed that they should seek their fortunes
in the East.

It was arranged, therefore, that Theophilus should
sail for China in the spring, and that Charles should
embark for Calcutta in the summer. In the mean
while the boys were to enjoy themselves as best
they could. Charles, though of a retiring disposi-
tion, did not dislike society ; and there were a few
families, in the neighbourhood of his father’s house,
to whom he was a frequent visitor. 1In one of these
there was a young lady, a little older than himself,
with whom he fell in love at first sight. He was
first introduced to her, on the day after he left
Eton, at a ball in his father’s house.* After that
event he frequently saw her, either at his own house
or her mother’s. The charms of the young lady,
not merely those of external beauty and grace,
made a deep and abiding impression on his mind ;
and he was long afterwards of opinion, that this

* He entercd in his journal at the
foot of a page, under date April 2,
“ Ball at home. I was first introduced
to Miss D——; danced with her.”
What followed this simple statement
can only be conjectured, for the next
leaf in the journal is (very expres-
sively) cut out of the book. Soon
afterwards there was another ball in

Portland-place — ¢ a very pleasant
one,” wrote Charles; “danced four
dances with Miss D—-" Two or
three nights afterwards he “passed
the evening at Lady D ’s. Supped
there; a most delightful party.,” On
the next day he “called on Miss
D , sate an hour with her;” and
S0 on,
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boyish attachment, pure and disinterested as it was,
had a beneficial influence on his character. He
corresponded with her for some time afterwards,
and her “sensible letters heightened his admira-
tion.”* They are almost the only part of his cor-
respondence which has not survived him. The ex-
ception tells its own story.

All through the months of April and May, and
the first half of June, Charles Metcalfe’s head-
quarters were in Portland-place. There he spent
his time, improving himself in French and drawing,
under masters; reading the Naval and Military
Magazines, and sometimes writing for them ; walk-
ing in the Park or in Bond-street with old school-
fellows ; turning Rowley’s Eclogues into modern
English ; writing letters to his ¢ friend and tutor,
Goodall ;’ going to the opera; getting up masque-
rade costumes;t paying visits, painting a chess-
board, sitting for his picture, and reading whenever
he had time.}

In the beginning of May he went to Eton, spent
a day or two there, and took leave of Dr. Heath, his
school-fellows, and his friend Goodall. It was, as he
said afterwards, ““a sad, sad day.” It moved him
deeply to say farewell to his old tutor; and the
tutor, too, was greatly affected. He had recognised
the many good and great qualities of his pupil ; and
whilst he was fondly attached to him on account of

* See MS. Journal—quoted, post, 1 The reading, however, was but
pages 72-73, scanty. It did not embrace much

t He went to one masquerade as a beyond Symes’ « Embassy to Ava,”
Quaker, and to another as a Petit and Turner’s “Embassy to Thibet.”

Maitre. He was wonderfully unlike
both.
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the former, there was a strong assurance in his mind
that the latter would secure for the studious boy a
not undistinguished career. Two or three years
afterwards, he asked a gentleman from Bengal if he
knew Charles Metcalfe, and being answered in the
affirmative, he said, “Then you know a very good
young man—a very superior young man. I have
done for him what I never did for any one else—I
wrote a letter in his favor to Lord Wellesley.”

In the middle of May, Theophilus Metcalfe em-
: barked for China, on board the Ezefer; but the
fleet being delayed in the Channel, he came up to
town and very nearly lost his passage. He re-
embarked at the end of the month, but was de-
tained by stress of weather in Torbay, whence he
wrote to Charles to “give him a bit of advice”
about his love affair, as one who had ¢ experience in
such matters.”* But it may be doubted whether
the younger brother needed to be told that it
was necessary to act with caution and diffidence.
He was always very diffident about himself, and
used sometimes to speak almost painfully of his
want of personal attractions. For as he grew up,
the beauties which developed themselves in the
person of Charles Metcalfe were, for the most part,

* The following amusing passage in
this letter is extremely characteristic
of Theophilus Metcalfe:—« Here we
are lying in company with Lord St.
Vincent and the Channel Fleet—wind
S.S.W. My Lord is determined to
put to sea the first opportunity, and
we are to go with him. It will be a
fine sight, the two fleets together.
He has given orders that not one of
us shall go ashore. He is a proud,

overbearing fellow, and I should like
to show him there is one in the fleet
who does not see he has any right
to fear him, Ifthere were any of my
friends ashore here, I would go in
spite of the old fellow. One of the
ships, the Pheniz by name, ran foul
of him on entering the bay. I re-
Joiced to see it. The old fellow swore
at him, I'll be bound.”
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those of the mind. He was short and somewhat
homely in appearance. But in the intelligence of
his countenance, and the habitual sweetness of his
smile, there was something that atoned for all such
defects.

The vessel (the Skelton Castle) in which a cabin
had been secured for Charles Metcalfe, was to sail
with the June fleet. In the early part of the month,
therefore, he took leave of his friends, and among
others, of his first preceptor, Mr. Tait, of Bromley,*
and his wife. The former died a quarter of a
century afterwards, and Mrs. Tait survived Charles
Metcalfe. Whether he ever saw her again I do not
know ; but when he died, he had for many years
been paying a pension which he had settled on her;
and after his death, a passage was found in his will
directing that, in the event of her surviving him, it
should be continued during her life.

The 14th of June, as he wrote in his journal,
was “the last he was destined to spend with his
family.” On the following day, he ¢ took leave of
all his friends and left London, not to enter it again
for twenty years.” After a few days spent at Ports-
mouth, off which place the fleet was lying, in making
ready his cabin, visiting the Dockyard, and writing
l:tters to his friends, including Goodall and Miss
D , he “took leave of his dear father,” who had
accompanied him, and resigned himself to his fate.

After some detention in the Channel, the fleet got
{airly out to sea; and then Charles Metcalfe began
again to practise that system of ‘holding out,”

* Reference to this visit has al- in his journal under date June 12:
ready been made. It is duly entered “Wenttoold AuntWinch at Bromley.”
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which had enabled him to defeat his friend Goodall,
at Eton, and which afterwards secured him great
moral triumphs over Eastern princes and Western
partisans. But neither before nor after, neither in
the East nor the West, did he encounter so trouble-
some and contumacious an opponent as his enemy
of the Skelton Castle. Resolute in all things,
Charles Metcalfe was resolute not to be sea-sick :
and though his sufferings were considerable, he still
entered in his journal from day to day that Lo
“held out” against the enemy; and in spite of th-
frequent entries of ¢ very squeamish,” he almo-t
accomplished success.

He had a friend on board, Mr. Bazett, with whom
he ““read Moors ;’ and in his own cabin he studic:l
the Abbé Raynal’s East Indies, Holwell’s Tracts,
the Memoirs of Abdul Kurreem, and other books;
and wrote poetry to Miss D——.

On the 22nd of September, the fleet came-to off
the Island of St. Helena. Under the auspices of
Mr. Bazett, Charles Metcalfe landed, and was most
hospitably entertained. He seems to have spent a
week very pleasantly there, and to have come away
with some lively impressions. The entries in his
Journal are but brief, and may, therefore, be inserted:

“Monday, 22nd.—Went on shore with Mr. Bazett and the
ladies. Went to Mr. Doveton’s house, where Mr. Bazett had
procured mc an apartment.

Tuesday, 23rd.—Was introduced to the Governor and all the
great people of the island. Dined at home, viz., Mr. Doveton’s.
In the evening all the island came to pay their complimentary
visit to the ladies, &e.

Wednesday, 24th—Took a ride up the country; visited
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Plantation House, the Governor's country seat ; thence we
proceeded to Mr. Doveton’s, at Sandy Bay, and returned to
the Valley. I dined with the Governor at the Castle, took tea
and coffee, and returned home tg accompany the ladies on their
return of visit. Supped at home.

Thursday, 25th—Rode with our party to Rosemary, M.
Wrangham’s, where we breakfasted with Dr. Wilkinson.
After breakfast we rode to High Peak, and returned to dinner
at Rosemary. After dinner we rode down to the Valley.

Friday, 26th.—The Lady-Governess gave a dinner in the
country, at Plantation House, to which I was invited. Imme-
diately after breakfast I rode there. Passed a very pleasant
day. After dinner rode down again to the Valley. Went to
the play, which was performed as miserably as it was possible.
After the play supped at home.

Saturday, 27th.—Took a ride with our party, and break-
fasted up the country with Captain Isaacke. Went to Arno’s
Vale, the seat of Mr. Bazett’'s father; thence we proceeded to
Long Wood, the residence of the Deputy-Governor. Went
to a ball given by Major Cocks, where all the beauty and
fashion of St. Helena was assembled.

Sunday, 28th—Spent the morning in the Valley. Dined
with the Governor. Four P.M. came on board.

I left St. Helena strongly filled with lively impressions of
the pleasure I received in my incursions up the country, of the
civilities I received from all the inhabitants, but more particu-
larly from Mr. Doveton, whose extraordinary attentions and
generosity I shall never forget; and of the gratitude due to
M. Bazett, to whose exertions I was indebted for these things.”

I have heard it doubted whether Metcalfe was much
alive to the beauties of external nature. I donotfind
many allusions to such things in his writings, nor
can I gather that, at a later period of his life, the
associations of the picturesque had much effect on
his mind. But he was charmed and awe-struck
by the beauty and sublimity of the scenery of St.
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Helena. The enthusiasm which they engendered
within him may be gathered from some passages in
a descriptive account which he wrote of the island.
e thus speaks of his first ride :*

«In the first ride I took I was struck with astonishment and
admiration. Every step I tock afforded a new scene of delight;
cvery winding of the valley, every twining of the mountain,
offered a magnificent view to our eyes; the contrast was won-
derful. If I looked behind, I saw a bleak, barren rock, without
a stalk of cultivation; if I looked before me, I was struck with
the pleasing view of the sides of the hills covered with verdure;
a fine breed of cattle browsing on the declivity, and every here
and there waterfalls, pouring their contents into the bosom of
the most fertile valleys, where they formed a meandering stream,
the banks of which were covered with water-cresses and other
herbs in the greatest abundance. Everywhere something grand
or something beautiful opened upon us, and everywhere there
wag fresh substance for admiration. But I need not attempt to
describe what cannot be described; I shall overrun my imagi-
nation, and be lost in the maze of wonders.”

In another passage he thus describes one of his
mountain walks :

““ From Rosemary we walked to a ridge of rocks, piled loose
one on another by the hand of Nature; some of them are so
heaped up as to form the figure of a man, which goes by the
name of the Friar, and taken in one point of view, it has that
appearance. From this ridge you look down on an immense
abyss, which from its depth and steepness is called Eternity;
and, indeed, any despairing lover might in one instant, without

* Having spoken lightly of Met-
calfe’s equestrian skill, it may appear
strange and contradictory that I
have so soon set him on horseback,
and that too in a rocky, precipitous,
and dangerous country, He himself
affords the explanation, “The roads,”
he wrote, “ throughout the island are

situated on the edge of precipices—
nor would I trust myself on them on
any English horse—but the animals
here are so quiet, and sure-footed, and
careful, that I should not be afraid to
trust myself asleep on the back of any
of them,”
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any trouble or noise, put an end to his existence in one step;
the appearance cannot be better described than by making use
of the allegorical term, ¢ Beauty in the lap of Horror.” There
are many other situations similar to this in the island which I
had not an opportunity of seeing; their names will give a better
idea of them than anything I can say; such as Purgatory,
Break-neck Valley, Hold-fast Tom, and others, which have
escaped my recollection. I clambered up High Peak, one of
the highest points (as its name indicates) in St. Helena; from
this I looked down upon Ladder Hill (which, as I observed,
stands half a mile perpendicular from the sea), as upon a deep
valley. I found myself, for the first time in my life, when on
High Peak, above the clouds. The prospect is noble, and the
eye grasps at one view nearly the whole island; but we were
prevented from enjoying it by the clouds, which seemed to shut
us out from the world and oppose a barrier to our communi-
cation with humble mortals; but the barrier was but vapor,
through which we descended from the regions of air to grovel
once more amongst the herd of terrestrials. I was inclined to
loiter, when a cry of descende celo, from Mr. Bazett, drove
away my fanciful ideas; and I found in descending, that there
was more difficulty in scrambling down than in clambering up
rocks.”

The remainder of the voyage furnished little
worthy of record. An eclipse of the sun, a storm
off the Cape, an enemy in sight, and a fall down the
hatchway,* were the principal incidents recorded in
young Metcalfe’s journal.+ At the end of Decem-
ber they were in soundings, and sighted land.

* ¢ QOctober 30.—Had a terrible fall He read Dryden and Pope— Othello,

from the gun-deck to the orlop, by
which I cut open my chin, and at the
time imagined I had received an in-
ternal injury; but the next day, being
bled, the pains went off, and in a few
days I felt no more of it.”

t His_studies at this time were
principally in a poetical direction.

Jane Shore, Venice Preserved, and the
Pursuits of Literature. On the 21st
of October he ¢ began a poem, in-
tended to be entitled ¢ Eton,” in imi-
tation of Pope’s ¢ Windsor Forest.’ ”
A specimen of Metcalfe’s poetry,
written a third part of a century after-
wards, is given in the Appendix.



ARRIVAL AT CALCUTTA.

CHAPTER 1I.

[1801.]
THE FIRST YEAR IN INDIA.

The First Year in India—Arrival at Calcutta—The Young Writer's Recep-
tion—Hospitalities of the Cold Season—Oriental Studies—The College of
Fort William—Depressing Influences of the Climate—Yearnings after Home
—The Prescience of Young Ambition—Appointment to the Public Service.

Ox the first day of the present century, the vessel
which conveyed Charles Metcalfe to India entered
the Hooghly river, and at night-fall anchored off
Kedgeree. On the following evening, as there was
a likelihood of the ship’s detention, the young writer
put himself into a rowing-boat, and made his way
towards Calcutta. After a ¢ tedious, disagreeable
expedition,” owing, as the eager boy declared, to the
“ stupidity of the fellows,” he arrived on the night
of the 3rd of January, off one of the ghauts, or land-
ing-places, of the great city; and in outer darkness,
seeing nobody, and knowing not where he was, first
planted his foot on Indian soil.*

* MS. Journal. * January, 1801.
Thursday, 1st—Having got our pilot
on the preceding evening, we pro-
ceeded up the river, and anchored at
Kedgeree.

¢ Friday, 2nd.— A number of boats
came to us with fruits, and the ap-
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pearance of the boats, as well as men,
is very curious and entertaining to a
stranger. As there was a likelihood
of the ship’s being detained, I got into
the chokey boat at six in the even-
ing, which, after a most tedious, dis-
agreeable expedition, owing to the stu-
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After half an hour’s delay, young Metcalfe con-
rived to obtain the assistan ce of a man, who showed
him the way to Mr. Colvin’s house—the house of
one of those great Calcutta merchants, who were fast
rising into the ‘ princely ”’ dignity which at a little
later period they attained. Thither his baggage was
conveyed, and there he spent the first night of his so-
journ in India. On the following morning, Mr. Col-
vin lent his young visitor a carriage ; and Metcalfe,
with a bundle of letters of introduction, set out to
pay a round of visits. Among others to whom he
presented himself, was Mr. Bristow, a member of
the Civil Service, who invited the boy “to remain
with him.”* On the next day, he officially reported
himself, ordered a palanquin, and hired a retinue
of servants.t

And now commenced Charles Metcalfe’s Indian
career. He was fairly launched as a ¢ young
writer.”” He belonged to the great privileged class ;
he was fhe son of an East-India Director; he had
many friends in the settlement, for his father had
preceded him there; he had a passport to the best
society in Calcutta. It was the season of social
activity, the height of the cold weather, when

?

pidity of the fellows, brought us up
to Calcutta on Saturday night. When
I landed, I know not where, I saw no-
body, till, after half an hour’s delay,
I got a man to show me Colvin’s
house, where I got my baggage, and
slept.”

* MS. Journal. “ Sunday, 4th.—Got
into Colvin’s carriage and went to
Graham’s—thence to Cotton’s, and
after that to Bristow’s, who invited
me to remain with him. Despatched

my letters—wrote to my uncles.” ][Mr.
Richardson and Colonel Monson.

t MS. Journal. “Monday, 5th.—Re-
ported myself to Crommelin, Secre-
tary in the Public Department; saw
Plowden and Higginson. Went to
Mr. Brown, the provost. [The Rev.
David Brown, minister of the Old
Church, and provost of the College
of Fort William.] Ordered a palan-
quin (160 rupees). Got a Khitmudgar,
Hircarrah, Masaulchee, and Tailor.”
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dinner-parties and balls are abundant, and young
civilians are in constant requisition. So for some
weeks after his arrival, the entries in his journal
consist of little more than records of the places at
which he dined and at which he danced. At the
end of the first fortnight, he bethought himself of
the duty of studying the languages; and he secured
the services of a moonshee. But after two days’
trial, he dismissed him, ¢ finding him of no use;"
and ¢ determined to teach himself.” The laudable
determination, however, went the way of young civi-
lians’ resolutions in general; and for many weeks
there is no record of anything beyond the hospita.-
lities of Calcutta. A page or two from the boy’s
journal will indicate what they were:

“ Tuesday, January 6th.—Went with Plowden to see Miss
Baillie at Barlow’s.* Received an answer from Crommelin.
Dined at home. .

Wednesday, Tth—Went with Plowden to Brooke’s. Saw
Golding. Dined at Thornhill’s. Got a Dhobee.

Thursday, 8th—Changed my residence from Bristow’s to
Chapman’s. Dined at home. Went to Lady Russell's.t

Friday, 9th—With Plowden in the morning. Was intro-
duced to Sir Alured Clarke} and General Baynard. Dined
with the Governor-General, who talked much about Eton.
Went to Lady Anstruther’s ball.§

Saturday, 10th.—Shopping in the morning. Got a cocked-
hat (20 rupees). Dined and passed the evening at Dr. Dick’s.

* Mr. G. H. Barlow, then one of } Wife of Sir Henry Russell, one
the chief officers of the Secretariat of the puisne judges.
Department; afterwards Sir George 1 Commander-in-Chijef.
Barlow, Governor - General of In- § Wife of Sir J. Anstruther, Chief
dia. Justice.

D2
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Sunday, 11th.—Called on Mr. Bazett. Dined with them.

Monday, 12th.—Strolling about in the morning. Went to
the levee. Dined at home, and passed the evening at Colvin’s.

Tuesday, 13th.—Dined at college. Went to the Governor's
ball.

Wednesday, 14th.—Dined at Sir Alured Clarke’s. At Dick’s
in the evening.

Thursday, 5th—Dined at Mr. Graham’s. Went to Brooke’s
ball. Set up till sunrise at a second supper.

Friday, 16th.—Dined at Tucker’s.* Went to bed very much
fatigued, not having slept the preceding night. ’

Saturday, 17th.—Dined at college. Sat at Higginson’s. Had
a moonshee.

Sunday, 18th. Dined at home. Had a moonshee.

Monday, 19th.—Dismissed my moonshee, finding him of
no use. Determined to teach myself. Went on board the
Skelton Castle, the Malartigue, and London, taken from the
French; and the Countess of Sutherland, a very large ship, in
company with Plowden, Impey, Hamilton, and Chester. Dined
at home. Went to Lady Anstruther’s.

Tuesday, 20th.—Dined at Dick’s.

Wednesday, 2st.—Breakfasted at Bristow’s. Wrote journal.
Dined at Bristow’s.

Thursday,22nd.—Tiffed at Hamilton’s. Dined with Plowden.

Friday, 23rd.—Answered my uncle Monson's letter. Ditto
Richardson. Dined at home. Went to the Governor’s ball.

Monday, 26th.—Dined at Barlow’s. Great A.’s rout.

Tuesday, 27th.—Dined at Bazett’s.

Wednesday, 28th.—Dined at college. Spent the evening at
Hamilton’s. -

Thursday, 29th—Dined at Brooke’s.

Friday, 30¢th.—Dined at Buller’s.t Ball at Brooke's.

Saturday, 31st.—Tiffed at Law’s.”

* Mr. Heory St.George Tucker, Charles Buller and of Sir A. Buller,
then Financial Secretary. now one of the puisne judges of the
t Probably Mr. C. Buller, of the Supreme Court of Calcutta.
Civil Service, father of the late Mr.
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After this, appears a long hiatus in the journal,
and towards the end of February there is a brief
admission that the writer had nothing but idleness
to record :—*¢ This long vacuum,” he wrote, ¢ would
be filled by nothing but accounts of my idleness. It
is, therefore, as well to drop it. I got into my own
house on Sunday, 22nd (February).”

Having established himself in a house of his own,
and being now in all respects the master of his own
time and his own actions, Charles Metcalfe began
seriously to think about qualifying himself for the
active business of his profession. The native lan-
guages were to be mastered at the threshold. It was
to be a toilsome, systematic operation. No longer
were Persian and Hindostanee to be acquired by
chance. No longer were young men, fresh from Eton
or Harrow, to be flung loose upon the surface of
Indian life to acquire, as best they could, without
any formal training or scholastic discipline, the know-
ledge that was to fit them to become Judges and
Ambassadors and Ministers of Finance. Earnestly
and assiduously had Lord Wellesley addressed him-
self to the great work of improving the adminis-
trative machinery of the Anglo-Indian Government.
And foremost among his projects was the establish-
ment of a nursery for young Indian administrators,
under efficient direction and control. Clinging with
peculiar fondness to those academic reminiscences,
which no Etonian will willingly let die, he had con-
ceived the idea of planting an 4lma Mater on the
banks of the Hooghly ; and now the College of Fort
William was fast springing into life. The history
of this great project—of its rise and its fall—has
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been written, and may be written again. But it has
not yet been recorded that Charles Metcalfe was
the first student ever admitted into the College of
Fort William.

It was on the 27th of April that he signed the
declaration preparatory to his formal admission. He
had been diligently ¢ sapping”’* all through the two
preceding months. In spite of his determination
to teach himself, he had secured the services of an-
other moonshee ; and day after day had been deep
in Persian and Hindostanee, occasionally varying
his Oriental studies with snatches of French and
Classics. The entries in his diary at this time relate
almost exclusively to the continuance of his studies:

“ Wednesday, February 25th. — Attended Hindostanee lec-
tures, second and first class. Breakfasted with Tucker, and
dined.

Thursday, 26th—Dined at college.

Friday, 27th.—Attended first, second, and third classes of
Hindostanee, and studied with my moonshee. Read Gibbon.

Saturday, 28th—Studied with my moonshee. Read first
vol. of Gibbon's Roman Empire. DBreakfasted at Cotton’s.

Sunday, 1st of March.—Went to church. Hindostanee.

Monday, 2nd.—Hindostanee.

Tuesday, 3rd.—Ditto.

Wednesday, 4th.—Ditto. Went to Bazett’s in the evening.

Thursday, 5th—Dined at Tucker’s. Hindostanee, &c.

Friday, 6th.—Hindostanee lectures. Dined at Dashwood’s.

Saturday, 7th.—Classical.

Monday, 9th.—French. Sapping.

Tuesday, 10th.—Persian. Ditto.

* No Etonian need be told that growing wise—but to other readers the
“ gapping” means studying—literally, interpretation may be necessary.
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Wednesday,11th.—Hindostanee. Ditto.” [And so, all through
the remainder of the month, continued ¢ sapping to April the
1st, when the term closed;” and again “sapped to Sunday the

5th.”]

A few more extracts from this journal will carry
on the history of the young writer’s life better than
anything I can substitute for them. It will be seen
how he continued to devote himself diligently to
his studies; how he endeavored to accustom him-
self to his new way of life, and to absorb himself in
the occupations of the Present; but how the che-
rished associations of the Past would rise up to dis-
tract his mind and unhinge his resolutions. Do
what he would, he still thought less of the Calcutta
course than of the Eton playing-fields—1less of
Brown and Buchanan than of Heath and Goodall—
less of Writers’-buildings than of Portland-place :

“ Thursday, 23rd.—Wrote a long letter to my father. Got
a new moonshee, the other having left with much insolence.

Friday, 24th.—Wrote to Goodall.*

Saturday, 25th.—Ditto.

Sunday, 26th.—To my mother.

Monday, 27th.—Read and signed the declaration, and was
admitted into college—being the first ever admitted into the
College of Fort William.

Tuesday, 28th.—Wrote to my mother.

Wednesday, 29th.—Wrote to Lloyd, bookseller, Dined at
Cruttenden’s. Mure arrived from Cawnpore.

N.B. During this month I daily did something in the way
of studies, and find myself at the end of it improved. I have
not written down an account of them, as my memory could not

l*l Metcalfe’s tutor at Eton—afterwards head-master and then provost of that
college. -
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afford one. Of what nature they may have been, must be
hereafter proved at the college examinations, and the degree
of praise, or discredit, I may receive, will be the best criterion
by which to judge whether my time has been thrown away or
not. I cannot boast of having applied so much as I ought, for
of all disagreeable studies, the first steps of a language are most
disagreeable.

Saturdey, 2nd of May.— At Bazett’s in the evening.

Sunday, 3rd—Church. Barton came and took up his quar-
ters with me.

Monday, 4th.—W ent to the Provost’s chambers, read the de-
clarations, &c., and was admitted the first on the list of the Col-
lege of Fort William. Signed my name to the Hindostanee,
Persian, Greek, Italian, French, and Latin languages. [Remark
particularly: This is the anniversary of my going to Kton,
and my taking leave of Dr. Heath.] There wasa grand dinner
at college, where the Governor-General, Lord Wellesley, was
present. He was remarkably attentive to me. Went to Mus.
Palmer’s.

Tuesday, 5th.—Had a dinner at home, Sherer, Chester,
Potts, and Plowden.

Wednesday, 6th.—Anniversary of my leaving Eton. The
last time I saw Goodall, Tonson, and Grose—a sad, sad day.
Called on Mrs. Potts after college dinner.

Thursday, 7th.—Dined at home. DBayley came. Received
a letter from my mother and Grose.

Friday, 8th.—Heard from Cawnpore. [From this to Mon-
day, 18th, forgot.] Monday, examined in Persian by Edmon-
stone and Bayley.* Put in the sixth, or actually the sccond
class.

Tuesday.—~Hindostanee lectures. Got a new moonshee;
Hilal-ood-deen.

Wednesday.—Latin lectures.

* This should have been written was subsequently a distinguished po-
Baillie. Captain Baillie wasthen one litical officer, and an East-India Di-
of the Professors of the College. Ie rector.
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Thursday, 22nd.—This day twelvemonth, my brother left
the fleet at St. Helen’s ; and came up to London, the last time
I saw him. Nor have I heard from him. God forbid he should
have met with any accident!

Thursday, 4th of June.—Was at the levee. The Lord be-
haved to me with marked attention, and gave me a general in-
vitation to Barrackpore. Such civility from Lord Wellesley
is no common thing.

Wednesday, 17th.—Heard from my brother in China. This
day week, moved into the Buildings.

Thursday, 18th.—Wrote to my father requesting to return.
On his answer depends my happiness in life.”

This was written in the middle of June. The
exhausting climate of Calcutta had now for some
months been doing its sure work upon the young
stranger ; and he felt, as hundreds before and after
him have felt—worn, weary, and dispirited ; need-
ing some great exertion to shake off the depressing
influences which were surrounding him, and yet
utterly incapable of making it. He had been ap-
plying himself somewhat too closely to his studies;
the mind had been on the stretch, and the body had
been inactive. He had neglected to take that re-
gular exercise which, in moderation, contributes so
much to the health of the resident in hot climates.
He was not addicted to field sports; he did not excel
in athletic exercises of any kind. He said that he
was ““out of his element” amidst such scenes ; and,
now that the time for the more strenuous activities
was past, he had not, like most of his cotemporaries,
the unfailing resource of the saddle to fall back
upon—seasonable in all months, from January to
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December. The brisk Arab and the open plain were
nothing to him, for he did not delight in equestrian
recreations. Foul vapors gathered about him ; and
there was nothing to disperse them. In these fiery
months there is a general stagnation of the social
atmosphere. A few languid dinner-parties feebly in-
dicate that the spirit of hospitality is not dead, but
sleepeth. Even the natives of the country shrink
from the fierce glare, the scorching winds, and the
intolerable dust of the summer solstice. How, then,
when the sun is up, can English gentlemen pass
about from house to house, to visit one another,
or indulge freely in mid-day intercourse? The hot
weather is generally a period of dreary isolation.
Men exist through the long days in feverish impri-
sonment, if they can; but every one has enough to
do in looking after his own individual life; he has
little of any kind to bestow upon his neighbours.
Doubtless, therefore, Charles Metcalfe, at this time,
found himself lonely and dispirited—languid and ex-
hausted — with all sorts of sickly fancies preying
upon his mind. He was dissatisfied with the Pre-
sent; he was hopeless of the Future; and, worse
than all, he was regretful of the Past. ¢ Sorrow’s
crown of sorrow’’ was pressing heavily upon him;
for he clung to the memory of ‘ happier things.”
Life seemed to him to be without an object. It
is a great thing, doubtless, to ¢ study the native
languages.” Tt is very right that this should be the
unvarying formula of advice to all embryo Indian
statesmen ; but, however advantageous the results
may be, this study of the native languages is a dreary
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occupation in itself. A young man in his teens may
be forgiven if his spirit is not stirred by it to any
very lofty pitch of enthusiasm—if he does not ap-
preciate the privilege of gathering under the guid-
ance of a moonshee the unlovely knowledge of the
Eastern world, with a thermometer standing at
90 deg. in the shade. I do not, therefore, seek to
disguise the fact, that before Charles Metcalfe had
been a year in India, he was eager to go home again.
Let us read his own account of the matter.

¢« At the latter end of June,” he wrote in his jour-
nal some months afterwards, ¢ there was an exami-
nation, which placed me fifth on the list of Hin.
dostanee scholars, and last of the first class. This
brought praise upon me, as I had arrived in the
country after all those who were examined with me,
to the number of thirty. Lord Wellesley told me he
considered my progress greater than that of any
other. His attentions to me have been, on every
occasion, marked and flattering. I spent a week of
the July vacation at Umooar, or Ooreapara, on a
hog-hunting party. I was out of my element. I
afterwards wrote my essay on the College; it was
one of the ten best sent into the Lord. The next
term passed over my head without any attention to
my studies—my mind being too much occupied with
the thought of my melancholy situation. I wrote
repeated and urgent letters to my father on the sub-
ject of return, and know not how my fate is to be
decided. I cannot exist here; the idea that my
father may refuse, renders me thoroughly miserable.
I had projected a trip up the river for the vacation
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with Hamilton, and we were on the point of setting
off when a disorder broke out upon me, which stopped
us, and now confines me to Calcutta, and almost to
the house. I find from it how much inferior the
most excruciating bodily torment is to mental agony
—the result of reflection and too much sensibility.
I cannot exist in absence of my family. I have
been exceedingly unwell throughout the rains. Ill-
health is a very inferior consideration with me. I
am, however, willing to believe that the sufferings
I at present labor under will be shortly removed,
and that it hath pleased Almighty Providence to
ordain me this time of penance that I may learn
Humility, Patience, and Obedience to his Divine
will. How awful is the thunder of the Lord, which,
growling o’er our heads, proclaims his power—how
mighty is his vengeance—how dreadful his wrath !
Who shall oppose it? Man, remember the fall of
our Great Ancestor. He sinned, and mark his punish-
ment.”—[ October 5th, 1801.]

There would be enough in the mere fact of the
physical ailments, to which reference is here made,
to account for all this depression of spirit. The hot
weather had exhausted young Metcalfe’s strength,
and the rainy season had utterly prostrated him.
But the sufferings which he endured are not wholly
to be attributed, directly or indirectly, to these
causes. He was a youth of very quick affections.
The pulsations of that warm human heart were ever
keeping him in a state of unrest. From the soli-
tude of his chamber in the City of Palaces, his
thoughts went back with reverential love to his
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old home in Portland-place. And there was one
fair form, which, filling all his boyish imagination
with visions of delight, was ever flitting between
him and his books, making dim to his dazzled sight
the Oriental characters which lay before him. His
whole heart untravelled turned towards England;
and he was twelve thousand miles away.

Nor was it only his boyish love that made India
distasteful to him. His boyish ambition had already
been fired. A mysterious power within him had
suggested that he was destined to be great. He
thought that he saw the end clearly before him ; but
so little did he understand the adaptation of means
to that end, that he believed his success in life de-
pended upon his immediate return to England.
Under the influence of a strange intermixture of
prescience and blindness, he implored his father to
obtain for him, through the influence of Lord Gren-
ville, an appointment in a public office at home,*
for he believed that such an appointment, however
insignificant, would be a stepping-stone to ultimate
greatness.

He was a mere boy at this time—he had not com-
pleted his seventeenth year. But he had begun to
think of the day when his biographer would trace,
with deepest interest, his puerile aspirations through
the records of his Common-place Book. ¢ No man,”
wrote young Charles Metcalfe, in the autumn of
1801, ¢ can be forced into greatness without Ambi-

M It is said that the Duke of Wel- civil appointment, that he might re-
lington, in early life, petitioned his tire from the military service, in which
friends to procure for him some small he saw little chance of rising.
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tion. But will every man who has ambition be
great? No one possesses more ambition than I do;
and am I destined to be great? If I quit this coun-
try, I may be; and it is one of the reasons for my
desiring it so ardently. I cannot help thinking,
should I hereafter be great, of the fervor with which
my biographer will seize upon these slight memo-
randums, and record them to an eager public as a
proof of my indulging in youth and in distant climes
the idea of becoming a great character on the theatre
of the world. Ambition takes its rise from vanity,
and in proportion as a man is ambitious, he is vain.
I am, therefore, one of the vainest creatures upon
earth—and I believe I am. There is, however, a
vast distinction between vanity and presumption.
The latter will show itself when the other cannot
be perceived. I am free from the latter, for I have
always the appearance of Modesty. This modesty
is not assumed ; it proceeds from bashfulness, and
however superior I may internally fancy myself, I
have never the boldness to communicate my thoughts
before any number of persons. Even if a third per-
son is present, I have a padlock on my mouth. But
whence arises Vanity ? A vain person would answer
himself, ¢ From knowledge, abilities,” &c. I, indeed,
am inclined to believe, that all men of ability so
possess vanity (distinet from presumption), viz., they
have a consciousness of their own powers, which is
an innate vanity. It does not, however, follow, that
all men who have vanity should possess ability.
Ambition arises from a consciousness of our own
powers, or Vanity; and this again from Ability.
The most ambitious are the most vain; but the
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most vain are not always the most able. I believe
Egotism arises from Vanity; otherwise, I should
not have devoted two pages to an examination of
my own character. If we were to search our hearts,
we should find them very faulty.”*

Thus reasoned the clever boy, not unmindful of
the possibility of all this finding its way into print
half a century afterwards, under the hands of a * fer-
vent biographer.”t It seems to have been his ambi-
tion at this time to take part in the strife of English
politics, and to make his way to eminence through
the House of Commons. He could not believe that
Hindostanee and Persian would help him on the
road to Fame. ¢ Language,’” he wrote, “is the
most disgusting ; History the most delightful of
studies ; Law is the most perplexing; Politics the
most noble of professions. To be an independent
member of the British House of Commons is the
highest honor next to being Prime Minister of Great
Britain. Pitt is the first man in Europe; still greater
by his Resignation.”” And still thinking of the ca-
reer of English statesmanship which might lie before
him, the young civilian pushed aside his Persian dic-
tionaries and grammars to write eager letters to his
father, dwelling upon the misery of his condition
and the hopelessness of his prospects, and praying
for emancipation from the thraldom which was de-
stroying all the happiness of his life.

* MS. “Common-placc Book,” 1801. of life cleverness is aliays imitative.
t It isnot unworthy of remark, that The impress of some favorite author
young Metcalfe had been studying may generally be discerned upon the
Rochefoucault and Rousseau. The writings of the young. The imitation
entries in his Common-place Book are is not the less striking for its uncon-
either Maxims or Confessions, or a sciousness.
mixture of both. At thisearly period
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How these letters were received at home will pre-
sently be told. In the mean while, what he called
a slight reprieve came from another quarter. All
through the months of October and November, he
had been a prey to anxiety and dejection,* but the
remedy was close at hand. What young Metcalfe
needed at this time to disperse the vapors which
were clouding his happiness, was simply a life of
Action. He was weary of the stagnation of stu-
dent-life; and, perhaps, he was beginning to un-
derstand that the ¢ misery” which, as he said, was
pressing so heavily upon him, was in part at least
the result of physical causes, and that movement
might alleviate, if it could not wholly cure the dis-
ease. So it happened, that when it became known
that the Government purposed to despatch an Em-
bassy to the Arab States, he solicited Lord Wel-
lesley, who was not unwilling to sanction the young
writer’s premature escape from College, to appoint
him an Attaché to the Mission. The request was
readily granted, and Mr. Charles Metcalfe was ga-
zetted as Assistant to the Embassy to the Arab
States.

But he never joined the appointment. I was
appointed,” he wrote in his journal, a short time
afterwards, ¢ Assistant to the Embassy to the Arab
States, on the 8rd of December. I afterwards (having
the option, for which I feel sincere gratitude to

* ¢« The whole of October and No- sistant to the Embassy to the Arabian
vember,” he wrote on the 6th of De- States, which situation I applied for
cember, “have passed in misery pro- to Lord Wellesley. I have left Col-
ceeding from an anxiety to know my lege, and that disagreeable restraint
fate. I at length have received a attendant upon it.”
slight reprieve by being appointed As-
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Lord Wellesley) had my appointment changed ; and
on the 29th of December I was appointed Assistant
to the Resident with Dowlut Rao Scindiah.” Colo-
nel Collins, an old friend of young Metcalfe’s father,
was then Resident at Scindiah’s Court. The ap-
pointment was, therefore, full of favorable promise ;
and not the least of its advantages was that, in
order to join it, the young civilian was compelled to
undertake an extensive land journey, at a season of
the year when travelling in India is a long delight.
So Charles Metcalfe, emancipated from the tram-
mels of College, packed up his goods and chattels,
and set out for the Upper Provinces.

And so ended Charles Metcalfe’s first year in
India. The experienced Anglo-Indian reader will
see in it, peradventure, the reflexion of his own
trial-year. When throughout the hot months and
the rainy season of this year 1801, the young exile
felt an irresistible desire to return to his old home,
with all its charming associations of love and liberty,
his longings were only those of a large proportion
of the young exiles who, in loncliness of heart and
captivity of person, struggle feebly through this first
dreary season of probation. By the old, forgetful of
their own experiences, this despondency, attributable
as 1t is in part to physical and in part to moral
causes, may be regarded as boyish weakness. But
it is weakness better than any strength. Charles
Metcalfe had a very warm human heart; and I do
not think the reader will admire him the less for
being forced to love him more.

VOL. I. E
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CHAPTER III.

[1802.]

FIRST OFFICIAL EXPERIENCES.

Departure from Calcutta—Meeting with Lord Wellesley’s Camp—Pageantry
at Lucknow—Progress of the March—Arrival at Agra—Letters to Mr.
Sherer—Life at the Residency—Colonel Collins—Home Correspondence—
Return to Calcutta.

In the middle of the month of January, 1802,
Charles Metcalfe quitted Calcutta, travelling in a
palanquin, to join his appointment. He had a long
journey before him ; for his destination was beyond
the limits of the Company’s dominions, in the heart
of those provinces lying between the Jumna and
the Nerbudda, which had been at this time little
explored by British residents in the East. The Mah-
rattas were then dominant in that fine country.
The hereditary enmity of Scindiah and Holkar was
rending and distracting it. It was what the natives
called gurdee-ka-wukhi—a time of trouble.

At Oujein Scindiah held his Court. British in-
terests were represented there by Colonel Collins—
an officer of the Company’s army, who in more
than one political situation had done good service
to the State; but whose private amiability was not
equal to his diplomatic address. He had been the
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friend and associate of the elder Metcalfe, to whom
he was much beholden ; but still it was not without
some misgivings that the young writer now found
himself on his way to join the family of a man who
was not reputedly of a temper calculated to win
the confidence and affection of youth. These
doubts, however, did not much or long disturb
him. He started under happy auspices, which be-
came still happier as he proceeded northwards.
Lord Wellesley was then on his way to the Ceded
Provinces of Oude, progressing with the true pomp
of the Sultan; and at Cawnpore young Metcalfe
came up with the vice-regal cortége, and was in-
vited by the Governor-General to join it.

“ T left Calcutta,” thus journalised the young
writer, ‘ on the 14th of January, and arrived at
Benares on the 19th, where I was very kindly
entertained by Mr. Neave, and saw my godfather,

Jacob Rider.*

* It was, I believe, at the sugges-
tion of Mr. Rider that Colonel Col-
lins recommended young Metcalfe to
the situation of an attaché to the
Residency at Scindiah’s Court. In
the course of the preceding August
he had written an affectionate let-
ter to his godson, in which he said:
“In spite of your present dislike to
the country, I have been planning
stations for you, in one of which I
hope in due time to see your appoint-
ment. Amongst others, it has oc-
curred to me that Colonel Collins,
who is under great obligations to
your father, should endeavor to get
you appointed his assistant. It would
be fixing you in one of the most re-
spectable lines in the service, and
your father, I am sure, would be very
much pleased with it. It does not at
all follow that military men are al-

E

I quitted Benares on the 21st,

ways to hold diplomatic appoint-
ments, and I should hope, old as I am,
to see you Governor-General’s agent
to Scindiah. If you are for a rapid
fortune, for a scramble, and to run
off with what you can get, you should
get appointed assistant to a collector.
These principles, I trust, you are not
come out with, and I should be sorry
to hear of your getting into that line,
or as assistant to either of the judges
of Adawlut. Much better will it be
for you to get into either of the offices
below, under the Secretary-General,
the Secretary in the Public Depart-
ment, the Persian translator’s office,
or in the Secret Political and Foreign
Departments. From any of these
offices you will be qualified to hold
any appointment in the Mofussil;
but I say to you as I would to my
own son— keep as long out of the

2
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stopped some hours with Colonel Kyd at Allaha-
bad, and arrived at Cawnpore on the 24th. Here
I found all my friends and relations, and was very
happy. But, alas! happiness cannot last long. I
quitted Cawnpore on the 30th (my birthday) with
Lord Wellesley, whose permission to accompany
him was very graciously given; and after very
agreeable marches (considered the whole time as
one of his family) arrived at Lucknow on the 5th
of February, 1802. Our time was most agreeably
passed in a variety of magnificent shows. The
fireworks exceeded any I ever saw. The elephant
fichts did not equal my expectation. I returned
on the 14th of February to Cawnpore.”

From this station, where he resided at the house
of Mr. Richardson,* a member of the Civil Service,
he wrote to one of his college friends — John
‘Walter Sherer, then a young man of high promise,
which his after-career of usefulness fulfilled—the
following enthusiastic account of the pageantry at
Lucknow. In the suite of Lord Wellesley he had
begun to think that the bright Oriental tinting

judicial line, and the line of collec-
tions, as you can—altogether, I hope,
or till that some great reform talkes
place in those lines. Recollect, my
good fellow, that I write to you in
perfect confidence, and not for general
communication. There’s scarcely a
man in either of the lines I allude
to that will agree with me in opinion,
The diplomatic line is what I would
recommend your turning your mind
to.
“Your dislike to the country can’t
be greater than mine was for the first
twelvemonth; it will wear off 1 am

convinced, but perhaps not so soon in
a college. However, when you reflect
what satisfaction it will give your
father and mother to hear of your
getting a medal, I am sure you'll
study hard to deserve one, and then 1
will attack Collins, for I hopc to sec
you fixed either with him at Luck-
now, or at Poonali. I should be most
happy to see you, but I would not on
any account have you think of leav-
ing College under any pretence what-
ever.”

* Mr. Richardson was the husband
of one of Metcalfe’s aunts.



PAGEANTRY AT LUCKNOW. b3

of the ¢ Arabian Nights” had nothing fabulous
about it :

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SIIERER.
« Cawnpore, Feb. 17, 1802,

“ MY DEAR SHERER,—I have lately returned from Luck-
now, whither I accompanied the Marquis. I consider myself
fortunate in having had such an opportunity; for such a one
will never most probably occur again. We left Cawnpore on
the 30th of January, and, after four days’ very pleasant march,
encamped within three miles of Lucknow. The Nabob's tents
were pitched betwcen us and the town, which he had not
entered since his return from Cawnpore. His Lordship’s escort
consisted of his Majesty’s 76th, and 18th Regiment of Native
Infantry, with the 3rd Regiment of Native Cavalry, and two
troops of the 27th Light Dragoons, exclusive of his own body-
guard. With camp followers, &c., we must have formed an
encampment of above 20,000 men. Two of the Nabob’s sons
came to Lord Wellesley’s tent to conduct him, and shortly
after he commenced his march he was met by the Nabob, the
Resident, and all the English and native respectable inhabitants
of Lucknow. His Lordship and the Nabob mounted the same
elephant (the whole party werce provided with this conveyance),
and commenced the procession with cvery possible parade of
magnificence. I do not think a finer spectacle could have
ever before been seen. Every display of Asiatic and European
magnificence was to be scen in our procession. We had a
large body of European soldiery (the finest sight we know of
in England), at the same time everything of Asiatic splendor
which the mind can fancy. The innumerable concourse of
clephants (the grandeur of which animal secms to have ap-
pointed 1t particularly for a procession of this nature), decorated
with costly trappings, was no small part of my admiration.
The very dresses formed a spectacle of magnificence, and the
two nations seemed to vie with each other in their splendor.
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The Calcutta cavalry, I can assure you, was not the least
elegant. His Lordship, in the true style of Eastern pomp,
distributed his rupees with a liberal hand. The streets had
been fresh painted, and those of the merchants were lined
with the most beautiful silks of various patterns. 'The tops of
the houses (with which we were brought to a level by our
elephants) were -covered with musicians and dancing-girls ;
the streets under our feet crowded with millions anxious to
see so grand a procession. Everything recalled to my memory
the ¢ Arabian Nights,’ for every description of any ‘such pro-
cession which I ever met with in history, even the celebrated
Triumph of Aurelian (I think it was the Emperor), when he
led Zenobia and Tiridates* captives, of which Gibbon gives
an account, was completely beggared by it. I am aware that
any attempt of mine to give an i1dea of what I saw will be very
vain. We were received at the Nabob’s at breakfast under a
salute. There were some inconveniences, as there always will
be in a thing of this kind,—such as the noise of the music, the
cries of the scramblers, the crush of elephants, which was some-
times truly alarming.

¢ The Nabob and the Lord grew so attached to each other,
that the Nabob declared that he could not exist unless he
always dined and breakfasted in company with the Lord. We
were, therefore, constantly annoyed with ceremony. The fire-
works and illuminations which he exhibited to us were the
most splendid I could ever have conceived an idea of. I was
rather disappointed in the elephant fight : this animal does not
seem to possess valor equivalent to his size or strength ; yet
to have seen it is certainly a matter of curiosity. The Nabob’s
horses are remarkably fine. His pleasures are all in the English
way ; he is fond of horses, dogs, hunting, &c., &ec. His
breakfasts, dinners, houses, are completely English. It struck
me very forcibly as worthy of remark, that a Mussulman prince
should sit after dinner merely for the purpose of handing about
the bottle, though of course ke did not drink. He has a French

* This should have been written Zetricus.
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cook and a military band of English instruments. I at length
grew quite tired of the variety of ceremonies, and, after gra-
tifying my curiosity in seeing whatever was to be seen, I paid
my last respects to his Lordship on Sunday. He has not
quitted Lucknow. He was very attentive to me and kind.
Remember me to all friends. Direct for the present to ¢ T.
Richardson, Esq., Cawnpore.’
“ Yours very sincerely,
¢ C, T. METCALFE.”

““ After enjoying the society of my friends for
another fortnight,”” continued the young journalist,
writing at Mynpooree on the 7th of March, “1I
left it on the 26th. Axrived on the 27th at Fut-
tehghur, which I quitted on the 5th of this month,
after having experienced a great deal of kindness
from Mrs. Collins, and of attention and politeness
from General Stuart. The change of scene which
I have for the last two months experienced has,
in some measure, diverted my mind from that con-
stant brooding over my misery to which I have for
too long a period given way. But no variety, no
pleasures, can prevent me from frequently recur-
ring to the probability of my happiness being
sacrificed to worldly ideas of Prudence. Alas!
how little is happiness consulted in general. But
I must not indulge in these reflections.’’*

At this time young Metcalfe kept two journals;

* MS. Journal, March 7th, 1802.
On the previous day he had writ-
ten:—* Murch 6th.—I made a forced
march from Mahomedabad to Bever,
and thence to Bhogong, where I or-
dered the tents to be pitched. . . .
Towards the evening I walked to-
wards some distant ruins, which I
found to be a burying-place for the

followers of Malhomed. As I passed
over their interred remains, I could
not check my reflections upon the
fallen state of this race of beings,
who but half a century back were
everywhere supreme,” He had aban-
doned the palanquin, and was now
riding on an elephant.
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one a diary of his travels, the other what he called
a “ Common-place Book,” or record of his thoughts ;
the objective and the subjective being scrupulously
separated from each other. In the latter he wrote
as follows, on that same 7th of September, in his
tent at Mynpooree :

“ SUNDAY.—I have just been reading divine service. W hat
a strong impression does it always leave upon the mind, and
how well calculated are the prayers to inspire one with a true
spirit of religion. The Sabbath is (to the shame of mankind
be it said) but very seldom attended to: in India, it 1s parti-
cularly neglected; so that even the day when it returns is not
known, nor marked by any single act of devotion. It appears
to me necessary to religion to bring it to one’s serious attention
at fixed periods. For the want of this, the English in India
have less virtue in them than elsewhere, and cannot impress
the natives with a good idea of our religion.

I am. Over the gate of the temple of Delphos was placed
the word €4, according to Plutarch signifying ¢ Thou Art’
—a confession of the nothingness of man, and a homage
worthy of the Divinity to whom alone appertains existence.

How well does this Pagan inscription agree with the I At of
Holy Writ.”

On the following day the young traveller left
Mynpooree, and on the 10th he crossed the confines
of the Company’s territories. The narrative of

his travels cannot be carried on better than in his
own words :

“ March 9th.—From Ghurriwal to Shekoabad. A battalion
of sepoys was cncamped at the latter place. I saw nothing,
however, of any of the oflicers. Ttis a strange circumstance
tbat, so far from all white faces, and not having seen onc
since quitting Futtehghur, I should not have greedily scized
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upon this opportunity of obtaining society. I did not, however,
for reasons peculiar, I believe, to my own disposition. It seems
equally strange that no one here should have thought me
worthy of notice.

March 10¢th.—From Shekoabad to Ferozabad. I this morn-
ing quitted the Company’s territories. Ferozabad belongs to
Scindiah, and is part of General Perron's Jaghire. The aumil,
or governor of the place, came to pay his respects. He 1s a
civil, shrewd, sensible man. He had heard the news of the
peace, and inquired if a monarchy had been restored in France.
Our conversation was chiefly political ; and he observed, turn-
ing to my moonshee, who was in the tent, that the English
were the only nation who could defeat the French, and that
this was owing to their navy. He made many other clever
observations ; among others, he said that the design of the
French in invading Egypt was clearly to forward their plans
upon India; and concluded by observing that he did not think
it would be a lasting Peace. I never met with a native of
India who appeared to have such rational ideas of European
politics. He was a native of Lahore, and his ancestors were
Oosbeck Tartars.

March 11th—From Ferozabad to Eatimadpoor. On the
road I frequently passed ruins of palaces and mausoleums.”

The sight of these old ruins seems to have thrown
him again into a contemplative mood ; for when he
reached the halting-ground he opened his Common-
place Book, and recorded the following boyish re-
marks :

“ ADVICE. — The generality of mankind are very fond of
giving advice, and that on the most trivial subject. ¢ If you
will take my advice’ is in every man’s mouth on every occa-
sion. Some force it upon you: if you believe them, it proceeds
entirely from anxicty for your welfare, whereas it is in general
to gratify a talkative disposition, or display their knowledge
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and wisdom. There are others who expect, should you ask
their advice, that you must of course act according to it, and
should you not do so, feel themselves highly insulted. Iwould,
therefore, recommend every one (unless it be on matters of
great importance) to act according to the dictates of one's own
judgment ; or if this is not to be depended upon, he should
give his advisers to understand that he 1s still determined to
maintain a reference to his own decision. If you are advised
by a thousand persons, you will probably receive a thousand
different opinions. Trust to your own judgment, after having
maturely considered the circumstances of your case, and, al-
though you may sometimes err, your decision will often prove
just.—[ Eatimadpoor Camp, March 11th, Thursday, 1802.]
DisrosiTioNs oF CHILDREN.—I have frequently been led
to consider how far from the dispositions of children we may
form a just idea of the characters they will support as men. I
am almost induced by reflection to believe, that those tempers
which appear the worst in infancy may produce the finest
characters in manhood. Obstinacy in the child becomes Reso-
lution in the man. Cunning is but the prognostic of Wisdom.
Sullenness grows up to be Patience. And in Fierceness are
planted the seeds of Courage. I should never be grieved at
seeing a child commit a theft and avoid all detection, because
I should believe that when a man he would be enabled to
negotiate a treaty with skill, head an army with address, or
even govern a nation with ability. But these symptoms must
be properly managed to produce those good effects, for they
are as liable to a wrong turn as a right one, and then they are
the forerunners of the blackest passions. A public school is
the proper stage for such dispositions to act upon. If, again,
we examine those tempers which parents are so fond of ob-
serving in their offspring, we shall find, I think, that they
are capable of being extremely injurious. I have known a
fond mother delight in the very passions of her darling boy,
because when the storm had once blown over the sky became
again serene and calm, little aware that if this hastiness was not
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rooted out before the age of manhood, it would expose her
son to numberless perils, universal quarrels, and the general
detestation of society. When I hear a child spoken of as being
as mild as a lamb, as pliable as a twig, and as submitting
without a murmur to all treatment, I cannot avoid the reflec-
tion that he will be a weak man. Yet may those tempers
be so educated (for I cannot use a word more expressive of my
meaning) as to produce nothing but virtuous and enviable
characters. Education, in fact, is the sculptor of men’s minds,
and from it alone can the most conspicuous virtues and most
contemptible vices be engrafted in the bosoms of mankind.” *—
[ Eatimadpoor Camp, March 11th, 1802.]

The next stage brought the young traveller to
Agra, then a city garrisoned by Mahratta troops,
under a Dutch commander. To the English in
India it was little known except by report, and
Charles Metcalfe, when he explored the wonders of
the Taj-Mahal, trod where few of his countrymen
had trodden, and sate down to describe in letters
and journals what had seldom at that time been
described by an English pen. Half a century has
passed away, and the Taj has become the standing lion
of the English traveller and the stock-subject of the
English journalist. But custom cannot stale its in-
finite variety ; and every new writer has something
new to say about it. To young Metcalfe it appeared
as the realisation of the Legendary and Traditional,
with all the charm of freshness about it. He said
that it was very beautiful, and  beyond descrip-
tion;” but that it wanted grandeur, and suggested

* “I think a public school is not pliant to resist the temptations to

the proper education of these dispo- which they will there be exposed.”
sitions ; for they are too weak and too ~—C. M.
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no solemn thoughts. The entries in his journal are
brief : |

“ March 12th.—From Eatimadpoor to Agra. The eye was
everywhere struck with the view of heaps of ruins, lamenting
in forcible language the oppressive ravages of Time. A con-
siderable time elapsed before I could get my baggage over
the river—the elephants swam. Whilst my tents were pre-
paring, I took up my quarters in the Taj-Mahal. This is
said by many—among others by the artist Zoffany—to be the
finest building in the world. To attempt to describe it would
be presumption, for it is far above description. Shah Jehan
is buried here with his wife ; this building was originally
intended for her, and it was his design to have built a fellow
to it on the opposite side of the river for himself. The ground
for the purpose was enclosed with a wall, which still remains,
though in a very ruinous condition. The centre building of
this wonderful edifice is composed entirely of white marble,
inlined with different colored marbles, cornelians, agates, and
other curious stones, in the form of flowers, ribbons, &ec., &ec.,
which are executed with wonderful nicety and real taste. I
went to the summit of the minaret. They are more elevated
than those of Lucknow, and present a very fine vicw of the
fort and town.

13¢h.—1 breakfasted by invitation with the Dutch com-
mander, Colonel J. Hessing. I found with him his son, who
commanded in the engagement at Oujein, where his battalions
were defeated; a Mr, Marshall, an Englishman; and two others,
whose names I have not learnt. The breakfast consisted of
kedgeree (rice and eggs), fish, game, fowls, curry and rice,
stews, oranges, pears, pomegranates, eggs, bread and butter,
cakes of all kinds, pancakes, and a number of other dishes,
which have escaped my recollection—among others, I had for-
gotten to cnumerate cheese. The Dutchman was as polite as
a Dutchman could be, and very well-meaning I am certain. 1
walked over some of the buildings. They are in general of
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marble, beautifully inlaid, and admirably executed. The roofs
of many have been silver. These, however, have fallen a prey
to the destroying hands of the Mahrattas, who have even
stripped the rooms of the leaves of gold which covered the
flowers in many places. Some of the rooms are lined with
small mirrors. I was conducted by Mr. Marshall and another
gentleman, who showed me the place where Shah Jehan was
confined while his sons were contending for his empire. It is
a small octagon room where the ruler of all India spent this
wretched portion of his life, not in the command of a single
slave. The walls were white, but in many places the plaster
had dropped, and disclosed a colored wall, with gold and silver
ornaments. It is said that the Emperor had it whitewashed
that he might not be troubled with the sight of such pernicious
metals.”

On the following day he ¢ breakfasted and dined
with the Dutchman, and examined the Taj-Mahal
with more attention.” It was a happy day, for his
affectionate heart was gladdened by the receipt of a
letter from his friend Sherer, which he sate down at
once to answer. ‘I cannot better,” he wrote, ¢ ex-
press the joy I feel at receiving yours of the 1st,
than by answering it immediately. It has not been
in my hands ten minutes. It finds me an inmate
of the far-famed Taj-Mahal at Agra.” It is
above description,’” he added; “but I may endeavor
to give you an idea of its materials.”” And then
he went on to speak of the wonderful mosaic, of the
precious stones inlaid, of the elegant devices—but
confessed that there was something unsatisfactory
in it all. “If,” he wrote—and the passage is worth
more than whole pages of such description — ¢ if
you are not already tired of the subject, I will
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tell you the impression that all this beauty and
elegance left upon my mind. Although I have by
no means done it justice, yet you will be surprised
when I tell you it left no impression upon my
mind ; I was not inspired with any of those sen-
timents of awe, delight, or reverence with which I
have viewed much less magnificent buildings, par-
ticularly the colleges of the universities, or with
which I have heard the echo of my own footsteps
even in the cloisters of my much-loved Eton. Ah,
Sherer, those were days of real happiness! In those
very cloisters has my youthful and ardent imagi-
nation planned to itself a life of greatness, glory,
and virtue — there have I been the orator, and
discussed important topics in the Senate-house—
there have I been the statesman prescribing terms
to the wondering nations of Europe—there have 1
concluded peaces, commanded armies, or headed a
party struggling for liberty; or, descending from
those lofty views, there have I fancied myself in
private life, in the enjoyment of domestic happiness,
the honored patron of a neighbouring hamlet. How
crushed are all my hopes, my honors, and my
fancied glories! But you will say I am wandering,
and in looking over the last page I find that I
am.” And then he reverted to the wonders of the
Taj ; but the description is dull and prosaic after
such ‘ wandering” as this.*

* The concluding passage of this
letter may he givenin a note. There
are some characteristic touches in it:
“Iwill tell you something in my next
as wcll of my plans, and believe me
I feel sincerely flattered that T possess
any friends, and particularly such a
friend, who do take an interest in my

concerns. I perfectly agree with you
about the essay, and only regret that
any of my unshapen things should be
exposed to the public eye. You shall
have my sentiments of the TPeace
shortly. In the mean time, I entreat
you to write and tell Hamilton to do
s0, from whom I have not received one
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On the 15th of March, Charles Metcalfe turned
his back upon Agra, and proceeded upon his journey
to Scindiah’s Court. On the evening of that day,
halting at Mundakor, he wrote again to his friend
Sherer. After having dismissed one moonshee be-
cause he was stupid, and another because he was
insolent, the young student had found a third,
who was neither; and as he was as ready to appre-
ciate good qualities as he was to resent bad ones in
his native instructors, he had come to the resolu-
tion, after leaving College, to reward the services
of the man to whom he believed himself so much
indebted for the proficiency which, during his year’s
residence in Calcutta, he had acquired in the know-
ledge of the native languages. What shape the
young writer’s gratitude assumed may be gathered
from the following letter, which deserves record
as a characteristic manifestation of the kindliness
and generosity of the writer :*

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

“ Camp of the Anglo-Mahratta Allied Forces,
Head-quarters, Mindakor, March 15, 1802.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,—My letter of yesterday should have
sufficed you for the present had I not forgotten in it to men-

line. T am quite alone, and have for
a long time been so, and shall con-
tinue so for another month or two,
unless I am picked up by our friend
Jeswunt Rao Holkar, who has planted
himself in my road. I have a party of
Company’s sepoys, to which I receive
a reinforcement of fifty Malhrattas;
but I shall prefer negotiating my way
instead of forcing it. I have been
strongly advised to stop here by the
Resident and others; but with an ob-
Ject in view, I am the most restless
fellow in the world, and always push
to the end of it.”

* On the following day he wrote in
his Common-place Book :—* Hilal-00d-
deen.—1I have determined to settle 20
rupees per month upon this man, who
so well deserves all that I can do for
him. This added to his other salaries
will render him extremely comfort-
able.” — [ Futtehpore Camp, March
16h, 1802.] ;

Nearly a year afterwards he wrote
opposite to this passage: — “I was
dissuaded from this as being beyond
my means. I gave 200 rupees.’—
[ Feb. 19th, 1803.]



64 TIRST OFFICIAL EXPERIENCES.

tion a subject which I particularly wished to write to you
upon. It relates to our common friend Hilal-ood-deen. He is
the only native of India for whom I entertain any particular
esteem, which his merits loudly demand. It is no fault of his
that I am not at this moment a tolerable proficient in some one
or other of the Oriental languages. I am ashamed to say he
was thrown away upon me. Ile has now to deal with a better
subject, Jenkins,* who will do him the justice he deserves.
The good old man must have thought it very extraordinary
that I should have left Calcutta without giving him any
memorial of my regard: the rcasons why I did so have been
explained in a letter to Hamilton. I have been considering of
the means by which I can do him some permanent service ; and
I think that a monthly allowance will be the most so. Tell
him, therefore, that he is to consider himself entitled to twenty
rupees per month from January last inclusive. If I return to
England, I must make amends for the loss of this allowance
by a sum of some small value, but if I remain in India, it will
continue to Hilal’s death, unless I am carried off before him.
It is a slight recompense, and by no mecans comes up to my
wishes ; but, as I have not the slightest idea of my own
salary, and as, exclusive of camp equipage and travelling ex-
penscs, I am obliged, for the sake of appearance, to maintain
a much larger establishment than I ever should have done in
Calcutta, the sum which I have set apart for Hilal-ood-deen is
as considerable as my ability, consistent with convenience, will
admit of ; this, however, I shall not feel in the least burden-
some, and only regret that it cannot be larger. As it is, it
may serve to add to his comforts. I will shortly contrive some
means for his being regularly supplied; yet you must be
aware that I must have some trifling increase before I can
effect this. Give him, however, to understand that this allow-
ance is to commence from the 1st of January, 1802, and to con-
tinue until some circumstances as above mentioned shall inter-
fere to prevent it. I, however, by no means consider this
trifling recompense as acquitting me from further obligation;

* The late Sir Richard Jenkins, G.C.B.
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on the contrary, Hilal-ood-deen will ever have a strong claim
to any services I may be able to render him or his family,
and in thus disposing of any benefits, in addition to gratifying
my own sentiments of gratitude, I shall have the satisfaction
of serving a man of solid merit and intrinsic worth.

«T am not at all qualified to speak on the Peace, yet I think
we ought to have made a better. I by no means approve of ex-
tensive territories, yet the French, I think, come too well off.
The reserve of their East-Indian territories ought to have been
one article. All the resignations are on our part. In fact, what
France did not gain by the War, she has acquired by the Peace
—all her colonial possessions. The subtle, cunning, or mean
policy of Bonaparte has been manifest in the invasion of Por-
tugal, the integrity of which is the greatest point which we
have gained. For the sake of indemnification at a peace, he
did not scruple to carry war and devastation into a defenceless
country without even a plea; he has completely succeeded,
for this country, the restoration of which is the most favorable
article, was not invaded until the year 1801, in which year
peace was made. This treaty, I think, is more for the honor
than the interest of our country. We reserve quite enough,
yet grant our enemies too much. Yet do we see Great Britain
in her glory : take back, she says, those possessions my valiant
sons have won, but restore peace, liberty, and happiness to all
the nations of Europe groaning under your oppression. By
no means think that I object to it ; peace was necessary to all
the world, and on the whole this is at least a glorious one.

“I have never experienced any comfort in India until of late,
since I have been travelling quite alone. I do nothing but
read English, Latin, and French, and I have procured another
small but good selection of books. I rise early, read constantly,
eat heartily, and sleep soundly—four blessings I never before
enjoyed in India. I never allow myself to think of England,
and I feel the good effects of my resolution, though my views
with respect to it are the same as ever. I have no room to
tell you all my plans. Persuade Hamilton to write; I have

VOL. I. F
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not had a word from him in answer to either of my letters.
Remember me to him and Wood. Lord W. did not see the
second and third essays. Depend upon it I feel more gratified
by his approbation than I should by the prize itself. Buchanan*
appears to have been officiating priest on the occasion, and I
cannot admit that his judgment was by any means good; re-
member, I speak of the first lot—I know nothing of the others,

not having seen them.
“ Yours very sincerely,

“ C.T. METCALFE.

“ N.B. I have entirely deserted Oriental literature for the pre-
sent, and shall see the arrivals of yesterday in a short time turn-
ing up their noses—en passant [blood must have blood; I'll give
you Gil for Gilt], who are the hopes of the rising generation?”

The reflections on the Peace, set forth in this
letter, seem to have set the young politician think-
ing about the condition of the armies of Europe;
and on the following evening, halting at Futtehpore,
he made this entry in his Common-place Book :

“ ARMY.—A very unjust opinion has of late been entertained
by a certain description of persons, that the Enghsh army does
not contain soldiers equal to the Fremch. Their valor is
never disputed; but it is asserted that they are not such good
soldiers. Experience teaches us that this opinion is founded
upon error, or rather unfounded. In the campaign of 1799,
in Holland, the superiority of our soldiers was evinced in every
engagement, even in that immediately preceding the retrcat
of our army. They were always victorious, and only the
adverse fortune which had attended the allies in Switzerland
occasioned our retreat. The French were by these means

* The Rev. Claudius Buchanan,
Vice-Provost of the College. I find
a letter from him to Metcalfe, written
at this time, in which he says—*‘Some

ntlemen were praising your essay
ately, when an old civilian ohserved,

he did not see it was anything re-
markable. ¢‘Pray, can you do as well,
John?’ On which John said that he
thought he could, if he had time.”

+ The reference is to some collo-
quialisms of Dr. Gilchrist.
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enabled to send fresh troops to Holland; and immense rein-
forcements were every day arriving. Again, in Egypt, the
superiority of our soldiers was everywhere manifest against
legions, even which had gained the title of Invincible. In fact,
wherever the abilities of our common soldiers have been put to
the test they have universally triumphed. The English army 1s
in want of generals and officers.”—[ Futtelpore Camp, March
16k, 1802.]

On the 17th of March, Metcalfe left Futtehpore,
and on his way to Radowul his ¢ baggage was at-
tacked by the banditti of the country, who were
repulsed.” Many of his marches, at this time, were
performed by moonlight. The increasing richness
and beauty of the country through which he passed
excited pleasurable emotions in the mind of the
young traveller; and day after day, as he encamped
“ under the elegantly-spreading banyan-tree,” or
‘“in a most elegant grove of banyan-trees, every one
of which is in itself a grove,” he recorded his
favorable impressions of the abundant fertility and
the romantic picturesqueness of the country of
Mahrattas. Here and there he came up with bat-.
talions of Perron’s troops, and received compli-
mentary presents, and visits, not merely of compli-

ment, from their officers.*

* Under date March 22nd, he
writes:—* Pilowdit to Koshulghur, —
At the latter I found encamped four
more battalions of Perron’s troops.
One of the officers came to visit me
—anxious to hear of his father, Co-
I obtained some
information from him relative to the
Mahratta service. It appears that
promotion depends on General Per-
ron, whois naturally disposed to favor
his own countrymen. So far, how-

At other places he was

ever, as the rank of captain,. every
cfficer obtains a step annually—et. e.
in four years a man must be a captain.
The rule extends no higher. The uni-
form of the sepoys is the same as the
Company’s; so are the accoutrements,
with the exception that they carry a
sword as well as a bayonet and mus-
ket. The band, which was in full
tune, as they marched by my little
camp, played nothing but marches—
perfectly in the European style.”

F 2



68 FIRST OFFICIAL EXPERIENCES.

warned of the contiguity of Holkar’s marauding
bands; and ¢ obliged to keep a sharp look out.”
But these things did not much to disturb his tran-
quillity, or break in upon his meditations. Even in
the near neighbourhood of the banditti his habit of
moralising was not to be repressed, and we find
him, with Holkar’s troops within a few miles of
him, opening his Common-place Book, and thus re-
cording his opinion on the formation of character :

¢ D1sPOSITIONS OF CHILDREN.—In the 307th number of the
Spectator, I find that the doctrine of natural abilities is sup-
ported : viz., the Author, or his Correspondent, for they are in this
instance evidently one and the same, founds his observations on
the principle that ¢ Nothing but Nature can qualify a man for
any science.” The authorities in support of this argument are
numerous; and seem almost of themselves capable of over-
throwing every opposition. Socrates stands at the head. Dr.
South and a Spanish physician, Juan Hirartes, are quoted;
and the support of the Spectator is not the most insignificant.
It almost appears the highest presumption even to think dif-
ferently from such powerful thinkers, but as every one, the
humblest and youngest individual, has and will ever have an
opinion of his own, until something occurs to destroy it, I
cannot help dissenting from the above decision; and am in-
fluenced by the following ideas in spite of the great authors
above mentioned. However scattered—however inferior they
are, still they are those which have weight with me. I
would attribute everything to education. When I say ¢ Edu-
cation,’ I do not mean the period of life generally so called—
that period which commences with the Alphabet and is al-
lowed to conclude with College—but the whole extent of our
life, from the Womb to the Grave—from Birth to Death ; or
at least as high up as the age of twenty-six or thirty. The
education of the child commenced from the time in which he is
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able to see, or imagine anything. Something may even depend
upon the article on which first the mind rests; a great deal
depends on the woman to whom his first months are entrusted;
and I should look upon the period from birth to the age of siz
to be more important than any succeeding one. Chance has a
great influence in this period;—for instance, the accident of
being left alone in the dark, and any uncouth noise or circum-
stance occurring, might leave an impression of horror upon an
infant mind which would probably accompany it to the grave.
This I assert from unanswerable experience. The woman to
whom my infant years were entrusted used to convey me, by
way of punishment, to a dark room, and represent the coming
of the Old Man (a famous bug-bear in the mouths of nurses)
as every minute to be expected. Here was I left, whilst pro-
bably the foolish woman would groan, and make use of several
other means to terrify me. The consequence was, that through-
out my childish and boyish years, I was a prey to the most
horrid fears; and such an effect has this treatment had upon my
imagination, that I am even now much weaker on this point
than I could wish to be.* Numberless apparently trifling cir-
cumstances teem with great events. A child from seeing any
bleeding animal in the cries of death, might become a being of
humanity or cowardice, accordingly as this impression was suc-
ceeded by others which might bend it the one way or the other.
Thus every virtue, every vice, would, I think, find its origin in
some such circumstance. As to abilities, I conceive them to be
all acquired by education; and when we see abilitiesin a Clown,
we are not to consider them as the offspring of nature, for a
Clown equally with a Peer has an education, though of a different
nature. Ience we meet with people in the humblest walks of
life who would shine in any character, if properly trained to
it, but their abilities are acquired. And it appears to me that
Dr. South carries his argument to a very extraordinary extent,

* This passage has been cited in continuity of the young essayist’s
the first chapter of these Memoirs; argument may not be impaired.
but it is reproduced here that the
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when he almost agserts that there are born lawyers, churchmen,
ploughmen, soldiers, politicians, merchants, mechanics, trades-
men, some one thing or another. I believe the human mind
at its birth to be as a blank sheet of paper, which receives
various tints or impressions—stains or embellishments—accord-
ing to the hands into which it may fall. I know not if any one
ever had the same thoughts upon this subject, though I have
some faint recollection of hearing that Locke had. I should be
happy in the accordance of so illustrious an author.”—[ Camp,
Munapura, March 23rd, 1802.]

At Kotah, it became apparent to him, for the first
time, that he was a person of some consequence,
and he was compelled to act a dignified official part.
The Dewan, or minister of Zalim Singh, came to pay
him a visit of ceremony, which it was his duty on
the following day to return. Through streets lined
with wondering inhabitants, ¢ as if to view some
strange spectacle,” the young diplomatist went forth,
more full of wonder than all the rest. He could not
help reflecting on the little notice that would have
been taken of him on entering any country town in
England; and perhaps in his young ambition he
may have begun to think that Indian official life
has its compensations after all. The incident is
thus detailed in his journal :

“ dpril 2nd, Kotah.—In the afternoon [the Dewan] came to
pay the complimentary visit. I had spread a white cloth over
the satringee in the tent. I received him and his relations and
friends before the tent, and after having embraced them led
them in. I seated myself with them according to the Hin-
dostanee custom, and after the ceremony of distributing Pan
and Attr, ordered the presents to be brought, consisting of a
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gold watch, a brace of pistols, penknife, scissors, and Hindavi
manuscript curiously minute. To my great annoyance, he
accepted the whole, which I had never intended, and which is

not a very general practice.
April 3rd—The necessity of returning the visit detained me

here this day. The streets were lined with inhabitants as if to
view some strange spectacle. I could not help reflecting with
what indifference I should be suffered to pass into a town in
England, and yet how much happier I should be. I was re-
ceived with the same ceremony which I had practised. The
presents consisted of four shawls, three pieces of muslin, one of
silk, and one of orange-coloured cloth.”

After a slight detention, caused by the accidental
death of one of his followers, and the kindly desire
of the young diplomatist to allow time for the
friends of the deceased to ¢ perform their last duties”
to him, and a subsequent halt in expectation of re-
ceiving letters from Colonel Collins, Charles Met-
calfe pushed on, through a bleak, barren country,
differing greatly from the fertile regions between
Agra and Kotah, to Oujein.* And on the 16th of

spot which appears to great advan-

* The following descriptive pas-
sages, from the young writer’s jour-
nal, are worth giving:

“April 6.—Waited till after breakfast
for letters from Colonel Collins. Re-
ceiving none, marched, with thirty-
eight men from the Rajah, and my
Havildar’s guard, to Humihuttea, dis-
tant eight coss through the most sa-
vage, bleak, dreary desert I ever had
any idea of—one vast rocky plain or
plain rock, for there was scarcely an
inch of ecarth, and wherever flowers
grew, they were without a single leaf;
¢very trec that appeared had its
branches entirely bare. In the midst
of this wild stands Juypoora, like
Palmyra or Tadmor in the Desert—a

tage, for between Rota and it, a dis-
tance of ten miles, there was not an
inhabitant nor a hut, nor a single drop
of water. The wind, blowing as if
through a furnace, was too high to
admit of my using any chatteh!, so
that I was exposed on my elephant to
the burning rays of the sun, the re-
flexion from the rock, and the scorch-
ing influence of the wind; all these
circumstances rendered me unwell
during the day and night.

“March 9.—Jhalsepatam—{five coss.

! A chatteh is a large umbrella,
made generally of the leaves of tho
plantain.
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Aypril he wrote the words ¢ Labor Ultimus” in his
journal. ¢ After a long march,” he recorded else-
where, “rendered pleasanter by my Resolution and
Recreation than I expected to find it, I arrived at
Oujein.” There he became a member of Colonel
Collins’s family, and entered upon the duties of his
appointment.

But he had leisure still to discourse of Love and
Friendship, and there was no growth of new attach-
ments at Oujein to displace the old. The truth
being told, it must appear that Charles Metcalfe, at
this time, was driven to seek solace in reminiscences
of the past. Disappointed, vexed, sometimes per-
haps irritated, he peopled his lonely tent with the
images of his absent friends, and as he pored over
the letters of some beloved correspondents, or looked
eagerly for the coming of the post, thought that he
was again in London or Calcutta. The entries in
his Common-place Book show what was the warmth
of his young affections:

“ ATTACEMENTS.—Attachment to a female is generally inse-
parable from desire; yet when this is not the case, how much
more tender and pure it is! The effect Miss D 's virtue,
sense, and beauty had, and still have, upon my mind, can never,
I think, be effaced. Yet was my attachment pure and warm,
but unaccompanied with any desire. I longed for her heart.
* * * The love of aboy of fifteen is a laughable subject;

The road was tolerably good, the land port it, and has left it, seemingly, to
as wild as before. This country dif- wither, Whether this be owing to
fers very much from the beautifully the seasons or the barren soil I know
fertile and well cultivated lands be- not; but the branches of every tree
tween Agra and Kotah. Here, when- are completely bare. This country
ever a tree has sprung up, the socil may very properly be called ‘India
appears to confess its inability tosup- Petraa,’ for it is one continued rock.”
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and is considered too childish to be lasting. Two years of
absence have only served to strengthen the most disinterested
attachment to her, and her sensible letters have heightened my
admiration. She is far removed from any thoughts of obtain-
ing her hand, and good sense and reason prohibit my aspiring
to it. Her happiness i1s my first wish in preference to my own;
and whoever the happy man to whose arms she is consigned,
may he prove worthy of the inestimable blessing.—[ Camp
near Qujein, April 25th, 1802.]

NEGLECT OF FrRIENDS.—How painful is the neglect of friends,
or the appearance of it! Although it is more than probable
that my correspondence has not been slighted, and that the
friend of my heart has actually written to me,* yet the doubt
and anxiety occasioned in my mind by the non-arrival of his
letters are really tormenting. With what eagerness do I wait
for the coming of the post, and when my hopes are daily dis-
appointed, with what igapatience do I look forward to the next
morning, and the possibility of their being realised. I may
say with Rousseau, I was born for friendship; but, alas! how
few are—how few feel it in its sincerity—how often is it abused
—how very few look upon it as more than a temporary in-
timacy, which after separation is no longer to be maintained.”
—[ Camp near Oujein, April 25th.]

The official connexion of Charles Metcalfe at this
time with Scindiah’s Court was brief and unsatis-
factory. ¢ My situation was very disagreeable,”” he
wrote in his journal, before he had been more than
a few weeks attached to the Residency; and he very
soon formed the resolution of seeking more conge-
nial employment elsewhere. But, painful and em-

* I believe that the friend here —one of the few of Charles Metcalfe’s
alluded to was Mr. Terrick Hamil- old friends and associates now living.
ton, then a student in the college, The missing letters were afterwards

and afterwards a not undistinguished received. The friend had not been
member of the Madras Civil Service neglectful.
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barrassing as was his position, he was becoming
more reconciled to Indian life. The great panacea
of action had been applied, with unfailing efficacy,
to the mental ailments of the eager youth; and
though his home-sickness had not been wholly sub-
dued, it had considerably abated. He no longer felt
that he was stagnating. The great world was open-
ing out before him.

So it may be believed that when, in the summer
of 1802, Charles Metcalfe received, from his parents,
answers to the letters which he had written from
Calcutta in the preceding year, imploring permission
to return to England, and found that those answers
gave no encouragement to the project of abandoning
the profession which he had entered, the denial in-
flicted upon him less pain than he had anticipated.
He had begun to take new views of life, and of life’s
duties. Perhaps it had become apparent to him
that distinction might be achieved in the East as
rapidly as in the West. All his friends in India,
old and young, had dissuaded him from the project
of returning to England, and now the letters of his
parents brought conviction to his mind that he could
not take the rash step without plunging them in
deepest grief. Most kindly, but still most firmly,
did Major Metcalfe reply to the solicitations of his
son. How wise his counsel was need not be told :

FROM MAJOR METCALFE TO CHARLES METCALFE.
“ Feb. 24, 1802.
“ MY DEAR CHARLES,—Your letter of the 30th of June
reached me this day, and has, of course, caused much uneasiness
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to your mother and me. The two letters you allude to have
not yet been received. On a retrospect of my own feelings
with regard to my children, I can with great truth declare,
that their care, comfort, and establishment in life has been the
great object of my endeavors. If I had considered my own
inclination, I should never have suffered your brother or you to
leave this country. In the vale of life, the company of two
sons, of whose abilities and acquirements any father might be
proud, would have been a solace that a selfish mind would
readily embrace; but, looking forward to the period when I
must pay the debt of Nature, it became an indisputable duty
to give up personal enjoyment for their future welfare, and to
consider how to place them in the most advantageous situations.
Judge then, my dear Charles, what I experienced at finding
you so dissatisfied with your station in the Civil Service, after so
short a trial. Let me ask you, in what line of life I could have
placed you that could hold out any prospect of a direct support,
much less of a future independence? The Army and Navy you
always objected to; and with respect to your present idea of
a clerkship in the Secretary of State’s office, if I could have
obtained such an appointment, the situation is neither so plea-
sant nor so profitable as a clerk in a merchant’s counting-house—
a place which you would soon discover to be too degrading for
any son of your father’s, That the prospect in Bengal always
appears unpromising on first entering into the service, is a fact
I have innumerable instances to prove; and many men now in
England with large fortunes, and several in Bengal in good
circumstances, held the same language as you now do. 1T re-
member well my own feelings when I was an ensign, and had
been in the country about three months. I one morning (in
a fit of the bile) waited on the commanding officer with an
intention to resign the service, and return to England. For-
tunately for me, the conversation at breakfast took a pleasant
turn, in which I bore an active part, and a hearty fit of laughter
got the better of my dlue devils. 1 returned to my quarters
with a determination to persevere; and by that prudent reso-
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lution have reached the situation which I now hold. Let my
example not be thought unworthy of being followed by my
sons; and I shall look with anxiety for your next letter being
written in better spirits than the one now before me.

“ God bless you, my dear Charles; let me hear from you by
every opportunity.

¢ Your most affectionate father,
“ THOoMAS T. METCALFE.”

From his mother the young writer received letters
couched in more emphatic language than this. Mus.
Metcalfe was a woman of strong sense and of plain
discourse. She did not deal in half-truths, and was
not given to reservations. She knew that the pros-
perity of her son’s career depended upon his con-
tinuance in India, and she was resolute not to en-
courage a humor which, in her convictions, was
fraught with ruin. So she went straight to the
point, and told ber son that he ought to be ashamed
of his instability; that he did not know his own
mind ; that he talked about distinguishing himself
in England, but that he really thought more of in-
dulging a boyish fancy; that he had been reading
too much and had got the vapors; and that it
would be good for him to ¢ dissipate” a little. A
little more tenderness would not have spoilt the
letters, but there was wonderful sagacity in them.
They touched the whole matter as with a needle’s
point—rem acu tetigerunt—and Charles Metcalfe
must have felt their prickings.*

* A few extracts from these letters father and myself little satisfaction.
may be given in a note:—¢Your let- We did not expect such, and are,
ters by the Georgiana have given your therefore, the more chagrined. In-
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Fearful as they were lest, under the influence of
the despondency which beset him during his first
year of probation, their son might be tempted to
abandon all his fair prospects of success, and pre-
cipitately to return to England, it was with no
common satisfaction that the elder Metcalfes learnt
that Charles had been appointed an assistant to
their ¢ old friend Jack Collins,” and was on his
way to Scindiah’s Court. And how much this
satisfaction was enhanced by the assurances they
received from all quarters that their son was tread-
ing worthily the appointed path, and was already
considered a youth of uncommon promise, may be
gathered from Major Metcalfe’s subsequent letters :

FROM MAJOR METCALFE TO CHARLES METCALFE.

« India-House, July 28, 1802,
“ My DEAR CHARLES,—I received your short epistle in-

forming me of your appointment to the Arabian embassy; and

stead of your parents being the ob- prospect before you which hundreds,

jects of your wish to relinquish so
important a situation, if you examine
your heart, you will find it is Miss
. ... Your father has not
the means or interest to get even
the paltry appointment of a clerk in
Lord Grenville’s office; and if he had,
there you might stay, whatever were
your abilities, . .. . If you are am-
bitious, the field is open before you
where you are; and in no place will
you stand so good a chance. ... .
You will laugh at my sending you
out a box of pills by Miss S——; but
I think you are bilious, and they will
beof great service.”—[ April 82h,1802,]

“If you have a grain of ambition,
you are in the field for it, and the ball
is at your foot. . . . . What is it you
want? With friends, money, attention,
credit, good sense, abilities, and a

e

I may say thousands in that country
have not, you want, I fear, my dear
Charles, a contented mind. . . . . You
study too much. You should dissi-
pate a little. On account of your
health, you should relax. Ride on
horseback. When intense thinking
is joined with the want of exercise,
the consequences must be bad,’—
[March 14th, 1802.]

*“I do not know what to say to al-
leviate your seemingly discontented
mind. . ... I feel most severely your
letters, and think it a great misfortune
that you should have taken so great
a dislike to a situation which seems
best calculated to bring forth your
abilities. It shows a want of cnergy,
a want of manliness, to be so cast
down.”—[ Vovember 24th, 1802.]
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while I was writing to you by the way of Constantinople
received an account from Mr. Balfour of your destination being
changed to the assistantship to my old friend Jack Collins—
the situation of all others which accords most with my wishes,
and I hope this letter will find you happily situated with the
man who of all others in India is most interested in the welfare
of my son. You are now in the high road to diplomatic fame,
and as the country languages are to be acquired in greater
perfection where you are stationed than in Calcutta, and your
attention will be called officially to the general politics of
India, my expectations are sanguine you will soon be con-
sidered well qualified for the situation Government has placed
you in, and which must of course lead to something better in
time. . . . .

¢« Tell Collins I saw his boys lately; they are” going on
extremely well, and as I intend giving the eldest my best
nomination when he is of the proper age, you will have to take
as much care of him as I am convinced his father will take of

you.
“Taomas T. METCALFE.”

FROM THE SAME TO THE SAME.
“ August 30, 1802.

“ My pEAR CHARLES,—In a few days after I sent off my
last letter, Colonel Monson, to our great surprise, made his
appearance, and gave us the most satisfactory account of your
progress to Agra, with several particulars respecting health, &c.,
that made your mother and me completely happy, feeling
as we naturally do more interested in the welfare of you and
your brother, who are removed to so great a distance, than for
the children immediately under our eye. Our whole mind is
constantly employed in thinking of your prospects in life; and
us nothing can be more flattering than the commencement of
your public line, I am sanguine in my expectations that you
will continue to reflect honor upon your father. Indeed, my
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dear boy, I feel the most heartfelt pleasure at the accounts I
receive from all quarters about you, and only regret that you
have not been a little more communicative about yourself, but
look forward in expectation that when you are settled in your
diplomatic employment you will make amends by frequent
accounts of yourself and my friend the Resident. The Mar-
quis (Wellesley) has desired to have a successor appointed, and
in his letter of the 1st of April, mentions an intention of em-
barking for England in December, 1802, or January, 1803. I
amof opinion thatwe shall not appoint a new Governor-General
till he arrives, and think Lord Castlereagh is likely to be the
man—in which case, I think I shall be enabled to make a
favorable impression both for Collins and you, as I am upon
good terms with Lord C.

“ Tell Collins his charming boys are returned to school.
With love to him, and every blessing a father can bestow,

¢ I remain, my dear fellow,
“ Your most affectionate parent,
“ Taomas T. METCALFE.”

FROM THE SAME TO THE SAME.
[Without date.]

“ MY DEAR CHARLES,—The accounts I have received from
various quarters of your character and general conduct is so
flattering, that I assure your mother with confidence you will
turn out a distinguished man when an opportunity offers of
bringing your talents forward ; and your parents want nothing
to complete their happiness but information from yourself, that
you are satisfied with your present situation. The share of
good sense you are evidently master of, will, I trust, reconcile
you to the line of life you are placed in, and convince you of
the impossibility of a compliance with your former request. I
think you did right in selling your books, as your library was by
far too large to travel about with; and when you get a settled
situation, I will supply you with as many as you may write for.



80 FIRST OFFICIAL EXPERIENCES.

¢ Tell my friend Collins I saw his boys yesterday. They
are all we can wish.

¢ The Marquis’s conduct to you has made a deep impression
on my mind. I shall feel more devoted to him than to any
other man who was ever in high station. His last letter, dated
in April, intimates an intention of leaving India in December
or January, and desires the Directors to appoint a successor.
But when he receives a request from the Court as well as from
Mr. Addington to remain another year, I think there is no
doubt of his continuing. The change in the office of President
of the Board of Commissioners is an advantage to the Public
and Company. Iord Castlereagh is the most promising young
man in England. He comes nearer to Mr. Pitt than any other
person in public life. I stand well with him and the Minister
—an object of no other consequence than as it may furnish the
opportunity of promoting the interests of my two sons. Give
my unfeigned love to Collins. Let us hear from you frequently,
to give happiness to

“ TaoMAS T. METCALFE.”

But long before these last letters had reached
Charles Metcalfe, he had turned his back upon
Scindiah’s Court, and bidden adieu to his father’s
““old friend Jack Collins.”” A trial of a few weeks
satisfied him that he could not serve under the
Resident ; so he made up his mind to resign his
appointment. What the immediate cause of the
rupture may have been I know not. In all pro-
bability it resulted from general incompatibility and
an aggregation of minute circumstances not easily to
be described. Something, however, may be gathered,
in spite of the unavoidable omissions, from the fol-
lowing characteristic letter :
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CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

“ Camp near Abzunpoor, June 20, 1802.

“MY DEAR SHERER,— . . . You cannot surely be
sincere when you speak of any deficiency of the Upper Story.
I cannot suffer that to pass without asking you where is this
deficiency ? I believe all men to possess a conscious know-
ledge of their own powers, and if you are allowed to depreciate
those which you possess, you at the same time depreciate those
of every one else, for as there are very few indeed, nor do I
know of any, who would not acknowledge your superiority, so
in proportion as you undervalue yourself every one must feel
his ideas of his own qualifications sinking; and you are proba-
bly the only man who would not wish to think the best of
himself. We all (7. e. the thinking part) find something to
regret in the plan which may have been pursued for our
education. Were I disposed to lament that which 1s irretriev-
able, I should never cease to regret that I was removed from
Eton at the time that I'was. I left it at the age of fifteen, at a
time when my ideas were, as it were, ripening—when I was
attached to the studies in the pursuit of which I was engaged,
bad objects towards which I was directing my exertions, and
had formed plans which promised success. Five years more
might well have been spared to Eton and an university, after
which there would have been ample time for India, if it was
absolutely necessary that I should come here. However, the
deed is done, and all my regrets could not recall it.

“T have more reason to lament what has passed since my arrival
here, for I have more to reproach myself—I have suffered one
precious year of my life to pass away without any adequate
improvement. In the year 1801 I really acquired nothing,
unless a smattering of an Oriental jargon be termed an acquisi-
tion. I suffered a very large library to be useless whence I
might have extracted that which would have been of much
more service to me than running about to tiffins and noisy
parties, where instruction, and even amusement could never be

VOL. I. G
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procured.* You surprise me much by what you say of C ;
1t i3 a proof that fear can have a good effect upon a mind which
is not susceptible of emulation. C 13 one of those cha-
racters which, I know not why, seems generally to be much
admired. The weaker part of his cotemporaries seem to con-
sider him as their leader, and make it their study to flatter him.
He has a good countenance, pleasing manners, a good heart,
lively disposition, and, what has no trifling effect, an inclination
to every species of extravagance and dissipation. I am not,
therefore, surprised at his being liked by young fellows, but he
seems to be admired equally by old. C——, P——, and some
others of the same disposition, were, I thought, most noticed
by the housekeepers of Calcutta; and it hasstruck me that such
characters are the most liked by the generality of mankind.
Young men are a sort of beings between boys and men, some
verging towards the former, some towards the latter class, and
you probably may have noticed, what has appeared to me, that
the boyish part are the most encouraged. A young man who
has read and observed, who has acquired a certain knowledge,
some degree of judgment, some prudence, some experience, and
the right of thinking for himself, who consequently must have
some dignity of character, is considered to be aspiring to a
sphere above his age, whercas the one who has a pretty face,
smart manners, and who will be played with, talked ¢o, and
laughed at, is a fine lad, a fine young man. Such are the terms
which I have heard bestowed upon C and P——, which
said lads are boys of twenty, which surely 1s an age when
boyish tricks ought not to be excusable. Let mankind say
what they will, a pretty face is an excellent introduction, and
before now I have had to regret the bad effects of an ugly
phiz—particularly with the ladies. Never for a moment
hesitate, under the idea of my being foolishly offended, to tell
me what you think. Believe me, I am the last man who would
at all take ill even your censure.

“I am always happy to be of your opinion, which in the
present case carries conviction along with it, and I have much

* Thie must be accepted only with reference to the first few months of his
residence in India.
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satisfaction in telling you that I have acted according to it, for
although I regret the want of public employment, which is to
me the most agreeable of all employment, yet I have en-
deavored to gain what knowledge I could, and improve my
ideas. My short stay at Scindiah’s Court has prevented my
knowledge being very complete, but in a short time one may
observe something. There is great justice in your reproach,
which, whether meant or not, I have applied to myself, respect-
ing my injunctions of caution to you. I could, I know very
well, have trusted to your judgment, which for the future I
shall do. As to Collins, I scarcely know what to say. . . .
I say that from my soul which I believe to be true, yet I am
aware that it is possible that I may see things with a jaundiced
eye, for his conduct towards me has been such that I have not
words to express my contempt ofit. . . . . Any general
description of Collins will convey no idea of it; it is only from
hearing particular anecdotes that you would be able to judge
of his extraordinary character. To say the best of him, he is
a man whom one ought immediately to quit.

“J perceive I have done nothing but write disquisitions in
this long letter. With respect to yours, I am always best
pleased when you commit your thoughts to paper. If the same
is the case with mine, no apology isrequired; butif an excuse is
required, you will find it in the total want of news, at which
you cannot be much surprised. Are you acquainted with what
has lately passed in Guzerat? We have had some disputes with
the Dewan of the Rajah, or Guicowar, and our troops were in
the beginning defeated. Sir William Clarke has gone into
those parts, and has in his turn been victorious: the affair is not
settled. The Peishwah regards it with a jealous eye, but I
believe will, or rather can, never go farther.

¢ The Collector of this district is said to be a terrible Buha-
door. His Sebundee Corps is five hundred strong; he has fifty
horsemen, and having the command of the Company’s troops
in his district, he never scruples to take some companies of
regular Sepoys, which he terms his Body-Guard. I think,
however, he had much better be looking about his district,

G2
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which is in complete disorder, than be sporting his grandeur in
the Cantonments of Futtehghur. This country requires active,
able, and experienced men.

“T cannot conclude without noticing your hospitable invi-
tation. I will not, my dear friend, thank you, for I should
thank an indifferent person for common civility. There is
language which cannot flow either from the lips or the pen,
which is spoken only in the heart, and in which I cannot ex-
press myself to you unless a sympathy of sentiment convey it
from my breast to yours. There 1s no place I can come to
with such satisfaction as your proffered mansion, but it is in full
confidence that you will not suffer me to alter your method and
plan of living; in fact, that you will not consider me a stranger.
Kind remembrances to Wood. I wrote yesterday to Hamilton.

“ Ever your sincere friend,
“C. T. METCALFE.”

That Jack Collins and Charles Metcalfe had their
differences, and could not agree to differ amicably
and philosophically, is clear. The story is a very old
one; within every man’s experience; intelligible;
without mystery. Colonel Collins was cold, im-
perious, and overbearing. He was known by the
name of * King Collins;”” and he had little tolera-
tion for those who did not recognise his sovereignty.
He looked upon Charles Metcalfe as a vassal and as
a boy. He stood upon his position and he stood
upon his age. He exacted a deference which the
youth was slow to concede ; he claimed a superiority
which was not willingly acknowledged. The boy
thought the man arrogant and domineering. The
man thought the boy forward and presumptuous.
It is probable that both were right. It is almost a
condition of early talent to be vain and self-sufficient.
It does not much matter. The vanity and self-
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sufficiency are soon rubbed off. But in the mean
while it is hardly to be expected that age and ex-
perience should benignantly regard the manifes-
tation of these qualities only as a sign of what is
called in the above letter a ¢ consciousness of
power.”” Still, a little more toleration in such cases
is to be desired ; and it would have been well if the
elder man had smiled at the self-sufficiency of his
young friend, and borne with it for the sake of his
finer qualities. Charles Metcalfe was, doubtless, fond
of arguing, and King Collins did not like being ar-
gued with by a boy of seventeen.* This in a few
plain words seems to have been the cause of their
rupture. They parted with at least outward civility ;
and became sufficiently good friends—at a distance.t

* It was, doubtless, after some simi-
lar collision with an elder that, a few
months afterwards, Charles Metcalfe
wrote in his Common-place Book,—
“ AraUuE. We are often reproached for
what we are taught to do. To differ
in opinion from men of greater age
and experience is looked upon, in a
young man, as a great presumption.
Yet are boys at school and college
taught and compelled to criticise the
best and most celebrated authors that
the world has known, and to argue
on all subjects, even in favor of an
untenable proposition.” — [ February
18, 1803.]

t Several letters from Colonel Col-
lins, written shortly after Charles
Metcalfe’s departure, are preserved
by the latter. They are written
probably with as much warmth as
the man was capable of feeling. They
sometimes acknowledge the receipt of
a ‘“friendly letter” from Metcalfe,
and generally express a hope—often
an assurance, that the young man will
succeed in the line of his profession.
In one letter he says: “I had little
doubt but that Mr. Barlow would re-
commend your fixing in Calcutta, and

on more mature reflection, I believe
that his judgment is perfectly correct.
Since he seems so well disposed to-
wards you, I am certain you will not
fail to cultivate his esteem and regard
—not merely because his friendship
may be useful in forwarding your in-
terest, but principally on account of
the high character he bears, as well
for integrity as ability. Do you know,
I by no mecans despair of drinking a
bumper with your father, at some
distant period, however, to the health
of Charles Metcalfe, member of the
Supreme Government in Bengal. Jest-
ing apart, you have talents to justify
themost sanguinehopesofyourfriends;
and as you have come to the resolu-
tion of continuing in the service, I
have no doubt of your application.
Indeed, the former would be of no use
without the latter. . . . Pray let me
hear from you sometimes. Be assured
that I shall ever feel warmly interested
in your success in life, and, conse-
quently, must be desirous of knowing
how you get on. Remember, also, I
am your banker, as well as your sin-
cere friend, — J. CoLLINS.” — [Sep-
tember 24, 1802.]
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CHAPTER IV.

[1802—1804.]

TRAINING AT THE PRESIDENCY,

Return to Calcutta—Appointment to the Chief Secretary’s Ofice—His Stu-
dies—Extracts from his Common-place Book—Visit of Theophilus Met-
calfe — Appointment to the Governor-General’s Office — Early Official

Papers—Rupture with Scindiah—Appointment to the Staff of the Com-
mander-in-Chief.

Ox the 10th of September, 1802, Charles Metcalfe,
having dropped down the river in a boat lent to
him by Colonel Collins, arrived, a second time, at
Calcutta ; and on the 4th of October he was ap-
pointed an assistant in the office of the Chief Secre-
tary to Government.

It seems to have been his determination, at this
time, to obtain employment at the Presidency. It
is to the Secretariat that the ambitious commonly
turn their eyes as the stepping-stone to ultimate
greatness. Lord Wellesley had looked favorably
upon the young writer, and was obviously well in-
clined to serve him. Mr. Barlow, who was then
second in influence and importance only to the
Governor-General, recommended him to remain at
the Presidency. He had friends, too, whom he
dearly loved at Calcutta ; so that all his inclinations
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were gratified by the arrangement that had been
made. His trip to the camp of the Mahratta had
not been without its uses. He had returned with
enlarged experiences to the vice-regal city. He had
traversed a large extent of country. He had ac-
quired a more extended knowledge of the people of
India than he could have gained in many years of
Calcutta life. And though he had rendered mno
great service to the State, as Assistant to the Resi-
dent at Scindiah’s Court, he brought back some
local information which subsequently was turned to
profitable account, and he had begun to interest
himself in the tangled politics of Northern and
Western India.

Little by little he had learnt to reconcile himself
to Indian life, and, still not without some fond re-
grets, he now looked his profession steadfastly in
the face, and applied himself sedulously to the
duties of his office. Much of his leisure time he
devoted to his books. And he was no careless
reader. He sate with a note-book before him, and
as he pored over the pages of Gibbon, of Russell, or
of the Abbé Raynal, he jotted down such land-
marks of History as would be most useful for after
reference, and kept his memory fresh as he pro-
ceeded. His old habit of philosophising, at which
some of his friends laughed irreverently, was as
strong as ever, and his Common-place Book was
often opened. To many of the entries a peculiar
value belongs, for they are snatches of self-por-
traiturc or incidental reflections of the character of
the youthful statesman. They contain, indeed, his
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inner history, and are a little autobiography in
themselves.

EXTRACTS FROM THE COMMON-PLACE BOOK OF CHARLES
METCALFE.

[ Ztate 17—18.]

« HuMAN INTELLECT.—It has often occurred to my mind,
as a doubt which I have never been able to solve, how far
active talents and a sedentary disposition are compatible. By
active talents I do not mean that activity of the body which
delights in the sports of the Field and corporeal exercise, but
that activity of the mind, that superior ability, which is formed
for the rule of Empires, is at all times ready for action, perceives
instantly, and decides without hesitation. Were I to decide
hypothetically, I should say that active talents were never ac-
companied by close application, Thereis a degree of drudgery,
quiet, and, I had almost said, inertness required in close appli-
cation to a particular study which I think incompatible with a
mind such as I have in view. Instead of sedentary disposition,
I ought to have said confined attention, to a science or a pur-
suit, for it is certain that there is no activity so great as that of
the mind engaged in the pursuit of knowledge. But I am of
opinion that active talents cannot be bent to a particular branch
of study, and that they will universally fly off from particular
to universal knowledge. Many men of quick but quiescent
parts have rendered themselves famous in some one art or
science, whilst others of more active talents, having made uni-
versal knowledge the object of their pursuits, have not been
driven beyond the circle of their acquaintance, for human in-
tellect is confined within such narrow bonds that it can never
possess more than a very moderate knowledge of general sub-
jects. And it is one of the innumerable proofs of the vast
extent of Divine Wisdom that the human mind should take
such various turns, and proceed by such different ways, to the
acquisition of knowledge, improvement of science, refinement
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of the world, and to the accomplishment of the views of the
Omnipotent Deity. For I takeit to be an indisputable fact, that
there are no two minds, and never were two minds, which are
not essentially different.—[ Calcutta, October 29th, 1802.]
CHRISTIANITY.—I cannot help thinking that too strict an
inquiry into the truth of the Christian religion ought to be dis-
couraged in very young persons. It is an inquiry which re-
quires vast fortitude of mind, and which we ought to commence
with perfect faith. Youth is very easily led astray by plausible
arguments, and the system of natural religion is too pleasing
not to engage a young imagination. It is thus that M y
who has brought these reflections to my mind, at first set off as
an enthusiastic admirer of Christianity, and carried his attention
to its principles and duties to a great excess, but has now (most
probably from the sophistical argument of some persuasive
genius) entirely given up his faith in our blessed religion, and
devotes himself to natural religion and universal philanthropy.
A mind, however, so easily and suddenly converted may, with-
out much difficulty, be brought back to a just belief of the
doctrines of our Heavenly Saviour.—[ November 19¢h, 1802.]
FRIEND.—It is less difficult to conciliate an enemy than to
preserve a friend. There are no enmities so strong that the
parties are not desirous of a reconciliation. I have seen no
friendship which has not been interrupted by many petty jea-
lousies, which always produce temporary contentions, too fre-
quently lasting separations, and which are the more acute as
the attachment is more ardent. I must eradicate from my
mind that propensity to form romantic attachments which my
youth and inexperience have encouraged. Never again will I
nourish the seeds of a rising friendship; never will I love the
man who has not obtained by long intercoursec my respect and
csteem; and so aid me ye powers of prudence and good sense
in my resolves! I am too well convinced that there are very
few hearts capable of the friendship which I feel, and would
wish others to feel; and, young as I am, I am taught by painful




90 TRAINING AT THE PRESIDENCY.

experience that the sacred name of friendship is too often
violated; that equal and mutual attachments are seldom, and I
doubt if ever to be found, and that an ardent attachment un-
returned shackles the independence of the mind, and cannot
fail to be attended with vexation and unhappiness. I am deter-
mined to resign the man whose apparent indifference has cost
‘me so many sighs, and hope that in a short period I may be
able to turn back to this page and smile at the reluctance with
which I evidently part from him, and which 1s still more painful
than 1t is evident.—[December 18¢h, 1802. |

SELF-LOVE 18 a most consoling companion. Let every man
search his own heart. I have a very good opinion of myself,
and, as far as I remember, always had the same. Self-love
is the guide of all men’s actions. One man feels a pleasure in
feeding his own desires, another in feeding his neighbour’s;
but the principle is the same. Self-love is always at the
bottom. The one is bent on present happiness, the other on
future. I can tell which is the wiser, but I cannot which is
the better, man. We appear all to be instruments in the hands
of an Almighty, All-seeing Being, and is one more blameable
than another? Can we go in the right way without the assist-
ance of Providence? And shall he, who for want of that assist-
ance goes wrong, be punished? Do we suffer for the sins of
others? For what were we created? When, and how, shall
we be destroyed? The inquiry is endless. Guide me, O Lord,
in the right way.

To MyseLF.—Mind—little Mind—thou art envious—not
s0 as to give me much trouble, but sufficient to convince me
that thou art in want of reform; so sét about it instantly, and
learn to feel as much happiness at the good fortune of others
as thou wouldst for thine own,—[ February 19¢th, 1803.]

— Nothing is more irksome than in submission to the rules
of society, or to the natural inclination which the mind has not
to offend, to feign a liking to one whose qualifications do not
render him an object of our esteem, or to appear gratified with
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the society of him who could not be too far from us. Such a
man 1s R —[April 22nd, 1803.]

MIND AND COUNTENANCE.—The features of the counte-
nance are formed after those of the mind.”*—[ April 25th, 1803.]

But whilst Charles Metcalfe was thus from time to
time recording in his Common-place Book the his-
tory of his inner world of thought and feeling, in the
outer world of incident and action there were cir-
cumstances developing themselves which tended in
no small measure to shape the after-career of the
man. These were partly of a domestic, and partly
of an official character. In the month of January,
his elder brother, Theophilus, came round from
China to Calcutta, and on the 4th of April Charles
Metcalfe was appointed an Assistant in the office of
the Governor-General.

His brother’s visit was quite unexpected. The
dawk of the 8th of January brought him a letter
from Theophilus, not dated from the Factory at
Canton, but from the ¢ Ship Betsy, below Ingerlee,”
on the Hooghly river. ¢ You certainly will be
astonished, my dearest Charles,”” wrote the elder
brother, ‘“to receive a letter from me dated from
this place; but the cause is, ill-health having com-
pelled me to take a trip to sea, I took the opportu-
nity of spending a few months with you, my dear
fellow, and, thank God, have arrived safe, and
perfectly recovered.”” The announcement filled
Charles Metcalfe with delight. My God,” he

* Opposite to this he had subse- 9, 1803 —“ Why, then, are mine so
quently written, under date August ugly ?”
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exclaimed to his friend Sherer, on the evening
before Theophilus’ arrival, “he is the finest fellow
in the world !"* Not many hours afterwards the
two brothers were shaking hands, after a three
years’ separation—yet little more than boys in age,
but in experience and position men. They were still
as unlike as ever; but years and absence had taught
each brother to appreciate the qualities of the other,
and they met as the most affectionate of friends.

It is not to be doubted that this fraternal visit
was very beneficial to Charles Metcalfe. His brother
was a fine, manly youth—by no means inclined to
meet the troubles of life half way, but in the cheer-
fulness of his disposition and the strength of his en-
durance, sufficiently case-hardened against them. He
had gone out to China much against his will, but
had soon reconciled himself to his position, and had
earnestly persuaded his more desponding brother to
do the same.t But when he found that Charles

* Sherer to Metcalfe, January 17,
1806.

t On the 5th of November, 1801,
dating from Canton, Theophilus Met-
calfe wrote: — “ The receiving a
letter from you afforded me much
pleasure, but I am sorry to find that
India has not turned out so pleasant
as you expected. But, my dear bro-
ther, it does not seem to be the pro-
fession you dislike, or the mode of
making the money (which is my dis-
like to the country), but a regret at
leaving England. Consider, Charles,
it is not in the nature of things for us
to be always with our family.  There-
fore, as you like your profession, and
say 20,000/ would not suffice for you,
what place can you sooner realise
that sum in than India? You will
perhaps say, that I am much altered.
It is not so. My remaining here is

only from the same motive which
induced me to come out—that of
satisfying a parent. . No
more of this; I have two requests to
make: that you will not go home un-
less you are ill; but if you find the
climate will not agree with you, re-
turn home immediately, and I promise
you that, when it is in my power,
your situation in England shall be
made pleasant. If you cannot stay
in this country, go home and make
my dear friend Anne my sister. I
have another request to make, that
you will place confidence in me, let
me know your debts, your move-
ments, everything—

¢ Take courage, Man, and me your

sorrows tell,
And safely think nane kens ’em but
yoursel.’ ”
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continued firm in his eagerness to return to Eng-
land, with a generosity and self-devotion which did
him the highest honor, he seconded his brother’s
solicitations, and promised his father, that if he
would permit Charles to settle at home, he himself
would engage not to swerve from the line of his
profession, but make a fortune for himself in China.*
Such conduct had greatly endeared him to his bro-
ther, and had raised him in the estimation of his
parents. But the elder Metcalfe had made up his
mind on the subject; and whilst Theophilus was
crossing the Bay of Bengal, he was writing to
Charles that the generous conduct of his eldest son
had not induced him to swerve from his old resolu-

tions.

* Dating again from Canton on the
22nd of March, 1802, he recurred to
the subject of Charles’s contemplated
return, but in a strain somewhat mo-
dified by reflection on the contents of
his brother’s latter letters. The fol-
lowing passages are so honorable to
the writer that it is a pleasure to
transcribe them:—“I have received
your letter of August,” wrote Theo-
philus Metcalfe, ¢ which, I assure you,
has been a cause of anxicty to me,
for I so much dread the consequences
of my father’s resentment were you
to return home without his permission,
and shall pity you if you are com-
pelled to remain in India. I give you
great credit for having determined
first to make an application to your
father, pointing out your situation and
sentiments: and I shall in my letters
second your request, and I think
(though I do not wish to raise your
hopes) that he may grant it to you,

“The last letter from your brother,” he
wrote, ¢“was of the most pleasing nature.

He feels

as he has a very just and great idea of
your abilities, and his eldest son is
determined to settle in this country--
that is, to make a fortune. If, from
being convinced that I am resigned to
my fate, you should resolve to return
immediately, come first to China for
your health, and then let us consult to-
gether whether it would be right for
you to return to England. .o
Believe me, my dearest Charles, you
will (at least I fear) rue the day if
you should return contrary to the
wish, or without the permission of
our father. . , . Believe me,
you will not find yourself happy in
Lord Grenville’s office; the situation
I would recommend, if you are deter-
mined to leave India, and which in
my letter to my father I shall point
out to him, as I believe, if he could
succeed in placing you in it, he would
consent, is the Banking Line.”



94 TRAINING AT THE PRESIDENCY.

perfectly satisfied with his situation, and with a
degree of affectionate liberality, which does him
great honor, desires me to let you come to England,
and allow him to shift for himself. You, my dear
boy, know my sentiments on this head. I should
feel wanting in the duty as a father to the true in-
terests of his son, were I to indulge my own desires
to have my family with me by complying with the
request of either of my sons to abandon the line of
service I have had the good fortune to place them
in; and my confidence in your good sense is such
that I flatter myself you will, ere this arrives, be
convinced my determination is founded in your
prosperity—the only object I could possibly have in
view.”

Before this letter was received, Charles Metcalfe
and his brother had many a time talked over the
subject-matter of it together; and it is mot to be
doubted that the former profited largely by the sen-
sible advice, and perhaps still more by the cheerful
demeanor, of the young Chinaman, and the affec-
tionate intercourse which was maintained between
them. Theophilus Metcalfe was determined to en-
joy himself. He had scented a party at Government
House even from the Sand-Heads, and had written
up to his brother that he should ** require a friseur”
immediately upon his arrival. He now stimulated
the social activity of his more studious and quiescent
brother, and even brought him somewhat reluctantly
into a cricket-match, which the Etonians of Cal-
cutta had adventured against the whole Presi-
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dency.* These things did the young statesman no
harm. And, apart from all these secondary in-
fluences, there was an abiding consolation in the
presence of his brother, which seemed to bring
home nearer to him, and greatly diminished the
sense of isolation which had before pressed so heavily
on his heart.

Even when Theophilus Metcalfe turned his back
on Calcutta, and set out to visit his aunt Richard-
son, at Cawnpore, whither he vainly endeavored to
persuade Charles to accompany him, there still re-
mained with the latter a feeling that he was not
alone. Seldom did a day pass on which the young
civilian did not receive a letter from his brother
reporting the progress he had made wupon his
travels. All this had an unfailing tendency to en-
courage and to strengthen him at a time when
other influences were at work in the same favorable
direction—when his official position was such as in-
creasingly to flatter his boyish vanity and stimulate
his boyish ambition. He was, I have said, appointed
in April, 1803, an Assistant in the office of the
Governor-General. Lord Wellesley had, some time
before, conceived the idea of planting in Govern-
ment IHouse an office under his own immediate
superintendence. He was not guilty of the folly

* In a little manuscript volume,
which he kept at this time, and which
he called an “ Account of Reading,”
Charles Mctcalfe wrote under date of
January, 1803—“ Continued Arabic.
My studies and reading much inter-
rupted this month by the arrival of
my brother from China, which ren-

dered me, on his account, more in-
clined to pleasures of every sort.”—
The month’s reading only included
“ Browne’s Travels in Africa,” * Lu-
cani Pharsalia,” “ Carmen in Piso-
nem,” and “ Volney’s Travels in Egypt
and Syria.”
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of attempting to mystify the secretaries to Govern-
ment—of embarrassing his own movements by keep-
ing them in ignorance of his designs. The Govern-
ment secretaries, indeed, were a part of the ma-
chinery of his own office. But he believed that in
matters of great political importance, involving the
necessity of secresy, the subordinate agency of su-
preme direction could best be carried on by educated
gentlemen, the covenanted servants of the Company,
immediately responsible to himself. In prosecution
of this design, it was his wont to select from among
the young civilians at the Presidency those who had
given the fairest promise of intelligence and zeal,
and to make them his confidential assistants. And
it is an eminent proof of the sagacity of this great
statesman that he seldom made a selection that was
not more than justified by the after-career of the
man on whom he had fixed his regards. Nor was it
the least pleasing of his retrospects forty years after-
wards to recall the persons of the young men whom
he, during the first years of the century, had as-
sembled in Government House—the persons of
John Adam, of Bayley, of Jenkins, and of Met-
calfe, and to think of the distinction that in the
interval had been attained by his pupils.

In that grand vice-regal school the clever boys of
the Civil Service ripened rapidly into statesmen.
They saw there how Empires were governed. The
imposing spectacle fired their young ambition, and
each in turn grew eager and resolute to make for
himself a place in history. Of all men living,
perhaps Lord Wellesley was the one around whose
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character and conduct the largest amount of youth-
ful admiration was likely to gather. There was a
vastness in all his conceptions which irresistibly
appealed to the imaginations of his disciples. Their
faith in him was unbounded. The promptitude and
decision with which he acted dispelled all doubt and
disarmed all scepticism. Embodied in the person
of Lord Wellesley, statesmanship was in the eyes of
his pupils a splendid reality. They saw in him a
great man with great things to accomplish. As he
walked up and down the spacious central hall of
the newly-erected Government House, now dic-
tating the terms of a letter to be despatched to one
political functionary, now to another, keeping many
pens employed at once, but never confusing the ar-
gument or language proper to each, there was a
moral grandeur about him seen through which the
scant proportions of the little Viceroy grew into
something almost sublime. There could not be a
finer forcing-house for young ambition. Charles
Metcalfe grew apace in it.

He soon began to feel that he was acquiring some-
thing that would cling to him all his life—that the
training to which he was subjected was well calcu-
lated to fit him to tread the path that leads direct to
Fame. What had once appeared to him petty and
objectless, was now expanding into bulk and signifi-
cance. The day-dreams of the Eton cloisters might
be realised after all on the scenes where he once
believed hard fate had condemned him to waste his
existence. The future seemed very different to him

now that Government House had become his college,
VOL. I. H
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and he had for a moonshee the Governor-General
himself. The example of his father, too, was at this
time conspicuously before him. Major Metcalfe, who
had gone out to India with none of those advan-
tages which had environed his son, had been sent to
Parliament by the people, and created a baronet by
the King.* The glad tidings of this latter event
reached Charles Metcalfe early in May; and some
days afterwards he wrote in his Common-place
Book these memorable words:

“ My FarBER.—Early in the month I learnt that his
Majesty had conferred the dignity of baronet upon my father.
I rejoiced at it, because I was certain that this honor was not
sought for by any of those mean arts which generally soil
modern titles. I rejoiced at it because I was certain that 1t was
not purchased by the loss of independence. My good father is
a strong instance of what may be done by Ability and Integrity.
He is an example which I shall ever have beforc my eyes, and
if I steadily pursue his footsteps T have little doubt that I shall
raise the second branch of the family to the same honors.”—
[ Muy 16¢h, 1803.]

From this time Charles Metcalfe looked steadily
forward. There were no more vain retrospects; no
more idle regrets. The vestigia retrorsum were not
to be taken. He had formed the resolution of not

leaving the country until

of India was in his hands.

* Writing of the dignity that had
been conferred upon him to his son,
the elder Metcalfe said:— The dig-
nity of Baronet which his Majesty
has lately conferred upon me, was
done in the most handsome way, and
our reception at St. James’s, when

the Governor-Generalship
And that such would be

your mother was presented on coming
to the title, was flattering in the
highest degree. At my time of life
the adding Sir to my name is of little
importance, but to your mother, your
sisters, and the whole family, I think
the object desirable,”
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the end of his career was not a mere passing thought
—an impulsive hope—but an abiding and sustaining
conviction.*

All through the year 1803 and the earlier part of
1804, Charles Metcalfe continued to graduate in
Indian politics under the directorship of Lord Wel-
lesley. It was a season of unusual excitement. At
no period, perhaps, of our connexion with the East
has the aspect of affairs beyond the frontier pre-
sented such a knot of difficulties for the disentangle-
ment of British statesmanship. I shall come pre-
sently to speak more in detail of our own relations
with the Mahratta States. At present it is enough
to say, that the complication of affairs, threatening,
as it did, to involve the British power in the greatest
war in which it had ever been engaged in India,
threw a large amount of work into the Governor-
General’s office, and taxed all the energies of his
assistants. Lake and Wellesley were in the field,
waiting the opportunity to strike. It was certain
that no statesmanship, that no diplomacy, could
avert the inevitable collision. Whatever may have
been the wishes of the Governor-General, I am
afraid it cannot be said that the boys in his office
were very desirous to arrest the war. They were
deeply interested in the progress of events, and their
sympathies were not with the peace-makers. So it
happened that when intelligence reached Calcutta

* He did not scruple to say in early
vouth, that he would be Governor-
General of India. And this not
lightly and jestingly; but with all
sincerity of meaning and gravity of
manner. Among others to whom he

mentioned this conviction, was that
excellent man the late Dr. Marsh-
man, who often spoke of the propheecy
in after years, when Charles Metealfe
had reached the goal towards which he
had long been steadily advancing.
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that the anticipated rupture had actually taken place,
and that Colonel Collins had quitted Scindiah’s
Court, Metcalfe and his associates were thrown into
a state of excitement in which there was no great
intermixture of pain. It was, indeed, a memorable
day. There are men still living who, after the lapse
of half a century, remember all the circumstances of
that evening as vividly as though they had occurred
in the present reign. For some days, the ¢ glorious
little man,” as his disciples affectionately called
Lord Wellesley, had been pacing one of the halls
of Government House, girding himself up for the
approaching crisis; and now he was prepared to meet
it. Aided by Edmonstone, the Political Secretary,
whose knowledge was as ready as it was extensive,
he now dictated instructions to Colonel Collins, now
to General Lake, now to Arthur Wellesley, now to
John Malcolm, and now to Close and Kirkpatrick,
the Residents at the Courts of the Peishwah and the
Nizam. All day long these weighty despatches grew
beneath the hands of the young scribes. The brief
twilight of theIndian evening passed and left thework
only half done. But still by the bright lamp-light the
young writers resolutely plied their pens, as hour
after hour the Governor-General continued to dictate
the despatches, upon which the fate of principalities
depended. Words of encouragement little needed
came freely from him, as he directed this great
work. And still, as Adam, Bayley, Jenkins, Met-
calfe, Cole, Monckton, and others wrote and wrote
these weighty despatches, upon which the events of
the great war were to turn, he told them ever and
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anon that their work would soon be done, and that
there was a table spread for them in the banquet-
room, at which they might presently drink success
to the campaign. Though it was now the exhaust-
ing month of August, and rest and food were denied
to them throughout many long hours, there was not
one of them who flagged at his desk. Sustained by
their youthful enthusiasm, they continued at their
work till past midnight; then weary, hungry, and
athirst, they were conducted to the table which had
been spread sumptuously for their entertainment.
It was a festival not soon to be forgotten. A spe-
cial message from Lord Wellesley instructed them
to give full vent to their hilarity—to use his cellar
as though it were their own, and not to think that
they were bound to be quiet because they were in
Government House. So they drank success to the
campaign in good earnest ; toasted the glorious Wel-
lesley, and his glorious brother; toasted General
Lake and Colonel Stevenson ; toasted the British Sol-
dier and Jack Sepoy; and finally toasted one another.
And the Governor-General did not complain that
next day his ¢ Office’” was not very efficient.
Incidents of this nature were surely calculated to
bind such warm-hearted, earnest youths as Charles
Metcalfe by the strongest feelings of personal attach-
ment and fidelity to Lord Wellesley. They not only
worked for him, they worked with him. And the
endearment thus engendered was reciprocal. No
statesman ever took a livelier interest in the intel-
lectual development of the disciples who sate at his
fect. Ile watched their progress with affectionate
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concern: he encouraged and stimulated them by
judicious praise. He was at once their master and
their friend; and there was not one of them who
did not identify himself with his policy, and was not
eager to contribute to its success.

And that even these clever boys could con-
tribute something to the successful issue of Lord
Wellesley’s magnificent designs abundant proof was
frequently given. Eager for an opportunity of ren-
dering some service to the State, in a higher capacity
than that of a mere scribe, Charles Metcalfe was not
long in finding one. His visit to Colonel Collins, I
have said, was not barren of profitable results. He
had traversed a great part of the Mahratta country,
and he had been no inattentive observer of its local
peculiarities. The information which he had ac-
quired on the spot was most useful in the conjunc-
ture which had now arisen ; and the young statesman
knew. well how to turn it to profitable account.
When, at the close of 1803, by a succession of
victories unparalleled in the annals of Indian con-
quest, Lake and Wellesley had broken the power of
the Mahrattas and brought Scindiah to their feet,
the treaty which was dictated to the prostrate chief
contained a clause by which the British Govern-
ment undertook to plant a subsidiary force in his
dominions. The disposition of this force, dependent
necessarily on local circumstances, was likely to be-
come an important subject of consideration; and
as Charles Metcalfe had something to say upon it,
he resolved to draw up a memorandum, and submit
it to Lord Wellesley. It may not have been his
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first State-paper, but it is the earliest that I have
been able to find :*

MEMORANDUM BY CHARLES METCALFE [Atate 19] ON
THE PROPOSED SUBSIDIARY FORCE IN SCINDIAH'S DOMI-
NIONS.

t A treaty of defensive alliance has been concluded between
the British Government and Dowlut Rao Scindiah, by which
the latter agrees to receive a subsidiary force of British troops,
to consist of 6000 regular infantry, with a due proportion of
ordnance and military stores, to be stationed near to his frontier,
at such place as the British Government may deem eligible.

“It is supposed that the subject of the disposition of those
troops will shortly come under the consideration of the Governor-
General; and it is probable that his Excellency may either
resolve—1st, to form the subsidiary force into separate frontier
garrisons and posts;f or 2nd, to station the whole in one can-
tonment. In either case, it 1s supposed to be desirable that the
station or stations should be central, and that the force should
be distributed in the manner best calculated to answer the pur-
pose of a subsidiary force to Scindiah, and to secure as many
other political advantages as are obtainable.

“In the event of either determination, KOoTA appears to be a
place well snited either as the post of a part of the troops under
the first arrangement, or as a station for the whole under the
second.

¢ The territory of Kota is bounded by the countries of the
(Rajpoot) Rajahs of Jaipoor, Jaudpoor, Boondi, and Uniara
to the north; by those of Holkar and Scindiah to the south;
by that part of Scindiah’s territories which is under the

* The original, in Charles Met- t “The treaty says ‘place;’ but it
calfe’s handwriting, was prescrved by is not possible that it was not intended
the late Mr. Edmonstone, to whose that the troops should absolutely be
representative, Mr. Neil Edmonstone, fixed at one place on account of the
I am indebted for a mass of valuable wording of the article.”—C. T. M.
historical materials.
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management of Ambajee to the east; and by Oudipoor to the
west.

¢ Thirty miles to the southward of the town of Kota (which
is on the banks of the Chumbul), and within the dominion of
the Rajah, is the narrow, strong, and stony pass of Mukundra,
between hills which extend east and west to a very considerable
distance. It must have been considered of great importance,
and has been defended by three gateways, the first of which
towards Kota 1s in ruins; the second is in a middling state;
and the third, towards the south, is in very good repair. It
has been customary for the Rajah to have a body of troopsat the
last, with a guard at the summit of a hill to give notice of the
approach of plunderers. On an alarm, the gate, of course, 1s
closed.

“ No other communication can take place between the north
and south of those parts of Hindostan, which are situated
within a considerable distance of Kota, than that which is
carried on through the Mukundra Pass. It is considered by
the natives of the surrounding parts to form the boundary of
Hindostan, the land between the hills which form the pass
and the Nerbudda is considered as independent both of Hin-
dostan and the Deccan, and is at times included either in one or
the other indiscriminately. Between the Mukundra and the
Narwah Pass the country is hilly and impervious.

“ The road by Mukundra, that by Narwah and that by
Bundlekund, are believed to be the only roads connecting the
northern and southern provinces of Hindostan proper. If such
is the case, a small British force commanding ‘each of these
roads might entirely command all communication between the
north and south of this vast portion of India.

“ There are high roads from Kota:

“ 1st. To Oujein, which is distant nearly 150 miles, through
the Mukundra Pass.

““ 2nd. To Agra, by Boondi, Oniara, Rampoora, Hindown,
and Futtehpoor.

‘¢ 3rd. To Delhi, by Hindown, Bhurtpoor, and Muttra.
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‘“ 4th. To Gwalior, by Narwah.

¢ 5th. To Jaipoor, by Boondi.

“ 6th. To Oudipoor.

“A place thus situated, with the advantages of a healthy
climate and a fertile country, may be considered to be well
adapted for a military station.

“The relations subsisting between the British Government
and the states of Mysore, Hyderabad, Guicowar, and Poona,
combined with the happy result of the late glorious war, and
the probable consequences of the treaties of Deogaum, Surjee
Arjingaum, and Boorhanpoor, appear to preclude every appre-
hension of the disturbance of the peace of India by any native
power whatever; but the tranquillity of a great extent of
country, and the happiness of vast numbers of inhabitants, are
still exposed to destruction, from the oppressive ambition and
diabolical ravages of disaffected chieftains and restless and un-
principled freebooters. A very small body of British troops,
stationed 1n the neighbourhood of the Mukundra Pass, might
effectually prevent the ingress and egress of those bodies of
irregular cavalry which carry devastation and misery into
every part of India over which the British influence has not
been extended. The road of their passage from south to
north, or from north to south, will be shut up, and their way
of escape from pursuit will be cut off. By degrees the system
of plunder will cease, the cultivation of a fertile country will
be renewed, and a more regular method of government must
be adopted. A British force situated in the territory of Kota
would not only command the communication between the
northern and southern parts of Hindostan, but would also have
every advantage, military or political, to be derived {rom so
central a situation. It would keep a check upon Holkar and
Ambajee, or any other chiefs whose power might rise upon the
ruin of either or both of these; it would protect the Rajpoots,
would be near to Scindiah’s capital, and would preserve the
tranquillity of a vast extent of territory.

“ It s true that no treaties exist by which the British Govern-
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ment is bound to banish disorder and war from every province,
or to preserve the peace and happiness of all India; but this task
appears to be perfectly consistent with the comprehensive wis-
dom of British policy, and worthy of the characteristic excel-
lence of British humanity.

¢ Admitting, therefore, for a moment, that a body of British
troops stationed at Kota might be instrumental in procuring
great advantages to the British interests, and in promoting
what has now become inseparable from those interests, the hap-
piness of India, and that therefore it would be advisable to
adopt some plan in order to station a force in that district, the
next point to be considered is whether there are any obstacles
which may be opposed to such a plan.

“ The present Regent of Kota* has for a long time felt the
inconvenience and danger of his precarious situation with re-
gard to Scindiah and Holkar, who alternately plunder him.f
It is true that, with an unusual attention to the cultivation of
the country and the comforts of the inhabitants, he has always
endeavored, and generally with tolerable success, to avoid the
desperate devastation which has afflicted his neighbours, by the
more regular method of contribution; but it is evident that he
must have suffered from this sufficiently to make him look
anxiously to an opportunity of escaping from it.

“It appears probable that he would gladly accede to an ar-
rangement which would afford tranquillity to his territories and
protect him and his subjects {rom future outrage, and he must
know that the presence of a body of British troops, although
they might not be expressly designed for his defence, would
effectually put a stop to the disorders which have constantly
distressed the country. He must have learnt that, wherever
the British influence is extended, the consequences are security
and repose.

* Zalim Singh, Scindiah, under Sadasheo Rao Bhao,
t “When I was at Kota,in April, had been there, on its march to Oujein
1802, 1500 of Tlolkar’s Horse were —it may be presumed, to no good
levying contributions; and only five purpose.”—C. T. M.
days hefore my arrival, the army of
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 Zalim Singh is comparatively powerful, and although he
has gained his power by usurpation, is very much respected by
the northern chieftains, who think that his conduct might have
been more villanous than it has been, and that therefore he has
the merit of moderation.

“ The legitimate Rajah, Omed Singh,* is in confinement; he
is not seen nor spoken of, and his name is not made use of in
public acts.}

“ Every part of the government is conducted in the name
and by the authority of Zalim Singh, as Regent. _

“ There appears to be little reason to doubt his immediate
and cordial acquiescence in a plan providing for the cantonment
of a body of British troops in his territories, because it 1s evident
that such a plan would secure great advantages to himself; and,
without calculating upon any extraordinary inclination to com-
ply with the desires of the British Government, self-interest
would induce him to enter eagerly into such a scheme.

¢ This arrangement may be considered to relate to Scindiah.

“ No serious jealousy can reasonably be excited in his mind.
He must shortly perceive that the treaty of Boorhanpoor has
so completely connected his interests with those of the British
Government as to admit of no difference; and if he may not
make immediate application for the subsidiary force to be sta-
tioned with himself, which does not appear to be very impro-
bable, 1t is more than probable that he will be solicitous that it
should not be removed to any great distance.

“ A question may arise as to how far it is consistent with the
dignity of the British Government to enter into negotiations
with the usurper of a petty chiefship. These are questions

* Aged about 25.

1 ¢ His name does appear in a paper
of requests sent by Zalim Singh to
General Lake:

¢ ¢ Zalim Singh proposes to conclude
atreatyin hisown name, and transmits
a paper of requests in that of Rajah
Omed Singh Kota-wala.” The paper
contains some requests relative to the

treatment of certain families and petty
chicfs over whom Omed Singh, by
birth, may be supposed to have a cc¢n-
trolling or protecting authority.

#Zalim Singh may have made use of
Omed Singh’s name to obtain points
which, in his own character, lic could
not have the privilege of urging.”—
C.T. M,
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which must be treated with the degree of attention which is
due to their importance. In the concerns of a great empire,
persons in the most subordinate situations may perhaps be al-
lowed to form conjectures upon a local or particular subject, to
the consideration of which they may have been led by oppor-
tunity or accident; but when that subject launches out into a
question of systematic policy and general interest, the discus-
sion of it can only belong to the wisdom of those who have the
arduous task of watching over the welfare of the State.”

This memorandum greatly pleased Lord Welles-
ley; he saw its importance, and was glad to ac-
knowledge it. Taking up a pencil, as was his wont,
he wrote on the margin of the document: ¢ Zhis
paper is highly creditable to Mr. Metcalfe’s charac-
ter and talents. It may become very useful. A
copy of it should be sent to the Commander-in-Chief
and another to Major Malcolm.—W.” This was
Charles Metcalfe’s first great success. It fixed him
in his resolution to persevere, and dwarfed the pro-
portions of Lord Grenville’s office. The boy of
nineteen was drawing a salary of a thousand a year,*
and writing State papers for the information of the
highest military and diplomatic authorities in the
country.

But although he was now turning his attention
towards the strenuous realities of life, studying the
Government records, and dwelling rather upon the
Circumstantial than upon the Abstract, he still
found time to moralise in his Common-place Book,
and to read a large number of printed volumes,

* Kight hundred rupees a month— [ Letter of Mr. Edmonstone to Mr. Met-
from the 3rd of January, 1804.— calfe, March 17, 180+.]
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English, French, Latin, and Italian. Nor were the
Oriental languages wholly neglected.* Ile applied
himself to the study of Persian and Arabic, and
seems to have mastered them sufficiently for all
practical official purposes. From the entries in his
Common-place Book at this time, I make the fol-
lowing selections ; they are contained in the last
private journal that he ever kept :

EXTRACTS FROM THE COMMON-PLACE BOOK OF
CHARLES METCALFE.

[ Ztate 18—19.]

“Human MinD.—M is a strong instance of the weakness
of the human mind. He has entered upon a discussion of too
great magnitude for his understanding. . . . . He has adopted
the modern notion that Reason— Blessed Reason—ought to be
our guide in matters of religion and government, and that we
are authorised by all the rights of man to oppose whatever 1s
opposite to our reason. It is this fallacious, detestable principle,
which has Joaded the world for the last twenty years with Crime
and Misery. It is the doctrine of Paine, Godwin, and the
Devil—the root of all Vice and the bane of every Virtue. O
Lord, I humbly call upon you to relieve me from this abo-

* In February, after enumerating tory.” — In June, he * Continued

the books he had read, he wrote:—
“These, with a slight occasional at-
tention to French and Arabic, form
the sum total of my February read-
ing.”—In March he wrote: —*1In the
latter part of this month I paid some
attention to Persian.” —In April,
¢ Continued studies in Persian, and a
general perusal of records. The im-
provement of this month, if not so
various, is equally solid with that of
the last, or perhaps, more so.” In
May, he “read a great variety of in-
teresting records.” Studied Iersian,
and reported that his improvement
had been ‘ progressive and satisfac-

studies in Persian, and had a great
deal of office business. On the whole,
improvement inadcquate.”—In July,
he recorded “ A considerable degree
of office duty — improvement very
decent, but might have been better.”
—August, “ Commenced with a very
hard press of public business.”—[In
this month he read a vast number of
plays, chiefly comedies and farces—
many of them Fielding’s.] And in
September there was “an increase of
official business.” With the cold
weather came a diminution of his li-
terary industry, and the entries in his
“ Account of Reading” were few.
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minable spirit, and to keep me steadfast in the right way!—
[ May 5th, 1803.]

— I'look upon it no man can possess worldly ambition without
also possessing envy and discontent. I find the one always ac-
companied by the others in my own heart. Ambition is only
selfishness let loose. Every man has the spark, and accident
blows it into a flame.—[May 16th, 1803.]

MEeTAPHYSICS.—I have often been asked by men, raging in
the enthusiasm of metaphysical inquiry, why I did not adopt
that pursuit. I have been deterred by a desire to render my
knowledge more stable, by the importance of my immediate
pursuit, and possibly, as much as anything, by chance. ButI
now find reason to rejoice at the delay, and shall continue to
neglect on Principle what asyet I have neglected from Accident.
Late experience, aided by the perusal of an excellent sermon by
the Reverend Sydney Smith, has pointed out to me the danger
as well as the inutility of studies of that nature, and has
taught me to see in metaphysics the seeds of moral, religious,
and political scepticism. Metaphysics, I abhor you! Go, en-
lighten the minds, enlarge the ideas, and gild the imaginations
of your votaries, nor shall I envy them their fancied superiority
whilst T continue bound by ancient prejudices in favor of
Christianity, its necessary consequence, morality, and what I
conceive very conducive to both—the British Constitution.—
[June Tth, 1803.]

SELF-SUFFICIENCY.—I often, in moments of reflection,
take myself to task for my self-sufficiency in fancying a supe-
riority of k nowledge and sense over the gencrality of mankind,
and examine upon what claim this fancied superiority 1s founded.
I have read and observed more, and have devoted more of my
time to reflection, than , I may almost say, any man of my own
age. Does not this give a claim to superiority? One would
think so; and yet I am much staggered when I see men ac-
quiring fame and consequence whom I do not conceive entitled
to C'ithcr. I know no right that I possess to fancy any supe-
nority, and yet my mind will fancy it. It is, however, an
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opinion which, I believe, can only inspire good and honorable
actions. I believe that every man has some vanity derived
from a fancied superiority in person, manners, accomplishments,
talents, or mind; and I do not know that mine is the most un-
worthy. That vanity only is disgusting which is proclaimed;
and here I hope that I shall never be so weak as to fall. One
circumstance which may render this advisableis, that I am con-
stantly reminded of this fancied superiority by the avowed
opinions of others, and we are so willing to believe what others
say in our favor, that I would without scruple resign my case
to a just judge and ask with confidence,—‘ Have I sinned
beyond the hope of grace?”—[July, 1803.]

Goop FELLow.—A character I have taken much pains to
gain, which 1s that of a good fellow, 13 a very contemptible
one in the enjoyment of it. The term itself is not at all ap-
propriate to the character, and the character is the most insig-
nificant possible. It is bestowed without distinction upon the
sensible, the generous, and the really good, as well as upon fools
and 1gnorant and unprincipled men. What are the qualifica-
tions which are requisite to obtain this name it would not be
easy to define, since it is so indiscriminately bestowed. Gene-
rally speaking, they seem to consist in a resignation of one’s
words and actions to the whims and follies of the society in
which we move; in a total departure from the dictates of good
sense and right reason, and too frequently from those of religion
and morality. The greatest merit which some men possess, the
highest ambition which some men cherish, is to be a good
fellow—a character too prostituted to be valuable. If I am
ncver entitled to greater praise, or excited by a nobler ambition,
may my ambition be eternally smothered, and the tongue of
praise be hushed for ever.—[ August 5¢h, 1803.]

BEAUTY.—Men may talk as they will about the little neces-
sity for beauty in a man; but beauty is a real advantage. A
handsome, interesting countenance is a man’s best recommenda-
tion at first acquaintance; and although I by no means mean to
say that internal worth will not be admired, when known, even
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under an ugly external, yet we are much more ready to receive
to our arms the man whose pleasing countenance we are willing
to believe to be the index of his mind. Are there not counte-
nances which at first sight seize, as it were, upon our hearts,
and establish an interest in the welfare of their possessors? The
influence does not end with the first introduction; if tolerably
good qualities are visible in a handsome man, his beauty will
never fail to heighten and adorn them, and as it is his best
friend in obtaining the countenance of society, 1t will be his
steady supporter in securing its admiration, Instances without
number occur to me of the truth of these cbservations, and in
no place can they be more strongly marked than in the society
of Calcutta. An ill-looking man, whatever may be his good
qualities, 1s never so much the object of our praise as a hand-
some one. Beauty, however, has 1ts disadvantages. It secures
so good a reception everywhere, that a man possessed of it is
persuaded that he has nothing left to acquire. The ugly man,
finding his face against him, 1s obliged to lay his claim to being
agreeable on the solid foundations of good sense, knowledge,
and virtue. But 1f this emulation is not excited, the conse-
quences are dreadful. A pretty fool may pass through the world
pretty well, but an ugly fool is a most unfortunate wretch.
Who would not discover that the writer of this 1s an ugly
fellow?

With the female sex the beauty of a man is everything.
.+ . . Ibelieve there are very few indeed who consider worth
as cssential in a lover, and as few would regard it in the choice
of a husband did not selfishness lead them to do so.

A man may mar the effects of his beauty by affectation, but
particularly by effeminacy; for the men will despise him, and
the nearer he approaches to the female sex the women will too.
— [ Culcutta, August 9th, 1803.]

ForTUNE.—Men who rise in the world are much more in-
debted to their good fortune than to their merit or ability; and
he.is the most clever who is best able to profit by good fortune
when it comes to him.
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Among the favors of fortune may be considered a good face
or figure, which, if a man knows how to take advantage of
them, are not the least of her favors.

OPINIONS OF MEN.—We are capable of exercising a just
judgment with regard to the characters and conduct of men
placed very far above or very far below us; but of men whose
case can in any respect be drawn into a comparison with our
own we cannot judge, except under the influence of prejudice
and vanity,—[ August 11¢h, 1803.]

PripE AND HuMiL1TY.—There are two nominally opposite
things in which men are generally wanting—Pride and Humility.
I mean proper pride and proper humility, which, however, in
my mind, are so far from being opposite that I think them in-
separable. And inasmuch as a noble pride and a noble humi-
lity, a bad pride and a degrading humility, are the companions
of one another. If you see a purse-proud man, or one haughty
from birth, mark him out as mean. If you see a blustering,
bullying pride, note 1t down as little—beneath man and be-
longing to brutes. The pride of scholastic learning is con-
temptible and degrading; and the self-sufficiency of a horse-
Jockey or a sportsman is still more so. But there is a noble,
independent pride, which abhors everything that is mean and
dishonorable, and which is almost always accompanied by a
truly meek and Christian humility. The man who from pride
would commit an insolent action, from interest or from fear
would commit a mean one. No two things are more different
than a proper and a false pride.—[ September 13th, 1803.]

VANITY AND SELFISHNESS.— Vanity, however great, I can
always pardon; but selfishness unrestrained is inexcusable. A
degree of selfishness is a necessary ingredient in the composi-
tion of every man; but there are many who are governed by it
n every action of their lives—such men are not fit members of
society. It is probably a wise and far-sceing selfishness which
renders many men the very reverse of what we call selfish.”—
[October 25th, 1803.]

VOL. I. I
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From this date there is no further entry until the
spring of the following year, when he thus recorded
the fact of his brother’s marriage, and closed his
journal-books for ever. ¢ My eldest brother, Theo-
philus John, was yesterday married to a charming
young woman, Miss Hannah Russell.* His age is
twenty. He will be twenty-one on the 19th of
September next. May they enjoy every happiness
which good hearts ought to enjoy.”—[ March 2nd,
1804. ]

Soon after this, the two brothers parted, with
full hearts. Their meeting in Bengal had endeared
them greatly to each other, and the affection thus
engendered was never subsequently diminished.
They differed greatly in character, but both were of
a loving nature and a generous disposition; and al-
though in childhood opposite qualities breed con-
flicts and divisions, in manhood they blend with and
adapt themselves to each other, and there is more
love where there is more diversity.t

Not long after the departure of his brother,

* Niece of Sir Henry Russell, one affection,” This Sherer communi-

of the Judges of the Supreme Court
of Calcutta.

t ¢ As schoolfellows,” wrote the
elder brother two years afterwards to
Sherer, ¢ we were continually squab-
bling, and I believe from the different
turn of mind, which you must have
observed, our parents thought that it
would be the case through life. Thank
God, those who saw us in Bengal
must convince themselves of the con-
trary, and I may safely say that there
never were two brothers more sin-
cerely attached; and,indeed, had I been
totally devoid of brotherly love, his
kindness and attention to my dear girl
would have gained him my warmest

cated, in one of his letters, to Charles
Metcalfe, who wrote in reply:—* The
passage which you transcribed is, as
you rightly judge, peculiarly gratify-
ing to me. The difference in our
habits, which was acquired in our
childhood, will probably stick to us,
and it is possible that we may have
different opinions on controversial
points, as you may remember we used
to have, but in fraternal affection and
friendship Theophilus and I will ever
have, I am sure, the same mind and
spirit.” The letter in which this pas-
sage occurs is given entire in Chapter
VL
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Charles Metcalfe also quitted Calcutta. A life of
active excitement was before him. The Grand
Army of General Lake was in the field. The cam-
paign against Holkar had commenced. Metcalfe
was well versed in Mahratta politics; he was ac-
quainted with the views of the Governor-General;
and he was conversant with the native languages.
Lord Wellesley believed that in the camp of the
Commander-in-Chief the young civilian would render
good service to the State. So he placed him at the
disposal of General Lake as a political assistant, and
despatched him to join the head-quarters of the
Army.

I2
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CHAPTER V.

[1804—1805.]

LIFE IN LAKE’S CAMP.

The Mahratta War — Growth of the Malratta Power — The Peishwah—
Policy of Scindiah—The Treaty of Bassein—Conduct of Scindiah and the
Rajah of Berar—The Campaigns under Lake and Wellesley—Charles Met-
calfe joins the Army—The Battle of Deeg—Letters to Sherer and others
—Prospects and Intentions—Adherence to the Political Line.

IT would be inconsistent with the character of such
a work as this to enter minutely into the circum-
stances which evolved the great war with the Mah-
rattas, or to detail with much prolixity the opera-
tions of the campaigns in which Lake, and a greater
than Lake, by a series of rapid successes, made the
English strangers masters of Hindostan. Charles
Metcalfe, though at this time a youth of the highest
promise, was connected with these great transactions
only in a subordinate capacity; and the annals of
the war, therefore, scarcely belong, except by right
of that literary tumefaction which is needful, only
when legitimate materials of biography are scanty,
to the narrative of his life.

But to render this part of his personal history in-
telligible to the reader who has not explored the
intricacies of the most confused and bewildering
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chapter in the annals of British conquest in the
East, a few salient facts, illustrative of the downfall
of the Mahratta power, may be briefly noted down.
Whilst little by little the English Merchant-com-
pany were studding the coast of the great Indian
Peninsula with fortified factories, and expanding
slowly and reluctantly into a great military power,
a sturdy race of Hindoos, having their home, for
the most part, between the Deccan and the Western
Coast, were acquiring for themselves upon the ruins
of the Mogul Empire the sovereignty of Hindostan.
To the English in India, when Sevajee and his im-
mediate descendants were usurping the thrones of
the old Mahomedan usurpers, the great revolution
which was then in progress was rather a remote
source of political interest than a matter of imme-
diate moment and significance. And so generation
after generation of Mahratta chiefslived, plundered,
and died; and the English in India only took
account of these things so far as they affected the
prosperity of our trade and the security of our fac-
tories. But when we ourselves became conquerors
—when swelling from the seaboard our narrow
strips of territory grew into vast inland possessions,
these despoiling Mahrattas were fast becoming our
neighbours, and the neighbourhood of a great mili-
tary power in a continual state of unrest—of bands
of unscrupulous marauders, kept together by a com-
munity of rapine, aiming at universal dominion,
which with them was but another name for universal
anarchy—could not be regarded without feelings of
uneasiness and concern. The new century found us
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approaching the vague limits of the Mahratta terri-
tories; and our politicians had begun to anticipate
a coming struggle.

The Mahratta States at this time recognised the
nominal supremacy of the descendants of Sevajee,
who maintained a shadow of royalty at Sattarah, in
Western India. But these Sattarah Rajahs had
long since ceased to be anything more than petty
princes, without military strength or political in-
fluence ; and the historian of the Mahratta war has
little more to do than to acknowledge their exist-
ence, or to record their decay. By one of those
mutations so common in the East, the servant had
become the master, the master the servant. The
hereditary princes had little of the energy and ability
of the great founder of their family, and they were
well content to suffer the government to be carried
on in their name by the Peishwah, or chief minister,
a functionary who wielded at once civil and military
power, and who had full scope for the exercise of his
ambition. There is a tendency in such offices, under
such governments, to become hereditary. An here-
ditary ministry of this kind soon becomes an here-
ditary despotism. So it happened that,in course of
time, the Peishwah became an independent prince,
holding his Court at Poonah, which grew into the
capital of the chief principality of the great con-
federacy of Mahratta States.

But ¢ the whirligig of Time brings in its re-
venges’ most surely on Oriental soil. The usurper
becomes the victim of usurpation—the puppet-maker
himself a puppet. Nothing is so feeble as legiti-
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macy. Nothing is certain but Revolution. No
Divinity hedges a King, except the Divinity of
Chance and Change. So, as other Mahratta chiefs,
with all the new energies and activities of hardy
and hopeful adventurers, mustering large bodies of
predatory troops, rejoicing in disorder and intent
upon rapine, made for themselves principalities and
crcated Courts of their own, the power of the
Peishwah rapidly declined. There was virtue, how-
ever, still in the name. It was something to rally
round—something that might give fixity and reality
to the meteor-like, evanescent character of a do-
minion which might, almost without a figure, be

described as the dominion of the saddle.*

* The dominions of the Peishwah
were the home of a very large pro-
portion of the genuine Mahrattas in
the country—a circumstance which
greatly increased the importance of
this principality. ‘In the territories
under the immediate rule of the
Peishwah,” wrote Sir John (then
Major Malcolm), in a very able paper
on Mahratta affairs, written in 1803,
“the inhabitants are almost all Mah-
rattas, among whom national pride,
national feeling, or national prejudice
may exist; but it is, I believe, a fact,
that in the Conquered I’rovinces over
which the Rajah of Berar, Holkar,
and Scindial rule, there are not more
Mahrattas in proportion to the original
inhabitants of the soil than there are
European inhabitants in proportion to
the natives of Bengal and Behar. 1t
is cvident few feelings can exist in
common with states so constituted;
but as the Mahratta chiefs carried
cverywhere with them the same sys-
tem of plunder which distinguished
their forefathers, a love of spoil may
perhaps still be recognised as a com-
mon principle of action, and it might
lead them to have a general feeling of

Hence

jealousy against any nation whose
policy, by establishing tranquillity,
was calculated to limit the sphere of
their depredations, and such a general
feeling might give rise to a momentary
union; but is it not evident, from the
discordant materials of which these
states are formed, as well as from the
nature of the only principle which
they have in common, that such union
could never be lasting, and that it
could not even in the short period of
its duration produce any adequate
effect?”—In the same paper, Mal-
colm thus describes tlie geographical
position of the Peishwah’s territories:
—*“The hereditary possessions of the
Peishwah were bounded to the east
by the provinces of the Nizam, to the
south by those of the Company and
the Rajah of Mysore, and to the west
by the islands of Bombay and Sal-
sette, while his personal possessions
in Goozerat actually intermixed with
the provinces which the Company be-
fore possessed, -and had recently ac-
quired in that quarter, and the coun-
tries over which the DPcishwah still
retained somc authority in Bundle-
kund, were only divided by the Jumna



120 LIFE IN LAKE’S CAMP.

arose a continual effort on the part of the most
stirring and the most powerful of these chiefs—
Scindiah and Holkar—each to obtain an ascendency
at the Court of Poonah, to render the Peishwah a
puppet in his hands, and so to concentrate in his
own person an amount of power sufficient to over-
awe all the other states, and eventually to con-
solidate them into a vast empire; and this accom-
plished, he would soon have endeavored to subju-
gate all the neighbouring native powers, and with
his locust-like flights of predatory horse, to sweep
the English strangers into the sea.

Nor was this the only circumstance that at the
dawn of the present century caused the British Go-
vernment to watch the progress of events in the
Mahratta country with the liveliest concern. The
most powerful of the confederate chiefs at this time
was Dowlut Rao Scindiah. His territories not only
bordered upon those of our allies, the Nizam of the
Deccan and the Nabob of Oude, but actually inter-
mixed with those of the Company on our north-
western frontier.* Within a few miles of the
boundary of our own possessions were Scindiah’s
principal arsenals and magazines. He held posses-

river from the territories of the Com-
pany and their ally the Vizier of
Oude.”

* “The possessions of Scindiah in
Goozerat were interspersed with those
of the Company and their ally the
Qulcowar. In the Deccan his pro-
vinces bordered on those of the Nizam,
and in Hindostan his most valuable
possessions were not only bounded,
but actually intermixed with those of
the Company and the Nabob Vizicr,

and in this quarter (within a few
miles of the Company’s territories)
were all his arsenals and magazines
established ; and the different pro-
vinces in which these were situated
were placed under the management
of the French or foreign officers in
this service, to the payment of whose
troops their revenues were allotted.”
— [ Malcolm’s Observations on Mahratic
Affairs. MS. Records.]
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sion of the chief strongholds on the banks of the
Jumna. His native strength, therefore, was great ;
but it was not this that we most regarded. He had
learnt to understand the value of European disci-
pline. Many of his battalions were organised, in-
structed, and commanded by European adventurers,
French, Dutch, Portuguese, and English. Among
these the French party was dominant. It was the
time when no enterprise appeared too gigantic for
the ambition, and no country too remote for the
intrigues, of the restless Corsican usurper. The
danger may have been exaggerated ; but it was not
wholly a shadowy one. The very hope, indeed, of
French succours, increased the presumption of our
Indian enemies. It was not lifeless because it was
a delusion.

When, therefore, it appeared that Scindiah had
acquired for himself a predominant influence at the
Court of Poonah, and that the Peishwah had be-
come a mere pageant in his hands, it is not to be
questioned that this French connexion increased
the importance and significance of his movements.
But internal dissensions were, at this time, rending
the Mahratta States and enfeebling their powers of
action against a common enemy. The ascendency of
Scindiah at the Court of the Peishwah had in-
flamed the jealousy of his rival Holkar, a soldier of
fortune, who held possession of a tract of country of
which Indore was the capital, and who had in-
herited with his power the hostility of the former
chief. So, towards the close of the year 1802, this
turbulent adventurer marched with a strong force
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of all arms upon Poonah, defeated the troops of
Dowlut Rao Scindiah, and took possession of the
city. The Peishwah himself sought safety in the
Company’s territories. Whatever reluctance he may
have before had to place himself under the protec-
tion of the British Government, entangled as he now
was in a thicket of danger and difficulty, he forced
himself to overcome it. The opportunity was a
great one, and not to be neglected. A treaty, known
in History as the ¢ Treaty of Bassein,” was pre-
sented to the Peishwah and accepted. The same
policy which had been pursued so successfully to-
wards the Court of Hyderabad, and which esta-
blished our influence in the Deccan, was now to
regulate our proceedings towards Poonah. A sub-
sidiary force was to be planted by us in the domi-
nions of the Peishwah, and to be maintained at his
expense. The alliance was to be one strictly of a
defensive character. It was not its intent to enable
the Peishwah to overawe the other Mahratta chiefs,
whose independence was in nowise to be affected by
the treaty, but to protect him against the aggressive
designs of others, and so far to maintain the balance
of power throughout the Mahratta States. On the
last day of the year the Treaty of Bassein was con-
cluded, and in the following spring the Peishwah,
supported by a force which had marched upon
Poonah under the command of Arthur Wellesley,
was re-seated on his throne.

At the approach of Wellesley’s battalions Holkar’s
army had fled, and Poonah was occupied without a
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struggle. It remained now to be seen what effect
the establishment of British influence at the Court
of the Peishwah would have upon the policy of the
other Mahratta States. If it had been the desire of
each chief to remain in undisturbed possession of
his own territories, the Treaty of Bassein, which
guaranteed to every one the maintenance of his
existing rights, would not have been distasteful to
any. But that treaty was well calculated to restrain
the heady ambition, and to suppress the predatory
habits, of men who could not appreciate the secure
possession of a settled territory so long as they were
forbidden to encroach upon the dominions of their
neighbours. By fixing subsidiary forces at Hyder-
abad and at Poonah, we kept up a line of military
posts effectually cutting off the whole of Southern
India from the country of the Mahrattas, and de-
fending alike the territories of the Company, the
Peishwah, and the Nizam. But to men of such a
stamp as Dowlut Rao Scindiah all this was an of-
fence and an abomination. If we had invited him
to chastise with us the usurpation of Holkar, and
had so assisted him to re-establish his ascendency
over the Peishwah, he might have rejoiced in our
interference. But the course of independent action
which had been pursued by the British Government
was fatal to the ambition of the Mahratta chief. So,
when an attempt was made by Colonel Collins to
induce him to give in his adhesion to the Treaty of
Bassein, the British Resident was met first with
friendly promises, then with shifts and evasions,
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which soon took the more decided shape of open
opposition.* As the year advanced, it became more
and more obvious that Scindiah was bent upon play-
ing a game perilous either to our existence or to his
own. Nor did he stand alone in his ill-disguised
hostility to the British Government and its allies.
The Rajah of Berar, whose country lay to the south
of the Nerbudda, and bordered upon our own dis-
tricts both in the Northern Sircars and Orissa, was
openly in league with Scindiah.t In a little while
they formed a junction of their armies, and assumed
a menacing attitude upon the borders of the domi-
nions of the Nizam. The language of Scindiah be-
came bolder and bolder. From boldness it grew
into insolence, and at last, when pressed by the
British Government to declare his intentions, he said
that the question of Peace or War was dependent
upon the result of an interview which he was about
to have with the Rajah of Berar.

Lord Wellesley was not moved by that ¢ frenzy for
conquest’ which was afterwards imputed to him.
He was eager to maintain an honorable peace, and
the conduct of his representatives was marked by
the utmost moderation and forbearance. But it

* Whiist Scindiah thought that
there was a prospect of his being
made a party to the restoration of the
Peishwah, he was willing to endorse
the treaty; but when he found that it
would not assist him to regain his lost
ascendency at Poonah, he endeavored
to obstruct its operation.

t ¢« The possessions of the Rajah of
Berar,” says Malcolm, in the impor-
tant document quoted above, * in one
part joined with our Northern Sir-
cars, whilst in another they were con-

nected with our empire in Orissa, in
which province some of the Rajah’s
districts absolutely extended to within
a few miles of Calcutta, To the
westward he held the richest part of
his country, Berar Proper (in partner-
ship, if I may be allowed the expres-
sion), with our ally the Nizam, and
the greater part of his remaining ter-
ritory bordered with those of that
prince.”—{[ Malcolm’s Notes on * Ano-
nymous Observations on Mahratia Af-
Sairs.” MS. Records.] :
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was every day becoming more and more doubtful
whether an honorable peace could be maintained.
It was plainly the duty of the Governor-General to
be prepared for either issue. There was a man then
upon the spot to whom he believed that he might
safely entrust the power of deciding between the
two issues of Peace and War. In Arthur Wellesley
there were not less the germs of the great soldier
and the great statesman because he was the brother
of the Governor-General. In him was now vested
absolute military and political control in that part of
the country where his troops were posted ; he was
empowered to enter into any engagements which
might seem expedient with Scindiah and the Rajah
of Berar, and if they continued obdurate, at once
to let loose his battalions upon them. There was
nothing unreasonable in his demands; there was
nothing overbearing in his conduct. But the Mah-
ratta chiefs, now advancing ridiculous pretensions,
now resorting to paltry evasions, tried his patience
beyond the limits of honorable endurance., At
last an act of extraordinary falsehood and duplicity
brought matters to a crisis. Colonel Collins was
instructed to retire from Scindiah’s Court, and
General Wellesley wrote to the Mahratta chief, ¢ I
offered you peace on terms of equality, and honor-
able to all parties; you have chosen war, and are
responsible for all consequences.”’

It was on the 3rd of August that Collins quitted
Scindiah’s Court. On the 8th, Wellesley commenced
active hostilities by summoning the fortress of
Ahmednuggur to surrender. On the 10th, the place
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was carried by assault. Having accomplished this,
he moved down to the defence of the Nizam’s do-
minions, and on the 23rd of September was fought
the great battle of Assye. The issue of the contest
in that part of the country was now no longer doubt-
ful, and Scindiah soon began to recognise the expe-
diency of making terms. But there was more work
yet to be done to bring him in a fit state of humi-
liation to our feet. General Stevenson, with the
Hyderabad subsidiary force, captured the town of
Boorhampore and reduced the fortress of Asseeghur.
On this Scindiah sued in earnest for terms, and an
armistice was agreed upon. But he was negotiating
independently for himself, and Berar had yet to be
subdued. So Wellesley moved down on Argaum,
fought another great battle, and achieved another
victory on its plains; then laid siege to Gawilghur,
a place of uncommon strength, and captured it after
a desperate resistance. The Rajah now followed
the example of his aHy, and was eager to negotiate
with an enemy of whose power he dreaded a final
demonstration against the capital itself.

In the mean while, General Lake, who had suc-
ceeded Sir Alured Clarke as Commander-in-Chief of
the British forces in India, was operating in that
part of Upper India which is washed by the waters
of the Jumna, and carrying everything before him.
Here was it that Scindiah’s best battalions, under
the command of his European officers, were planted.
Here was it that he held his principal strongholds—
his arsenals and his magazines. Here was it that
not only the power of the Mahratta, but of the
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“ T'rench Party,” was to be broken up by the bril-
liant operations of the ¢ Grand Army,” the rapidity
of whose successes even exceeded that of Wellesley’s
brigades. On the 29th of August, Lake attacked
Perron’s camp at Coel, and dispersed the army
assembled there. On the 4th of September he carried
Alighur by assault. A week afterwards he fought
the battle of Delhi, entered the imperial city, and
delivered the unfortunate Mogul from the miserable
captivity into which he had been thrown by the
French chief and his Mahratta master. Next, Agra
fell before us; and on the 1st day of November was
fought the great battle of Laswarrie, where the
humiliation of the Mahrattas was consummated by
the overthrow of the flower of Scindiah’s army, and
the capture of all their munitions of war. Never
had so many victories been accomplished, or such
great political events brought about, in so small a
circle of time. Within the space of four months
Lake and Wellesley had broken up the most for-
midable confederacy that had ever threatened our
power in the East. They had extinguished then
and for ever the French Party, and brought Scindiah
and the Rajah of Berar in bitter humiliation to our
feet.

The treaties, which were then separately concluded
with these two chiefs, were distinguished by a re-
markable amount of moderation on the part of the
victors. Some tracts of country, for the most part
recently acquired, were yielded to the Company, and
the Mahrattas pledged themselves never again to
take into their service any French or other subject
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of a Government not in friendly alliance with our
own. But they were still to be recognised as in-
dependent princes, and to be left in the enjoyment of
their hereditary possessions. It was stipulated that
each State should appoint a Minister to reside at the
Court of the other; and, by a subsequent treaty of
defensive alliance entered into with Scindiah, it was
arranged that a British subsidiary force should be
stationed within, or on the frontier of, his dominions,
to be paid for out of the revenues of tracts of country
which that chief had ceded to the British.*

Thus was a glorious war terminated by an honorable
peace. But the rest which ensued was but of brief
duration. There was another chief still willing to
try the temper of those formidable hattalions which,
on the bloody plains of Assye and Laswarrie had
routed the Mahratta horsemen, and captured the
French cannon, and who had fought their way,
through the breaches they had made, into the
strongest fortresses in Central India. Holkar now
appeared on the field. ¢ After the conclusion of the
late glorious war with Scindiah and Boonsla,”” wrote
Charles Metcalfe, in an unfinished memorandum,
““ by a peace which secured great advantages to the
British interests, and afforded a fair prospect of future
tranquillity and security, Jeswunt Rao Holkar began
to operate against us. The power of this chief, who
had taken no active part in the contest against us,
although undoubtedly a principal member of the
hostile confederacy, was increased by the events of

* It was with reference to this force, out, that Metcalfe drew up the Memo-
the design of which was never carried randum givenin the preceding chapter.
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the war. In its commencement Scindiah, in order to
secure his co-operation, ceded to Holkar all the ter-
ritories which had been conquered from him in their
former disputes. Holkar, whilst Scindiah and Boonsla
were carrying on hostilities, took advantage of the
favorable opportunity to take possession of his
ceded countries, and the British Government did not
consider him as an enemy. At the conclusion of
the war, the chiefs and troops who had served the
confederates, having no hopes of pay from either the
Rajah of Berar or Dowlut Rao Scindiah, joined the
army of Holkar. Jeswunt Rao had nothing to fear
from his former opponent, Scindiah, nor from any
power in India but the British Government, and that
Government did not wish to attack him. Perhaps,
therefore, Holkar was never so powerful as at that
time.* Just at the conclusion of the war, he had
advanced with his cavalry and menaced the terri-
tory of the Rajah of Jyepore, who had previously
entered into a defensive alliance with the British
Government. The Commander-in-Chief was obliged
to keep the field, to watch the movements of Holkar,
and ascertain his intentions. After some vain at-
tempts to negotiate, war became inevitable.””t The
language of IHolkar was insolent and defiant. He
threatened to overrun the country, and to destroy
his enemies by lakhs. So our British chiefs again

* « It could not be expected, after sible. Holkar was despised, and his
the glorious events of the former war, power underrated.”—C. M,
that Holkar would singly e¢ngage in a t The memorandum from which this
contest with the British power. The is taken is unfinished; but I am glad
thing was considered alimost impos- to use Metcalfe’s words when I can.

VOL. I. K
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prepared themselves for action, and, without a fear
of the result, launched boldly into a second cam-
paign.

Some partial successes at the outset raised the
hopes and increased the presumption of Jeswunt Rao
Holkar. Nor was this elation confined to himself.
The Mahratta chiefs, who had been so crushed and
mutilated during the last war, now began to think
that there was a prospect of recovering what they had
lost. Their restless ambition would not suffer them
to subside into inaction. History, properly written,
is but a bundle of biographies. It is in the charac-
ters of individual men that we see the sources of
great events which affect the destinies of nations.
That Dowlut Rao, left to his own unaided councils,
would have sought to try the issue of another con-
flict with the British Government, or would have
desired to league himself with Holkar, would seem
to be at least uncertain. But he was wrought upon
by one who, after the old fashion of Oriental Courts,
had gained an infamous ascendency over him by ad-
ministering to his pleasures—a man of vile charac-
ter, of degraded personal habits, and of unscrupulous
malignity, who hated the English, and was con-
tinually inciting his master to compass their over-
throw. This man, Sergiy Rao Gautka by name,
had energy and ability sufficient to enable him to
carry out his designs. Obtaining an influence over
Scindiah sufficient to enable him to thwart the more
moderate and judicious counsels of the Maharajah’s
other advisers, he persuaded him that, by entering
into alliance with the Nizam, the Rajah of Berar,
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and his old enemy Holkar, he could effect the entire
overthrow of the British power in Central India.
In pursuance of this design, agents were employed
at the Courts of Hyderabad and Nagpore, and were
despatched to all the principal chiefs of Malwa, in-
viting them to enter into the great combination
which was to achieve such mighty results.

But in the mean while, eager to repair the dis-
asters which had beset the commencement of the
campaign, Lake had taken the field against Holkar,
and was soon again asserting the supremacy of
British arms. It was on the 3rd of September,
1804, that the head-quarters of the army left Cawn-
pore to unite with other detachments at Agra, which
had been fixed as the place of general rendezvous.
Charles Metcalfe, who had left Calcutta on the 23rd
of August, was then on his way to join the camp of
the Commander-in-Chief.

He started in good spirits, and under happy aus-
pices. Such a deputation was as honorable to his
character and his talents as it was indicative of the
discernment of Lord Wellesley, who may have been
mistaken sometimes in his measures, but who seldom
mistook his men. The young writer was to retain
his situation in the Office of the Governor-General.
But it had already lost much of its attractiveness in
his eyes ; for some of the best and most cherished of
his associates had already been selected for detached
employment, and he was beginning to think that
the office was being rendered a little too  open.”’*

* See letter to Mr. Sherer. Post, page 152,
K 2
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It could not always be stocked with Bayleys, Jen-
kinses, and Metcalfes; and the very mutations of
which the young writer complained were a necessity
inherent in the constitution of such a training-school
for public servants. Personally attached as he was
to Charles Metcalfe, Lord Wellesley parted from
him with regret ; but the Governor-General rejoiced
to see him fairly launched upon a journey towards
the theatre of those great events which were changing
the destinies of Hindostan, for he knew that the
talents of the young diplomatist would there find
free scope for action, and that the national interests
would profit by their exercise. So Charles Metcalfe
started for the camp of the Commander-in-Chief,
and the strongest possible recommendations pre-
ceded him. How greatly Lord Wellesley appre-
ciated him, at this time, may be gathered from the
following letter, written by his Military Secretary :

¢ CAPTAIN ARMSTRONG TO CHARLES METCALFE,
“ Barrackpore, August 24th, 1804.

“ DEAR METCALFE,—Lord Wellesley having heard this
morning of your departure by dawk, directed me to write a
letter to Lieutenant-Colonel Lake, and to send 1t by express,
lest you should arrive without an introduction.

“ T have great satisfaction in informing you that, in follow-
ing his Excellency’s instructions, I never saw so strong and
handsome a letter in my life, both as to your public and private
character, and his Lordship’s personal regards for you. T can
only say, I would not wish a better letter for Arthur Cole.

“ T have wrote to Colonel Lake from myself, requesting his
attention to you as my particular friend; and I have no doubt
you will find every attention and kindness.

“1 intended to have sent you my letter to deliver, but
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Arthur Cole wrote me that you wished me to write to Colonel
Lake direct.
« I wish you a pleasant campaign, and every success you
can wish for.
¢« Believe me,
“ Yours very sincerely,
““J. ARMSTRONG."”

Resorting to the most expeditious mode of travel-
ling which the country afforded, Charles Metcalfe
left Calcutta, journeying in a palanquin, and pro-
ceeded for some distance without any interruption.
But before he reached Cawnpore, at some point of
the road which I cannot precisely indicate, he was
set upon by robbers. He was asleep in his palan-
quin when he fell among these thieves, and, accord-
ing to custom, was abandoned by his bearers. One of
his assailants had a club in his hand, which young
Metcalfe seized ; another then struck at him with a
tulwar, or sword, cut off the ends of two of his
fingers, and wounded him on the head and on the
breast. Single-handed, it was impossible to save
his property, but his life he might save; so, finding
resistance useless, he staggered away from his as-
sailants, and following a path through the jungle,
he soon found himself on the bank of a broad river,
or stream. There, faint from loss of blood, he sank
down; and, as he lay on the ground, thoughts of
home came thick upon him. It flashed upon his
mind that his parents were not improbably at that
very time at Abingdon Races, talking with some
friends about their absent son, and little thinking of
the danger and the suffering to which he was at that
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moment exposed. These thoughts made a deep im-
pression on his mind ; but he presently roused him-
self to action, and tottered back as best he could to
the spot where his palanquin was lying; but found
that the robbers had not yet made off with their
spoil. After a little while, however, they went,
having despoiled the traveller of all the baggage
which he carried with him*—never any great amount
on a dawk-journey—and effected their escape. Met-
calfe was then carried on to Cawnpore, where, under
the care of his aunt, Mrs. Richardson, he soon re-
covered from his wounds, and proceeded onwards to
the camp of the Commander-in-Chief.+

Lake was then on the banks of the Jumna.
Holkar was hanging on his rear; and, in the full
indulgence of the predatory habits of his tribe, was

¥ There were two small articles of
inestimable value to him—one, a seal
given to him by hisfather; and another,
a toothpick case, containing locks of
all his family’s hair. It is said that
he was wounded battling for these
treasures.

+ This event occurred about the
first week of September. I have been
able to discover no account of it from
the pen of Metcalfe himself. The de-
tails which I have given are derived
principally from family tradition. His
godfather, Jacob Rider—ever affec-
tionate and generous—wrote to him
on the 18th from Nerozapore: “Badly
as you are wounded, yet after the first
report we had of you, I congratulate
you on the narrow and great escape
you have had, and that you have for-
tunately fallen so early after the dis-
aster into the friendly care of your
good aunt. As you will have every-
thiog to furnish yourself with before
you can proceed on your mission,
draw upon me at sight for four or five

thousand rupees, if it will be any
immediate accommodation to you.”
Vague reports of this disaster reached
England, and greatly disquieted
Charles Metcalfe’s parents. The intel-
ligence first reached Mrs. Metcalfe, in
the middle of the following March, at
a ball; and was repeated to her next
day at the Royal Institution. After-
wards Mrs. Plowden, her first in-
formant, sent her an extract from a
letter from Mrs. Dashwood, saying:
“T was sorry to hear Mr. C. Metcalfe
was attacked by robbers travelling up
the country, and had lost a joint of
one of his fingers, and received a cut
on the head; but is now (Sept. 21)
quite well, and going on his journey.
He was obliged to spend some days
with his aunt Richardson. He is a
very fine, sensible young man.” This
was all the information that the family
received for some weeks—Charles
Metcalfe’s own letters not having
arrived,
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carrying off our baggage, cutting off stragglers, and
always avoiding a general action, inflicting upon our
troops that desultory annoyance, in their capacity
for which they were almost without a rival. Inthe
course of October, Charles Metcalfe arrived at head-
quarters, and was met with all outward marks of
courtesy and kindness. But the welcome which he
received was mere cold formality. The truth is,
that he was not wanted. In spite of the excellent
credentials which he carried—credentials which bore
witness no less to his personal than to his official
qualities—he was regarded with some mistrust.
His position, indeed, was not a promising one. He
was a civilian in the midst of a community of
soldiers. He came fresh from the office of the Go-
vernor-General, and it is not improbable that men
who knew little of the real character either of the
one or of the other, were inclined to look upon him
asa spy. There always has been a certain jealousy of
political officers in a military camp, even when those
“ politicals ” have heen soldiers. Their presence is
regarded as a tacit reflection on the short-comings of
the general and his staff. But, superadded to these
impediments to the entente cordiale, there were in
the present instance to be contended with those
class prejudices which, more or less, exist at all
times between the civil and the military professions.
It was young Metcalfe’s business to assist the Com-
mander-in-Chief in his negotiations with the native
chiefs, to carry on the mnecessary correspondence
with the civil officers in our own newly-acquired
districts, to collect information relative to the move-
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ments of the enemy, and to conduct other miscel-
laneous business comprised under the general head
of ¢ political affairs.” Such a functionary at the head-
quarters of Lake’s army was not unlikely to be called
a clerk, and sneered at as a non-combatant. But
Charles Metcalfe, though he wore neither the King’s
nor the Company’s uniform, had as much of the true
spirit of the soldier in him as any officer in camp.
And this he waited only for an opportunity to
prove. I believe it had reached his ears that some-
thing had been said about civilians participating in
the pleasant excitement of the march and the so-
cialities of head-quarters, but not sharing the active
dangers of the campaign. Whether this was said
or not, he was determined to show that, civilian as
be was, he shrunk from none of those perils to
which his military comrades were exposed. And an
opportunity was not long wanting to him. The
fortress of Deeg, distant some forty-five miles from
Agra, was garrisoned by the allied troops of our
enemies, Holkar and the Rajah of Bhurtpore. In
the month of December, General Lake, who had
determined upon the reduction of the place, en-
camped within sight of it, and awaited the arrival
of his battering-train from Agra. On the 13th,
having been joined by his guns, he took up his posi-
tion before the fortress, and commenced an attack
upon the outworks. On the 17th the breaching
battery was ready for action, but such was the
strength of the walls, that it was not until the 23rd
that the breach was reported practicable, and dis-
positions made for the assault on the following day.
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The storming party was told off, and Metcalfe
volunteered to accompany it. He was one of the
first who entered the breach. There are soldiers
now living who remember that memorable Christ-
mas-eve, and delight to speak of the gallantry of
the young civilian. The ¢ clerk” fairly won his
spurs, and shared with the most distinguished of
his comrades the honors no less than the dangers
of one of the most brilliant achievements of the
war. In the Commander-in-Chief’s despatch, the
name of Metcalfe was honorably mentioned. ¢ Be-
fore I conclude this despatch,” wrote Lord Lake,
““T cannot help mentioning the spirited conduct of
Mr. Metcalfe, a civil servant, who volunteered his
services with the storming party, and, as I am in-
formed, was one of the first in the breach.”* After-
wards, the fine old soldier called him his ¢ little
stormer.”

The chivalrous impulses of a youth of nineteen
are not to be inquired into with too much nicety, or
reasoned about with too much wisdom.. Doubtless,
it may be said that Charles Metcalfe was not des-
patched to Lord Lake’s camp to help the Com-
mander-in-Chief to carry fortified towns by assault.+

and in England. Very different opi-

* It is worthy of remark, however,
nions were expressed on the subject.

that the historian of the Mahratta

war, Captain Thorn, is significantly
silent regarding both the fact of Met-
calfe’s presence with the storming
party, and the Commander-in-Chief’s
mention of it in his despatch ; although
throughout the entire narrative he
has scrupulously recorded the names
of all the military officers who were
officially noticed by their chief.

t And this was said both in India

Writing to her son, in a letter ex-
pressive of mingled pride and anxiety,
now commending his gallantry, now
reproaching him for his temerity, Mrs.
Metcalfe said: *“ Every one views it
in a different light. Some give you a
great deal of credit. Others think
that you were wrong, not being of the
profession; and one military man, in
particular, met me the other day, and



138 LIFE IN LAKE’S CAMP.

This is an objection one scarcely need care to answer.
And yet it may be answered with all gravity, and
with due regard for the strictest rules of official
propriety. It was of no small moment that the
young civilian, representing as he did the Governor-
General in the camp of the Commander-in-Chief,
should be held in high estimation by the men with
whom he was thus officially associated. It became
him, by all honorable means, to increase his in-
fluence at head-quarters. And there were no surer
means of doing this, than by showing his comrades
that he was willing to share their dangers—even
the dangers of the forlorn hope—and to emulate
their worth on their own field of professional enter-
prise. Nothing is so intelligible—mnothing is so
generally appreciated—as personal gallantry. There
1$ no position in life in which a man does not in-
crease the prestige of his authority by demonstra-
ting his possession of such a quality. There could
be no more sneers at the clerk and the non-com-
batant after young Metcalfe's appearance in his
shooting-jacket on the crest of the breach at Deeg.
Whatever may have been thought of this exploit

said: ‘I hope you will scold your boy
—scold him from me.” It was a man
who has been at the head of the army
in India,” (Probably Sir Alured

way of danger. One would think you
imagined that your prospect in life
was desperate, instead of its being one
of the finest. Your outset has been

Clark, who had met Charles Metcalfe
in _Calcutta.) “There is one thing
strikes me,” adds Mrs. Metcalfe, with
her wonted penetration—¢ you must
have had some good and strong rea-
sons to have gone out of your line.
I hope it will not happen again; and
that, should you have the military
ardor_ upon you, Lord Lake will not
permit you to throw yourself in the

beyond the most ardent expectations.
Your abilities, being of a very un-
common kind, and your conduct re-
gulated by a fine judgment (except in
the storming business—forgive 1ne,
but a mother can never reconcile that
to herself ), must ensure you, if please
God you live, further success, and
that of the most distinguished na-
ture.”
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by others, by Charles Metcalfe’s young friends and
associates in the Governor-General’s office it was
contemplated with enthusiasm and delight. There
was a little group of young civilians at the Presi-
dency, including some of the most promising mems-
bers of the service, who a short time before Met-
calfe’'s departure had erected themselves into a sort
of Club or Association, which, in honor of Admiral
Lord Howe, was called a society of ¢ Howe
Boys.”* These Howe Boys were in the right frame
to appreciate gallantry of any kind, and most of all
in one of their own associates. So, when the news
of Metcalfe’s conduct at Deeg, followed speedily by
Lord Lake’s despatch, reached Calcutta, the Howe
Boys held a meeting, the result of which is set
forth in the following amusing letter :

‘ TO CHARLES THEQPHILUS METCALFE, ESQ., HOWE BOY.

% Howe Boys Office, January 18, 1805.
[ Official—No. L]

“ S1r,—By the despatches of his Excellency the Commander-
in-Chief we have been made acquainted with the glorious suc-
cess of the British arms in the assault of the outworks of Deeg,
and 1in the subsequent capture of that important fortress.

“2. His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief having been
pleased to testify his high approbation of your conduct on this
occasion, we consider it to be an act of indispensable justice to
record our decided and deliberate judgment that the ardent
spirit of zeal, energy, valor, and resolution manifested by you
in the unsolicited offer of your personal services, and in the
actual assault of the outworks of the fortress of Deeg, have
been seldom equalled, and never excelled, by any of the youths
in Lord Howe’s Establishment.

‘3. Your fortitude in refusing to submit to the imperious

* Bee, for some further notice of the ITowe Boys, note in the Appendix,
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dictates of a haughty ambassador,* your invincible resolution
and consummate ability in opposing the establishment of a
vicious and immoral institution,} and your ardent patriotism
and honorable ambition in voluntarily exposing yourself to
the dangers, hardships, and privations of an active campaign,
had commanded our approbation, and had enabled us to anti-
cipate with a considerable degree of confidence the continued
advancement of your character and the unrestrained augmen-
tation of your renown.

“ 4. We have no hesitation in declaring that your conduct
has fully answered the high expectations which we had formed
of it, that you have acted in strict conformity to those senti-
ments and principles of public virtue which ought to regulate
the conduct of all the individuals in our society, and that you
have deserved well of your country and of the members of
Lord Howe'’s Establishment.

«5. Under these circumstances, we have unanimously de-
termined to testify our sense of your conduct by presenting
you with a silver pen as a mark of our applause, esteem, and
approbation.

“ We are your affectionate friends,
(Signed) “J. ApaMm.
“A. H. CoLE.
“C. D'OyLy.
“ CHARLES PATTENSON.
“C. LUSHINGTON.
“ Joun WAUCHOPE.
“ WM. HENRY TRANT.
“ JouN FORBES.
“ W. BUTTERWORTH BAYLEY."}

* “ King Collins.” Alluding to widows and orphans of its members

Metcalfe’s breach with Colonel Col-
lins, narrated in the previous chapter.

t The reference here is to a con-
troversy which a little time before had
agitated the Civil Service, relative to
the basis upon which the proposed
Pension Fund for the relief of the

was to be established. Of one section
of the service John Adam and Charles
Metcalfe were the leaders, and con-
jointly the mouthpiece ; the prin-
cipal manifestoes were issued in their
name.

1 With the exception of Mr. Adam,
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Trom Deeg the Grand Army marched upon Bhurt-
pore—the most formidable stronghold of Central
India. It was a maiden fortress, and had always
been deemed impregnable. The Bhurtpore Rajah
was a Jaut chief, who had at one time professed
friendship for the English, but whom the first suc-
cesses of Holkar had induced to throw off the mask
and to unite himself with the Mahratta chieftain.
Deeg was one of his strongholds. The decided part
which he had taken had compelled Lake to reduce
that fortress, the garrison of which was partly com-
posed of Bhurtpore troops and partly of Holkar’s
fugitives; and now the British Commander deter-
mined to attack the Rajah in his capital. Indeed,
since the battles which had been fought at Deeg*
and Furruckabad, and in which both the infantry
and cavalry of Holkar had been signally defeated,
the Bhurtpore Rajah had become our most formi-
dable antagonist. On the first day of the new year

who had by this time become Deputy
Secretary in the Political department,
the gentlemen signing this letter were
all Assistants in the Governor-Ge-
ueral’s office. Mr. Adam rose to the
highest offices of the State. Aftera
long and distinguished career in the
Secretariat he became a member of the
Supreme Council, and was Governor-
General during the interregnum be-
tween the Hastings and Amherst
Governinents, and died on his way
home. Mr. (the Honorable A. H.)
Cole was a Madras civilian, and for
many years Resident at Mysore. Mr.
(afterwards Sir Charles) D'Oyly and
Mr. Pattenson served chiefly in the
Revenue and Commercial lines. Mr.
Lushington was for twenty years in
the Secretariat, and was Chief Secre-
tary in 1825. Mr. Wauchope was a
distinguished Magisterial and Judicial

officer; and for some time Governor-
General’s agent in Bundlekund. Mr.
Trant served chiefly in the Financial
department. On his return to Eng-
land he was sent to Parliament by the
electors of Dover. Mr. Forbes quitted
the Civil Bervice very early, and went
home in the same vesscl with Lord
Wellesley. And Mr. Bayley, after
holding the highest offices under Go-
vernment, and sitting as Governor-
General of India on the departure of
Lord Ambherst, returned to England
to enter the Court of Directors, was
twice elected Chairman of that body,
and is still one of its most distin-
guished members,

* On the 13th of November. This
battle was fought before Deeg by
General Fraser and Colonel Monson.
The siege did not take place till some
weeks afterwards.
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the army moved from Deeg, and on the following
took up their position before the walls of the for-
midable Jaut fortress. Lake, who had under-esti-
mated its strength, flung himself upon it with a
precipitancy that could only result in failure. Four
times the British troops were led to the attack, and
four times they were repulsed. The enemy defended
their works with remarkable vigor, and neglected
no possible means of harassing their assailants and
increasing the difficulties of the siege.

Nor were the enemies within the walls the only
ones with whom we had then to contend. Holkar
was reassembling the scattered remmnants of his
broken force, and Ameer Khan, a soldier of fortune,
originally attached to the service of that chief, was
at the head of a large body of marauding troops.
This man, a Rohilla by birth, of a bold and enter-
prising character, and of abilities beyond the level of
his countrymen, finding that little was to be gained
by the alliance with Holkar and the Rajah of Bhurt-
pore, and having little sympathy with men of an
opposite creed, determined to operate on his own
account, and to invite the followers of the Prophet
to flock to his standard in the Doab and Rohilkund.
He had been in the near neighbourhood of Bhurt-
pore looking after our convoys, intent upon plunder ;
but now that he had formed more ambitious designs,
he determined at once to cross the Jumna, to attack
the Company’s newly-acquired territories, and to ex-
cite the people to aid in our expulsion. Occupied
as was Lake’s army with the exhausting siege of
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Bhurtpore, and unable to detach any large bodies of
troops for service on the other side of the river, the
danger of this threatened incursion was not to be
lightly regarded. But what the British commander
could do, he did—and he did it promptly. He
despatched a brigade, consisting principally of light
dragoons, under General Smith, in pursuit of Ameer
Khan; and out rode the British horsemen, on a
February morning, from Lake’s camp, determined,
in camp-language, to ¢ give a good account” of the
Rohilla.

‘With this force rode Charles Metcalfe, as Smith’s
political aide. It was his duty to conduct all the
diplomatic business of the campaign. Of this the
collection and the diffusion of accurate information
relative to the movements of the enemy and of our
detachments in different parts of the country was
no insignificant part. He was at once the Secretary
and Persian translator of General Smith, and the
representative of the Governor-General in the dis-
tricts which Smith’s force was sent to defend. He
said afterwards, that his position at this time was a
pleasant one. It was a pleasant, because it was a
responsible one. In his own department, at least,
he was supreme; and his young ambition delighted
in the thought of being thrown upon his own re-
sources.

All the correspondence of the expedition not
strictly relating to matters of military detail passed
through his hands. Veteran officers, who had seen
good service in the field before the young civilian
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was born, addressed him respectfully, and sent him
reports of their movements. Members of his own
profession who had served under Cornwallis, recog.
nised the importance of his position, and clearly
discerning the merits of the man, were eager to
maintain a frequent correspondence with him. Nor
were the communications of which he was the organ
confined to his own people, or to his own language.
He wrote Persian letters to the chiefs, and issued
proclamations to the inhabitants of the country
through which he passed—not in his own name, but
what was of more importance—in his own ideas and
his own words. There was much in all this to satisfy
the ambition—or, as he in his self-searching candor
would have said—to gratify the vanity of the young
diplomatist. He was fast becoming a personage of
some political importance—taking, indeed, a place
in history—and that, too, before he was of age.
India, he began to think, was, after all, the place for
eager aspirants of his talents and his temper. There
was nothing like this in Lord Grenville’s office.
Among his correspondents at this time was Mr.
Archibald Seton, with whom he subsequently came
to be more intimately associated. Mr. Seton was
then our chief civil officer in Rohilkund—a man of
unbounded zeal and indefatigable industry; and he
at once put himself in communication with Metcalfe
as the mouthpiece of Smith’s force. The following
letter, written from Bareilly, is of importance, as il-
lustrating the political condition of Rohilkund and
the views of Ameer Khan, thus making clear the
purposes of the expedition, and the nature of the
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service on which Metcalfe was now employed, and
the description of business which he was called upon
to transact :

MR, ARCHIBALD SETON TO CHARLES METCALFE.
‘ Bareilly, February 22nd, 1805.

““ MY DEAR S1R,—I am this instant honored with your favor
of yesterday, communicating the very interesting outline of the
plan which General Smith means, until reinforced by infantry,
to adopt for the protection of Moradabad, Bareilly, and Peele-
beit, from the attempts of the enemy. Accept, my dear sir,
my best thanks for this communication, and for the very oblig-

ing manner in which it is made. .

« Although I know not that my ofﬁcml 1eply to your public
deSp“ltCh contained any information that could be found useful,
I regret its not having reached camp, as it would at least have
exhibited a proof how much I feel it my duty to exert myself
to the utmost in endeavoring to meet the wishes of General
Smith. It chiefly related to what I had learned respecting
the views and objects of Ameer Khan in making this irruption,
and to the encouragement and assistance which he was likely
to receive. I shall bueﬂy recapitulate its contents from me-
mory. I did not give myself time to keep a copy.

“T observed, that I was in the possession of documents under
the seal of Ameer Khan, which proved beyond a doubt that
his views upon the present occasion are by no means limited to
a desire of enriching himself by plunder, or causing us a tem-
porary distress. He aims at the subversion of our dominion in
Rohilkund, and the establishment in its room of that of the
Rohillas, or Afghans. He has addressed letters to all the pre-
sent Sirdars of that tribe, and to the representatives of such as
are dead, calling upon them, as Rohillas and Mahomedans, to
assist him in expelling the English and restoring the power of
their own tribe. ¢The Afghans,” he observes, in one of his
letters, ¢ are dispersed, it is true—but they are all of one mind.’
In a word, the present invasion has for its object the extermina-

VOL. I. L
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tion of the English; and this object Ameer Khan expects to
effect by exciting them to a general rise.

¢« As yet, I have reason to believe his endeavors to induce
men of family, character, or property to join his standard have
been unsuccessful. I fear, however, he will find many adherents
among the ncedy, idle soldiers of fortune, with whom this pro-
vince abounds.

¢« All the Rohillas of family with whom I have conversed on
the subject, speak with the utmost contempt of Ameer Khan,
and declare that they would rather die than give him the
smallest encouragement. This sensation I have endeavored to
feed and sharpen. I have tried to work upon their Pride, by
reminding them that his father and grandfather were the
servants of theirs; upon their Fears, by representing to them
the oppressions they were likely to suffer from a ferocious up-
start f he succeeded, and the utter ruin which must overwhelm
his adherents if he failed; and upon their Hopes, by placing
before their eyes the advantages which they would derive from
a steady attachment to the British Government. .

“From what I have observed above of the views of Ameer
Khan, it is evidént that in a political point of view his incur-
sion is of a much more serious and important nature than that
of Jeswunt Rao Holkar, whose religious persuasion and want
of local influence prevented him from being permanently dan-
gerous.

“ To check, therefore, the attempts of the present invader,
before he establishes himself and unhinges the minds of the
people, appears to me to be a most desirable object. But this
cannot now be done without a large military force. I rejoice,
therefore, that General Smith has taken measures for obtaining
a reinforcement. Itis, as you observe, impossible for cavalry to
act in the part of the country where you now are, in consequence
of the numerous water-courses; or, as they are there termed,
gools. This circumstance renders infantry indispensable. The
moment Bhurtpore falls, the Commander-in-Chief will probably
be able to detach a force sufficient to effect the very interesting
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object of expelling Ameer Khan. Should the latter be suffered
to continue long in the country at this very critical season,
when the promising crops which are to feed our treasury are
beginning to ripen, the issue must be no less fatal to our
finances than injurious to our political interests. I can hardly
conceive an object more interesting in either point of view, than
the effecting the expulsion of this truly dangerous invader.
Were it a Mahratta invasion, this language would be too strong
for the occasion. . .

“ And now, my dear sir, allow me to repeat my grateful
sense of those very obliging parts of your letter which relate
personally to myself, and to add a request that you will upon
all occasions have the goodness to let me know, without reserve,

in what I can have the happiness to contribute to your comfort
or convenience.

¢ Believe me ever,
“ Yours very faithfully,
“ ARCHIBALD SETON.”

When Mr. Seton said, in this letter, that the
chief people of Rohilkund would not flock round
the standard of Ameer Khan, he said what the
event justified. But perhaps he somewhat over-
rated the military power of that chieftain when he
wrote that General Smith’s cavalry would not be
able to dislodge him without strong reinforcements
of infantry from Lord Lake’s camp. Smith crossed
the Jumna, pushed across the Doab with uncommon
rapidity, and soon appeared in Rohilkund. It was
a harassing but an exciting service. Men took
little account of distance or fatigue, and their
horses seemed to be sustained by the spirit and
impelled by the enthusiasm of their riders. The
fine bracing climate of Upper India, and the noble

L2
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scenery which opened out before them as they
neared the great mountain-range of the Himalayah,
invigorated and refreshed our English officers, as
they pursued the Rohilla freebooter across his own
fair province, and tried to tempt him to a general
action. Many long night marches across difficult
tracts of country deprived the trooper of his accus-
tomed rest; but he went on without a murmur.
He was on the track of the enemy, who were plun-
dering and devastating along their whole line of
march; and as he passed the smoking remains of
villages, and crossed the fields laid waste by Ameer
Khan’s reckless Pindarrees, he pricked on with re-
newed impulses of zeal, eager to stop their desolat-
ing career. At last the long-wished-for opportunity
arrived. Smith found himself near Afzulghur, face
to face with Ameer Khan’s army. There was a
short but sturdy conflict, with the anticipated re-
sult. The British cavalry did terrible execution
among the Patan levies of the Rohilla chief, whilst
our galloper guns played with terrible effect upon
his Horse. Beaten at all points, there was nothing
left for him but a precipitate flight. Making a
forced march, he re-crossed the Ganges, and as he
went, the wreck of his army melted away. He had
nothing to look upon, as the result of his temerity,
but a disastrous and ignominious failure.

Having effected the expulsion of Ameer Khan
from Rohilkund and the Doab, General Smith re-
turned with his detachment to head-quarters, and
joined Lord Lake's army before Bhurtpore on the
23rd of March. Two days before this, the Rohilla
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chief, abandoned by all his troops, save a small
body of predatory horsemen, had re-crossed the
Jumna, and arrived at Futtehpore Sikree. His
power of independent action was entirely gone, and
he was willing to take service under some more for-
tunate and influential leader.

In the mean while, Holkar, with the characteristic
elasticity of his tribe, had sufficiently recovered from
his late reverses to muster a strong body of horse,
and to threaten Lake’s camp at Bhurtpore. Upon
this ‘the English general, placing himself at the
head of his cavalry, and taking with him a detach-
ment of infantry, moved from his position to beat
up the Mahratta quarters. But Holkar, prepared
for flight, evaded the meditatedl attack, and retired
to some distance from Bhurtpore, where Lake,
thinking that the enemy would be less on the alert
the further he was removed from our camp, again
endeavored to surprise him. The attempt was not
wholly unsuccessful. Holkar, having gained infor-
mation of our approach, had sent off his baggage,
and was prepared to march on the following morn-
ing ; when Lake, on the night of the 2nd of April,
determined not to wait for the dawn, but guided
by the enemy’s watch-fires, moved at once on the
Mahratta camp.

Aware of the advance of the British troops, and
little desiring to meet them in fair fight, Holkar
again attempted to escape; but our cavalry were
close upon him, and the pursuit was a most effective
one. Some brilliant charges made by the pursuers
told with terrible effect on the flying Mahrattas,
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who, utterly broken, and unable to rally, dispersed
themselves in disordered masses about the country.
After a rapid march of some fifty miles, Lake re-
appeared on his old ground, and prepared to com-
mence anew operations against Bhurtpore, if the
enemy were not inclined to make overtures of peace.

On these occasions Charles Metcalfe accompanied
the Commander-in-Chief, and it was of them that
he wrote in the following letter to his friend Sherer.
The stirring life in camp, and the active business of
the public service, had left him little time for private
correspondence ; and when at last he took up his pen
to address some of his old associates at the Presi-
dency, he could only write by snatches in the midst
of the incessant interruption of the camp:

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

# Camp near Bhurtpore, April 6, 1805.

“ My DEAR SHERER,—Welcome back to Bengal; and
accept the congratulations of your old friend Metcalfe upon
your safe return. . . . You will not, I think, have been sur-
prised to find me absent from Calcutta. You know me to pos-
sess a love of change, and a silly desire to deviate from the
beaten track. I am much pleased with the determination
which sent me again abroad, and have derived much satisfac-
tion from the new scenes which have opened upon me. . . . .

¢ Within the last few days we have twice surprised Holkar’s
camp. Yesterday was the last time. [Written on the 3rd.]
They thought themselves perhaps secure, as they were twelve
or fourteen miles distant. We got upon them at daylight, and
gave a close and galloping chase for many miles. We were
mounted twelve hours, and went above forty miles. Thesc
dours must have a fine effect, and will sicken our enemy
very much. I go on all these expeditions. Without their
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occasional occurrence, Camp would be dull. I do not know
how soon I may return to Calcutta. I am anxious to see you
again, and talk over our respective adventures.

« The arrival of your letter within the last few minutes
gives me great joy [April 6¢th], but with that joy a great deal
of shame and contrition is mixed. You expected—and you
had a right to cxpect, and I should have been hurt if you had
not expected—that I should have been one of the first to con-
coratulate you on your return, and that ¢long ere I read yours
you would receive a letter from me, greeting you on the occa-
sion.” The guilty wretch trembles before your judgment-seat;
but I cannot suffer you to condemn me without an explanation.
The fact then really is, that officc work has left no leisure to
write. When I say no leisure to write, I mean to write fo you
as I would wish to write, with my mind abstracted from all
other things, and occupied solely with friendship. A hasty
note I might have snatched a moment to pen; but I wished to
converse with you at length. This letter was commenced on
the 26th of last month, and has, as you will perceive, been
several times interrupted. Even this page was commenced
four hours back; and although I had determined to-day to set
business at defiance, I could not prevent the invasion of visitors.
When I consider the long period which must pass before this
r.eaches you, I dread that I may suffer in your opinion in that
time, and regret that I did not send all documents to the devil,
and finish my letter to you before.

““T expect much from you when we meet; when that may
be I am not sufficiently long-sighted to decide. If you recol-
lect any particulars of my brother’s house, situation, habits, &c.,
you will give great pleasure in communicating them to one to
whom the most trivial anecdotes will be interesting. I am re-
jc?iced to find that Theophilus still continues to be satisfied with
his situation; but rather surprised that his ambition is satisfied
within the limits of the Factory of Canton.

““ My situation with General Smith was a very pleasant one;
here I'am more subordinate. I confess to you that I should
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not be sorry (many of my objects being fulfilled) to return to
Calcutta; and your arrival has added another inducement.
From a former part of this letter you will perceive that I anti-
cipated some remarks from you upon the new Cabinet, Those
which you have made are such as I expected, and I perceive
that the same ideas have passed through your mind which have
been in mine upon that subject. You will readily imagine
that the association of the new party did not diminish the
weight of the motives which induced me to quit the Cabinet
for the Field. The situation was deprived of its credit when it
became so open. . . . . My only views are, to return to office
when I am satisfied that it will be right in me to quit the Army.
I am not at all tired of it, but I think that I may be losing
some advantages attending upon the Governor-General’s office,
which at a future period I may not regain. I should grieve if
anything occurred which should fix me in this part of the
world ;- I see no prospect of such an event, but should lament
it exceedingly. A short time ought to decide what will be
done with us. I do not admire a doubtful state of things. It
is my intention, I hope that I may fulfil it, that you should
frequently hear from
“ Your sincerc and affectionate friend,
¢ C, T. METCALFE.”

A few days after this letter was written, a Treaty
of Peace was concluded with the Rajah of Bhurt-
pore, and on the 21st of April Lord Lake broke up
his camp, and marched down to the Chumbul,
where, having crossed the river, he formed a junc-
tion with the Bundlekund force under Colonel Mar-
tindale, and, with the object mainly of holding
Scindiah in check, halted there during the greater
part of the month of May. A subsidiary treaty
having been concluded with the Rana of Gohud,
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Lord Lake, warned by the painful obtrusiveness of
the hot winds, made preparations for the march of
his army to cantonments at Agra, Futtehpore, and
Muttra; and re-crossed the Chumbul at the end of
the month. On the 30th they were at Dholpore, and
from this place Metcalfe wrote again to his friend
Sherer :

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W, SHERER.
“ Camp, Dholpore, May 30, 1805.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,— . . . I have lately had some most
delightful letters from my father, which will, I am sure, heighten
your opinion of him when I have an opportunity of showing
them to you. I shall not fail to storm your quarters, and
make a lodgment within your walls, or, to speak in a more
cwvil way, I shall avail myself of your kind invitation, and pay
my respects in Post-Office-strect immediately on my arrival in
Calcutta. In short, my friend, I heartily thank you, and hope
speedily to be with you. Your advice, which will always be
most acceptable, agrees, I rejoice to find, with my own resolves.
You will have seen from my letter to Bayley, that on other
grounds than those mentioned by you I had determined to go
to Calcutta. I am still ignorant when I shall quit the army;
I hope soon. I had intended to have loitered on the road,
and, as I have always hitherto travelled up and down in haste,
to have taken a leisurely view of all the stations on the river.
What you say will hasten my voyage, for I would wish to sec
Lord Wellesley as much as I can before he goes.

¢ As far as my present thoughts go, I can sincerely tell you
that I have not the wish to obtain any situation; for, to tell
you the truth, India does not contain a situation, which would
come within the bounds of my just claims, that would give me
any pleasure. I understand the Presidency Secretaryships are
reduced to a despicable degree by our very noble and approved
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good masters. I will postpone a dish of politics until we meet.
I shrink from them as from a serpent, for I have seen things in
them which sicken me. I am amazed at the state of your
finances, which are almost as bad as mine. Cole is not yct
with us. The expectation of his arrival has been the only
cause which has prevented an endeavor to get away from the
army before this. This is short, but shall be followed soon.
“ Your very sincere friend,
“(C. T. METCALFE.”

It will be gathered from this letter that Charles
Metcalfe had determined at this time to leave the
army, and to return to Calcutta. It had been made
known to him, by his correspondents at the Presi-
dency, that Lord Wellesley was about to return to
England, and he was eager, on many accounts, to
see the statesman, to whom he owed so much, before
his final departure. But soon after the despatch of
this letter an incident occurred, which caused him,
after much consideration, to forego the intention he
had formed. He had gone on to Muttra, with one
division of the army, for the purpose of spending a
few days with his friend Arthur Cole; and there he
met Colonel John Malcolm. What the result of the
meeting was may best be told in Metcalfe’s own

words, as contained in the following most interest-
ing letters :

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.
« Camp, Muttra, June 10, 1805.
“My DEAR SHERER,—A thousand thanks for yours of the
24th. I shall, in the first instance, waive any discussion of the
important contents of that letter, and shall make you acquainted
with the inconsistency of my own conduct. You have, doubt-
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less, expected that my departure from the army has taken place
before this time, and you will be surprised to learn that it is
now most probable that I shall make another campaign, if a
campaign is necessary, or assist in any political arrangements
which may happen in this part of India. I shall proceed
regularly to state the causes which have produced this change
in my intentions.

“ From my last letter you will have believed me to be de-
cided in my plan of returning to Calcutta, and I never was
more decided in my life. Colonel Malcolm and Cole joined us
on the day when the army separated for their different destina-
tions—to Agra, Futtehpore, and Muttra. Ishould,undoubtedly,
have accompanied the Agra division at the nearest road to
Calcutta, but the desire of having Cole’s society for a few days
brought me on to Muttra. On the day after his arrival in
camp, Colonel Malcolm, to my surprise (for I could scarcely
call myself acquainted with him), entered in a full, friendly,
and flattering manner into the question of my intention, which
Cole had mentioned to him. With full confidence he laid
open to me the various plans which were in contemplation,
gave me admission to all his papers, and, by appearing to inte-
rest himself in my welfare, prepared me to listen to him with
great attention. He expatiated on the great field of political
employment now open in Hindostan, the necessity of many
appointments and missions, the superiority, as he seems to
think, of my claims, and the great risk, if not certain injury,
of my quitting the scene of action. By holding out the offer
of Distinction, he gained the important outwork of Desire,
and the citadel of Resolve was in danger of falling. It did
not immediately yield however, and notwithstanding all he
said, I clung fondly to my rooted and long-indulged intention
of returning to Calcutta, and of paying my last respects to
Lord Wellesley. There was, however, sufficient in what Mal-
colm said to induce me to reflect seriously on the step I should
take.

“1 did not converse again with Malcolm for five days, and
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in that period the subject was ever in my mind, and I never
experienced such irresolution on any occasion in which I had
the power of self-decision. Exclusive of the reasons suggested
by Malcolm for my remaining, others occurred to me which he
could not mention. I have long, as you know, looked upon
the Political as my line of service ; and although I have seen
what people call Native Courts, and have passed over many
countries, I have had the misfortune of being under men
whose talents, knowledge, and character, or rather want of
these, I could not admire ; who gave no encouragement to
my desire to learn, who on the contrary rather made me sick
of my pursuit of knowledge. I have felt myself degraded by
my situation, and instead of studying acquaintance with the
natives, I have shrunk from notice as much as possible. My
knowledge, therefore, is only that which I acquired in the
Governor-General’s office, and which, though highly useful,
does not in itself qualify a man to be a Political Agent. The
opportunity of acting under a man with Malcolm’s talents
and reputation, established knowledge, inquisitive genius, and
communicative disposition, promises advantages of the most
solid and certain nature, and of real importance. I could not,
however, give up my desire to visit Calcutta, and my second
conversation with Malcolm ended in our agreeing that I should
run down to Calcutta and return quickly. On the same even-
ing, however, he strongly advised me not to go, and the next
day we had a long conversation which ended in my being
very uncertain what to do. I think, however, clearly that I
shall stay, but I never did anything with more reluctance. 1
long to see our glorious Wellesley before he quits us. Mal-
colm tells me that I cannot better show my gratitude to Lord
Wellesley than by assisting in scenes in which he will always
have great interest.

“ Farewell! I shall write to you to-morrow again, for I have
much to say. Cole desires to be particularly remembered ; I
belicve that few respect you more than he does. Show this to
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Bayley with my love, to account for my conduct. Remember
me to Fagan, and Adam, and Trant.
“ Your sincere friend,
“C. T. METCALYE.”

THE SAME TO THE SAME.
“ Camp, Muttra, June 11, 1805.

“My DEAR SHERER,—I wrote to you yesterday and said that
I would write again to-day—I forgot to tell you that one reason
conspiring with the rest to induce me to remain is this—Mercer
will go to Calcutta, and Malcolm, who will manage all political
concerns at head-quarters, has expressed a wish that I should
remain on his account, expecting to derive more assistance from
me than I fear he will. This subject fills my mind, and 1t 1s
with very great difficulty that I can reconcile myself to the
overthrow of my plans—plans which I have so long ruminated
over with anticipated delight. I rest my chief consolation on
Malcolm’s character, and the useful knowledge that I shall
obtain whilst with him. It is my intention to cultivate his
intimacy zealously—his advances to me have been very flat-
tering—I foresee one thing; he is a likely man to give my
mind a turn towards literary pursuits, which have scarccly ever
entered my imagination—nay, he already has; he himself 1s
an enthusiast.

“I do not know what opinion to give upon Lord Corn-
wallis’s appointment; I cannot help thinking that he will not
come out. If the supercession of Lord Wellesley is occasioned
by an alarm existing in consequence of Monson’s retreat before
Holkar, the conduct of the Directors and Ministers has been
equally unjust and contemptible. It is unjust that confidence
should be removed from a Governor-General whose whole con-
duct has been accompanied by the applause and confidence of
his country, because a check is experienced for a time in one
part of the immense empire under his charge. It is unjust to
imagine that he is not equal to meet the approaching difficulty.
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It is contemptible to have been alarmed seriously at the retreat
of a detachment of five battalions before all Holkar’s force. I
do not foresee any change of measures or system under Lord
Cornwallis. I am convinced that any change will be unwise.
To recede I think is ruin.

¢ This is not a new observation. Conciliatory measures are, I
think, impossible; they have already been pursued too long.
It is with regret that I have perceived the last six months of
Lord Wellesley’s administration marked by an indecision and
weakness (caused, I imagine, by his dread of people at home)
unworthy of the rest of his wise and dignified government.
He has, however, been kept ignorant of the real state of things,
and his agents have not done their duty. I do not believe it
possible to persuade the Mahrattas yet that we have moderation.
They know no such thing themselves, and why should they
attribute that quality to us, if we hold the language of sub-
mission when they hold that of insolence? Shall we, Sherer,
sue for peace, when a Mahratta, in violation of all treaty,
insults our Government, and in every act and word hurls at us
a thundering menace of war? Peace is, I think, impossible,
unless we prepare most vigorously for war. We should breathe
the spirit of an insulted and mighty power; I should not be
surprised if the dread of our determined attack were sufficient
to scatter all our enemies. When they are reduced and humble,
when we have crushed their insolent pride, then I would dis-
play moderation. But I do not see the prospect of permanent
tranquillity whilst our controlling influence is spread over
every part of India. We had this in our power once, I think
twice, but lost it for want of information in ome quarter, and
want of foresight in another.

It would require a long discussion to explain my meaning.
We may command all India in a few months more. We need
never interfere in the internal government of any state, but we
ought to regulate the external relations of all. I have made
many bold assertions without much troubling you with argu-
ments. You know my way. I shall respect the opinions of
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the men the opposite to my own; what I have put down are,
at present, decidedly my real ones. You know me too well to
be surprised at the self-satisfied impudence with which I have
settled this ¢rifling subject.

I want Hufeezoodeen here very much. I wish that you
would send him up. He will require some handsome induce-
ment to quit his situation in the College. I empower you to
grant him anything between his college salary (60 rupees) and
100 rupees per mensem, and to grant him some allowance for
his journey up to me, either in the way of a monthly travelling
allowance, or present; I wish him to set off immediately. You
know my prospects as well as I do, and can make known to
him what will be his.

“ There are appointments for natives in our line of 100 and
200 rupees per mensem. Of course if he follows my fortunes it
will be incumbent on me to provide for him, and it is not impro-
bable that he may, at some time not far distant, obtain a situa-
tion under Government, which will secure to him a handsome
provision in the event of my death, &c.* Let him come to
Agra, and there wait upon Wemyss or Mr. Munro, where he
will have introductions ready for him.

“] am, dear Sherer,
“¢ Your affectionate and sincere friend,

“C.T. METCALFE.”

THE SAME TO THE SAME.

“ Muttra, August 6, 1805.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,—It is long since I received your
friendly letter of the 28th of Jume. I shall be very glad of
Hufeezoodeen, for I think that he is a respectable man. I am
not certain that he is a man of business, and I am not anxous

* Hufeezoodeen joined Metcalfe, and made a considerable fortune. Some
was for many years attached to him allusions to him will be found in sub-
as head Moonshee. He followed his sequent chapters of this Memoir.
master to Delhi and Hyderabad, and



160 LIFE IN LAKE’S CAMP.

that he should be, for I should like to form him for my own
habits. I thank you truly for the trouble you have taken
about his voyage to me. I shall, I think, increase his allow-
ances when he arrives. Your letters are the only encourage-
ments that I receive to pursue the hife which I have laid down
for myself. Your sentiments and expressions would make me
proud of it ; Bayley, Hamilton, and Cole think it unhappy.

““I am at a loss to know what is hereafter to become of me ;
I sometimes long for quiet and a select few of my friends; but
if T were in the enjoyment of those things, I think it not im-
probable that I should long again for bustle and motion. I
see that all Secretaries are swept from the face of the earth;
this, in all probability, will affect my prospects. One part of
your letter particularly strikes me, and I am not prepared to
give a serious opinion on the subject. You speak of our
inability to maintain our supremacy when we have acquired it.
It 1s a prodigious question. I do not know that I could
acquiesce in your way of thinking. At present I have no idea
that deserves the name of a thought. Inconsiderately speaking,
I should say that we are better able to maintain our supremacy
over the whole than we should have been, in a few-years, to
preserve a portion of our dominions. And I look upon the
events which have accelerated the establishment of our govern-
ment over almost all India as necessary and unavoidable
consequences of the events which preceded them. I should be
happy to see your sentiments on the whole subject. In 1803,
there certainly were powers in India which were very for-
midable ; now I think undoubtedly there are none.

“1T cannot reflect without indignation upon the conduct
which has been adopted to Lord Wellesley. It appears a sur-
prising instance of determined malice or desperate ignorance
when a patriot, who has rendered the services that Lord Wel-
lesley has done to his country, is superseded in his government,
and is cxposed to the most active measures to disgrace him.
Disgraced he cannot be, I think, and the darts which his
cnemies fling at him will return upon their own heads. Now,
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if o proper spirit exists in the settlement, now is the moment
for an address. Lord Wellesley’s departure from this country
should surely be accompanied with every possible mark of
respect, gratitude, and attachment. I see no harm that is
likely to arise from Lord Cornwallis's government. On the
contrary, I look at it with confidence. His internal govern-
ment will be excellent I have no doubt. I am anxious about
his politics. The tame conduct which when he was here
before would have been wise, might now be very otherwise.
With regard to his appointment personally I am quite indif-
ferent. No man could have come to India upon whom I have
fewer claims, and from whom I expect less.

“ I continue to like Malcolm much. As a person who is to
be my immediate superior, I do not fancy a better.
I am more worked, and more incessantly and more variously
worked, than I ever was. I literally have no time to myself.
My private correspondence is entirely suspended, and my
answer to you has been thus long delayed. I find 1t more than
1s pleasant, for I have no relief. A day of labour makes society
in the evening delightful. There is no such thing here. The
Commander-in-Chief’s table is full of restraint, and never has
society. So, to confess the truth, I am much bored. Some
snug dinners with you, Bayley, Fagan, and one or two others,
would be delightful. I wish you financiers would find some
money for us soldiers. How we apples swim !

“ Your affectionate friend,
“C. T. METCALFE.

“ Kindest remembrances to Bayley, Fagan, Adam, Trant.
Tell Plowden I will write to him soon to explain that I am
toughly worked.”

So the intended visit to Calcutta was abandoned,
and Charles Metcalfe, now resolute not to sacrifice
his fair prospects of advancement in the Political

line of the public service, despatched a letter to
VOL. I. M



162 LIFE IN LAKE’S CAMP.

the Presidency in his place. Doubtless, this was
the wiser course. The letter addressed to Lord
Wellesley’s private secretary, fully expressed the
gratitude and admiration of the young civilian,

who owed so much to the departing Governor-
General :

CHARLES METCALFE TO MAJOR MERRICK SHAWE.

¢ Muttra, June 20, 1305.

“ DEAR SHAWE,—The intelligence of Lord Wellesley’s in-
tention to quit India has caused universal regret, and it would
be very surprising if I were not afflicted by it.

“T should be very sorry that his Lordship should quit this
country without receiving the humble assurance of my eternal
thankfulness and gratitude; but the various acts of his goodness
towards me have long filled my heart with sentiments which
it would be vain for me to attempt to express.

“JIn common with every man who loves his country, and
particularly with those who have watched the course of affairs,
I must lament Lord Wellesley’s resignation of the government
at this moment, as a most grievous public misfortune, and how-
ever improbable it may be that his Lordship would be induced
to remain under the confederacy of ignorance, ingratitude, and
malice which has been formed against him by the majority of
the Court of Directors, yet whilst there is a possibility of such
a change in his Lordship’s resolution, I cannot, and will not,
relinquish the hope of it.

“In speaking of the Directors as I have done, I of course
separate my father from those men with whom he happens in
station to be associated. His opinions are widely different
from theirs, and there is not in thc United Kingdom, nor in
India, nor in the world, a man who has a greater admiration
of Lord Wellesley’s talents and virtues, or a higher sense of
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the vast advantages which our nation has derived from his
administration.

“ You well know that I must lament Lord Wellesley’s
departure, from private and personal considerations. I have
been so long used to look up to his Lordship’s approba-
tion as the highest reward which I could receive, tha1:, in
his departure I shall lose one great incitement to exertion;
T trust that I shall always do my duty to my country, and
prefer the public interests to any other. If I do not, I must
lose sight of everything that I have learned in the Governor-
General’s office. Yet, if ever I perform any services which
may deserve to be approved, I shall regret that Lord Wel-
lesley is not here to approve them, for his approbation would
be more precious to me than that of any other Governor-
General ever can be. His Lordship’s favor first distinguished
me, brought me out of the beaten track of the service, and
placed me in situations from which prospects of future eminence
and success opened upon me. If ever these prospects are realised,
I shall owe their fulfilment to Lord Wellesley, and I shall
carry with me through life the firm conviction of an endless
obligation.

“You may remember when I quitted Calcutta that I par-
ticularly requested Lord Wellesley’s permission to return to
his family and office at the end of the campaign; the hope of
doing so has been ever uppermost in my mind. When I received
the melancholy news that his Lordship was preparing to quit
India, I was more than ever anxious to proceed to Calcutta, in
order that I might have the honor of paying my respects to
him before his departure.

“When I was on the point of requesting Lord Lake’s per-
mission to quit head-quarters, my intentions were checked by
Colonel Malcolm’s expressing a wish that I should remain
here, as he has the goodness to suppose that I might be useful.

“He tells me that I cannot better show my gratitude to
Lord Wellesley than by assisting in scenes in which he will

M 2
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ever feel an interest. If I could, indeed, flatter myself that I
could be useful, or that the motives of my stay should meet
with his Lordship’s approbation, I should less feel the disap-
pointment of not being able to pay my best respects in person.
The expression, however, of a wish for me to remain, on the
part of an officer in Colonel Malcolm’s situation, I consider to
be a public call. Under an officer with Colonel Malcolm’s great
knowledge and abilities, I expect to acquire information and
experience which may hereafter enable me to perform useful
public services.

“I have no favor to ask from his Lordship; the cup of his
kindness has been already filled beyond my deserts.

“ My last request 1s, that his Lordship will believe me to be
bound to him by the most sincere gratitude and attachments.
It would be presumptuous in me to pretend to offer my humble
services to his Lordship, yet I should be favored if he would
consider me as his devoted servant, ever anxious to receive,
and eager to obey, his commands.

‘“ All India will anxiously watch the future course of his
Lordship’s public life, and I hope that he will continue to
guard the fate of India. T hope that his Lordship will long
enjoy every happiness that he can wish, that he will soon over-
throw all his enemies, and see the accomplishment of all his
designs.

“T trust that I shall be excused if I have taken any improper
liberty in writing this letter. I am,and can never cease to be,
actuated by the greatest reverence for Lord W.’s character, and
the most respectful attachment to his person.

“ Wishing you, dear Shawe, a pleasant voyage and a happy
hife,

¢ I remain, yours sincerely,
“C. T. METCALFE.”

This letter, which was very gratifying to Lord
Wellesley, produced the following reply, under the
hand of his private secretary :
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MAJOR MERRICK SHAWE TO CHARLES METCALFE.
“ Calcutta, July 10, 1805.

¢« DEAR METCALFE,—In this season of hurry and packing
up you will not expect from me so long a letter in reply to
yours of the 20th of June as the subject of your letter merits.
It will be sufficient to inform you that Lord Wellesley was
extremely graiified by its contents. His Lordship has received
it as a warm and unequivocal testimony of your attachment to
him. The sentiments which the present state of affairs has
excited in your mind do credit to your judgment and to your
feelings, and as Lord Wellesley entertains a most favorable
opinion of both, your expressions were highly satisfactory to
him. Lord Wellesley is disposed to form the most favorable
expectations of your future success from his opinion of your
public zeal and talents, and I hope he is too good a judge to
be disappointed. I beg leave to add my sincere good wishes,
and the expression of my hopes that his expectations may be
fulfilled.

“Lord Wellesley would have been very glad to see you
previous to his departure, but he entirely approves your reso-
lution to remain at your present post at this crisis.

“I trust that the state of affairs in Hindostan is rapidly
advancing towards an advantageous and permanent settlement,
and if your father could bite his brethren in Leadenhall-street,
all would be well with respect to the future safety of this
country.

“ Believe me to be, ever yours sincerely,
“ MERRICK SHAWE.

“ Pray remember me to Cole, who will always do credit to
Lord Howe’s boys.”

On the 20th of August, 1805, Lord Wellesley took
his final departure from Calcutta, and in the begin-
ning of January, 1806, he set foot again on English
soil. Soon after his arrival he expressed a wish to
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see Sir Theophilus Metcalfe, who called upon him,
and received from the lips of the retired Governor-
General an account of the talents and the disposition
of his son, which might have gladdened any father’s
heart. It was the fortune of Lord Wellesley, as it
was the fortune of another great Indian statesman,
to be assailed and reviled, under the shelter of par-
liamentary privilege, by men who could not under-
stand his measures or appreciate his character.
Among the foremost of his defenders in the House
of Commons was Sir Theophilus Metcalfe, who had
done battle for him, too, in the Court of Directors,
and being in the minority at the India House, had
thereby sacrificed his chances of succeeding to the
Chair. It was an honest and a manly defence, based
upon sincere convictions, the result of much know-
ledge and experience, and it was not persevered in
with less heartiness for the reflection that, whilst
defending the character of an able statesman, he
was serving the friend of his favorite son.
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CHAPTER VI.

[1805—1806.]
THE °° GREAT GAME’’ ENDED.

Arrival of Lord Cornwallis— His Policy — Necessities of an Exhausted
Treasury—Charles Metcalfe’s Views of (tihe New System—Letters to Mr.
Sherer—State of our Relations with Scindiah and Holkar—Advance to the
Banks of the Hyphasis—Treaty with Holkar—Return of the Army—
Metcalfe appointed to the Delhi Residency.

ON the 30th of July, 1805, Lord Cornwallis took
upon himself a second time the office of Governor-
General of India. He went out to extricate the
country from political entanglements and financial
embarrassments which had disquieted and alarmed
the Home Government, and not without solid reason
for their anxiety. The British power in the East
had been for some time subjected to all the exhaust-
ing influences of a state of chronic warfare. No
sooner had one campaign been brought to a close
than we were continually finding ourselves at the
outset of another. And whilst we were putting
down our new enemies, our old ones, in spite of the
most solemn engagements, were bracing themselves
up to renew the contest. It seemed, indeed, without
any hyperbole, to be a great national illustration of
the old story of Hercules and the Hydra.
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The East India Company were at this time essen-
tially a Merchant-company. They were restrained
by act of Parliament from wars and conquests, and
from treaties with native princes likely to entangle
us in wars and conquests. They desired, both upon
principle and upon policy, to abstain from the exten-
sion of their empire; for they believed that there
was only weakness in such extension, and that by
seeking new fields of political enterprise we should
neglect the good government of the old, and utterly
sacrifice the Trade. It was not strange, therefore,
that they should have viewed with the liveliest ap-
prehension the recent great conquests in Central
India; the treaties and the acquisitions that had
attended them. We were rapidly becoming masters
of the whole continent of India, in spite of the prin-
ciples, and in spite of the policy, of the Company ;
and the Court of Directors, viewing the progress of
these great events from a distance, could only see
in this universal dominion the forerunner of uni-
versal prostration and decay. The gigantic mili-
tary enterprises which we had undertaken had not
only exhausted the treasury, they were forestalling
the revenues of the country. The Government of
British India, indeed, was fast approaching a state
of bankruptcy; and in the eyes of a commercial
company this was the most alarming contingency
of all.

It is not to be doubted that our position in India
at this time was beset with difficulties and dangers
of no ordinary kind. It is not to be doubted that
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those difficulties and dangers were only to be re-
moved by the establishment of Peace. But they
who attributed to Lord Wellesley a disinclination to
Peace, were ignorant and unjust. His steadiest
friends and warmest admirers were shaking their
heads and saying amongst themselves that the
« glorious little man” was losing heart—that he
had become far too prone to compromises and con-
cessions—that he was overlooking insults and
offences which ought to be resented, and rewarding
as friends or welcoming as associates men who de-
served only the chastisement due to the most un-
scrupulous of our enemies. And, doubtless, they
rightly estimated the deserts of the Mahratta chief-
tains. But wisdom wears one garb on the banks of
the Jumna; another on the banks of the Hooghly;
and another, it may be added, on the banks of the
Thames. Neither the players of the ¢ great game”
in Lord Lake’s camp, nor the merchant-statesmen
in Leadenhall-street, whilst they set up theories of
their own, both wise after their kind, took account
of those practical impediments to War or Peace with
which the Governor-General had to contend. They
did not reflect that Peace at one time might be as
difficult as War at another. They did not reflect—
to use an expression the emphasis of which atones
for its want of elegance—that it might happen that,
in making War or in making Peace, Lord Wellesley
“could not help himself.” e was forced into War
by Circumstances not to be controlled or resisted ;
and by Circumstances equally uncontrollable and
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irresistible, he was compelled to make every effort,
compromises and concessions included, to restore
the country to peace.

In 1803 the conduct of Scindiah and the Rajah
of Berar rendered war inevitable; in 1804 the ex-
cesses of Holkar again compelled us to take the
field ; but in 1805, though we had still wrongs to
redress, and insults to chastise, the exhausted state
of the Company’s treasury, and the host of evils
which these wars had entailed upon the country,
rendered it necessary that, even at some loss of na-
tional dignity, peace should be speedily restored.
And when Lord Cornwallis arrived in India, the
paramount object of Lord Wellesley’s desires, the
chief subject of his thoughts, and the main occa-
sion of his labors, was the speedy re-establishment
of Peace, and the restoration of the financial pros-
perity of the empire.

That Cornwallis, armed with specific instructions
from home, having no parental interest in the con-
dition of affairs that had arisen in Central India,
and regarding the men to whom the conduct of
our military and political affairs had been entrusted
as mere abstractions, may have set about the work
before him in a more resolute and uncompromising
manner than if he had himself been concerned in
the measures, and associated with the personal
agency to which this state of things was in no small
degree to be attributed, is hardly to be doubted.
But the policy which he intended to pursue differed
but little in its essential features from that which
Wellesley himself would, at this time, have adopted.
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The two statesmen were for some days both resi-
dent in Calcutta. During that interval, Sir George
Barlow, who was the link between them, drew up
an elaborate paper on our relations with the States
of the North-West, in which past events were re-
cited, and prospective measures were mapped ouf
for the guidance of Lord Cornwallis. It was in-
tended to embody the views of Lord Wellesley, as
modified by the circumstances in which Government
were then placed, and was submitted to him for ap-
proval. A single sentence, not affecting the general
tenor of the document, was inserted by the reti-
ring Governor-General, who then declared that it
fairly represented his opinions. There was, indeed,
but little antagonism between the sentiments of the
two statesmen. Both recognised a necessity against
which it was impossible to contend; but it fell to
Cornwallis to commence the execution of those
measures which, under other circumstances, neither
might have willingly initiated, but which in the con-
juncture that had then arisen, seemed equally in-
evitable to both.

It need hardly be said, that in Lord Lake’s camp
these measures were grievously unpopular. Every
military and political officer on the banks of the
Jumna cried out loudly against them. And Charles
Metcalfe, earnest among the earnest in his dis-
approbation of the new system, or no-system which
was now to be enforced, could hardly bring himself
to believe that the Governor-General was not some-
what of a bigot, wedded indissolubly to his own
theories, and utterly regardless of the opinions of
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all the experienced practical men in the country.
Before Lord Cornwallis had been more than a month
in India, the young diplomatist entered into a
critical examination of the venerable nobleman’s
conduct. The letters which he wrote at this time
forcibly express not only his own views of North-
Western Politics, but those of the Party to which he
belonged :

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.
“ Camp, Muttra, August 31, 1805.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,—Your silence has lasted very long.
I have been particularly anxious to know your sentiments upon
the change which the arrival of Lord Cornwallis has produced.
It is very probable that I look upon things in a wrong light,
but I confess my opinion 1s, that as far as I am able to see, all
the acts of Lord Cornwallis since his arrival have been deficient
in wisdom ; and I believe that it may prove to be a great mis-
fortune that his Majesty’s Ministers or the Imperial Directors
should have selected for the government of this country a man
of experience and knowledge. . . . Had the genius of our
country led the choice to a man of judgment, who had not
before been in India, he would certainly have applied for
information to those persons who might be supposed the most
capable of giving 1it, and, whatever might have been his
decision, after he had collected his knowledge, it would, we may
suppose, have been the result of unprejudiced deliberation.

“ Lord Cornwallis’s manner and substance of speech are pre-
cisely the same now as they were on the first day of his arrival.
There is some immoveable notion in his head. Has Lord
Cornwallis sought information from any man who was likely to
give it? If he has not you will, I think, agree with me that
he has been wanting in his duty, and that such self-sufficient
importance may be injurious to the public interests. I should
suppose that the persons whose opinions upon the political state
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of India would be useful for the consideration of a Governor-
General would be Lord Wellesley, Lord Lake, Sir G. Barlow,
Lumsden, Edmonstone, Colonel Close, Colonel Malcolm, M.
Webbe (if he had lived), Colonel Gerard, and Mercer (these
two have had opportunities of acquiring great local knowledge,
and have in person seen what the nature of our situation in
Hindostan is, and what is the extent of difficulty and danger in
pursuing one course, and may form a judgment of the probable
cffects of another). If these are not the persons whose opinions
are to be estimated, the political management of India must
have been wretchedly conducted for the last seven yecars. DBut
Lord Cornwallis knows better than all these. Surely Lord
C. might suppose that a great change having taken place since
lic was in the Government before, his knowledge of the present
statc of affairs might be improved by communications with
others. ¢No,” he says, ‘I know best, and what I say must be
right.’

“ All our communications are, of course, most confidential,
and I will mention one of Lord C.’s remarks, which shows his
own character. He says, ¢There is a general frenzy for con-
quest and victory even in those heads which I had believed to
Le the soundest.’ Setting aside that this sweeping observation
1s false and unfounded, as the records of the Government will
prove, let us observe the nature of it. He agrees that the
wisdom or necessity of a particular course of policy, which he
is pleased deliberately to term a frenzy, is strongly impressed
upon those heads which he had believed to be the soundest.
Respect for the judgment of those men would have led common
characters to examine into the causes of such a prevailing con-
viction, and would have induced them to suspect that such an
universal effect might have some good cause which it would be
right to search for. But this man has a head so very sound,
that the only thought that arises in his mind is that there is not
a sound head in India. He proves either that he is no judge of
heads, or that he disagrees with the soundest heads. I believe
there is no soul who does not heartily wish for peace, but it
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would surely be unwise to purchase a temporary peace by
concessions.

“T believe that affairs would be immediately settled with
Scindiah if the armies were advanced; and I believe that
Holkar could not survive long. They have had frequent dis.
putes lately. A settlement with Holkar does not appear
practicable until he is quite reduced ; unless it is intended to
grant him such concessions as shall establish him into a mighty
power ; and if this is done it will not be long before we repent
of it. At one period he was very nearly extinguished. His
junction with Scindiah has revived his power in a small degree;
but he is very much reduced. It will be melancholy to see
the work of our brave armies undone, and left to be done over
again. I hope for the best from Lord C.’s administration; but
I am, I confess, without confidence. It is surely unwise to
fetter the hands of the Commander-in-Chief, and to stop all
operations until his own arrival. We shall have Holkar near
us in a few days. I wish you would send us money.

“ Yours affectionately,
“ C. T. METCALFE.”

In the last words of this letter there was mighty
significance—*‘ I wish you would send us money.”
Unhappily, there was no money to send. This was
the only circumstance that weakened the force of
Charles Metcalfe’s arguments. But it was a practical
answer of such cogency and comprehensiveness, that
it rendered all else superfluous. Sherer, who was
then in the Finance department of the Administra-
tion, must have smiled sorrowfully at the utterance
of such a wish in such a crisis.

In the abstract, as I have said, the young writer’s
arguments in favor of the forward movement of the
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army are sound ; but there is an unconscious want
of justice in some of the reflections on the character
and conduct of Lord Cornwallis. During the short
time that this venerable nobleman was capable of
attending personally to the affairs of the empire, he
exhibited a marked respect for the opinions of the
eminent men with whom he was immediately asso-
ciated—Barlow, Lumsden, and Edmonstone. With
the first he had been in continual correspondence
ever since he had quitted India in 1793 ; and, in the
last, who, as Political Secretary, accompanied him on
his fatal excursion to the Upper Provinces, he placed
confidence without stint. These were his legitimate
advisers, and they were his best; for they were
acquainted with the state of all the departments of
Government, with all the springs and wires of that
great complex machine. The time had not yet come
for him to take counsel with Lake and Malcolm ; but
he was on his way to the Upper Provinces to meet
them. It was not their business to decide whether
there should be Peace or War—but Peace or War
once decided upon, how it was most expediently to
be made. And on these points Lord Cornwallis
determined that he could best take counsel with
them on the spot.

Three weeks after the despatch of the above letter,
the young diplomatist wrote in somewhat better
spirits of the prospects before him. ¢The army,”
he said, ““is ordered to assemble. We want money
only. Holkar talks of visiting Delhi again. His
motions have neither been active nor menacing as
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yet. There is, I think, no prospect of Scindiah
presuming actually to contend with us, if we are
disposed to forgive him all his past sins; but I make
no doubt that he will regulate his conduct in the
way that will be suited best in his opinion to induce
us to purchase his good-will by concessions; and I
am sorry to say that the political conduct of our
Government for the last year is likely to encourage
a hope in him that an appearance of an intention to
aid Holkar may succeed.” And, doubtless, there
was much truth in this. Therecent bearing of Lord
Wellesley towards Scindiah had been conciliatory in
the extreme. Iager to avoid an open rupture, he
had overlooked socme grievous insults and offences,
had accepted unsatisfactory explanations of inde-
fensible acts, and by such concessions had plainly
indicated to the restless chief that we were eager,
almost at any cost, to restrain him from {flinging
himself into the arms of Holkar. When Lord Corn-
wallis arrived in India, he wrote to the ITome
Government, that he had found the Company at war
with Holkar, and scarcely at peace with Scindiah.
This, indeed, was the true condition of affairs. The
latter chief was oscillating between the state of a
treacherous, presumptuous ally, and an open, defiant
enemy. I shall speak presently of his conduct more
in detail. But first, it is desirable to show what
was the position of Holkar at this time, and what
the course we were pursuing towards him. Both
may be gathered from the following letter, main-
taining the arguments of the Lake-and-Malcolm
school against his financial opponent :
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“ September 28, 1805.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,— . . . I will go overin order
the different parts of your letter, but I do not presume to an-
swer them satisfactorily. In respect to the war with Holkar,
a firm conviction of its unavoidable necessity has always super-
seded in my mind every question regarding its policy. Hol-
kar’s conduct and language evinced, I think, a firm determina-
tion to attack us or our allies. His restless and ambitious dis-
position made it certain that he would attack somebody,
and that he would not disband his large army, which has
been considerably increased by chiefs and troops, who had
been compelled at the peace to quit the service of Scindiah and
Bhoonsla, and the necessity of maintaining his army demanded
that he should lead 1t to plunder somewhere. The most likely
countries for him to attack, were those occupied in Hindostan
by the British Government and its allies ; for the Deccan was
a scene of dreadful famine; Malwa was nearly as bad. He said
that he would attack the British Government and its allies, and
as many circumstances connected with the state of India ren-
dered 1t probable, there was, I think, no cause to disbelieve
him, The least that can be said is, that you had no security
from him that he would not, and he would not even disguise
his intentions. Under such circumstances, it appears to me
that every preparation for a war with Holkar was absolutely
necessary ; that a war was to be expected—indeed, not to be
avolded ; and the only question was whether it was wise to
make 1t offensive or defensive.

“ A defensive system necessarily included the defence of our
allies. In these were included Scindiah's state and the Jypore,
Macherry, and Bhurtpore countries. These smaller alliances
are alluded to in another part of your letter, and will be con-
sidered in their turn. The defence of these alliances under
Holkar’s menacing situation, required that another force should
be maintained in Malwa for the defence of Scindiah’s pos-
sessions. Thus far, an offensive and defensive system would

VOL. I. N
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agree, but it remains to be determined whether it was wiser to
halt in that position, or to convert the military force which
would be necessarily assembled for defensive purposes against
Holkar, into the instruments of reducing his power and re-
sources, dispersing his large army, destroying the impression
of fear which was attached to the sound of his name, encourag-
ing our allies, dispiriting our enemies, and compelling Holkar
to lower his lofty projects. I prefer the offensive system, and
my reasons are these. It afforded a better prospect of render-
ing the war short ; it tended to confirm the impression of our
energy and power, and to show that the much-dreaded Holkar
was no object of fear to us; it gave a more probable chance of
reducing Holkar to moderate views than would have been
given to defensive measures; the destruction of Holkar entirely
might be expected. A defensive system incurs nearly the same
expense, by requiring the same armies to be maintained com-
pletely equipped in the field ; 1t would be more difficult to
defend countries from the predatory incursions of horse, than it
would be to strike an effectual blow at the heart of Holkar's
power by an attack upon his artillery and country ; a defensive
system was not so well suited to the superior character which
it was the policy of the Bntish Government to maintain.
Measures of defence only might prolong the war to a very
distant period, might encourage all adventurers to join Holkar,
and thereby increase the difficulties of defence and the number
of enemies; and if, as I firmly believe would have been the
case, we should have proved inadequate to the complete per-
formance of our promises of protection, our protection would
be slighted, our influence and power diminished, our character,
upon which we stand asa firm rock, disgraced ; and the influence,
power, and character of our enemy proportionately increased.
We have now come as far as the determination to carry on
offensive hostilities, and here I will stop.

“ The conduct of war is a separate question from its policy.
It does not follow that it was unwise because it was unfortunate
in its course. A different conduct would have prevented the
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evils which happened. This, too, is a question upon which I
shall trouble you with my notions in some future epistle. I
must also postpone my intention of going at length into the
other observations of your letter. With respect to the alliances
with the petty states, I shall observe en passant (as old Gil
used to say), that in my opinion they might be made highly
advantageous. These states in Hindostan, under our protection,
would form an excellent frontier to our North-Western posses-
sions, by throwing back the Mahrattas to a great distance from
our fertile provinces. The countries of these states are not in
themselves so tempting as our territories are, and incursions
into them would not be made perhaps without designs upon
our country. Such a frontier, extending in most places above
100 miles, would be very great strength to us. I do not see
the same inconvenience which you do of interference in their
broils; I am more inclined to believe that the effect of our
established influence would put an end to all their broils, and
diffuse universal tranquillity; and if this system 1s not destroyed,
I look forward in sanguine hope to this blessed end, the ines-
timable gift of Great Britain to India, and the proudest monu-
ment of our glory.

“ With respect to the irruptions of the Sikhs and northern
hordes, they are not, I think, to be expected except in a case
like the present, when we are engaged in a harassing war in
India. The North-Western countries are an impassable barrier,
a dry, sandy desert; the territory through which the Sikhs ad-
vance is a short space easily defended. Unless the Tartars
come tumbling from the hills, we may be tranquil on our
northern frontier. The inhabitants of these provinces may be
governed, I think, without difficulty; they appear to me to
lament the existence of war as much as men can do. Even
the Rohillas can be tamed, and I trust will be. The expected
advantages from the small alliances have never yet been rea-
lised; they are still in prospect; perhaps the new Government
will abandon them; and there is an end of my vision. I am
ashamed to express my opinions, when they are opposite to

N 2
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yours, in so useless a way; but I am not able to enter largely
on all subjects to-day, for which you cannot, I think, be sorry;
if you have not had enough, I will say more at another time.

“Let us now take one look at the present situation of
affairs, Holkar and Meer Khan have advanced to our country
west of Delhi, i. e. the districts of Kamoon, Narnal, Reeraree,
&c., where there 1s at present no force to meet them. That
they would do this was not unforeseen, and in the month of
July Lord Lake sent a proposal to Government to station a
very considerable force in those districts, in order to prevent
the approach of the enemy by that route. Lord Cornwallis
received this letter, never replied to it, but, when he put him-
self into his boat, issued orders to Lord Lake to prohibit his
advancing any detachments or making any other movements
until his arrival on the Jumna. At the same time, and since,
repeatedly was stated the want of money; no means were taken
to supply the army; it is true that twenty lakhs were sent up
from Calcutta, but it was well known that a certain time was
required for 1t to reach Muttra, and some measures of raising
money, which would not have been difficult in these provinces,
ought surely to have been adopted. None were; and now
Lord Lake cannot move, with the enemy in our country.
Every exertion is now made to get money, and we shall get
enough in a few days to set us off with some force; but in con-
sequence of this misconduct, there will, perhaps, be once more
an important risk.

“ There is a misery in seeing evils which might easily have
been prevented, which sometimes makes me wish myself out of
the busy scene.

“ My father informs me that he lost the situation of Deputy-
Chairman this year because the majority of the Directors did
not choose to join the active friend of Lord Wellesley to Mr.
Grant (Chairman), his inveterate enemy. My father expresses
his happiness at the conduct which he has pursued throughout
and everywhere with regard to Lord W. I am very happy at
it; and there is so violent a current against his administration,
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and such a desertion on the part of those who might have been
expected to defend him, that I am disposed to believe that
Lord W. will be well pleased with my father’s support.

«T have taken up a great deal of your time. Who is to be
Accountant-General? God bless you, my dear Sherer; remem-
ber me to Bayley, Fagan, and all friends.

“ Believe me, ever your affectionate friend,
“C. T. METCALFE.”

This letter was written from Muttra. A division
of Lord Lake’s army had been awaiting there the
breaking up of the Monsoon. The commencement
of such further operations, as in those days of minis-
terial change might be sanctioned by the Supreme
Government, could not be entered upon until the
end of the rainy season, and that looked-for time
had now arrived. The difficulties which met us at
every turn had not diminished since our armies were
last in the field. Neither our arms nor our diplomacy
had achieved more than temporary successes. We
had entered into treaties of everlasting friendship
only to see them violated in a few months, and we
had utterly broken and dispersed the armies of our
enemies only to see them reunited and reorganised
within a still smaller space of time. The treachery
of the Mahratta chiefs was as remarkable as their
elasticity. We could not bind by the most solemn
engagements men who were without faith and with-
out shame; and we could not break down a power
that presented to us no fixed and permanent point
of attack, that dissolved itself before us when danger
threatened, and then by that rapid process of rein-
tegration which is unknown to regular armies, ap-
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peared again in another part of the country, little
weakened by the reverses it had sustained.

The treaty into which we had entered with
Dowlut Rao Scindiah was distinguished by the
moderate character of the terms we had imposed
upon him, and it was believed that after the proof
we had afforded of our military prowess he would
recognise the expediency of observing it. But
wrought upon, as I have already said, by an in-
famous minister, he had been guilty of repeated
violations of the treaty, and shown a disposition
to co-operate with any state but the one he had
pledged himself to assist. Instead of aiding us to
control the excesses of Holkar, he had exerted him-
self to encourage them. He received with favor the
agent of that chief. He publicly corresponded with
Ameer Khan, and even bethought himself of taking
into his service the mercenary Rohilla—one of the
most implacable of our enemies as he was, and the
levies under his command. He impeded our letter-
carriers and couriers. He enlisted large bodies of
Pindarrees, and plundered the border country of the
Peishwah. He kept himself in a warlike attitude
in the field—now appearing in one place, now in
another, and, in spite of repeated promises to return
to his capital, continued by these threatening move-
ments to encourage our enemies and to unhinge the
resolution of our friends. And there was very little
doubt in the mind of the British Resident that he
was prepared to unite himself openly with Holkar,
and take the field against us in the event of a pro-
tracted contest with that chief.
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In vain did Mr. Jenkins,* then a young man of
high promise—one of those early statesmen who,
reared in the great political hothouse of Lord Wel-
lesley’s office, had anticipated the ripening action
of time— protest against these violations of the
treaty, these palpable indications of a hostile spirit,
at the Court of Dowlut Rao Scindiah. In vain did
he demand the dismissal of the unprincipled minister
who had been the real mover of all these acts of
hostility. Feeble and infatuated, the Mahratta chief
made promises which he had not the courage to
fulfil, whilst his minister, emboldened by impunity,
proceeded to new acts of outrage, and at last insti-
gated a body of Pindarrees to attack the camp of
the British Resident. Redress was promised, but
was not given. The evil influence of Ghautka was
paramount at Scindiah’s Court. Everything was
tending rapidly to a crisis when it was precipitated
by the determination of the misguided chief, in
spite of the treaty which bound him to abstain from
all such measures, to march down upen Saugor, in
the Peishwah’s dominions, and to recruit his ex-
hausted treasury by levying contributions upon it.
This was tantamount to a declaration of hostility,
and Mr. Jenkins, therefore, believing that the na-
tional honor would be compromised by his longer
continuance at Scindiah’s Court, announced his in-
tention of withdrawing the Mission. But Scindiah,
apprehending that as the departure of Colonel Col-
lins had been attended with such disastrous results,

* Mr. Jenkins, upon the death of Mr. Webbe, had succeeded that gentle-
man as Resident at Scindiah’s Court.
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similar acts of retribution might follow the departure
of Mr. Jenkins, forbade the British minister to quit
the Mahratta camp.

This was in the spring of 1805. Holkar, it was
supposed, was then at his last gasp. This, in some
measure, seemed to lessen the difficulties of our po-
sition; but it caused a curious state of doubt and
incertitude as to the future to arise in the Calcutta
Council Chamber. Whether in this conjuncture
we should endeavor to propitiate Scindiah or Hol-
kar, sacrificing the other to our just vengeance, was
the question that now divided the councils of the
Supreme Government. Sir Geeorge Barlow proposed
that we should enter into a treaty, offensive and
defensive, with Holkar ; that the two armies, jointly
or separately, should attack Scindiah at all vulnerable
points; and that, having conquered him, we should
hand over to Holkar as much of his territory as
might be coveted by that chief. Lord Wellesley,
on the other hand, conceived that it would be expe-
dient to reason with Scindiah on the impropriety of
his conduct ; to send a British minister of high rank
to his court; to enter into a new alliance with him;
and to deliver over to him part of the territories of
Holkar. The conduct of the two chiefs had justified
the adoption of either course. It wasa mere question
of expediency whether Scindiah or Holkar should be
the immediate victim of our righteous displeasure.

The opinions of the Governor-General were neces-
sarily those which shaped the subsequent measures
of Government. Every possible precaution was
taken to avoid an open rupture with Dowlut Rao
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Scindiah ; every possible effort was made to con-
ciliate the offending chief. He was told that his
explanations were accepted; that he would not be
called upon to make any restitution for the Resi-
dency property that he had plundered; that Colonel
Malcolm or Mr. Mercer (or both), the highest po-
litical officers in the country, would be sent to his
Court to aid him in settling his government, and to
deliver over to him portions of Holkar’s territory ;
and that it was not the intention of the British
Government to commit any act of hostility whatever
against his Highness’s troops and possessions.* But
in spite of these pacific demonstrations, and in spite
of Scindiah’s promises, the spring passed away, and
the summer passed away, and still Jenkins was
not released.

Lord Wellesley, who, in the month of May, had
been made aware of the fact not only that his reign
was nearly at an end, but that Lord Cornwallis was
to be his successor, would, under any circumstances,
have hesitated to commit the new Governor-General
to important measures which the latter might be
unwilling to carry out to their conclusion. But it
was the season when active operations are for the
most part suspended—when warlike movements on
a large scale are difficult, if not impossible—and,
therefore, partly of necessity and partly of design,
the settlement of our uncertain relations with
Scindiah was postponed ; whilst Lord Lake’s army
was cantoned among the ruined mausolea and de-

* MS. Memoranda of Lord Wel- to Dowlut Rao Scindiah, May 26,
lesley. Letter of Governor-General 1805.—[AS. Records.]
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caying palaces of Muttra, Agra, and Secundra. But
in the month of July, when the war-season ap-
proached, Lord Lake, from the first of these three
places, addressed a letter to Scindiah, calling upon
him to release the British Resident, and to afford him
safe conduct to our camp, or to be prepared on the
breaking up of the Monsoon to see the British army
advancing against him. This language from one
who had shown that words from him were speedily
followed by blows, produced the desired -effect.
Scindiah had begun to discern that more was to be
gained from the friendship than from the enmity of
the British Government; and so Mr. Jenkins was
released, and sent in safety to the British frontier.
In the mean while, Holkar, who had lost none of
his old energy or his old elasticity, was recovering
from the effects of his late discomfiture. He had,
indeed, nothing more to lose. He was reduced to
the state of a mere soldier of fortune; and carried,
as he said, all his possessions on the saddle of his
horse. But that dominion of the saddle was still
formidable. It was in the very nature of things
that Upper India should be swarming with desperate
adventurers—the scattered fragments of all the
armies we had beaten in the field—eager to reunite
again under some common standard. So it was not
long before Holkar, attended by Ameer Khan as his
liecutenant, had raised a considerable army, and col-
lected a large number of guns. With these he
marched towards the Sutlej. He had opened a cor-
respondence with the Sikh chiefs, and he believed
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that they would unite themselves with him. Itwas
a combination which promised great results; and
already the turbulent Mahratta saw himself at the
head of an immense body of predatory horse, stream-
ing from the country of the five countries, plundering
the fairest regions of Northern India, and carrying
everything before him in his desolating career.

But these visions were destined soon to yield to
the pressure of waking realities of a far more sombre
complexion. Holkar had men with arms and
horses; and he had an imposing train of artillery ;*
but he had no money to subsist them. He was even
poorer than we were ourselves; and we were in a
melancholy state of pecuniary destitution. Wher-
ever he went, his poverty compelled him to make
enemies for himself, by demanding money or plun-
dering the country. In the Cis-Sutlej Sikh States
he exerted himself especially to obtain the assistance
of the Rajah of Puteealah, from whom he demanded
two lakhs of rupees; but by this time, Lake had
set his divisions in motion. General Dowdeswell,
with a force of all arms, was ordered forward to
Saharunpore, from which advanced position he could
defend the Doab, and open communications with
the Sikh chiefs. With Dowdeswell’s division went
Charles Metcalfe, as Political Agent. The service
was the same as that which he had rendered in the
spring of the year with the division of General
Smith, that had gone in pursuit of Ameer Khan

* It was that, indeed, and nothing imposition, for most of the guns were
more, I believe that it was a merec unserviceable.
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into Rohilcund; and the position, which was one
of independence and responsibility, was peculiarly
pleasing to him.*

There was fine weather, a fine country, an exciting
adventure, and plenty of work. Young Metcalfe
was in good health and good spirits. It was his
business now to conduct, in the General’s name, an
important correspondence with the Sikh chiefs; to
detach them from an alliance with Holkar, if they
had formed one ; and to deter them if they had not.
Of these the Rajah of Puteealah was the most im-
portant. The letter which Metcalfe addressed to
him, with the Rajah’s answer, may be given in
translation, as an illustration of the work in which
the young diplomatist was engaged, and a not un-
amusing specimen of the diplomatic correspondence
of the East :

TO RAJAH SAHIB SINGHOF PUTEEALAH.

“T have heard of your many good qualities, and have be-
come anxious for your acquaintance. The reports of your
enemies state that you have joined the cause of Holkar, and
have consequently placed yourself in the situation of an enemy
to the British Government. I cannot believe that you would
act in a manner so adverse to your true interests.

“The power of the British Government is known to the
whole world. It is terrible to its enemies and a sure protection

* Sir Theophilus Metcalfe called
this “nursing King’s officers;” and
in his letters to his son ratlier made
light of the employment. But it was,
and has been ever since, the most im-
portant duty that can be entrusted to
a young man of ability acquainted
with the languages, the habits, and
the political condition of the people

in whose country our armies are
moving. These ‘“‘nurses” have since
come to be called “ politicals.” Half
a century ago, when Charles Metcalfe
s nursed” Generals Smith and Dow-
deswell, the employment was a new
one. He was, indeed, almost the first
of the race.
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to its friends. Holkar isa fugitive, and has fled from Hindostan
to the country of the Sikhs, from dread of the British troops.
Wherever he goes he brings destruction on those who assist
him. Whilst he remains in your country, he destroys your
crops and plunders the inhabitants. It is not consistent with
your famed wisdom to associate yourself with such a man.
Convinced that the reports which I have heard are false, I
write to you, in a friendly manner, to inform you that I am
advancing with a large army of infantry, cavalry, and artillery,
and that I shall in three or four days arrive at the banks of the
Jumna. If you act openly against the enemy, yow may de-
pend upon assistance from the British Government. The
Government regards the Sikh chiefs as friends, and has no
intention of interfering in their concerns. Its sole object is
to defeat the hostile designs of Holkar. Whoever joins the
desperate fortunes of that freebooter must expect to draw upon
himself the vengeance of the British Government; and who-
ever acts against him will be rewarded with great kindness.
Attack the enemy, and your interests will undoubtedly be pro-
moted. If you have any communications to make, I shali be
happy to receive a confidential person from you. Make me

happy by the transmission of friendly letters, with accounts of
your welfare.”

FROM RAJAH SAHIB SINGH TO MAJOR-GENERAL
DOWDESWELL.

[ Despatched at night immediately on the receipt of your letter.)

[After compliments]—*¢ I have had the honor of receiving
your friendly letter. . . . . . . I have derived great happiness,
confidence, and satisfaction from the perusal of it. The case
1s, that since the bright sun of British rule has enlightened the
countries of Hindostan, I have sincerely and faithfully fulfilled
the duties of submission and attachment to the Government,
and have prescrved the relations of friendship and good-will
with its officers, with whom I have always held, and now hold,
a friendly correspondence.
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“ In no instance has our friendship been interrupted. God
18 my witness! From the time when my heart first received
the impression of attachments to the Government, the impres-
sion has always increased, and is not to be erased.

“When Holkar, suddenly flying with fear from the victorious
armies of the British Government, brought his ill-boding train
into the country, and sought my assistance and alliance, pre-
serving in its purity my faith and friendship to the British
Government, I paid no attention to him whatever. When the
plundering oppressor fixed his camp of wretchedness between
Puteealah and Syfabad, it was suggested to me that my ene-
mies would perhaps join him and procure success to their de-
signs, and I was persuaded that the necessity of the time made
1t advisable to keep up an outward intercourse with him. From
necessity I submitted to one or two conferences. Still, however,
notwithstanding my apparent good-will, the rascal did not
refrain from plundering and destroying my country, which he
has made a desert. I at one time hoped by his means to punish
my enemies; but this, also, was not brought about. The wretch,
whose profession and livelihood is plunder, has marched to
plunder towards the Sutlej. I have no asylum but in the
British Government, to which I shall ever look up. From it
I shall always, I know, derive protection and prosperity. I
feel great confidence from your near approach. May it be
propitious. I have answered your kind letter in haste. I
shall immediately despatch a person in my confidence.”

The sincerity of all this may be doubted. Had
Holkar’s prospect of success appeared, in the eyes
of the Sikh chiefs, to have sufficient encouragement
in it, it is not improbable that they would have
united themselves with that desperate freebooter,
and taken part in the proposed incursion. But the
Mahratta appeared before them as a fugitive and a
mendicant. The British troops were pressing for-
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ward in pursuit of him. On both banks of the
Sutlej the Sikhs regarded our advance with lively
apprehensions, and were eager to see the battalions,
both of Holkar and the Feringhees, on their way
back to Central India. Both armies, before the
close of the year, were encamped in the Punjab.
On the 9th of December the British army was
posted on the banks of the Hyphasis, opposite to
Rajpoor Ghaut, and were gladdened by the sight of
the noble scenery which opened out bewitchingly
before them.* Holkar had marched to Umritsur,
and taken up his position there, in the heart of the
Sikh country, relying upon assistance that was
never afforded to him. The promptitude of Lake’s
advance had cut off from the fugitive Mahratta
all hopes of such coadjutancy. Thus, feeble and
alone, he saw that resistance was useless. There
was nothing, indeed, left for him but to obtain the
friendly offices of the Sikhs to bring about an
amicable arrangement with the dominant state
which he had so injured and insulted. It was
whilst affairs were in this condition, the army
still halting upon the banks of the classic river,
that Charles Metcalfe wrote the following letter :

* See Thorn’s History of the Mah-
ratta War. “Ip the extreme distance
from north to east arose the snowy
ridge of old Imaus. . . . . The fleecy
softness of its faint and irregular out-
line appeared to great advantage, in
resting upon immense masses of nearer
elevations, whose rocky eminences in
chaotic confusion were most beauti-
fully contrasted with pine-clad hills,
still closer to the view, and these

again relieved to the eye by the
prospect of a fine undulating country
of hill and dale, covered with luxurious
vegetation,and enlivened by numerous
villages, temples, and ruins to the
extent of thirty miles, bounded by
the noble river which, flowing in ma-
Jjestic grandeur immediately before us,
brought to our recollection that we
were standing as it were on classic
ground.”
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TO J. W. SHERER,

¢ Camp, Rajpoor-Ghaut, on the Berah or Hyphasis, -
December 18, 1805.

“My DEAR SHERER,—I sent off yesterday a letter to our
friend Bayley, to which, in order to avoid repetition, I refer
you for an account of myself and my movements since I last
wrote. From it you will perceive that I am exceedingly
happy in my present situation, and wish nothing more than to
remain in it. I see much novelty and variety, and my spirits
are kept alive by the change. I was with General Dowdeswell’s
division of the army when I received yours of the 22nd Octo-
ber. I have taken my leave of the subject of Lord Cornwallis.
Whatever may be my opinion of his designs, let it rest. I do
not wish to assail his respected and respectable memory. His
successor appears to have no fixed principles. His professed
object is—and it must be granted that 1t would have been ardu-
ous if not impeachable for him to have entertained any other—
to follow the plans of Lord Cornwallis; but he commenced his
government with a modification of them which appeared to me
to be wise, and to constitute an honorable system of adminis-
tration, adapted to the state of affairs, calculated to promote
the interest of our country, agreeable to the supposed policy of
our rulers, reconcileable to Sir G. B.'s former conduct, and
to the measures which had his full concurrence, and not defi-
cient in spirit. Under this view of his outset, combined with
my opinion of his knowledge of all our internal and external
affairs, his integrity, and general character, I congratulated
myself on the prospect of a just, honorable, prudent, and
economical administration.

“ Since my return to head-quarters a great change has taken
place in my sentiments from the perusal of the Governor-
General’s despatches and instructions. There is a character per-
vading them which promises weakness and indecision, disgrace
without recompense, treatics without security, the name of
peace without tranquillity, and imaginary ecomomy without
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saving, the loss of power, influence, and character—in a word,
the specdy renewal of universal disturbance and extensive war.
This is all idle rant to you, whilst I cannot enter into a minute
discussion of these horrible designs. One shocking proposition
is, that we shall derive security from the dissensions of our
neighbours; and a still more shocking system is founded upon
it, which is intended, and must tend, to revive in Hindostan, in
the Mahratta Empire, and on every quarter of our extensive
frontier, all those quarrels, wars, and disturbances and depre-
dations which are now nearly entirely crushed, and which
might be for ever, I think, suppressed with much less difficulty
than we shall be able to keep out of them when raised, and to
preserve ourselves from the bad effects of their influence.

“Two objects I consider to be necessary for the security of
tranquillity to us in Hindostan:—The reduction of Holkar to
a state of impotence from which he shall not be able to raise
himself (his destruction would be most desirable), and the
maintenance of our alliances and paramount influence with the
petty states of Hindostan. The latter question I have lately
looked at more particularly than I before did, and every day
increases in my mind the importance of those alliances. I
know that you think differently. If you come up to Hindos-
tan I should not despair of an alteration in your sentiments.

“I am much—very much obliged to you for your careful
transmission of the pictures. I Jong to see them. The
youngest of the boys has been dead it is now one year and a
half* He was called and taught to believe himself my fa-
vorite.  The revival of his cherub features to my sight will
be a melancholy pleasure. The enclosed is from Hufeez to his
father, and he wishes it to be given without delay, as it con-
tains an order on my agents for cash.

“ On looking over my letter, I cannot help laughing at the
positive and unsatisfactory manner in which I have given an
opinion of the politics of our new Governor. In fact, whilst

* Henry Metcalfe, his youngest brother, died at school from the effects of
an attack of measles.

VOL. I. 0]
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the measures which I hate are in agitation, I am anxious and
warm; let them be once executed, and I shall resign myself
with patience and silence.

“ Mention to me any new works of note that have appeared
lately. I rejoice at Tucker’s appointment on public grounds.*
I hope that it does not interfere with your private prospects.

“I go on here as well as I wish. I have not been much
troubled with business lately. What I do is under Malcolm,
with whom I have always been on very good terms. I have
not, however, any particular intimacy with him; and prefer to
consider myself as distinct from his establishment. Cole has
been ill, and is not yet strong. Few have withstood the late
sickly season; I have, and I thank God for, the enjoyment of
uninterrupted health and increasing strength.

¢ I am, my dear Sherer,
““ Yours very affectionately,
“C. T. METCALFE.”

On the day after this letter was written, an agent
from the Lahore Government appeared in our camp
charged with the office of mediator between Holkar
and the British Government. On the following
day arrived an emissary from Holkar himself to ne-
gotiate the terms of a treaty of Peace. There was
no difficulty now in arranging a settlement of affairs.
The Indian Government, under peremptory instruc-
tions from home, and utterly unable in the embar-
rassed state of their finances to prosecute another
great war, were compelled to pacificate upon terms
which, under other circumstances, they might have

* The appointment to the Account- which he had connected himself, in
ant-Generalship of Henry St.George order that, in the great crisis that had
Tucker, whom, as the ablest financier arisen, he might assume the direction
in India, Sir G. Barlow had induced of our pecuniary affairs.
to leave the house of business with
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regarded as derogatory to the character of a great
nation. Concessions were made to Holkar which
the Commander-in-Chief, and all his staff on the
banks of the Hyphasis, declared to be disgraceful ;
but which the Governor-General* at Allahabad and
the Accountant-General at Calcutta believed to be
necessitated by the pressing exigencies of the times.
At the same time, Scindiah, whose agent had been
for some while in our camp, reaped his share of the
benefits arising from the conciliatory spirit of the
British Government. A treaty of peace was con-
cluded with that Prince, by which most of the ad-
vantages conceded by the old treaty of Surjee Ar-
genjaum, made by Arthur Wellesley, were secured
to him, in addition to a pension of four lakhs of
rupees; and he on his part undertook to grant an
indemnification for the losses sustained by the
British Resident, and engaged to dismiss the un-
principled Minister, Ghautka, who had been the real
mover of all the outrages against the British Go-
vernment, for ever from his councils. This treaty,
the terms of which were subsequently rendered still
more favorable to Scindiah, was ratified under a
royal salute on Christmas-day. What Charles Met-
calfe thought upon the subject will presently be seen.

In the mean while, Holkar’s agent had returned
to his master to take counsel with him relative to
the terms offered by the British, and not until the
beginning of the new year did he present himself

* Sir George Barlow, who, on the Governor-General to the chi i
death of Lord Cornwalli’s early in Oc- the Administration. chief seat in
tober, had succeeded as provisional

o2
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again in our camp. Then it appeared that Holkar
was inclined to presume upon the pacific spirit of
his adversaries, and to obtain better terms, if he
could. But Lord Lake was not to be frightened
or to be cajoled into further concessions. He de-
clared that if the treaty were not signed within
three days, he would at once cross the river, and
move upon Holkar’s camp. This threat had the
desired effect. And on the 7th of January a treaty
which restored large possessions to the man who, a
little time before, had declared that he could carry
his all on his saddle, was ratified with all due cere-
mony in the presence of several of the Sikh chiefs.
On the following day, attended by an escort of
two battalions of sepoys, Charles Metcalfe, under
instructions from Lord Lake, set out for the Mah-
ratta camp. The visit of friendship was intended
to give assurance to Holkar’s people, who, weary of a
war from which they derived but little, eitherin the
shape of plunder or the shape of pay, could hardly
bring themselves to believe that the peace they de-
sired was at hand. He was received in full Durbar,
with every mark of satisfaction and respect. There
was but one gloomy face—one moody spirit in the
conclave. Ameer Khan had reluctantly attended
the meeting, and was now little inclined to do honor
to the representative of the British Government.
The scene in Holkar’s Durbar-tent was an interesting
one; but I need not describe it, for on his way back
with the army, which broke ground immediately
afterwards on its return to the provinces, Charles
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Metcalfe related the circumstances of the interview
in a letter to his friend Sherer :*

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.
“ Camp, Sirhind, January 26, 1806.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,— . . . The peace with Holkar
and our march from the Punjab are already known to you.
Bayley or Jenkins will have told you that I have been in
Holkar’s camp. My visit to him was occasioned by his
request that some gentleman might be sent to him, as a mark
of friendship and confidence from the British Government.
It was, indeed, necessary to give satisfaction to his people,
who would not give credit to his proclamation of a peace.
They considered it as a trick such as he had often before prac-
tised to raise their fallen hopes ; and, consequently, the arrival
of the mission which confirmed the fact was hailed with
every demonstration of unbounded joy and rapture.

¢ The conduct of Holkar and his chiefs was equally ex-
pressive of the highest delight ; and made my mission a very
pleasing and happy business. My task was easy, being in its
nature only to convey assurances of friendship. One subject
only of discussion occurred, and that was attended with no
difficulty. It was my duty to urge his immediate departure
from the Punjab on his return to Malwa. I got from him a
promise to move on the 13th, which he maintained, to my
surprise. FEk-chushm-oo-doula’st appearance is very grave, his
countenance expressive, his manners and conversation easy.
He had not at all the appearance of the savage that we knew him
to be. The same countenance, however, which was strongly
expressive of joy when I saw him, would look very black
under the influence of rage, or any dark passions. A little
lap-dog was on his musnud—a strange playfellow for Holkar.

* See also Appendix A, for Met- 1 A nickname for Holkar, signify-
calfe’s official report. ing One-Eyed,
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The jewels on his neck were invaluably rich. With these
exceptions, there was nothing extraordinary in his Durbar,
which was just as might have been expected under the cir-
cumstances of his situation. All his chiefs were present.
Ameer Khan is blackguard in his looks, and affected on the
occasion of my reception to be particularly fierce, by rubbing
his coat over with gunpowder, and assuming in every way
the air of a common soldier. But for his proximity to Holkar,
he would have passed for one ; indeed, I did not know that he
was Ameer Khan. I consider his behaviour to have been
affectation. He had the impudence to ask from me my name,
which must have been known to him ; and his conduct was so
evidently designed to bring himself into notice, that I felt a
gratification in disappointing the unknown impudent; and
answering plainly to his question, I turned from him and con-
tinued a good-humored conversation with Holkar and Bhao
Bhaskur. I was better pleased that I did so when I learned
his name, for he had on a late occasion behaved with egregious
impertinence.

“T have been very much gratified with this accidental
mission, because though of no importance it is a little dis-
tinction. Lord Lake has made use of it to say more in my
favor than I have ever deserved in a despatch to the Governor-
General. 1 shall have great satisfaction in discussing with you
hereafter the conduct of Sir G. Barlow. I am anxious to hear
your opinions and to explain to you mine. . . . : 1
think that you will agree with me in blaming the furious zeal
for reduction which dismissed all the members of the Go-
vernor-General’s office from appointments in the service,
without any steps to make a recompense. The Governor-
General will perhaps have reached Calcutta when this reaches
you.

« Make my love to Jenkins and Bayley. I hope that I
shall be with you in a very few months. What say you to my
proposed trip to England, as mentioned to Butterworth? Let
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me have the benefit of your advice on that subject. I shall be
better pleased when you write more; but am now, and ever,
“Your very affectionate friend,
“ C. T. METCALFE.”

The Army was now on its way back to the British
Provinces. It was a season of comparative leisure,
which Charles Metcalfe turned to advantage by de-
voting more time to his private correspondence.
The following letters have a double interest; for
they treat largely of public affairs, and afford some
glimpses of the personal character of the young
writer :

FROM CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.
¢ Paneeput, February 12, 1806.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,—I had the pleasure, a few days ago,
of receiving your kind letter of the 17th ult. I am greatly
indebted to you for its contents. It brought the latest intelli-
gence of my brother that I have yet received ; my last letters
are dated in the early part of November. He continues, I am
rejoiced to see, in every way happy and content. . . . 1
have been a very bad correspondent to my brother, and he
complains against me in his last. He knows, however, that my
idleness is not caused by want of affection. The passage which
you transcribed* is, as you rightly judged, peculiarly gratifying
to me. The difference in our habits which was acquired in our
childhood, will probably stick to us, and it is possible that we
may have different opinions on controversial points, as you may
remember we used to have, but in fraternal affection and friend-
ship Theophilus and I will ever have, I am sure, the same
mind and spirit.

“ We are moving on to Dihlee. Four battalions, with a
body of 1200 horse (Skinners’ Corps), will be left here (Panee-

* See ante, page 114, note.
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put) under Colonel Burn. Another battalion is at Kurnal.
We shall reach Dihlee in five days. That rascal, our friend
Holkar, has been playing tricks ; and by way of a specimen of
what may be expected, has already violated the treaty in a_few
articles. From our pacific, mild, moderate, amiable character,
Holkar may play as many tricks as he pleases, and we shall
have the generous magnanimity of overlooking them. I am
getting tired of Politics, and am not disposed to trouble you
much more with them, or Sir George Barlow. We can discuss
subjects fully téte-a-téte. You will, I dare say, be able to show
me his merits in revenual, judicial, and financial administration
since he has ascended the throne. I have been so situated as to
see him only in one point of view, and he has not, in the light
in which I have seen him, appeared to advantage. It may be
the fault of my optics. But I cannot with temper see his
incorrigible wantonness in wasting and throwing away our
strength and influence. He has not yet actually done the
mischief; and I wish that our guardian genius would convert
his hard heart.

“ Lord Lake has acted in a dignified and noble manner. He
declares his sentiments in opposition to those of the Governor-
General, and he urges every argument and fact which he hopes
will induce him to alter his plans. Having done this, he is
determined not to embarrass or counteract the views of the
Government ; and feeling that he cannot be a fit instrument
for the execution of measures which he entirely disapproves,
finding also that Sir G. B. does not know how to exercise his
supreme authority without deviating from the respect due to
Lord Lake’s rank, situation, character, and services, his Lordship
is resolved to resign all political powers and to confine his
attention to military arrangements. His despatches are marked
equally by proper respect and manly firmness. They show
that he is attentive to what is due to Sir G. B., and to what is
due to himself. Several great questions upon which the
Governor-General had issued his instructions are now on
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reference to him, and among others the Declaratory Articles
done by Sir G. B. at Allahabad, and published (I by this day’s
post perceive) in the Gazette. These have not been forwarded
to Scindiah.

“ The whole treaty is now open to public discussion. I
shall hope to know from you your own sentiments and those of
the public on it. I have not time or room at present to say
more than that I think the Declaratory Articles destroy the
best, most honorable, and most advantageous part of the
treaty, and substitute much mischief. Enough of this shocking
business. Many thanks for your information concerning my
box and its contents. The correspondence on the Mahratta
war 1s the most valuable part of them, as a book of reference,
and recollection, and comparison. If I should not immediately
return to Calcutta I should wish you to send it to me. If my
return 1is, as I expect, immediate, I will thank you to keep it
for me.

I think with you, that the principle laid down for the
retrenchments 1s good. As for individual feelings, they must
suffer. I think, however, that the parsimony of the Govern-
ment is too ostentatious in its display. As real, and full
as noble, an economy might be practised without such an
universal publication of 1t. It is as much held forth in the
Most Secret and Important Instructions as in the public
advertisements. In fact, it seems to be the ruling principle
system and merit of the Administration. When such is the
case (I hope I shall not be suspected of blaming sound economy
in the observation), I will venture to observe that the Govern-
ment will be deficient in greatness of spirit and honor.

“ Of myself I know nothing more than that I am well and
happy. I hope that you and Bayley, with Fagan, Adam,
Grant, &ec., are equally so. Make suitable and kind remem-
brance of me to all those friends, and believe me ever

““ Your affectionate friend,
“C. T. METCALFE.”
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FROM THE SAME TO THE SAME.

¢ Camp, Dihlee, March 14, 1806.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,—I received yours of the 16th ult. a
few days ago. I am extremely concerned that any expression
in my letter should have conveyed the insinuation which you
very justly reprobate. Such never existed in my mind; if it
had, 1t would have caused to me very severe unhappiness. Be-
lieve me, Sherer, the confidence that I have in your friendship,
and 1n the firmness and continuance of it, as long as I may be
not quite unworthy, is a consoling pleasure to me in our sepa-
ration. I look forward to finding you at our meeting the same
kind, unaltered friend, that you used to be. Without this reli-
ance I should be very wretched, for I consider the regard of
respected friends as an inestimable blessing, and any diminution
of it would be an insufferable affliction. Do not, therefore,
think that I could ever mean to insinuate that distance of time
or place could affect your sentiments. We are anxious about
what we prize, and my anxiety to hear from you perhaps made
me complain more than I had any right to do. Indeed, when
I consider the incessant business which you go through, I
ought to be grateful for every line that you bestow on me, but
have no right to complain. It would be unconscionable, indeed,
to expect that you should not in your leisure hours seek refresh-
ment from harassing fatigues in those pursuits to which your
mind is bent. Forgive my impatience.

“ You speak of the variety and opportunity of improvement
which occur in my situation. I feel the value of them, and
look back over the whole time that I have spent in this manner
with very great satisfaction. I have, however, I am sorry to
confess, thrown away my opportunities of improvement. I
have acquired habits of idleness and indifference. I am almost
afraid I love wandering for its own sake, rather than for the
knowledge which it might enable one to acquire. Works and
ruins which would have made me mad with solitude formerly,
operate with much diminished effect now. I know not whe-
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ther it is that the repetition of novelty blunts the edge of
curiosity, or that human art cannot produce much variety, but
from some cause my curiosity is not so sharp and lively as 1t
was. There is, however, something in this place to which the
mind cannot be indifferent. The ruins of grandeur that ex-
tend for miles on every side, fill it with serious reflections. The
palaces crumbling into dust, every one of which could tell many
tales of royal virtue or tyrannical crime, of desperate ambition
or depraved indolence, that have caused the accomplishment of
the most important events, and yet have never reached the
ear of history ; the myriads of vast mausoleums, every one of
which was intended to convey to futurity the deathless fame of
its cold inhabitant, and all of which are passed by unknown
and unnoticed, eclipsed by the grandeur of one or two which
attract the traveller. These things cannot be looked at with
indifference. The view at present before me from my tent
contains the history of ages. We are about a mile from what
we now call Dihlee. I have before me the magnificent tomb
of Humaioon; the ruined fort where Shah Alum was deprived
of sight; a ruined palace where another poor king was thrown
out of a window (the very window 1is staring at me), and many
other buildings of which my ignorance knows nothing, but
which, doubtless, have had their share of blood and murder.
I should like much to go over the history of India whilst here,
but there 1s not a book in this army. The Commander-in-
Chief does not patronise literature in his troops. ¢D——ro
your writing, mind your fighting,” is his maxim—a maxim,
too, ti® latter part of which he has taught by example as well
as precept. If I wereapoet . . . I could write some-
thing at this place in an elegiac strain about—

¢The pomp of heraldry, the pride of power,” &c., &ec.

The ground on which we are encamped was occupied by
Holkar’s army when it besieged Dihlee. The defence was one
of the greatest and most important actions that has been per-
formed, but the man whose exertions caused the success of it,
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has met his reward from this encouraging Government in an
unrecompensed dismissal from his office.* Speaking of Hol-
kar, he has in true character made a point of breaking all the
articles of the treaty that he has not had it in his power to
fulfil. He is at present engaged in plundering the Sikhs. Be
it said to his credit, that he plunderg most those who befriended
him. We are detained here until he chooses to march towards
his own country. This is a happy state of Peace.

‘“ What think you of the new policy of the Declaratory
Articles to both treaties ? It is, I suppose, the first time that
a Government has found fault with its negotiators for getting
too much. Holkar has fired a salute for the. unthought-of
gratuity of Tank Rampoora, &c., and is, of course, vastly
pleased. He says, however, that we are great rascals, and not
to be trusted. Nor, after the acts of this Administration, can
we be trusted. But why do I constantly harp upon the cha-
racter of our Government ? I believe it is because I am daily
compelled to feel that we are disgraced ; and that Holkar is
the prevailing power in Hindostan. On the conduct of Govern-
ment with respect to the plunder of Jenkins’s camp, I agree
with you ; and have talked on that subject with Malcolm. He
once alleged a strange reason for not resenting it, that it and all
other hostility was the act of Scindiah’s Minister only, and not
of Scindiah himself. Who is Scindiah separate from his Go-
vernment ? A foolish boy. Can we look to anything but the
acts of his Government ?

“T hope that you and Jenkins will become intimate, and I
am sure that the more you know him the more you will esteem
him. I wish that Government would provide for him in a
handsome way. I wrote to him some days ago. I have been
looking in vain for a letter from Bayley for a very long time.
Make my salaam to him and Jenkins, Fagan, Adam, Trant, &c.

“ Cole and the sporting ones of this quarter are on a hog-
hunting party. All the riding that I have had has not given

* Colonel Ochterlony, who had dent at Delhi to make room for Mr.
been removed from the office of Resi- Seton.
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me a grain morc of enterprise on horseback than I used to
have, so I enter no more into those dashing amusements than
formerly, What proceeds perhaps from timidity is put down
to the score of gravity, and as there is not a soul here whose
pursuits are like mine, my want of vivacity is generally pitied.
Believe me, my dear Sherer,
“ Your affectionate friend,
“C. T. METCALFE."

The war was now at an end. The Grand Army
was to be broken up. Charles Metcalfe’s occupa-
tion as the nurse of Queen’s officers was gone; and
he soon ceased to disquiet himself about the in-
glorious Peace on which in the foregoing letters he
had so earnestly descanted. As I have already said,
it is not my province in this work to enter minutely
into the circumstances of the Mahratta war, or to
investigate the public conduct of one Governor-
General or another. In the years 1805-1806, poli-
tical controversy rose to a higher pitch of excitement
than it had ever risen before, or than it has ever
risen since in Indian official circles. Men spoke
and wrote in those days eagerly and emphatically,
according to the light that was in them; and it is
not for us, after the lapse of half a century, to con-
demn them for that one-sidedness which is apparent
in all their arguments. The Lake party were right
at Muttra and Delhi. The Barlow party were right
at Calcutta. The views of both parties were tinged
by local and incidental circumstances. If Barlow
had commanded the Army, he would, probably, have
been as eager for the prosecution of the war as
Lake, if he had heen at the head of the Administra-
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tion, and immediately responsible to the Home
Government, would have been for its cessation. And
I do not doubt that Charles Metcalfe, if he had been
Accountant-General, would have written just such
letters as flowed from the pen of Henry St.George
Tucker.*

But, in all such cases as this, where there is a great
conflict of opinion regarding the measures of Govern-
ment or the conduct of men in authority, it is
incumbent on the historian primarily to consider
with whom the responsibility rested. Now, the re-
sponsibility of war-making or of peace-making in
1805-6, did not rest with Lord Lake, but with Sir
George Barlow. We certainly had not found by
experience that it was easy to crush either Scindiah
or Holkar; but we had found that our efforts to
crush them had thrown the Finances of India into
such a state of embarrassment, that it was absolutely
impossible to maintain the military expenditure on
its existing scale. There was no money in the Trea-
sury ; our loans were unproductive; we had already
anticipated the powers of investment possessed both
by European and native capitalists. The cry from
Lord Lake’s camp was, ¢ A little more money—and
one more blow at the enemy.” And all the argu-

* The correspondence between Mr.,
Tucker and Sir G. Barlow in the
years 1805 and 1806, recently pub-
lished in the Memoirs of the former,
very fairly reflects the views of the
Peace party. From that correspond-
ence, and from Metcalfe’s letters given
in this chapter, a just conception
may be derived of the antagonistic
arguments of the Soldiers and the
Financiers. As I am not writing a

History of India, or even of the Mah-
ratta War, I publish these letters as
I published Mr. Tucker’s correspond-
ence, mainly as illustrations of the
personal character and career of the
man. The few remarks which I have
made upon the subject in the text
are of a very general nature. It is
probable that on a future occasion I
may have to treat of it more in de-
tail.
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ments in favor of the continuance of the war were
based upon the hypothesis, that a little more money
and one more vigorous blow would have brought it
to a close. If Sir George Barlow could have in-
dulged such a conviction as this, he might, perhaps,
have authorised a last brief and decisive campaign.
But there was nothing to give vitality to such a
conviction. The success of such a movement was,
at least, uncertain. The exhaustion of the Treasury
and the orders of the Home Government were not.
The responsibility of neglecting such a warning as
was afforded by the one, or disregarding such a duty
as was suggested by the other, was exclusively his—
and it was a tremendous responsibility which he did
not think it his duty to incur.* He, therefore, de-
termined to make peace upon such terms as the
enemy were not likely to reject. It is right that
history should take account of this; but it is not
strange that in the excitement of Lord Lake’s camp
its significance should, for a time, have been over-
looked. Many years afterwards, Charles Metcalfe,
looking back with other eyes on the events of
1805-6, and seeing much that was then concealed

* Tt appears to me that Sir George
Barlow states the case very fairly in
the following sentences which I find
in the rough draft of a letter to Lord
Lake:—“1 wish his Lordship to un-
derstand that I offer these sentiments
only as my opinion, and by no means
as a decision against the correctness
of his Lordship’s judgment, which
may be right. But as I am personally
and exclusively responsible to the East
India Company and to my country for
the terms of the pacification, I am
persuaded that his Lordship’s candor

and liberality will satisfy him that I
have only discharged my duty to the
public and to myself by adhering to
my own opinion. If I had adopted
his Lordship’s sentiments in opposi-
tion to my own opinion, and if an
early interruption of the peace were
to follow, his Lordship will be sen-
sible that my urging that I had con-
formed to his advice in preference to
being guided by my own judgment,
would be no justification whatever of
my conduct.”
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from him, admitted that the measures adopted by
Sir George Barlow were necessitated by the exigen-
cies of the Financial crisis; and that however objec-
tionable in themselves, and however mischievous in
their results, it was hardly possible, under the cir-
cumstances which then existed, to have followed
any other course.
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CHAPTER VIIL

[1806—1808.]
THE DELHI ASSISTANTSHIP.

Charles Metcalfe’s Prospects—His Visit to Calcutta—Appointed Assistant
to the Resident at Delhi—Administration of the Delhi Territory—The
People and the Court—Character of Mr. Seton—Charles Metcalfe’s Duties
—Letters to Mr. Sherer—Pecuniary Circumstances—DBetter Prospects.

It has been stated that Charles Metcalfe, when he
joined the Camp of the Commander-in-Chief, still
retained his situation as an Assistant in the Office of
the Governor-General. But among other retrench-
ments which had now been effected by the new
Administration was the abolition of the ¢ Office.”
This, although it entailed upon him a considerable
loss of salary, Metcalfe scarcely regretted. With-
out Lord Wellesley and his old associates, who were
now scattered over the country, the *“ Office” would
have been nothing to him. What his prospects
were at this time it was hard to say. The orders of
Government were, that he should remain with Lord
Lake until his services were no longer required,
and that then he should ‘ return to the Presidency,
VOL. I. P
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in order that when opportunity should offer he
might be employed in some other branch of the
public service.”’*

There was nothing very hopeful in this. He had
resolutely determined, as long as it- was possible, to
adhere to the Political line; but in that depart-
ment of the public service great retrenchments
were being made, and Metcalfe believed that Sir
George Barlow was not likely to extend towards
him any very great amount of favor.t He was
in no hurry, therefore, to return to the Presidency
to wait for a new appointment. Indeed, he seri-
ously contemplated at this time a visit to England,
and wrote both to his friends at Calcutta and his
family in England, to consult with them on the
expediency of the step. He received, however, little
encouragement from either quarter. Before, in-
deed, the answers from his home-letters had ar-
rived, he had made up his mind to continue at his
post.

From the following letter, written from Cawnpore
at the end of May, may be gathered more dis-
tinctly what were his feelings and intentions at this
time :

* Mr. Edmonstone to Mr. Metcalfe,
May 29, 1806.

1 Barlow, however, it must be said,
had recognised the great ability and
the fine character of young Metcalfe
from the very commencement of his
career, and predicted for him a rapid
rise in the service. “I have great
pleasure in acquainting you,” he wrote
to Colonel Collins, *that young Met-
calfe possesses very pleasing manners,
and that he appears to unite quick
parts with a very solid understanding.
IfI am not mistaken he will eminently

distinguish himself among his cotem-
poraries.” When it was ascertained
that the King’s Government had re-
fused to appoint Sir George Barlow
permanently to the Governor-General-
ship, in spite of the earnest support of
the Court of Directors, a report ob-
tained in Calcutta that the whole Court
had voted for Sir George, with the ex-
ception of three members, and that
Sir Theophilus Metcalfe was one of the
three. Butthe statement was entirely
erroneous—Sir Theophilus was one of
Barlow’s most strenuous supporters.
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CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.
¢ Cawnpore, May 29, 1806.

“ MYy DEAR SHERER,— . . . I shall quit this place
for Calcutta about the middle of June, and suppose that I
shall reach it about the first week of August. I have settled
to join Malcolm’s party on the voyage down. Without wait-
ing for an invitation, I shall inform you that 1 intend to make
your house my home, but I shall hope to hear from you on
that point, as it may be possible you are so situated with regard
to room or something else, as to make my invasion an inconve-
nience to you. As I have nothing now to do here, I wish as
soon as possible to be at the Presidency, in order that my des-
tination may be decided, and that I may again be employed.

“] am determined, if the Governor-General will allow me,
to adhere to the line in which I have made my outset, even if
I should be obliged to submit to a temporary loss or degrada-
tion, and the scene on which I wish to be employed is that
which I have just quitted. Ithink that it will be the busiest; I
therefore giveit a preference. On the whole, prospects are not
so flattering as they once were to me, but every dog has his
day, and le bon temps viendra, I trust. 1do not mean to make
immoderate haste, nor to put myself to any inconvenience in
my journey to Calcutta. I shall proceed leisurely. Under
more encouraging circumstances, I think that I should have
been there before this time, for I feel every wish to be again
engaged on public service. By-the-by, I was long ago ordered
down, and am perhaps guilty of disobedience by staying so
long.

““ My letters from England are very pleasing. My father
says that he is proud of my conduct. You know, my dear
Sherer, what pride a son must feel at such praise from an
honored father. One sentence of his approbation is an ample
reward for any exertion, and more than consolation under
every disappointment. God bless you, dear Sherer.

“ Your sincere friend,
“C. T. METCALFE.”
P 2



212 THE DELHI ASSISTANTSHIP.

In fulfilment of the intention here expressed,
Charles Metcalfe started on his river-voyage to Cal-
cutta in the course of June, and about the third
week of the following month he found himself
again at the Presidency. He was now only in his
twenty-second year; but he had passed nearly six
of these in the public service, and was already a
ripe diplomatist. By all who knew him—by his
private friends and official associates, he was held in
such estimation that not one of them hesitated to
predict his speedy attainment of the highest honors
of his profession. There was much in all this to
solace him under what he believed to be a lull in
the prosperity of his career ; but nothing cheered
him so much as his father’s letters, which breathed
the warmest affection, and expressed the exultant
pride with which Sir Theophilus contemplated the
honorable progress of his favorite son.

But there was little occasion for despondency of
any kind. Charles Metcalfe had not long to so-
journ at the Presidency, waiting for the dawn of
official re-employment. On the 15th of August, he
received a letter from the Secretary of Government,
announcing that the Governor-General in Council
had been pleased to appoint him  First Assistant
to the Resident at Delhi.”

This was not a very brilliant appointment. Time
was when he would have regarded it with some
contempt—but the Political service was not then
what it once had been in the palmy days of the
““ glorious little man’’ who had set Charles Met-
calfe on the high road which leads to fame and for-
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tune. He had come now to look more soberly
at these things, and so long as he was not removed
to the Revenue or Judicial departments, he was con-
tent with his situation. Indeed, Delhi was of all
others the place in which, under these altered cir-
cumstances, he had recently desired to be posted.
Mr. Seton was then Resident at Delhi. A little
time before he had been the Governor-General’s
agent in Rohilcund; but Sir George Barlow enter-
tained so high an opinion of his zeal and ability,
that he removed Colonel Ochterlony from the Delhi
Residency to place the civilian there in his stead.
To Seton, who was a man of peculiar delicacy and
generosity of feeling, the circumstances under which
he had been ordered to proceed to Delhi would have
been extremely painful, if such an explanation of
these circumstances had not been offered to Ochter-
lony as to convince him that he had not forfeited
the high opinion of Government.* DBut Seton was a
man whose whole soul was in the public service, and

* See letter of Mr. Seton to Colonel
Malcolm, Bareilly, March 12, 1806.—
“It must give the sincerest gratifica-
tion to every honest heart to learn
that the explanation of the grounds
of the present arrangements have
been such as to convince Colonel Och-
terlony that he stands as high as
everin the estimation of Government.
But surely Government will not con-
tent itself with merely soothing the
wounded feelings of a public officer of
his great and acknowledged merits;
nor can I bring myself to think that
it is not in contemplation to make a
handsome provision for him, although
it was not, perhaps, announced or
recorded at the same time with the
arrangements, inasmuch as it was a

public measure.”—[AIS. Correspond-
ence.] The supercession of Colonel
Ochterlony had not been decreed
without manifest reluctance. ‘ The
ground of hesitation I have with re-
gard to this arrangement,” wrote the
Governor-General, “is the scrvice
rendered by Colonel Ochtcrlony in the
defence of Delhi. Is this counsidera-
tion such as should prevent me re-
moving him? and will it justify my
making the sacrifice of the public
interests, which I know I should make,
if I were to relinquish the arrange-
ment? I consider Mr. Seton's ap-
pointment to Delhi to be of the most
cssential importance in a variety of
points of view."—[MS. Notes of Sir
G. Barlow.]
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who, once appointed, was eager to join his appoint-
ment, and to devote himself day and night to its
duties. Of Metcalfe he knew little, but that little
had kindled within him a fervor of admiration for
the young atfaché, and one of his first wishes on
being nominated to the Delhi Residency was to
associate with himself, in the performance of his
new duties, one whom he emphatically described as
‘“a young man of most uncommon abilities and
acquirements.” ‘¢ Although my personal knowledge
of Mr. Metcalfe,”” he wrote to Colonel Malcolm, ¢ is
but slight, it is sufficient to convince me of the truth
of what you say respecting him. We met but once.
But it was sucH an ‘ONCE’! So interesting a meet-
ing! I already knew a great deal of his character
from having seen many of his private letters, and
from having been in the habit of familiar intercourse
with many of his friends. As a young man of most
uncommon abilities and acquirements, not to have
known him would have ¢argued myself unknown.’
‘When, therefore, we met, I could not meet him as a
stranger. Ever since, I have been one of his many
enthusiastic admirers. In the arrangements to be
formed for conducting the public business at Delhi,
the claims of such a candidate cannot be overlooked.
I recollect, however, hearing one of his friends and
correspondents observe, that he would not like to be
stationed at Delhi, and that Calcutta was the station
he preferred.”* Such being the opinion of the

* MS. Correspondence. —The ob- General. Metcalfe himself subse-
servation in the last sentence must be quently applied for the appointment.
supposed to have reference to the days Some passages of another letter from
when Lord Wellesley was Governor- Mr. Seton may be introduced here in
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young Assistant entertained by his official supe-
rior, there was little chance of Metcalfe’s connexion
with the Court of the Mogul terminating as did his
first diplomatic experience at the Court of the
Mahratta. Perhaps no two men were ever more
unlike each other than Archibald Seton and Jack
Collins. Each, as the young Assistant soon disco-
vered, lacked what the other had in excess.

Starting to join his appointment without much
loss of time, Metcalfe proceeded by dawk to Delhi,
and reached the imperial city on the 23rd of October.
The journey was not a pleasant one; but his recep-
tion was of the kindest and most flattering descrip-
tion ; and he soon began to find, that if in his new
official position he had anything to contend against,
it was the excessive delicacy and humility of the
Resident, who shrunk from employing the services
of his Assistant in the manner contemplated by
Government in such an appointment. What Charles
Metcalfe thought of this, may best be described in
his own words :

illustration of this and other points.
The communication quoted in the
text had been sent to Metcalfe, who
wrote to thank Seton for the kindness
1t expressed. On this the latter wrote:
‘ Think not, my dear sir, that I mean
frivolously to compliment or poorly
to flatter, when I assure you that our
meeting at Kangur made animpression
upon my mind—upon my heart, which
no time can weaken. The unspeak-
able interest, which the circumstance
of my being then introduced to your
personal acquaintance gave to my visit
to camp, makes me consider it as one
of the leading epochs of my life; and
ever since that memorable period, I
have longed for the means of being

brought into nearer connexion with
you, and of being indulged with an
opportunity of cultivating your friend-
ship. In this avowal, which is dic-
tated by the heart, you have, my dear
sir, a vertical reply to one part of
your letter. I shall only add, that if
Government comply with your appli-
cation, and render you my associate
in the political branch of the business
attached to the Residency at Delhi, I
shall feel as if cased at once of one-
half of my care. That it will be
complied with I cannot for a moment
doubt.” The meeting alluded to in
these letters was in General Smith’s
camp, when his force was in pursuit
of Ameer Khan, in Rohilcund.
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CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

“ Dihlee, October 25, 1806.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,—I arrived here on the 23rd, after a
very troublesome and uncomfortable journey. From Myn-
pooree to this place I encountered several difficulties. I
scarcely anywhere found a sufficient number of bearers, and
what there were were old and tottering wretches. I met with
a remarkable instance of respect in an officer of the Udalut, a
Darogah, or, as the people in this part of the world call him,
Udalut-walla. T passed the whole night in the street of the
town of Koorja, because this gentleman had chosen to seize the
bearers that had been stationed for me, and had carried them
on his own pleasure to a village some miles distant. For the
last thirty or forty miles, by mistake no bearers had been
stationed, because by an erroneous calculation I was not
expected so soon. I therefore abandoned my palkee, &c., and
after a long walk, and when I could walk no longer, a long
ride upon a Sowar’s horse, which I had the good luck to
obtain, I at last reached the object of my labors.

“ All is well that ends well, and now I am as comfortable as
I could wish. Seton is most kind. I foresee that I shall have
some difficulty in persuading him to break through a bad
habit which he has acquired of doing every part of business,
even the minutest, with his own hands. I commenced my
attack yesterday, and mentioned to him several duties which
he daily performs, and which in my conception ought to
devolve upon the Assistant. But he says that he is shocked at
the 1dea of degrading my &c., &e., &c., to such mean occupa-
tions, and that the assistance which he expects to derive from
me is in the aid of my &c., &c., &c., on the great questions of
politics. This is very fine and complimentary, and of course
not displeasing, but, as I observed to him, how can that be
degrading to the Assistant which is daily performed by the
Resident ? and what is the use of an Assistant, if he does not
relieve the superior from some part of the drudgery and detail
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of official duties ? He was at last brought to say that we
would relieve each other. Such is his delicacy, or the
inveteracy of his habit, that I foresee some difficulty ; but I
shall persist, and do not despair of accomplishing the object.
And if once he can be brought to throw off the unnecessary
trouble that he takes upon himself, he will, I am sure, be much
happier, for at present he worries himself with detail, and the
clearest head in the world must be confused by the mixed and
multifarious nature of the minute duties to which he gives his
attention. He seldom comes either to breakfast or dinner.
He rises before the day, and labors until the middle of the
night. He does not move out ; he takes no exercise, and
apparently no food. The real duties of his situation do not
require such toil, and I must persuade him to relinquish a part
to me.

¢ The collections are ridiculously trifling, and the districts in
a sad and irremediable state of confusion. Orders have been
issued for a settlement. Spedding has not commenced on it.
It is a funny duty for me to perform, who am entirely ignorant
of such matters; but I must undertake it, and as I am com-
pletely under Seton’s orders, I am not so terrified as 1 should
otherwise be. 1 shall probably, but not positively, go into the
Mofussil to make the settlement, and it is possible that I may
take the field against my refractory subjects, of which there are
more than there are tractable. God forbid that this business
should end in leading me into the Revenue line. I must
endeavor to prevent that.

“ 1 am, ever yours affectionately,

“(C. T. METCALFE."”

Charles Metcalfe was now fairly settled at Delhi
—the imperial city of the Great Mogul. The Em-
peror, Shah Allum, old, blind, and infirm, still held
there the mockery of a Court. The victories of the
British army on the banks of the Jumna had rescued
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him from the thraldom of the Mahrattas to impose
upon him another yoke. In our hands he was as
helpless, but less miserable. He was at the mercy
of men who respected his fallen fortunes, and desired
that he should enjoy as much of the luxury and the
pomp of royalty as could be purchased for a certain
sum of money, to be appropriated to him out of the
revenues of our new possessions. How this was
best to be done was a question which for some time
perplexed the Calcutta Council. Upon the first
establishment of our supremacy in the Delhi ter-
ritories, it was determined that a maintenance for
the Royal Family should be provided by means of
certain assignments of land, and an annual stipend
payable to the Shah. These territories were not to
be brought under the operation of the rules and
regulations of the Company which were to be in-
troduced into other parts of the Ceded and Conquered
Provinces; and it was, therefore, arranged that the
fiscal administration of the districts which had been
set aside for the maintenance of the royal household
should be entirely in the hands of officers appointed
by the Shah himself, with the sanction of the British
Government. The principal officers for the collec-
tion of the customs and duties of the city of Delhi
and the management of the police were also to be
appointed by the Shah, in concurrence with the
British Resident. But this functionary was “not to
interfere with the executive duties of any of those
officers ; nor with the municipal or revenue arrange-
ments of the city or territory, except by his advice
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and recommendation.”’* There was, indeed, to be a
sort of émperium in imperio. A remnant of regal
power was to be delegated to the Mogul, that his
money might pass into his hands rather in the shape
of revenue than in the shape of pension, and that he
might still flatter himself with the thought of pos-
sessing some officers and some subjects of his own.
In sanctioning this arrangement, the British Go-
vernment thought more of the feelings of the Shah
than of the prosperity of the people of Delhi. The
evils of the system were apparent; and Ochterlony
soon pointed them out. “ I lose no time,” he
emphatically wrote to Government on the 30th of
November, 1804, “in earnestly requesting, from a
knowledge of the disposition and tfemper of his
Majesty and his probable successor, that the pro-
vision intended for his Majesty should be a fixed
stipend payable, in ready money, from his Treasury.
Any lands assigned for this purpose would, I am
fully persuaded, be unproductive of the real value,
nor could the controlling power intended to be
vested in the Resident prevent much oppression in
the Pergunnahs, and exorbitant taxation in the
city.”+ This was one side—the people’s side—of
the question; but looking only at the King’s side,
it appeared that the new arrangement, though it
might flatter the vanity of the Shah, was calculated
to inflict upon him a solid injury, by placing it in

* Memorandum by Mr. Edmonstone of his Majesty Shah Allum and the
(April 27, 1805)—*On the Subject of Royal Household.”—[ M S. Records.]
an Arrangement for the Maintenance T MS. Records.
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his power to waste his substance upon favorites
and parasites. ¢ Any assignment of lands,” wrote
Ochterlony, in the same letter, ¢ though it might,
and, I have no doubt, would flatter his pride, would
only open a path to grants which would in a short
time deprive him of nearly the whole of his country;
nor would any influence of the Resident be able to
control his bounty, which has been, during his life,
weak, ill-placed, and indiscriminate.”* And in a
subsequent letter, pointing out more in detail the
evil consequences of placing the collection of the
town-customs in his hands, especially in time of
scarcity, the Resident wrote: ¢ To give the Shah all
that is realised, exclusive of the pay of establish-
ments, would be an easy and a sacred duty in the
Customs as in the Pergunnahs; but to invest him
with a control, is to give him a power to injure him-
self, to which the avarice and self-interest of num-
berless dependents would undoubtedly lead.”t

Nor were these the only evils inherent in such a
system. It was only too probable, as, indeed, expe-
rience had already shown, that in the assigned dis-
tricts the revenue-payers might sometimes contu-
maciously withhold the sums claimed by the officers
of the Shah. In this case, coercion would become
necessary. The taxes could only be collected under
the constraint of a military force. A choice of diffi-
culties then presented itself. Either this constraint

* MS. Records.—* His (the King’s) household, weak, pr'ogd, and in the
probable successor,” added Ochter- highest degrec avaricious and rapa-
lony, “is imbecility personified, and cious.”
undcr the guidance of a woman of low t MS. Records.
extraction, originally a servant of the



GOVERNMENT COMPROMISE. 221

must have been exercised by the miserable rabble
which the King or his officers would be compelled
to retain; or the Company’s troops must have been
employed for the purpose. In the one case, there
was no reliance to be placed on the support of men
who might at any time have sided with the recu-
sants or been defeated by them; and in the other,
the British Government would have been placed in
an anomalous and embarrassing position, for they
would have exercised military control where they
had no civil power ; would have been compelled to
enforce measures for which they were not respon-
sible; and to counteract evils which they were not
suffered to prevent.

On a review of these important suggestions, the
Supreme Government, after much consideration,
moved by the recommendations of the Resident, re-
solved on anotable compromise. They were desirous
to spare the feelings of the Shah; but, at the same
time, not to invest him with powers which might be
exercised to the injury both of the people and of
himself. So they gave him a nominal authority
over the assigned districts; but arranged that, at
the request of his Majesty, the Company’s servants
should undertake their administration in his name.*
The authority of the Shah was to be a harmless fic-
tion. The actual administration was to be vested in

* ¢« The lands might be considered
as Khalsa lands, placed by his Ma-
jesty under the charge of a British
authority, and the collections might
be made and all other acts done in
his Majesty’s name; and as the Resi-
dent further suggests, inferior officers
might be appointed by his Majesty

to attend the Collector’s office, for the
purpose of satisfying his Majesty’s
mind that no part of the collections is
embezzled by the executive officers
of the British Government.”—[.Mr.

Edmonstone’s Memorandum. MS. Re-
cords.]
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the Resident; but there was to be a great parade
of the name of Shah Allum ; and the British officers,
whilst dandling the miserable puppet, were to ap-
pear to be the humblest of his slaves.

But all this was to be merely an experiment.
‘““ All circumstances considered,” wrote Sir George
Barlow, then senior member of the Supreme Council,
‘“ and particularly the attention necessary to be paid
to the feelings of his Majesty, would appear to
render the system of management here proposed the
most advisable, at least for the present. But it
might be intimated to his Majesty, that if the system
should not prove to be well calculated for the im-
provement of the country, for the realisation of the
Revenue, and the maintenance of tranquillity, such
alterations in the system will be hereafter suggested
for his Majesty’s approbation as shall appear advis-
able. It will ultimately, I imagine, be found to be
necessary for the attainment of the several objects
above stated, to extend the British Laws (Regula-
tions) to the assigned territories.”* And, under the
orders of Lord Wellesley, instructions were sent to
the Resident in conformity with Barlow’s sugges-
tions, based as they were on Edmonstone’s abstract
of Ochterlony’s recommendations. And this was
the system of management in force when Charles
Metcalfe joined his appointment.

But that the system did not work well was soon

* MS. Notes of Sir George Barlow dent at Delhi, to be sent in cont-"ormw.y
on the margin of Edmonstone’s Me- to this Memorandum, mcl.udmg. Sir
morandum. The paper is endorsed George Barlow’s remarks, in which I
by Lord Wellesley with the words, concur.—W.”

“Draft of Instructions to the Resi-
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apparent. Even upon the vestige of authority that
remained to him the Shah was inclined to presume ;
and the excess of delicacy and generosity with which
a man of Mr. Seton’s temper was sure to treat the
poor puppet, tended to increase this natural pre-
sumption. That this, however kindly the intention,
was in effect but cruel kindness, Metcalfe believed ;
but he did not come hastily to the conclusion that
his official superior was at fault. He had been
nearly a year at Delhi, during which he had seen
many proofs of the evil working of the system, when
he wrote the following letter to his friend Sherer :

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

¢« June 16, 1807.

“ MY DEAR SHERER,—I have had so little of any satis-
factory matter to communicate, that it has not been incumbent
on me to transmit to you an account of my affairs; nay, more,
that I am on the whole doing so badly, that it 1s almost a duty
to be silent. Now, having laid a heavy charge on your back,
and prevented, as I conclude, by invincible arguments, any
retort on your part, I proceed to tell you that I am, with
respect to health, as well as usual, and that, I thank God, is
very well; in spirits, too, pretty well; and though the place is
very dull, and I myself am no great enlivener of society, never
fall to be merry on a favorable opportunity. I am tired of
husiness, and long to have less to do, the nearest to nothing the
better; for I see that I could spend my time much more satis-
factorily and advantageously to myself in my own way, than
by attending to the Politics, Police, Revenue, and Justice of
this quarter; and now comes the dreadful tale. My Finances
are quite ruined, exhausted beyond hope of any reasonable
repair.  You know that I am very prudent; prudence is a
prominent feature in my character; yet, ever since I came to
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this Imperial Station, I have gradually been losing the ground
which I had gained in the world, and at length I find myself
considerably lower than the neutral situation of having no-
thing ; and without some unlooked-for and surprising declara-
tion of the Fates in my power, I see nothing but debt, debt,
debt, debt after debt, before me.

¢ The last stroke that has involved me in utter despair, has
been the necessity of building. I have been up to my neck for
some time in bricks and mortar, mud and dirt, and I am
threatened, in consequence, with being over head and ears in
debt. After all, I am only building a small bungalow fit for a
bachelor. Notwithstanding, all things conjoining, the expense
is considerable. Seton would have had me, very kindly, to
live with him; but I declined i1t for a thousand reasons. The
one that I used to him, which was a principal one, was, that I
could never enjoy a moment’s privacy at the Residency; which
1s as true as that you could not enjoy privacy seated in a chair
in the middle of the Cossitollah. Every part of one is no less
thronged with natives than the other. .

“T do not exactly conform to the policy of Seton’s mode of
managing the Royal Family. It is by a submission of manner
and conduct, carried on in my opinion far beyond the respect
and attention which can be either prescribed by forms, or dic-
tated by a humane consideration for the fallen fortunes of a
once illustrious family. It destroys entirely the dignity which
ought to be attached to him who represents the British Go-
vernment, and who, in reality, is to govern at Dihlee; and it
raises (I have perceived the effect disclosing itself with gradual
rapidity) ideas of imperial power and sway, which ought to be
put to sleep for ever. As it is evident that we do not mean to
restore imperial power to the King, we ought not to pursue a
conduct calculated to make him aspire to it. Let us treat him
with the respect due to his rank and situation; let us make him
comfortable in respect to circumstances, and give him all the
means, as [ar as possible, of being happy; but unless we mean
to establish his power, let us not encourage him to dream of it.
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Let us mcet his (irst attempts to display Imperial authority with
immediate check; and let him see the mark beyond which
our respect and obedience to the shadow of a King will not
proceed.

¢ Seton, however, seems to think (which if 1t 1s, as I think,
an error, is a kindly one), that we cannot study too much to
soothe the feelings of a family so situated; that the most obse-
quious attentions do not at all hurt the Resident’s dignity; and
that by yiclding to the King the exercise of power in small
points, we shall be able to oppose him with a better grace on
great and important occasions. To what length the idea of
small points may be carried is uncertain. One man will think
one thing, and another another. A great deal is left to dis-
cretion; and 1t has often happened, that what Seton has
assented to as a mere trifle, has struck me of such importance
as to require opposition. Two authorities exist in the town,
which circumstance gives rise to much trouble and confusion.
A riot lately took place in the town, threatening to be very
serious, which arose, I am convinced, entirely from that cir-
cumstance, which would never have taken place if the people
had not expected that the King would (ashe did) protect them;
which had, 1n fact, its origin in the palace, and which, if traced
to its primary cause, proceeded, I believe, from the effect of
Seton’s too delicate and submissive conduct. Ideas of the
exercise of sovereignty ought, I think, to be checked in the
bud; it may be attended with difficulty to destroy them when
they have been suffered to grow for some time; at least, greater
difficulty than there is in suppressing them altogether.

“Enough.—This lctter begins to smell of the shop. Of
mighty importance to be sure are the politics of Delhi! What
progress that infernal villain Buonaparte has made; I long to
hear more of affairs in Europe. We have had a long interval
of darkness since the last accounts. No letters either from
home. I have just heard of the sudden death of Colonel
Collins. ~ There is always something more shocking in a sudden
death than in a forewarned demise. I felt a stronger spirit of

VOL. I. Q
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resentment against him than I have ever felt towards any other
man. He has reached that goal at which all enmities subside;
mine are at an end. I sincerely forgive him for the wrong he
did to me; and I trust that God will forgive me if I ever
wronged him.
¢“ Remember me to all friends, and believe me,
“ Ever your sincerely attached,
“C. T. METCALFE."

The ¢ riot’’ of which Metcalfe speaks in the above
letter was this. The Mussulmans of Delhi had risen
up in rebellion because a Hindoo banker of influ-
ence had carried an idol through the city, and had
been suspected of an intention to impart undue
pomp to the proceeding. A cry was raised that the
interests of Islam were in danger. The banker’s
house was attacked. There were tumultuous gather-
ings in the streets. Seton was absent, in attendance
on the princes, who were performing certain cere-
monies in honor of the late King’s memory ;* so the
responsibility of quelling the disturbance devolved
upon Metcalfe. He did it promptly and well—with
energy and with judgment. He went first to the
officer in command of the troops, and desired him
to get his men under arms, and prepare to march
into the city. Then he went to the palace, and
called upon the King to exert his authority to sup-
press the tumult. The answer of the King was un-
satisfactory; so Metcalfe proceeded at once to the
lines, called for the immediate aid of the military
authority, and returned with the battalion to the
scene of disorder. The presence of the troops damped

* Shah Allum had died in December, 1806.
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the energies of the rioters, the crowds dispersed,
and there was almost a bloodless victory. Had the
King done his duty in the emergency, not a shot
need have been fired.*

Leaving for a while this poor shadow of a ¢ Great
Mogul,” with his pension of 200,000/. a year, let
us dwell for a moment on the former part of this
letter, and bestow a thought upon the ‘ pecuniary
circumstances’” of the Assistant to the Resident at
Shah Allum’s Court. If Biography were to take note
of things, and to expatiate upon them in proportion
to the amount of thought devoted to them by the
subject of the ¢ Life” or ¢ Memoir,” a very large
space in all these Lives and Memoirs would be de-
voted to the ¢ pecuniary circumstances’ of the man
whose character and career are in course of illustra-
tion. The greatest among us will think about
money and be disquieted by the want of it. To be
in debt is with young civilians almost a condition of
existence. Somenever get out again. Now Charles
Metcalfe never had been extravagant; but he had
been in debt before this, had extricated himself from
it, and now he was “in difficulties’’ again. The
tact is, that, pecuniarily speaking, his fortunes had
not lately been on the ascendant. When attached
to the Governor-General’s Office, in 1804, he had
drawn a salary of 800 rupees a month. An addi-

* Metcalfe’s conduct in this matter
clicited the praises of the Supreme
Government. The Chief Secretary
wrote:—‘“You will be pleased to com-
municate to your First Assistant, Mr.
Metcalfe, the Governor-General in
Council’s high approbation of the

firmness, judgment, and promptitade
of action manifested by Mr. Metcalfe
on that critical occasion. To the ex-
ertion of those qualities the Governor-
General in Council primarily ascribes
the speedy suppression of the disturb-
ance.”

Q2
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tional (deputation) allowance of 12 rupees a day had
been subsequently granted to him, when he was
serving in Lord Lake’s camp; and as the order for
this grant was not passed till many months after he
had joined the Army, and then took retrospective
effect, the accumulations enabled Metcalfe to pay
off all his old debts. But on the 15th of Decem-
ber, 1805, the Governor-General’s Office having
been abandoned, the salary which he had drawn as
an Assistant in it ceased, and in its place he was
allowed a salary of 400 rupees a month, with the
same deputation allowance as before. He was now,
in 1807, drawing 750 rupees a month as Assistant
to the Delhi Resident—being nearly 500/. a year
less than he had received three years before.* This
might have sufficed him—but the necessity of build-
ing a house at Delhi caused an increase of imme-
diate expenditure, which he could not meet; so the
curse of Debt sate again upon him. He had a
liberal and a wealthy father, who at this time was
so proud of his son’s success in life, and of the re-
peated eulogies that were passed upon him, that he
would have done anything for him, and often said
s0; but on this very account Charles Metcalfe was
slow to ask—he would rather have suffered all the
miseries of Debt for years than have presumed on
the kindly emotions which he had raised in h%s
parent’s breast. He determined therefore to extri-
cate himself; and before long the means were placed
at his disposal. Some new arrangements for the

* These facts and figures are taken less to make separate references to
from the original official letters pre- each.
eerved by Lorg Metcalfe, It is need-
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civil administration of the Delhi territory caused
an increase of his official duties, and with it came
an increase of his salary, the accumulations of
which he left to form themselves into a sinking
fund for the reduction of his debts.* And never
after this reduction did he feel the burden again.

But there was much in Metcalfe’s estimation to
detract from the advantages of this increased salary.
The new duties imposed upon him were connected
with the fiscal administration of the Delhi territory ;
and he had a great and increasing dislike of Reve-
nue business. Even when the Commission, ap-
pointed in 1807 to report upon the civil administra-
tion of the Ceded and Conquered Provinces, was in
course of construction, and Mr. Tucker, the working
member of the itinerant Board, was anxious to see
Charles Metcalfe attached toit as Secretary, he was
unwilling to accept such a situation lest it should
lead him away permanently from the Political line
to which he was resolute to adhere. On other ac-
counts, the appointment had many attractions—and
when he found that his friends Sherer and Bayley
were attached to the Commission—the former as
Secretary, the latter as Interpreter, he often longed
to be one of the party. In the following letter to
the former his opinions and feelings are clearly ex-
pressed :

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W, SHERER.
“ July 10, 1807.

““ My DEAR SHERER,—I am rcjoiced to sec your appoint-
ment and Butterworth’s to the Commission, as T indulge the

* Letter to Sherer, post, page 236.
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hope of seeing you here, though not immediately. It of
course has taken place with your entire consent, and both you
and Bayley, I imagine, retain your respective situations in
Calcutta. It will be a delightful trip for you; you will see a
great deal which you must greatly wish to see. You will ob-
tain a most extensive knowledge of a most important branch
of our affairs, and your situation being only temporary, it will
not interfere with your plan of always keeping your head-
quarters in Calcutta, nor with your views of promotion in
that most successful field of action. Considering these cir-
cumstances, I look upon your appointment as a most pleasant
and fortunate event, and congratulate you upon it accordingly.
The same to Bayley, to whom I shall shortly address my senti-
ments on his conduct, although he has behaved so shockingly
lately as almost to be unworthy of my notice. My love to
him notwithstanding. I already anticipate some delightful
days with you two in my Bungalow at Delhi. You bave a
most respectable Deputy and agreeable companion in Fortescue,
to whom I beg you to remember me kindly. My remem-
brance also to the Commissioners in proper terms and degrees.
By-the-by, Tucker will, doubtless, have mentioned to you
what I read in a letter from him to Richardson, that at first,
with the assent of Cox, he had proposed to Sir G. Barlow,
through Lumsden, my appointment as Secretary to the Com-
mission. Of course at that time he could not have expected
that the Secretary’s office would be put on so respectable a
footing. He could have had no idea that the Government
would spare you Bayley and Fortescue, otherwise he would
never, it is clear, have thought of me. I will tell you the
effect that this had on my mind when Richardson sent me
Tucker’s letter. T must observe that Tucker wrote just after
Lumsden left him to carry the proposition to the Governor,
and therefore could give no hint of the result. I was, of course,
flattered by the circumstance, and obliged to Tucker, but I
wished that he had not made the proposal, and I did not like
the thought of getting so deep into the Revenue line, and so
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far from the Political. I did not know what Ishould do, if any
reference were made to me, as on the one hand to give up my
hold on a favorite line, and on the other to reject so respect-
able a situation likely to be attended with considerable advan-
tages, would be either way difficult. My hope was that Go-
vernment, without any reference to me, would make its own
arrangement excluding me, and so relieve me from the re-
sponsibility of guiding my own destiny. The sight of your
appointment was the first and is the only intelligence which I
have yet received, and besides the pleasure of seeing your ap-
pointment to a post which I thought would be pleasing to you,
I felt on my own account great relief. Although I am much
obliged to Tucker for thinking of me, I am glad on many ac-
counts that the present capital arrangement has taken place.
If I could take the tour which you are about to make in
company with you and Bayley, what happiness I should feel!
But alas, alas ! I must rest contented with the hope of seeing
you here. With respect to the object of your Commission, it
is my private opinion—but I am not, you know, a mighty. wise
man in these matters (nor indeed in any other)—that the Ceded
and Conquered Provinces are not ready for a Permanent Set-
tlement. But you come, I suppose, with discretionary powers,
and I trust with full and efficient control.

““ If the Commission wishes to try its hand at unsettled coun-
tries, 1t will have a glorious opportunity in those which have
lately been under my management (perhaps 1t would be more
properly called mismanagement). All my efforts to call the
attention of Government, or even the proper and active atten-
tion of the Resident, to the subject have been vain. I thank
God, Spedding will be herc in two or three days, and I shall
be relieved from the charge. Then there will remain the con-
founded Udalut, in which, from circumstances peculiar to
Delhi, there is work for ten Judges without there being one.
If these duties continue, it will be a farce to call myself in the
Political line, whilst I am continually fagging from morning to
night in the Judicial and Revenue. I shall on Fraser’s arrival
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astonish Seton, by requesting permission to confine myself to
my own line; and perhaps shock him by this proof of my in-
sensibility to the prayers of a numerous people petitioning for
justice ; for Seton, in theory, is an enthusiast for the adminis-
tration of justice. . . . We have been, and are, and I
believe ever shall be, on the best of terms. We have had our
different opinions on public matters, and argued them, and
finally adhered each to his own, without any interruption of
harmony or diminution of confidence, and considering our rela-
tive situations the merit of this rests entirely with him. More
of him another time. For myself, I never, I assure you, can
lose sight of the object to which you guide my thoughts; I
mean Adam’s office. I despair, indeed, of ever gaining it, but
I do not the less desire it. It is the only situation in India
that I think of. I would make any exertions to obtain it if I
expected success. But I fear, I fear, I fear, that I have no
chance. I wish that you could make out an obuvious connexion
between it and the trifling affair which lately happened here.
I sincerely thank you for your kind expressions relative to the
business here. It was a trifle, and you have heard all relating
to 1t that is worth mentioning. I have much left unsaid, but
will resume at another time; it is now very late. Believe me
ever, my dear Sherer, not forgetting the glorious defeat of the
Corsican wretch,

“ Yours most affectionately,
“C. T. METCALFE.”

In this letter we see with sufficient distinctness
that Charles Metcalfe could not easily reconcile
himself to the performance of the uncongenial
duties of the Revenue and Judicial departments ; but
in the following, his dislike of these services breaks
out with more manifest impatience ; for he had been
disquieted by an unexpected call to act as Collector
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of Saharunpore. There was a scarcity of civilians
at that time in the Ceded and Conquered Provinces ;
and there were geographical reasons, if none other,
why Metcalfe should be taken from Delhi to officiate
for Mr. Guthrie, during his leave of absence from
the station ; so he received a missive from one of
the Government Secretaries, ordering him to act as
Collector of Saharunpore * for one month’—an
“ insignificant duty,” of which he could not refrain
from expressing his disgust :

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.
¢ Meerut, August 27, 1807.

““ MY DEAR SHERER,—I have just now received your
letter from the Ganges, between Mirzapore and Allahabad. 1
rejoice to find that you are so much pleased with your trip.
It appears to me to be a great relief to the sameness of your
official duties, and altogether an event which must be attended
with incalculable advantages. I am not surprised that your
mind wanders cccasionally from Regulations, Reports, and
Plans, to seek refreshment in the Elysium of interesting litera-
ture. I should be very much astonished to hear the contrary
of you, though it might do very well for M In saying
what you did to Tucker concerning my views, you acted like a
true friend. If the offer of such an honorable post had ever
reached me, I might have hesitated before I declined it. An
ambition to be so distinguished would, doubtless, have tingled
in my breast; but my reason tells me, that in order to sccure any
success in the Political line, or any other, the only wise way is
to adhere to that line most tenaciously; and as my choice is
fixed, I mean to pursue what appears to be the best way to
attain my object. With these sentiments, you will be able to
conceive that my disgust and annoyance is not small in being
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sent on the insignificant duty of acting as Collector in the
absence of Guthrie from his station.*

“ This is a dreadful blow to all my plans, because it may be
repeated whenever the convenience of sending me from Delhi
to act for any Collector in the vicinity may suggest itself to
the wise head of an unaccommodating Secretary. What would
I not give, if I must act out of my line, to change my present
situation to be made your deputy! I should like very much
to know what answer my friend Sir George gave, when I was
proposed as Secretary. If you should ever hear from Tucker,
let me know. I dare say it was, that I was too young and in-
experienced.

“I hope that I shall be able to spend some time with you
and Bayley, but I shall not be so much my own master as you
expect. I shall, most likely, have a troublesome year of it. I
expect to be out the greater part of the season with a con-
siderable military force, to reduce a barren unproductive country
to subordination. It will be a most unpleasant duty; but
Seton’s heart is set upon it, and I do not know how I can get

11d of it.

* Metcalfe wrote to his friend John
Adam, who was then in the Secretariat
department, setting forth the incon-
venience of detaching him from his
regular duties to act temporarily out
of the line of his profession ; and it may
be gathered from the following extract
from Adam’s reply that he obtained
something of an assurance that he
would not be sent on deputation again:

‘I am sorry,” wrote Mr. Adam, on
September 17, 1807, “that I am not
able to give you a positive promise
that you will never at any future time
be employed on deputation ; but I
think it extremely improbable that
you will, after what I have said to
Edmonstone on the subject, and the
manner in which he has spoken to
Dowdes_well. ~D. excused himself on
the subject of your being sent to Sa-
harunpore on”the ground of there
being no other fit person whom they
could employ on that duty within a

Unfortunately, our districts are not put under your

very great distance, and he assured
him that it should not occur again.
Edmonstone himself is fully impressed
with the impropriety as well as the un-
fairness of sending you to perform du-
ties so foreign to your own profession
and to your inclination. . . .. It so
happened, too, that one day at Bar-
rackpore Lord Minto was asking me
about your situation (which he intro-
duced by saying that Seton had been
writing of you in terms of high praise),
and I took the opportunity of telling
him your objections to the temporary
employment you were upon, and your
wish to devote yourself altogether to
the Political line. He made some
observation about the superiority of
the Political line, and that your depu-
tation would not last long; but whe-
ther the impression will remain, I
cannot tell. I should hope, however,
there is no danger of your being again
made a collector.”
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Commission—if they were, I should expect some good n
them. Our Customs at Delhi particularly require your inter-
ference; which, from the absurdity of keeping up all the old
Sayers, and refraining from introducing a new system, are in a
most abominable state. A representation that I made on the
subject, in order to get rid of the worst part of them, went no
further than Seton’s desk.

“ 1 am much of your way of thinking with regard to his
Majesty of Delhi. If I do not go all lengths with you in
destroying every part of the shadow of his Royalty, I am, at
all events, for letting him see very clearly that he is a mere
shadow; and if this could not be done completely without
destroying even the empty name which I would wish for the
present to leave to him, I would destroy even that. Thinking
as you do, you will be vexed, as I am, to find that the tone, lan-
guage, and behaviour of the Court, together with all the out-
ward marks, and in some respects, the real operative influence
of Royalty, have become in an increasing ratio much more
ridiculous and preposterous since the accession of the illustrious
Ukbar than they were before. It has often made me wonder,
and at the same time almost made me mad, to see a most
worthy excellent man blind to such gross absurdity, and a dupe
to wild and romantic feelings.

“As we near, I hope that our correspondence may become
more frequent. This hint is not necessary to Bayley; he at
all times writes so frequently! My love to him. Remember
me to Fortescue.

‘“ Believe me ever, your sincere friend,

“C.T. METCALFE.”

All through the cold weather of 1807-1808,
Charles Metcalfe, actively employed in:the per-
formance of his official duties, had little time
for private correspondence. Nor would there have
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been much to gather from it that would advance
the progress of the narrative if he had found leisure
to keep up a constant interchange of sentiment with
his friends. But the summer of the latter year
came to him pregnant with great events. His
ambition was now about to be signally gratified.
Lord Minto was at this time Governor-General of
India. From all quarters he had heard the praises
of Charles Metcalfe, and though personally unac-
quainted with him, he had such confidence in his
zeal and ability, that he rejoiced when the progress
of events enabled him to give the Delhi Assistant
an opportunity of distinguishing himself on an in-
dependent field of action. He was about to be
employed on an important Political Mission, de-
manding for the due execution of its duties the
highest diplomatic powers. In what state the
summons found him may be gathered from a letter
which he wrote in July to his friend Sherer. He
had then either not received the official notification
of his appointment, or it was a State secret—but
soon afterwards, he was on his way to the Punjab:

CHARLES METCALFE TO J. W. SHERER.

¢ Delhi, July 3, 1808.
“MY DEAR SHERER,—As it is long since I have written to

you, I will give you some account of myself. As by the
blessing of God I have a good constitution, and have never
experienced any of those misfortunes which wound the heart
or warrant any tendency to melancholy, I enjoy as usual good
health and good spirits. My accounts from my family are in
all essential points of a most pleasing nature. My father and
mother continue perfectly healthy, My sisters are growing up
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all that their parents wish them to be; and Master Tom 1is said
to be a quick, merry boy, with a sliyht inclination to 1dleness.

““From China I have no late intelligence. The only bad
piece of news that I have received from England is, that my
father has lost his seat in Parliament. I am sure that he must
feel the want of it, and I confess that I felt much annoyed by
the intelligence. There is some consolation, however, in think-
ing that at my father’s time of life rest and retirement, if not
required, ought at least to be beneficial.

“You are of course acquainted with the arrangement which
has lately taken place here, attaching permanently to the situa-
tion of First Assistant the duties of the ci-devant office of
Superintendent of Revenues. I am far from being pleased
either with the arrangement or the mode in which it has been
ordered; but there is no use in grumbling about it. To the
charge of the business now settled upon me they have affixed
the Commission which the Superintendent used to draw, in
order, I suppose, to soften the bitterness of the trouble. I mean
to make this a sinking fund for the reduction of my debts,
which, owing to the expenses of my Bungalow, has risen to a
considerable amount. My political character will henceforth
be little more than nominal, for I must necessarily give up my
time and attention to Revenue matters. In two or three days
I shall take the field, and I do not expect to take up my resi-
dence again at Delhi before the next hot winds.

“ What an unexampled and surprising picture the state of
Europe now presents; France, Russia, Austria, Prussia, Ger-
many, Holland, Spain, Portugal, Denmark, Italy, Turkey, all
Europe, save little Sweden, combined against our country.
We may truly call ourselves ¢ divisos orbe Britannos.” Although
this is a state of things which no one could ever have wished
to see, I confess that I feel a pride in it. There is something
glorious in fighting against the world. I adraire the spirited
and dignified conduct of our Ministers. I hope that we shall
do as well as possible under such strange circumstances. Surely
the combination against us cannot hold together long. Isit
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not unnatural? Will the Emperor of Russia long consent to
be the tool of France? or is he, with all the other Powers of
Europe, so completely enslaved as to make his conduct and
theirs not a matter of choice? What strange things we have
seen. We go to war with Turkey entirely on account of our
friendship with Russia—Turkey makes peace with Russia but
cannot be induced to make peace with us, and the two Powers
unite against us. We broke off a treaty with France on ac-
count of some point for which we were struggling in favor of
Russia, and now Russia and France are in alliance against us.
We sent to Prussia money and arms to assist her against France,
and now both money and arms are turned against us on the
side of France. We sent a large expedition to the Baltic to
aid our allies; when it arrived our allies had become our foes,
and it was obliged to take the navy and capital of one of those
Powers whom i1t was sent to protect from French influence.

“ We have at different times paid Austria, Russia, Prussia,
and Germany; we preserved to Turkey a great portion of its
empire, driving out its enemies the French; we have con-
stantly fought the battles of Europe against France; and all

Powers are now ranged on the side of France against us.
Hurrah for the tight little Island! What will become of

General Whitelocke, think you? Perhaps he will be shot, as
Voltaire says, speaking of Admiral Byng: ‘pour encourager
les autres” God bless you.
““ Your faithful friend,
“C. T. METCALFE.”
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CHAPTER VIIIL

[1808—1809.]
THE MISSION TO LAHORE.

Apprehensions of an Invasion—Measures of Defence—Metcalfe appointed
Envoy to Lahore—Meeting with Runjeet Singh—Conduct of the Rajah—
Delays and Excuses—Metcalfe’s Diplomatic Address—His Firmness and
Decision—Advance of the British Troops—Progress of Negotiation—The
Proposed Treaty—Collision with the Akalis—The Treaty concluded.

WHEN, in the spring of 1808, from the Council-
chamber of Calcutta, Lord Minto and his colleagues
looked out upon those vast tracts of country which
lie beyond the Sutlej and the Indus, and saw already
the shadow of a gigantic enemy advancing from the
West, it was no idle terror that haunted the imagi-
nations of our British statesmen. The pacification
of Tilsit had leagued against us the unscrupulous
ambition of the great French usurper and the terri-
torial cupidity of the Russian autocrat. That among
the mighty schemes which they then discussed for
the partition of the world between them, the inva-
sion of India was not one of the least cherished, or
the least substantial, now stands recorded as an his-
torical fact. We know now that it was nothing
more than a design; but it was not less the duty of
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our Indian rulers in 1808, to provide against a con-
tingency which then seemed neither improbable nor
remote. The occasion was one which, if it did not
warrant a demonstration of military power, at all
events invited a display of diplomatic address. It
was sound policy, in such a conjuncture, to secure
the good offices of the princes and chiefs who were
dominant in the countries which were supposed to
lie on the great high road of the invader. If the
rulers of Afghanistan and the Punjab could be in-
duced to enter into friendly alliances with the British
Government for the resistance of invasion from the
North, it seemed to Lord Minto and his colleagues
that more than half of the danger which threatened
our position would be at once removed.

Already was French intrigue making its way at
the Persian Court. That was the sure commence-
ment of the great game that was about to be played
—the safest and the wisest commencement. It was
a great thing, therefore, to re-establish our ascen-
dency at Teheran—and a great thing to achieve
the diplomatic occupation of the countries between
Persia and India before our enemies could appear
upon the scene. To accomplish the former object
John Malcolm was despatched to the Court of the
Shah-i-shah ; and to secure the latter Mountstuart
Elphinstone and Charles Metcalfe were ordered to

proceed—the former to Cabul, and the latter to
Lahore.*

* What the course of aggression to the former had ever any very clear
be pursued by the French would be, perception on the subject themselves,
our Government could of course only The following passages, however, from
conjecture, for it is doubtful whether theletterofinstructionssenttoCharles



RUNJEET SINGH.

241

The Prince to whose Court Metcalfe was ordered

to proceed was Runjeet Singh.

Since, in pursuit of

Holkar, Lake’s battalions had encamped in the
country of the five rivers, the rise of that chieftain
had been rapid. He had gone on without halting,

Metcalfe indicate what Lord Minto’s
conjectures were. After speaking of
diplomatic events in Persia, the docu-
ment thus proceeds:

“The increasing importance of those
transactions in Persia, and the activity
and advancement of those hostile pro-
jects of the French, which suggest
the necessity of a close connexion
with the states of Lahore and Cabul,
having rendered the establishment of
& direct intercourse with the Rajah
of Lahore and the King of Cabul at
an early period of time an object
essential to the interests and security
of the British Government in India,
the Right Hon. the Governor-General
in Council has resolved to adopt
without further delay the measures
necessary for that purpose, by ap-
pointing direct Missions to each of
those Courts, intending at the same
time that the officers employed on this
occasion should be vested with autho-
rity to open a negotiation with them
respectively for the attainments of
the ultimate object of the proposed
connexion, that of encouraging the
states of Cabul and Lahore to resist
the progress of a Irench army, which
may endeavor to traverse the terri-
tories of those states with a view to
the invasion of India ; and the Go-
vernor-General in Council, reposing
full confidence in your zeal, ability,
discretion, and local knowledge, has
been pleased to vest you with the
charge of the proposed Mission to the
Rajah of Lahore in the capacity of
Envoy on the part of the British Go-
vernment.”—[ Edmonstone to Metcalfe,
June 20, 1808.] And again: “If the
French should ultimately fail of se-
curing the co-operation of Persia in
the execution of their hostile designs
against India, and should be enabled to
advance their armies into Persia, they

VOL, 1.

may be expected to endeavor to esta-
blish their power in the latter country
by forceof arms. Itis probable,indeed,
that, under circumstances, they will
place their dependence on their power
to overawe and control the state of
Persia rather than on the friendship
and co-operation of that state. With
regard to the precise nature of the
measures and operations by which
the French may endeavor to prosecute
their hostile designs against India,
after having opencd a passage for their
troops into Persia, established a mili-
tary ascendancy, Government pos-
sesses no authentic information. Some
reports state that the French proposc
to aid the King of Persia in the con-
quest of the Afghan territories, and
to annex them to the King’s domi-
nions, and subsequently to invade
India by the route of Caubul and the
Punjab. Other reports have stated,
that it is the intention of the French
to prosecute the projected invasion of
India by the southern route of Scinde
and Guzerat. . .. .. Although the
French may possibly pursue the
course above stated with respect to
the Afghan territories, it is at least
equally probable that they will en-
deavor, by means of their emissaries,
to secure the good-will of the King of
Cabul, and to obtain for their troops
a free passage through those terri-
tories. It is to be expected also that
they will despatch emissaries to La-
hore with the same view, It is con-
sistent with the activity which distir-
guishes the character of the French,
to suppose that they have already
despatched agents to those countries
—a supposition which augments the
urgency of your Mission, and the pro-
posed Mission to Cabul.”—[ Edmon-
stone to Metcalfe, June 20, 1808.]
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on his career of conquest. A man of unbounded
energy and unfailing courage—with great natural
sagacity and no inconvenient amount of conscien-
tiousness either to control his energies or direct his
abilities—he had been recently absorbing all the
small principalities beyond the Sutlej, and consoli-
dating them into a great empire. Even the petty
Sikh states on our side of the Sutlej were not be-
yond the scope of his ambition. He was eager to
bring them also under the common yoke; and as he
approached the confines of British dominion, was
already beginning to excite the jealousy and mis-
trust of his Christian neighbours. In 1805 he was
known to us merely as one of the chiefs of the
Punjab; in 1808 he was the Maha-rajah (or great

king) Runjeet Singh.*

Of the Sikhs we were long content to know little.

In the first years of the

tionaries spoke of them as ‘“ miscreants,”

* See Metcalfe’s own account of the
progress made by Runjeet in this in-
terval:

“ It must be remembered that in
the time of the Mahrattas his (Run-
jeet’s) power was very petty compared
with what it is at present. He had
not then subdued many chiefs of the
Punjab, and would not presume to
extend his views beyond the Sutlej.
As late as 1806, when the British
army was on the Beeah, he was not
the sovereign of places in the Punjab
within thirty miles of Lahore. In-
deed, several of his present obsequious
dependents were then quite ~inde-
pendent of him, and some were in open
war with him. Since the beginning of

1808 his power has increased in an
extraordinary manner, and as, through-
out his life, it has been progressive, it

century our British func-
as a law-

may be supposed how inferior it was
in 1802 and 1803, when the Mahrattas
were masters of Delhi. From 1803
to 1806 he was extending his posses-
sions in the Punjab. In the course of
1806 he nearly completed the subju-
gation of the country, and in the latter
end of the last-mentioned year he
commenced his encroachments on the
left bank of the Sutlej. Since that
time his power has become much more
respectable than it was before —since
that time he has amassed treasure of
which he had none before—since that
time he has collected most of his guns
and formed his infantry corps. In
brief, since that time his power has
assumed substantial form and great-
ness.”—[ Metcalfe to Edmonstone. MS.
Records, Juna 2, 1802.]
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less and degraded people, either indulging their pre-
datory habits abroad, or sunk deep in sensuality at
home. Neither their territorial arrangements nor
their military resources were matters of vital con-
cern to us at this time; and if we took any account
of the national character of the followers of Govind,
it was in pursuit rather of ethnographical knowledge
than in furtherance of any political ends. But the
creat war with the Mahrattas, and the conquests
which it had forced upon wus, brought us into
proximity with these strange new people; and it
then became apparent to us that we could no longer
regard the Sikh States as a group of petty princi-
palities, exercising no influence whether for good
or for evil upon the security of our position, or the
pacific character of our rule. It seemed, indeed,
necessary to do something ; but what that something
was to be it was difficult to decide. In the dis-
union of the Sikhs there were elements both of
safety and of danger to the British—of safety, be-
cause a power so utterly wanting in union and
organisation could never be formidable in itself; of
danger, because the very causes which prevented
the Sikhs from becoming formidable enemies ren-
dered it impossible that they should become service-
able friends. There was, indeed, in these states, on
both sides of the Sutlej, nothing of unity or stability
out of which a barrier against external invasion
could be erected. It was apparent that we could
enter with them into no engagements that could bind
them to oppose the advance of an European army.
To protect themselves against spoliation it was but
R 2
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too likely that they would league themselves with
the invaders, and swell the tide of devastation and
destruction. It was difficult to deal with such a
combination of circumstances as now presented
itself, and yet to adhere strictly to those principles
of non-interference which the British Legislature
had established, and to which the Indian Govern-
ment of the day declared its fixed determination to
adhere.*

The advantages of giving something like a tan-
gible form and substance to the scattered elements
of the Sikh power on the banks of the Sutlej
had been urged upon the Supreme Government by
Colonel Ochterlony whilst still Resident at Delhi.
It was proposed by him, that the British Govern-
ment should distribute the country between the
Sutlej and the Jumna among four principal Sikh
chiefs, the precise limits of the territory of each
being assigned by us, and that we should enter into
specific engagements with these chiefs. Or, if it
were considered that such engagements were not
likely to be observed, it was suggested that resort
might be had to a more decided exercise of our

* See, for the views of the Supreme
Government in 1805-1806, minute
drawn up by Mr. Lumsden for the
Governor-General:

“The Sikh chieftains in the actual
condition of their respective tenures
could not by any arrangement be ren-
dered efficient allies and auxiliaries
against an invading enemy. It would
be impracticable to unite them in a
common interest and a common cause.
In the event of invasion they would
probably add by their junction to the

number of the invaders, and increasc
their means of devastation. . . . . ..
We could not safely or prudently de-
pend in any degree upon the senti-
ments of gratitude or the obligations
of public faith and honor to govern the
proceedings of such a tribe. The
ruling chieftains would probably pro-
vide for their security from immediate
plunder or destruction by conciliating
and assisting, and perhaps by joining,
the enemy.”—{ M S. Records.]
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paramount power—that the whole body of Sikh
chiefs might be reduced to the condition of tribu-
taries, and compelled to pay for the maintenance of
a British force to “watch their conduct,” or, in
other words, to hold them in absolute subjection.
But this was not a course of policy likely to find
favor in the eyes of Lord Cornwallis, Sir George
Barlow, or Lord Minto. ¢ The Resident was in-
formed that the arguments which would justify such
an exercise of our power would equally justify the
annexation of the whole of the Sikh territory to
the British dominions, and that the extension of
our territorial possessions, or of our political control
for purposes of expediency, or even of comparative
security, unsupported by motives of indisputable
justice and indispensable necessity, had never con-
stituted an object of the policy of this Government.” *
A strictly defensive system was to be maintained—
not that defensiveness which is nine parts aggres-
sion, but rigid non-interference, which turns its
back upon its neighbours until it receives a blow
from behind. The Sikh chiefs were to be left to
themselves. But they were to be chastised if they
offended us. Predatory incursions across our bor-
ders were to be visited in the first place by the
expulsion of the offenders at the point of the bayo-
net, and in the second place by the partition of
their lands among those chiefs who aided us in the
suppression of the lawless excesses of their neigh-
bours. And it was believed that we should best

* Minute of Mr. Lumsden, ut supra.—[ M 8. Records.]
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maintain the integrity of our frontier by showing
that we were as unwilling to practise as we were
able to resist aggression.

In this state, affairs remained until the year 1808,
when the two circumstances to which I have re-
ferred at the commencement of the chapter induced
Lord Minto to depart from the policy to which his
predecessors had so religiously adhered—the in-
creased apprehension of European invasion and the
progressive consolidation of the empire of Runjeet
Singh. A Sikh alliance had now become more ex-
pedient and more practicable. We wanted an ally,
and we had found one. Left to themselves, the
Sikh chiefs on the further side of the Sutlej had,
one by one, been compelled to own the supremacy
of Runjeet, whilst those on our side of the river,
awed by the threats of the Lahore chief, were
trembling for the safety of their possessions. Of
the influence and the ability of this chieftain the
British Government had no doubt. His integrity
and good faith they may have questioned, for he
was a Sikh. But they believed that they might
work upon his hopes and upon his fears, and by
demonstrating to him that his own interests would
be largely promoted by an alliance with the British,
induce him to enter into an engagement for the
protection of the frontier of Hindostan.

In the winter season of 1807-8 a favorable oppor-
tunity of establishing amicable relations with the
Lahore chief seemed to have presented itself. Run-
jeet Singh, who had written a friendly letter to Lord
Minto, contemplated a visit to Hurdwar; and it
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was resolved that a British officer should be de-
spatched to meet him there. The functionary
selected for this duty was Charles Metcalfe.* But
the vacillating chief never fulfilled his intention;
and when subsequently he declared that he contem-
plated a visit to Thanesur, it was felt that so litile
reliance was to be placed on his movements that it
would be expedient to shape our own measures
without reference to the uncertain procedure of the
impulsive Sikh. So it was determined that a Mission
should be sent across the Sutlej, under the conduct
of Charles Metcalfe; and on the 20th of June, 1808,
the Supreme Government, under the hand of Mr.
Iidmonstone, formally announced his appointment,
and the instructions by which the young ambas-
sador was to be guided.

The duties of the Mission were to be entrusted
entirely to Metcalfe himself. He was to move
without secretaries, assistants, or attachés. A mi-
litary escort was to be provided ; and a proper esta-
blishment of moonshees, writers and servants, was
to be furnished. But the work of diplomacy was to
be left entirely to his unaided counsels. He was to
carry with him, however, the Oriental diplomatist’s

* Metcalfe had applied for the De-
puty-Secretaryship in the Political
department, on the translation of
John Adam. ILord Minto had pre-
viously made other arrangements
with respect to this office, but he di-
rected his Private Secretary, in reply
to Metcalfe’s application, to express
his Lordship’s high sense of his cha-
racter and abilities, and the desired
intention of the Governor-General to
take an early opportunity of pro-
moting so excellent a public servant.

*The esteem,” wrote Mr. Elliot,
“ which his Lordship has conceived
for your character and talents, is
founded as well on what has already
fallen under his own observation as on
the report of those whose judgment
has been formed on alonger acquaint-
ance. It will, therefore, give him
great satisfaction to evince these sen-
timents by such marks of confidence
and favor ashe may find suitableoppor-
tunities of showing you.”—[Mr. Elliot
to Mr. Metcalfe, October 25, 1807. ]
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best auxiliary, a costly supply of presents; and,
in order that his communications with the Govern-
ment might be frequent and uninterrupted, he was
instructed to establish a letter-post between Delhi
and Umritsur. Iis personal salary was to be 2000
rupees a month, and all the expenses of the Mission
were to be charged to the State.*

Such were the outer circumstances of the Mission
to Lahore. The letter which determined them
carried also the instructions of the Supreme Go-
vernment relative to the course of policy to be pur-
sued by the British representative at the Sikh
Court. It was such a letter as Metcalfe had never
received before—such a letter as a young man of
three-and-twenty has seldom, if ever, received from
the Government of a great empire. The object of
the Mission was of the most momentous character.
1t was simply to counteract the towering ambition
of the gigantic despots of France and Russia. Of
the great scheme of diplomacy by which Persia,
Afghanistan, and the Punjab were to be erected
into friendly barriers against Russo-Gallic invasion,
Metcalfe was to be the pioneer. e was to prepare
the way for Elphinstone, and make things ready for
the reception of Malcolm. He was to conduct a
series of the most delicate operations alone and
unaided in a strange country, and to negotiate a
treaty of friendship with a Prince of an uncertain
and capricious temper, of selfish and unscrupulous
ambition, unrestrained by any principles of Chris-

* Mr. Edmonstone to My, Melcalfe, Junc 20, 1808.—[MS. Records.]
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tian rectitude, or any courtesies of civilised life.
But the very difficulties which beset such a posi-
tion, and the responsibilities with which it was
surrounded, only in the eyes of Charles Metcalfe,
enhanced its attractiveness. He had been panting
for a great opportunity, and now the great oppor-
tunity was come. They who have caught glimpses
of the early character of the man in the recorded
pages of his Common-place Book, and seen what
were his aspirations, will readily conceive what
were the pulsings of his warm heart, and the
tinglings of his young blood, when he sate down to
read the instructions of the Supreme Government,
and to draw up for his future guidance the fol-
lowing memoranda, containing an abstract of the
Chief Secretary’s Letter and his own interpretation
of its contents :

“ MEMORANDA FROM INSTRUCTIONS.

“ General and conciliatory answers to be returned to any
questions from the Cis-Sutlejean chiefs respecting the object of
my mission. Arguments to be used to satisfy them that the
improvement of the relations of amity between the British
Government and the Rajah of Lahore involves no arrange-
ments prejudicial to other chiefs. Applications for protection
against Runjeet Singh to be referred to the President of Dihlee,
but endeavors to be made to convince the chiefs that Govern-
ment takes an interest in their welfare, and that the objects
of my mission are entirely consistent with those friendly senti-
ments.

“Main object of the Mission :— Counteraction of the designs
of the French. The time of stating my ultimate purpose to be
regulated by circumstances. Expedient first to make myself
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acquainted with the character and disposition of Runjeet Singh
and his Ministers, and to endeavor to create an interest with
them by conciliating their confidence and good-will. Proper
to ascertain the Rajah’s disposition respecting my residence at
his Court. If he should be desirous of my continuance, to
select my own time for opening the negotiation. In the mean
time, to represent the object to be the improvement of the
amicable relations so long subsisting between the states, and
confirmed by the intercourse between Lord Lake and the Rajah,
and by the treaty then concluded. Reference to be made to
Runjeet Singh’s friendly letter to the Governor-General, and
the Governor-General’s reply. To observe that the demon-
stration of attachment contained in that letter had augmented
the solicitude of Government to cultivate the connexion be-
tween the two states, and that I had been sent accordingly for
the express purpose of cementing the bonds of friendship.
That I had been despatched to Hurdwar with the same view;
and that the failure of that opportunity of showing our friend-
ship had suggested the still more distinguished mark of regard
by a direct Mission to his Court.

“ Cases in which it would be advisable to enter immediately,
or the proper object of my mission:—1st. If any French agent
should have arrived at, or might be expected in, Lahore, or
the adjacent countries. 2nd. If the designs of the French and
the state of affairs in Persia should have attracted the Rajah’s
notice. 3rd. Receipt of authentic intelligence of the actual
advance of a French army towards Persia.

““ General principle upon which to conduct the negotiation:
—Opposition to the French to be urged as the only way of
securing the Rajah’s territories and independence from the
insatiable ambition and unlimited encroachment and violence
of the ruler of France. To persuade him that he will not be
able to resist the enemy without a British force. To secure
the Rajah’s consent to the march of a British army through
the Punjab, and the exertion of his authority in furnishing
supplies, with permission to establish depdts of provisions and
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military stores. To express the full confidence of the British
Government in its power. To explain the facility of cutting
off the supplies of the enemy, and withholding from them the
produce of the country.

“To avoid a declaration of non-interference in case of the
renewal of his attacks upon the Cis-Sutlejean states, and to
manage that delicate question as well as I can. To show a
disposition to accede to engagements of a strictly defensive
nature if proposed; but to refer the question for the decision of
Government, except in an evident emergency.

“To facilitate the Mission to Cabul and establish a prelimi-
nary intercourse with the Court, and to establish a channel of
intelligence and communication to the westward. Not to
announce the intended Mission to Cabul until after its departure
from Dihlee, but to be prepared to remove from Runjeet
Singh’s mind any jealousy or apprehension. No objection to
disclosing the object of the Cabul Mission after having disclosed
my own, otherwise to attribute it to motives which cannot
injure him.

““ To collect and communicate every information regarding
the political state of the country, also respecting those points
which it is expedient to ascertain with reference to the march
and suppiy of troops. To ascertain the routes through which
it is practicable for an army to march from Persia to the
Indus. To communicate information respecting the geography
of the countries to the westward of that river.

“ To discover the real disposition of Runjeet Singh towards
the British Government, and to regulate my negotiations
accordingly. To inquire respecting his resources, troops,
government, dominion, relations with other states, &c., &c.
To discourage Mehtab Kour and her mother guoad their plot.
To do away the effect of Captain Matthews's proceedings. To
inquire into the reported intrigue with Holkar and Amnut

Rao.”

To one of Metcalfe’s aspiring temper, not the
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least of the attractions of this new employment was
derived from the considerations of the great extent
of country over which he was to be permitted,
under certain contingencies, to spread the network
of his diplomacy. He already saw himself de-
spatching emissaries to the Courts of Cabul and
Teheran, and baffling the gigantic intrigues of Na-
poleon and Alexander throughout the whole ex-
panse of Central Asia. But his enthusiasm was
always tempered with sound good sense, and when
he committed to writing, more for his own guidance
than for any other purpose, his views of the course
which it was expedient to pursue with reference to
a correspondence with those distant Courts, there
was nothing discernible in the paper but the work-
ings of a plain, practical mind :

“ Tt appears from the minute of the Governor-General and
the instructions which I have received, that the Mission to
Lahore will considerably precede that to Cabul, and his Lord-
ship has expressed an expectation that I may have the means of
facilitating the latter Mission, and of establishing a preliminary
intercourse with the Court of Cabul. It is proper, therefore,
for me to consider how I can best carry these instructions into
execution.

“ The uncertainty existing respecting the time at which Mr.
Elphinstone will proceed on his mission, gives rise to some doubt
regarding the proper plan for me to pursue. If any great delay
were in contemplation, I should think it right for me in the
first instance to endeavor to open a correspondence with the
Minister of the King of Cabul of a general friendly nature, and
to refrain from any communication of the intentions of Govern-
ment to send an Envoy to Cabul until I had ascertained the
disposition of the Court, and found a proper opportunity. In
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this case, I should think it right to despatch a native agent to
Cabul, with a letter to the Wuzeer, requesting permission for
him to attend the Court on my part, for the purpose of sending
me account of the welfare of his Majesty, and of establishing a
medium of friendly communication. This is all that I should
think it advisable to do at first; and I should expect that
opportunities would occur of proceeding further in the course
of the correspondence which would probably follow this intro-
duction. I should not, if I were to act according to my own
judgment, charge the native with any directions to sound the
Ministers respecting the disposition of the King; nor should I
make him acquainted with the views of Government, because I
would not on any account put it into his power to commit the
dignity of Government.

“ In the case stated, it 1s supposed that there may be that
mterval between my arrival at Lahore and Mr. Elphinstone’s
departure from Dihlee, which would admit of a general friendly
correspondence with the Court of Cabul previous to announcing
the intention of Government to send an Envoy. But if Mr.
Elphinstone is to proceed on his mission at an earlier period
than has been supposed, the line of conduct above mentioned
would not answer; and in that case it would, I think, be
advisable, and most suitable to the character of the British
Government, to announce its intentions in a dignified and open
manner, by sending a native as the bearer of a letter directly
to the Court. It is scarcely possible that the King of Cabul
would wantonly insult the British Government by any improper
reply to this notice; and the expediency of making this direct
advance is considerably strengthened by the probability that a
rcport of the intended Mission may reach Cabul before the
“desired intercourse can be opened with the Court. It is, how-
cver, probable, that the measures already adopted by Mr. Seton
will lead to a correspondence, which may afford opportunitics
of announcing the Mission in a manner different from that
above suggested.

‘““ It may be a question whether 1t would be most advisable
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to conduct the preliminary intercourse with Cabul through the
Resident at Dihlee, or through Mr. Elphinstone, or through
the Envoy at Lahore; at present I am instructed to turn my
attention to the object as well as to the necessity of opening a
communication with Teheran immediately after my arrival at
Lahore; and it 1s, consequently, necessary that I should be
accompanied by natives qualified to be employed in these im-
portant matters, either according to such particular instructions
as I may hereafter receive, or according to the best of my judg-
ment, formed upon the general orders which I have already
received. This consideration induced me to request from Mr.
Seton the assistance of Fyzut-oolla at Lahore; and with the
same view, I propose to carry along with me Syud Jafier
Khan, who was formerly employed by Colonel Scott on a
mission to Nadaun. One or the other of these, whichever
may appear to be best qualified, I propose to send without
delay, if all things remain as they are, to Cabul, charged with a
letter from myself to the Minister; and the other I intend to
employ in opening the communication with Persia. It is not
my intention to confine my endeavors to obtain intelligence of
the state of the Court and country of Cabul to the mission
of a native to Cabul with aletter. "We ought, besides, to have
secret news-writers, not only with the Court, but in Cabul,
Cashmeer, Peshawur, Candahar, Moultan, Herat, and as far
as possible in the interior of Persia.”

Little time was lost in making the necessary pre-
parations for the departure of the Mission. TIn the
first week of August, Charles Metcalfe turned his
back upon Delhi. The weather was unpropitious.
It was the height of the monsoon. The heavy
rains, and the bad roads, for a while impeded the
progress of the Mission. After passing Kurnaul, the
weather began to improve; but the travellers in-
variably found themselves either in a quagmire or a
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pool. ¢ The country,” he wrote, “is so full of
water, and the roads are so deep with mud, and the
soil so soft, that it is difficult for cattle of every
description to move. We have been under the
necessity of taking a circuitous route, the direct
road not being passable; and we have not been able
to make marches of a greater distance than about
ten miles daily.” On the 22nd of August the
Mission reached Puttealah, one of the chief places in
the Cis-Sutlej states, and here the serious business
of diplomacy commenced.

The Rajah of Puttealah received the British
Envoy with profuse demonstrations of compliment
and congratulation ; and at a public interview, un-
expectedly produced the keys of the fort, and re-
quested Metcalfe to restore them to him as a gift
from the British Government. He threw himself,
he said, entirely on our protection—all that he had
was at the mercy of the British—his government
and his existence would cease without our support.
But Metcalfe read at once the true meaning of this
proposal, and answered that he was not authorised
by his Government to perform any such ceremony,
but that the British were his friends, and ever de-
sired his prosperity ; and that the keys could not be
in better hands.*

On the 1st of September the Mission crossed the

* Soon afterwards, the chief told him fulfilled. It was suggested, too, to
that he had heard it was the inten- Metcalfe, that it would be expedient
tion of Runjeet Singh to cross the for him to write to Runjeet to say
Sutlej and to seize Fureed-kote, which that the British Government desired
was in the Puttealah dominions—an him to remain at Lahore to receive
intention which was subsequently the Mission.
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Sutlej.* At Puttealah they had been met by an
agent despatched by Runjeet Singh with a letter of
welcome and congratulation; but as they advanced
into the Punjab, it became at every stage more and
more obvious that that erratic Prince had little in-
tention of remaining at home, either at Lahore or
Unmritsur, to receive the British Embassy in a be-
coming manner. It was reported, indeed, that he
had crossed the river with the intention of making
a descent upon the Puttealah territory; but this
Metcalfe was slow to believe, and the Sikh agent
who remained in his camp either was, or pretended
to be, ignorant of the movements of his master.
All doubts, however, were soon set at rest by the
receipt of a letter from Runjeet himself, announcing
his intention to receive the British Mission at Kus-
soor. Troops, it appeared, were assembling there
from all quarters; but Metcalfe believed that the
chief cause of the assemblage was a desire on the
part of the Sikh chief to make a formidable display
of his military resources in the presence of the
British Mission.t

Metcalfe pushed on to Kussoor, which lay upon
his road to Umritsur ;1 and upon the 10th of Sep-

* Before the Mission had reached
the banks of the river, Metcalfe had
despatched a confidential agent to
Cabul with instructions to commu-
nicate all that was passing in Afghan-
istan, and to keep open the communi-
cations with Persia, to which country
Malcolm was about to proceed at the
head of a great Embassy.

1 “Runjeet Singh's army is assem-
bling from all quarters.” Notwith-
standing the reports that are in circu-

lation respecting his intentions, I am
inclined to suppose that his principal
motive in collecting his forces at this
period is a desire to make a good dis-
play of his military power before the
British Empire.”—[ Mr. Metcalfe to
Myr. Edmonstone, September 5, 1808.]
+ He seems to have had some mis-
givings at this time regarding the
external appearance of the Mission at
the Sikh Court—the clothing of his
escort being in a most discreditable
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tember he halted within a few miles of the Sikh
camp, that the ceremonials of the reception might
be arranged. On the following day, Runjeet’s
Prime Minister* and his chief military officer,+
with a retinue of two thousand men, came out to
conduct the Mission to the ground which had been
marked out for their encampment, at a distance of
less than a mile from the Rajah’s tents.

¢« On the 12th,” wrote Metcalfe to the Chief Secre-
tary, ¢ I paid my first visit to Runjeet Singh, accom-
panied by the officers attached to the escort. The
Rajah met us on the outside of a large enclosure,
and having embraced all the gentlemen of the
Mission, conducted us within, where tents had been
prepared for our reception.{ As a compliment to
us, the Rajah, from his own choice, used chairs at
this meeting, partly collected from our camp and
partly from his own, upon which he and the prin-
cipal Sirdars present and the gentlemen of the
British Mission were seated. This interview was
prolonged by the Rajah beyond the usual time of
visits of ceremony; but nothing of consequence
passed at it. The Rajah did not enter much into

condition. He reported the circum-
stance to Government.

* The Dewan Mokun Chund.

1 Hisadopted brother, FuttehSingh.

should come out from his camp to
mect the Mission, and I had it inti-
nmated to him that such was my ex-
pectations.

T Metcalfe was of opinion that
Runjeet ought to have come out to
meet the Mission, but this Runjeet
declined. His representations, how-
ever, were not without some effect.

“It appeared to me,” he wrote,
# that the rank and dignity of the Go-
vernment which I have the honor
to represent, required that the Rajah

VOL. I.

He did not come into my
wishes in that respect; but the refer-
ences which I had occasion to make
respecting the ceremonials, had a
good cffect, inasmuch as they pro-
duced a great change in them, for at
first the reception was proposed to be
in a style far inferior to that which
has been observed.”—{ Metcalfe to
Edmonstone, September 13, 1808.]
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conversation, and made only two observations
worthy of remark. One was an expression of regret
for the lamented death of Lord Viscount Lake, of
whom he observed that it would be difficult to find
his equal, for that he was as much distinguished by
his gentleness, mildness, humanity, and affability,
as by his greatness as a military character. The
other observation was in reply to one of his courtiers,
who was remarking that the British Government
was celebrated for good faith ; upon which Runjeet
Singh said that he knew well that the word of the
British Government included everything.”” Presents
were interchanged, and in the evening a salute was
fired in Runjeet’s camp in honor of the day, which
he intimated to Metcalfe was regarded by him as a
day of rejoicing.

In spite, however, of these declarations of friend-
ship, the reception given to the British Mission had
nothing of cordiality in it. Runjeet was plainly
jealous and suspicious of the British Government.
His better reason clouded by the false insinuations
and the mischievous advice of councils of chiefs,
who, from motives of self-interest, desired to embroil
Runjeet with the Company’s Government, he for-
bade all communication between the two camps,
and for some time was unwilling to return the visit
of the British Envoy. It was obviously his wish to
enhance his own importance in the eyes of the as-
sembled chiefs and the large body of troops encamped
at Kussoor, by appearing to hold the British Mission
of little account. ¢ In brief,” wrote Metcalfe, it
would appear that I am regarded as a dangerous
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enemy to be guarded against, rather than as an
Envoy from a friendly State charged with the most
amicable duties.”

But the decided conduct of the young Ambassador
soon induced Runjeet at least to pay the British
Mission the compliment of a visit. On the 16th
Metcalfe received the Sikh with all honors. A suite
of tents had been erected for the occasion, and a
musnud in the Oriental fashion prepared for the
Rajah’s occupancy. But Runjeet, preferring the
European style, seated himself on a chair, and still
eschewing business, entered into familiar conversa-
tion with the British officers, principally on military
subjects.* After the interview, he expressed a wish
to see the manceuvres of the detachment of Com-
pany’s troops composing the escort, and mounted
on an elephant, watched the exercise of the sepoys
with interest and seeming pleasure. He took his
final leave, to all appearance, much gratified ; and
such had been the cordiality of his manner, that
Metcalfe believed a favorable change had taken
place in the feelings of the Sikh, and that the

* « He spoke with great respect of
the British troops, and observed of
the Mahratta army which he had seen

tents standing. It was pleasing to
observe that this had made an im-
pression on Runjeet Singh, and that

in this country that it contained great
numbers, but that it wanted union
and command. He related the fol-
lowing anecdote, which happened
when Jeswunt Rao Holkar was in the
neighbourhood of Umritsur. A re-
port was brought to Holkar that Lord
Lakec had crossed the Beeas in pursuit
of him. Holkar immediately mounted
his horse. The alarm spread through
his army, and the whole fled to a con-
siderable distance, leaving all their

he had no objection to mention it. He
put questions concerning our favorite
mode of fighting, the distance at
which we erected our batteries in be-
sieging, the distance at which our ar-
tillerymen could hit a target in prac-
tice,with others of a similar nature and
tendeney. He complained of the dif-
ficulty of introducing disciplinc among
the people of the Punjab.”—[ Metcalfe
to Edmonstone, September 17, 1308.]

s 2
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business of the Mission would soon proceed without
interruption. Great, therefore, were Metcalfe’s as-
tonishment and disappointment when, on the fol-
lowing day, he received a letter from Runjeet Singh,
which he characterised in his official communications
to Government as ‘“an extraordinary instance of
suspicion, hastiness, and disrespect.” The letter,
in its Bastern phraseology, contained the meaning
here embodied in an English dress :

Translation of a Note from Rejah Runjeet Singh to Mr. Detcalfe,
delivered by Misr Prebdial, Hukeem Uzeezoodeen, and Meean
Imawm-ood-deen on the evening of the 17th of September, 1808,

“I never before at any time under any emergency, or in any
place, have made so long a halt as I have now, solely in
consequence of the friendship between this Government and the
Honorable Company, which by the blessing of God has been
increasing and improving from the time in which his Excellency
Lord Lake came into this country to the present happy hour.
My camp has remained in this place so long, in the expectation
of your arrival. Thanksgivings to the Throne of the Almighty,
this wish of my heart, that is, your arrival, and the pleasure of
seeing you, has been obtained in a proper manner.

“ Although it is difficult to feel satiety from the interviews of
friends whose hearts are united, and although the times of
meeting, however many, seem too few, yet affairs of State must
be attended to. Consequently, I am about to march imme-
diately for the settlement of certain districts. In my nation it
s considered very auspicious to march on the first day of the
moon; and my march is appointed for that day. Therefore be
pleased to make the fricndly communications on the part of the
Right Honorable the Governor-General, with which, from
his Lordship’s letter, I understand you to be charged, in order
that T may act accordingly. My anxiety cannot admit of

longer expectation.”
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Outwardly courteous and complimentary as was
this effusion, its uncourteous and uncomplimentary
meaning peeped out from every sentence of it.
“ This extraordinary document,” wrote Metcalfe,
“ gave me notice in a plain manner that I was ex-
pected to take my leave in three or four days. It
was calculated to repel, whilst it professed to call
for communications, and in, I suppose, an unprece-
dented manner, evinced a design to shut the door
against all intercourse, and to put an end to the pro-
ceedings of the Mission, without even ascertaining
in the slightest degree the object to which they
might be directed.”” But Metcalfe believed that the
obnoxious letter was hardly to be considered as the
own act and deed of Runjeet himself. It was, he
knew, the result of suspicions instilled into him by
others; and he did not yet despair of bringing the
chief, by good diplomacy—by conduct at once firm
and conciliatory, into a more reasonable frame of
mind. So he sent back the following letter in
reply :

Translation of a Note from Myr. Metcalfe to Rajah Runjeet Singh,
transmitted on the night of the 17tk of September, in reply to
that recerved from the Rajah on the evening of same day.

“By the blessing of God the relations of friendship have
been firmly established between you and the British Govern-
ment, from the time when his Excellency General Lord Lake
was in this country, and have been daily improved, particularly
since the period when you wrote a very friendly letter to the
Right Honorable Lord Minto, the Governor-General, congra-
tulating his Lordship on his arrival in India. In consequence,
when you formed the intention of visiting Hurdwar, in order
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to bathe in the Holy Ganges, his Loxrdship deputed me for the
purpose of receiving you with every respect, and attending you
during your stay in that quarter. It happened that your inten-
tions were postponed. The Right Honorable the Governor-
General, wishing to display a signal mark of his friendship and
regard, has now commanded me to repair to your Court to
express the satisfaction with which his Lordship views the
existing harmony and concord betwecn the two states, and with
a view to establish and improve the ties of intimacy and union.
To-morrow I hope to have the honor of waiting upon you when-
ever you are at leisure, when I will make the communications
with which I am entrusted by the Right Honorable the Go-
vernor-General, and present a letter which I have from his
Lordship to your address.”

This letter was not without its anticipated effect.
Metcalfe was right when he believed that Runjeet
had been led astray by the instillation of some false-
hood with which the men by whom he was sur-
rounded had poisoned his understanding. He had
been told that Metcalfe was on his way to Cabul ;
and that the British Mission had not been despatched
primarily and exclusively to his Court, but merely
instructed to pay him a passing visit. But this lie
was soon exploded ; and Runjeet again began to re-
gard the Mission with complacency. An answer was
promptly returned to Metcalfe’s letter; and it con-
tained an eager invitation to the meeting proposed
by the British Envoy :

Tronslation of a Note from Rajah Runjeet Singh to Mr. Metcalfe,
recewved from Meean Imaum-ood-deen on the 18th of Septembei.

[After compliments.] “In an auspicious and happy mo-
ment your friendly letter, most agreeable to my inclinations,
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every letter of which refreshed my eye, reached me, and gave
splendor to the unity and concord (subsisting between us). That
which is written by your friendly pen respecting what has
happened from the illustrious arrival of Lord Lake in this
country up to your arrival, in order to confirm and improve
the relations of intimate sincere friendship, which by the
blessing of God have been so firmly established, and so mani-
festly displayed as to be known to all, collectively and indivi-
dually; and the intimation which you give of your intention
to visit me, and make me happy by the communications en-
trusted to you by the Right Honorable the Governor-General,
have given me thousand-fold pleasure and joy.

‘““ My desire to sce you cannot be postponed from this day
till to-morrow, and my inclination isimpatient of delay, butin
consequence of the season, and state of my constitution, I have
this day taken medicine. To-morrow, therefore, at three o’clock
in the afterhoon, bring pleasure to your friend’s house. Hu-
keem Uzeezoodeen will arrive with you at that hour and conduct
you.”

On the 19th of September, Metcalfe visited the
Rajah, and, in the presence of the principal Sikh
councillors, opened the discussion by accusing the Ra-
jah of encouraging unjust and unworthy suspicions.
This was denied. Evasive explanations of the offen-
sive letter were given. And after a conversation con-
ducted on both sides with the utmost good humor,
it was determined that the propositions of the British
Government should be received, when the Sikhs had
held a council of state to determine upon their plan
of operations. But this was manifestly reversing
the order of things. So when subsequently a depu-
tation waited on Metcalfe, to explain that the Sikhs
could not determine upon the course they were to
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pursue until they were informed of the nature of the
propositions to be made to them, the British Envoy
acknowledged the cogency of the assertion, and de-
clared that he was willing on the following day to
deliver the important message with which he was
charged by his employers. It appeared to Metcalfe,
indeed, that it was no longer desirable to keep
Runjeet in ignorance of the real objects of his
mission ; for the mind of the restless Sikh might be
diverted by thoughts of the Anti-Gallican alliance
from other objects on which it was not expedient
that he should dwell.

So on the afternoon of the 22nd of September,
Metcalfe went unattended to Runjeet’s residence,
and there found the Sikh ruler surrounded by his
principal councillors of state. ¢ I opened the con-
ference,” wrote Metcalfe, reporting all its circum-
stances to the Supreme Government, by stating
that the friendship which had happily existed be-
tween the Rajah and the British Government, had
induced the Right Ionorable the Governor-General
to depute me to communicate some important intel-
ligence, in which the Maha-rajah’s intcrests were
materially concerned. I then mentioned that his
Lordship had received authentic advices that the
French, who were endeavoring to establish them-
selves in Persia, had formed the design of invading
these countries, and of seizing Cabul and the Pun-
jab—that his Lordship’s first care was to give
warning to the states which this intelligence con-
cerned—that feeling the interests of the British
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Government and those of the Rajah to be the same,
his Lordship had commissioned me to negotiate
with the Rajah arrangements for the extirpation of
the common enemy, and had appointed another
gentleman to be Envoy to Cabul for similar pur-
poses with respect to that country, who would in
a short time, with the Rajah’s permission, pass
through this country on his way to the place of his
destination. I added, that these measures had been
adopted by the Government in the purest spirit of
friendship, and that it was evident that the interests
of all the states in this quarter required that they
should unite their powers in defence of their do-
minions and for the destruction of the enemy’s
armies.

““ At the conclusion of this introduction,” con-
tinues the young Envoy, ¢ the Rajah and all present
following him, made an exclamation of admiration
at the friendly conduct of the Right Honorable the
Governor-General in making this communication,
and expressed without hesitation a ready concur-
rence in his Lordship’s plans. The Rajah asked,
how far the British army would advance to meet
the French, and what force would be sent? I re-
plied, that these questions would depend upon subse-
quent arrangements; but that it was our practice to
seek our enemy, and that no doubt the Government
would send an army beyond Cabul. With respect
to the amount of the force, I observed, that would
necessarily depend upon circumstances, but that
such a force would of course be sent as would he
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amply sufficient to destroy the foe. He asked if
troops were ready to advance, and when the French
might be expected? I said that the moment at
which the enemy might be expected could not at
present be ascertained—that it might be sooner or
later—but that there was no doubt of the design,
and that it behoved wise governments to be pre-
pared to counteract it; and that our troops always
are, and always would be, ready to advance.

“ After expressing in animated terms his desire to
co-operate with the British arms, his sense of the
friendly motives which had led to the communi-
cations from the Right Honorable the Governor-
General, his approbation of the plan of attacking
the enemy before they could reach Cabul, and his
satisfaction at the prospect of a close alliance with
the British Government, which had long, he said,
been the wish of his heart, now spoke in a whisper
to Misr Prebdial (one of his councillors), who, in
consequence, carried aside all the persons present
except the Rajah, Kurreem Singh, Imaum-ood-deen,
and myself. Whilst the gentlemen apart were deli-
berating in a whisper, the Rajah continued to con-
verse with me, sometimes on subjects connected
with the objects of my previous communication, and
sometimes on genéral topics. He started the idea
that the King of Cabul might throw himself in the
arms of the French, and asked what would be done
in that case? I said, in that case we must attack
the King of Cabul as well as the French ; but that
it was improbable that he would be so blind to his
own interests ; for that the French invariably sub-
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jected and oppressed those who joined them ; plun-
dered and laid waste their country, and overthrew
the Government. In the course of this conversation
I endeavored, in conformity to the instructions of
the Supreme Government, to alarm the Rajah for
the safety of his territories, and at the same time to
give him confidence in our protection.

““ The Rajah asked if all was right with Holkar ?
I caid, ¢ Yes;’ and that since the peace with him
made in this country, he had continued on the
most friendly terms with the British Government.
‘But,” replied the Rajah, ‘he is a determined rascal
( pucka hurwmzadah), and no trust can be reposed in
him.” I answered, that when we were at war with
him, we used to call him a great rascal; but as we
were now at peace, we always spoke of him with the
respect due to a friendly chief. The Rajah men-
tioned, that when in this country, Holkar prohibited
his troops from plundering as long as Lord Lake’s
army was near to him, but let them loose on the
country as soon as his Lordship had commenced his
return to the British dominions.

““When the deliberations of the whispering council
were concluded, the result was conveyed by Misr
Prebdial to the Rajah’s ears, and the Rajah delivered
some order to him in the same manner ; after which
Misr Prebdial addressed me in a long speech, the
substance of which was, that the Rajah concurred in
everything that I had communicated, and particu-
larly desired to have the closest connexion with the
British Government; but that the business not
being of slight consideration, but of the highest im-
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portance, it was necessary to proceed with delibera-
tion—accordingly, that the question would be fully
discussed by the Rajah with those present, and that
the result of their deliberations on that and other
subjects should be communicated to me on the fol-
lowing morning. The Rajah said the same; and
having enjoined profound secresy to all present, put
an end to the conference.”

The morrow came, and with the morrow a new
light dawned upon the subject. To the Sikh coun-
cillors it did not appear, upon consideration of the
whole matter, that they had much to apprehend from
the rumored incursion of the French. The danger
was at most something remote and conjectural.
They hardly could bring themselves to believe that
the counteraction of foreign influence in the countries
of Central Asia was the real object of the Mission to
Runjeet’s Court. Andif it were, they argued among
themselves, the alliance which the British Govern-
ment sought was mainly for its own advantage.
Why then should not the treaty at the same time
embrace objects more nearly and palpably advanta-
geous to the Sikhs themselves ? It was Runjeet
Singh’s earnest desire, at this time, to obtain from the
British Government a recognition of his sovereignty
over all the Sikh States on both sides of the Sutlej;
and it was now intimated to Metcalfe that the Rajah
suggested the expediency of including this and other
provisions in the contemplated treaty. To all of this
Metcalfe listened patiently; but he firmly replied,
that he had no authority to give any such guarantee
on the part of the Government which he represented
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—that the alliance against the French was the first
point to be arranged, and that the rest would be left
for future consideration. But this was not a view
of the case which the Sikh councillors were inclined
to take. The interview, therefore, was not a satis-
factory one; and nothing was settled except—the
last resource of inconclusiveness—that the views
of Runjeet Singh should be reduced to writing, and
considered by the British Envoy.

I cannot follow in detail all the consultations—
many of them mere profitless repetitions of inconclu-
sive discussions—which day by day Metcalfe reported
to the Supreme Government. The difficulties with
which the young diplomatist contended were many
and great. Ie soon perceived that in Runjeet Singh
he had to deal with a man inordinately ambitious
himself, and out of measure suspicious of the ambi-
tious designs of others. Untainted by any objects
of aggression as was this Mission to Lahore, it must
be admitted that Runjeet’s suspicions were not
wholly without foundation. He had seen, within
the space of a few years, the fairest provinces of Hin-
dostan subjected to the yoke of the conquering
Feringhee. If he had extended his dominions, our
extension of territory had been far greater; and there
was sufficient, at least in the antecedents of British
conquest, to make him fearful of his independence,
when he saw our battalions already approaching the
banks of the Sutlej, and our diplomatists, the sure
forerunners of our armies, beginning to spread
themselves over all the countries of Central Asia.
It is not strange, therefore, that one, by nature sus-
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picious in the extreme, and wrought upon by evil
councillors and treacherous adherents, should have
regarded the advance of the British Mission with
distrust. From the very first his suspicions had
broken out into acts of open discourtesy. He had for-
bidden, as I have before said, all intercourse between
the two camps. Supplies had been refused to the
Mission. The native bankers were afraid to cash
Metcalfe’s bills. Runjeet’s spies were continually in
the British camp. The camp had been pitched on
ground selected by Runjeet in the bed of a dry river,
on whose banks the Sikh sentries were incessantly
posted. Our messengers had been intercepted ; our
letters had been opened ; and Metcalfe had excused
himself to Government for submitting to many indig-
nities which he pretended not to observe. He had
certain great ends to accomplish, and he would not
be arrested or turned aside by any obstructions but
those of the greatest national import and significance.

But that which most embarrassed Metcalfe at this
time was the unscrupulous course of territorial
aggrandisement which Runjeet was determined on
pursuing in the face of the British Mission. It was
obviously his intention to turn to account what he
hoped would be considered the implied sanction of
the British Government to his conquests on the
southern bank of the Sutlej. The suddenness of his
movements baffled all diplomacy, and prevented all
remonstrance. Thuson the 25th of September, just
as the negotiations appeared to be in a favorable
state, Runjeet suddenly, without intimation to the
British Envoy, and without consulting his Minis-
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ters, broke up his camp at Kussoor, and prepared
to cross the Sutlej.* The primary object of the
movement was the capture of the fortress and sur-
rounding territory of Fureed-kote—a tract of coun-
try in the domain of the Rajah of Puttealah, one
of the chief of the group of his Cis-Sutlej States;t
but it was openly boasted in camp that the expedition
was designed to accomplish the subjugation of the
whole of the country lying between the Sutlej and
the Jumna. And there were those who said that,
this accomplished, some hostile movements against
the British would certainly ensue.}

Following the Sikh camp at a convenient interval
of time, Metcalfe, on the 28th of September, again
met Runjeet Singh. The interview was held on an
island in the river. The confidential servants of the
Rajah were present; and the manner of Runjeet
himself was courteous and conciliatory. But there
seemed to be a hopeless gulf between the two nego-

* Reporting this to Government,
Metcalfe wrote: “ I was disposed to
augur well from the spirit of this
conference; and great was my sur-
prise on rising this morning to find
that the Rajah’s army was moving.
Uzeezoodeen at the instant cameo
me and said that he had been sent
by the Rajah to inform me that he
was about to march to the river
Beeas, and to request that I would
march too. I answered that I could
not march to-day; but that I would
follow the Rajah as soon as I could. I
expressed my surprise at the Rajah’s
moving so suddenly and without giving
me any previous intimation, and I de-
sired to know what were the Rajah’s
intentions, where he was going, and
whether he would cross the river or
not. Uzeezoodeen could give me no

satisfactory information. I therefore
desired him to bring me an answer on
these points from his master, saying,
that until I should obtain the informa-
tion required, I could not say whether
it would be proper for me to accom-
pany the Rajah or not.”—[ Ar. JMet-
calfe to Mr. Edmonstone, Camp Kussoor,
September 25, 1808.]

1 Fureed-kote was, however, at this
time in the possession of rebels who
paid norevenue to the Puttealah Rajah.

1 Metcalfe reported, among other
things, that there was “a story on
foot to the effect that the Rajah of
Bhurtpore had applied to Runjeet for
aid against the hostile designs of the
British, that his application had been
backed by Holkar, and that Runjcet
Singh had agreed to co-operate for
the defence of Bhurtpore.”
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tiating parties, which it was impossible to bridge
over. Metcalfe still asserted that he came for
nothing but a defensive alliance against the French.
¢ If the French invade your territory,”” he said, ““you
will profit greatly by the alliance. If they do not,
you will not suffer by it.”” Reduced to this simple
formula, the case was a convincing one; and Run-
jeet at first seemed to be staggered by it. But he
clamored for the sanction of the British Government
to the extension of his sovereignty over all the Sikh
territories ; and was eager also to introduce into the
treaty a clause, pledging us not to interfere for the
prevention of any hostilities that he might be pleased
to carry on in the direction of Cabul. Such was
the unvarying tenor of his discourse; and every new
meeting only served to convince Metcalfe of the
difficulty of persuading the Rajah to abandon a
design which lay so very near to his heart.*

In the mean while, Metcalfe’s letters, despatched
with unfailing punctuality, and admirably lucid
in all their details, were exciting much grave re-
flection in the Council Chamber of Calcutta. The

* Summing up the whole state of taining concessions from the British

the case after the lapse of another
month, Metcalfc wrote to the Supreme
Government: It appears to me that
he wishes merely to have a treaty of
perpetual friendship with the British
Government to be maintained here-
after with his heirs and successors;
that he is indifferent to the proposed
alliance against the designs of the
French, as the danger is not near nor
perceptible to him—that to that alli-
ance gencrally, however, he has no
objection, although he wishes to make
his agreement to it the means of ob-

Government ; but at the same time he
does not view without uneasiness the
progress of the measures in con-
templation, and the probability of the
introduction of British agents in his
territories, the disclosure of the ac-
tual state of his country, army, and
resources, and other imagined conse-
quences of opening the means of com-
munication between the British Go-
vernment and the disaffected chiefs
whom he oppresses.”—[ October 20,
1808. AMr. Metcalfe to Mr. Edmon-
stone. MS. Records. ]
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seeming determination of Runjeet to extend his con-
quests on the southern bank of the Sutlej, excited
in Lord Minto a very strong desire to arrest by force
of arms the progress of the ambitious Sikh. The
first minute which he wrote upon the subject, hinted
at the expediency of instructing Metcalfe to intimate
to Runjeet Singh, that if, pending negotiations, any
advance were made towards our frontier, or if any
interruption were at any time given to the Cabul
Mission, it would be considered as a declaration of
war.* But he was a statesman of a calm and dis-
passionate nature, and he recorded at the same time,
that these were only his first hasty reflections, and
that he would, *“in the course of the day, collect
more deliberately such thoughts on the general
question as might appear worthy to be communi-
cated” to his colleagues, and to the Envoy in Run-
jeet’s camp. And the result of these subsequent
deliberations, aided by a memorandum drawn up by
Mr. Edmonstone was, that Metcalfe was instructed
not to follow any course that would precipitate his
abrupt departure from Runjeet’s camp, but to pro-
tract his negotiations, and to avoid, if possible, such
a rupture as would incite Runjeet to assume an
attitude of open hostility.+ These instructions Met-

* Minute of Lord Minto, October

to protract than accelerate the treaty.
28, 1808.— [ M'S. Records.]

I feel the force of the observations

t«I do not think,” wrote Lord
Minto, “that we should be justified,
in point of policy, in breaking at pre-
sent with Runjeet Singh. The point
to aim at in our present transactions
with the Rajah of Lahore appears to
be, that we should keep ourselves as
free as can be done without a rupture.
I should on this principle rather wish

VOL. I.

contained in Mr. Edmonstone’s note
concerning the effect which is likely,
or rather certain, to be produced on
the mind of Runjeet Singh by the
immediate closc of Mr. Metcalfe's mis-
sion; and I should think it advisable,
therefore, not to adopt that measure.
Mr. Metcalfe should be particularly
instructed not to hasten the nego-
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calfe had anticipated. The courselaid down for him
was that which his own judgment suggested, and
already he had entered upon it.

Having thus resolved to gain time and to amuse
Runjeet, whilst they were maturing their plan of
ultimate operations, and waiting to see what might
be written down in the ever-fertile Chapter of Acci-
dents, our statesmen at Calcutta began to take
larger views of the whole question, and to consider
whether it would be expedient to yield to the solici-
tations of the Rajah, or to maintain the independence
of the Sikh chiefs on our side of the Sutlej. Lord
Minto at once determined that the question was one
which he was justified in deciding upon the grounds
of immediate policy, rather than upon any abstract
principles; and after weighing the consequences of
the adoption of either course—each being beset with
its own peculiar difficulties—he resolved that the
interests of the British Government demanded that
the aggressiveness of Runjeet Singh should be
stemmed, and that the lesser chiefs between the
Sutlej and Jumna should be supported. But this
object was not to be gained by mere passive resist-
ance. ‘A consequence of our refusing our assent
to Runjeet’s proposal,” wrote Lord Minto, ‘ must
be the necessity of our affording open and imme-
diate protection to the Sikhs, and employing a mili-
tary force for that purpose. For to declare that we

tiation for which he was originally satisfaction on the point of his present
deputed. For this there are never operations by actually re-crossing the
wanting sufficient means. It will be Sutlej.”—[MS. Memoranda of Lord
Pproper, of course, to suspend negotia- JMinto.]

tions until Runjeet Singh has givenus
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do not consent to the proposed conquests, and at the
same time to look on whilst they are achieved, is a
contradiction calculated alike to alienate the Sikhs
and to provoke the enmity of Runjeet Singh. That
we should advance,” he added, *“ a body of troops to
the Sutlej, and take part in that river in concert and
connexion with the principal Sikh chiefs, I should
not think in itself a disadvantage, but in our present
circumstances the reverse.”* The Governor-General
did not conceal from himself that this measure
might precipitate an open collision with Runjeet,
but he was prepared to abide the result.

In the mean while, Runjeet Singh, having taken
possession of Fureed-kote, was dragging the British
Mission hither and thither, still evidently desirous
that its presence should seem to sanction his ag-
gressive proceedings, until Metcalfe demanded that
the Rajah should name some fitting place where
the Mission might remain encamped until Runjeet
had completed his operations, and was in a position
again to give himself uninterruptedly to the pending
negotiations. After much further discussion leading
to no result, and some wild propositions at which

Metcalfe only laughed,t

* MS. Memoranda of Lord Minto.

+ Among others was a proposition
to the effect that Metcalfe should re-
turn to Calcutta, taking with him one
of the Sikh chiefs as Runjeet’s Walkeel
(or agent), and finish the negotiations
at the Presidency. This Metcalfe
treated as a “humorous proposal.”
Another scheme put forth by the Sikhs
was that two treaties should be drawn
up—oneaccording to Runjeet’s wishes,
one according to our own—and that

it was agreed that the

the latter should be held in pawn until
redeemed by the ratification of the
former! It was with reference to one
of these conferences (on the 24th of
October) that Metcalfe wrote that the
confusion produced by the eagerness
of eight Sikh councillors to declare
their opinions was almost sublime.
“1 beg you,” he said, “to conceive an
assemblage of nine persons, in which
cight are endeavoring by all manner
of means to obtain a particular point

T 2
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British Mission should halt at Gongrona, a place
between the Sutlej and the Jumna, about twenty
miles south-east from Loodhianah, until Runjeet
had done his work. The Sikh army was now
moving upon Umballah, and thus bringing itself
into dangerous proximity to our own frontier-station
of Kurnal.*

A Tull in the more strenuous activities of the
Mission enabled Charles Metcalfe not only to take
a comprehensive survey of past transactions, to
clear up in his letters to Government any uncer-
tainties or obscurities which his previous communi-
cations might have presented, and to draw up elabo-
rate reports on the character of Runjeet Singh and
the resources of his country,t but also to devote
some time to his private correspondence. In the
middle of November he had received the distressing
intelligence of the death of his aunt Richardson, to
whom he was deeply attached. Some letters written
by him at this time to his afflicted uncle, and to his

from one —the Ministers being all
eager to display before their master
their zeal in the cause, their skill and
acuteness; and the picture will com-
pletely represent the conference,
which was preceded by a present of a
horse from the Rajah’s stable. There
was little argument on either side.
The subject had been repeatedly dis-
cussed, and nothing new remained to
be said.”

* At one of the conferences be-
tween Metcalfe and the Sikh Minis-
ters, the latter had been asked whether
he considered that Kurnal belonged to
the British Government.

t There is an amusing passage in
one ’of these reports relative to Run-
Jeet's appreciation of artillery, and the

means by which he contrived to
scrape his ordnance together. ¢ The
Rajah’s attachment to guns,” wrote
Metcalfe to Government, “and his
opinion of their weight, are both so
great, that he will never miss an op-
portunity of obtaining a gun. If he
learns that there is a gun in any fort,
he cannot rest until he has taken the
fort to get at the gun, or until the gun
has been given up to him to save the
fort. He immediately dismounts the
gun from the wall and drags it after
him, as an addition to his field train.
He boasted to me once, that he had
made the Rajah of Puttealah give him
a fine gun, which the Rajah wished
to rescue for 20,000 rupees.”
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¢« dear and now, alas! only aunt,” Mrs. Monson,*
express the strength of his grief. He was eager at first
to know, whether his ¢ dear dear aunt in her illness
ever thought of him? With her mind,” he added,
“ occupied by thoughts of her children and her be-
loved sisters, I cannot expect that she did.” But
all thoughts of his own sorrows passed away as he
dwelt on the sufferings of the husband and sister,
and prayed that they might be comforted and sus-
tained by Him, who alone has power to wipe away
all tears from our eyes. ‘ May the Ruler of all
things,” he wrote to his uncle, < give you patience
and fortitude to support you under the heavy
pressure. ¢And now, Lord, what is my hope, truly
my hope is even in thee. In themidst of life we are
in ‘death. Of whom may we seek succour but of
thee, O Lord? Blessed are the dead who die in the
Lord, for they rest from their labours.’ 't

Whilst Metcalfe, thus halting at Gongrona, was
dividing his thoughts between his public business
and his private sorrows, Runjeet was extending his
dominion over the more helpless of the Cis-Sutlej
chiefs. Many of them, unequal to resistance, ac-
knowledged that they were his subjects, that they
held their possessions only by virtue of his grant,
and contributed their guns to the Rajah’s collec-
tion; whilst others obtained temporary immunity for

* Mrs. Richardson and the Hon. t November, 1808, Camp Gongrona.—
Mrs. Monson, then widow of Colonel In this letter Metcalfe says: “If my
Monson, of whom Charles Metcalfe mission should soon end, which is
said, “he was always an affectionate possible, I shall endeavor to join you
uncle and kind friend to me,” were at Banda to share your sadness.”
sisters of Lady Metcalfe,
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themselves by aiding him in these acts of spoliation.*
But he still had time to think of the British Mission,
wrote courteous letters to Metcalfe, <evinced a desire
to be friendly and conciliatory;’+ and was sincerely
desirous to protect the Mission against any incon-
venience that might result from the turbulent cha-
racter of the people surrounding their camp.{ Before
the end of November, the restless chief had sent back
his infantry and his guns to Gongrona, and purposed,
after a friendly interviewwith the Rajah of Puttealah,
to make his way to Umritsur and Lahore, and there
to rest himself in the lap of pleasure after the
fatigues of war and the anxieties of public business.

* ¢Including,” wrote Metcalfe to
Government, * those chiefs who have
attended him in this expedition, his
sovereignty has been completely ac-
knowledged by all the Sikh chiefs
with two exceptions”—the Rajah of
Puttealah and Thanesur.

t “Being informed that Gongrona
was not a pleasant situation, he wrote
to me,” said Metcalfe, “in the most
civil manner, to request that I would
move to another place, which was
ascertained to be better; but finding
Gongrona sufficiently agreeable, I did
not think it necessary to move.”

1 “It happened,” wrote Metcalfe,
“that in taking the air one evening
I was fired upon from a village by
mistake. This trivial circumstance
was reported to the Rajah and mag-
nified. In consequence, he gave orders
to the commanders of his infantry and
guns, on detaching them from Shu-
habad on their return to the Punjab,
to attend me, and wrote to me to
desire that I would cause them to
plunder and destroy any village that
had behaved in a disrespectful man-
ner. After thanking him for his kind-
ness, I requested him to forgive a fault
whieh had proceeded from inadver-
tency and the divided state of the coun-
try.” This humane interference, how-

ever, had not at first the desired result.
In a subsequent letter Metcalfe wrote:
“The Rajaly’s infantry and guns have
been at this place for some days. As
they were sent by the Rajah for the
avowed purpose of destroying certain
villages which had been represented
to him as having behaved in a disre-
spectful manner to me, I endeavored
to prevent their advance, but did not
succeed, as Kureem Singh, the pos-
sessor of the tents of Gongrona, had a
strong interest in persuading them to
come on. On their arrival I had some
difficulty in preventing their attack-
ing the villages. The commanders in-
formed me that they had positive
orders to plunder the villages, and
put to death the inhabitants. 1 saw
their instructions under the seal of
Runjeet Singh giving orders for their
guidance, and even laying down the
plan of attack, and giving intelligence
of the force that they might expect
to be opposed to them. Fortunately,
the Rajah had written other instrue-
tions desiring them to obey my orders,
which have enabled me by positive
commands and written injunctions to
restrain them until the result of my
reference to the Rajah may be
known.”
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It was at this time that Metcalfe learnt the results
of the deliberations which had been held in Calcutta
at the close of the preceding month. The Chief
Secretary communicated to him that Lord Minto had
determined to resist Runjeet’s efforts to subjugate
the Cis-Sutlej States, and that henceforth these
petty principalities were to be under British pro-
tection. The letter which announced this impor-
tant intelligence was followed by a communication
to the same effect to Runjeet himself, sent through
the Delhi Resident, couched in the ordinary lan-
guage of diplomatic flattery, but sufficiently unmis-
takeable in its import and decided in its tone. The
ambitious Sikh was now called upon to arrest his
career of conquest in the country between the Sutlej
and the Jumna, and to surrender the places which
he had recently wrested from the petty chiefs. But
Metcalfe, still anxious to achieve the objects of his
mission without violence, and believing that Runjeet
was already on his way back to the capital, deter-
mined to delay the communication of the Governor-
General’s resolution, in the hope that the Rajah’s
withdrawal from the scene of his recent conquests
might appear rather a spontaneous act upon his part
than one forced upon him by the implied menaces
of the British Government.* The uncertainty and

* Mr. Metcalfe to Mr. Edmonstone,
November27,1808.—“When I received
your instructions of the 31st of Oc-
tober, I had every rcason to expect
the instant return of Runjeet Singh
to Lahore from his own communica-
tions to me, as well as from general
opinion and actual appearances. His
infantry and guns, which generally

form his advanced guard, were en-
camped in this place, which is within
a forced march from the Sutlej; and
the Rajah himself waslightly equipped
with the seeming and avowed inten-
tion of advancing. Under these cir-
cumstances, it appeared to me that if
the Rajah should immediately re-cross
the Sutlej with his army, and remove
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the impulsiveness, which marked Runjeet’s, conduect,
rendered Metcalfe, however, sceptical of the real
intentions of the Rajah; and doubting whether he
would return immediately to his capital, he wrote to
him that he desired an interview at Eesroo, which
lay on the road to Umritsur. The request was
readily granted, but before the appointed time Run-
jeet had once more changed his resolution. He was
tired of business. He was eager again to enjoy the
delights of the wine-cup and the Zenana. He had
exchanged turbans as a token of amity with the
Rajah of Puttealah; and he had now little else to
do. So he wrote to Metcalfe proposing a meeting
on the Sutlej. But before the British Envoy had
reached the banks of the river, Runjeet had again
changed his mind, and was moving in hot haste on
the wings of love to Umritsur. His confidential
physician-minister, Uzeezoodeen, was left behind to
invite Metcalfe to follow him ; and on the 10th of
December the British Mission arrived at the holy
city.*

his troops from all positions menacing
to the safety and independence of the
chiefs whom it is the intention of
Government to protect, one of the
most important objects of my in-
structions would be obtained without
any immediate interruption of ami-
cable negotiation, and time would be
gained for the execution of the ar-
rangements destined for the defence
of this country.”

* Mr. Metcalfe to Mr. Edmonstone,
December 11,1808.—* On the 29th ult.
Runjeet Singh sent me a polite letter,
informing me that he would be at
Lesroo to meet me on the 1st of this
month. On the day fixed I received
a letter from him containing his ex-

cuses for not being at Eesroo; and
proposing a meeting on the Sutlej.
Before 1 reached that river he had
continued his march with surprising
rapidity to Umritsur, where he arrived
almost unattended in two or three
days. He left Uzeezoodeen to invite
me to follow him to Umritsur. Run-
jeet Singh, in everything that he un-
dertakes, is impatient; but the cause
of his extraordinary impatience on
this occasion was a desire to see his
favorite mistress Marar, from whom
he has been separated for nearly three
months. In her arms he has been
resting after the fatigues of his cam-

paign.”
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The delay had not been without its uses. The
instructions despatched to Metcalfe by the Supreme
Government at the end of October, and the letter to
Runjeet Singh sent through the Delhi Resident, had
been of a more peremptory and decided character than
Lord Minto upon further consideration considered it
expedient to confirm. The letter to the Rajah had
now been modified into a communication less me-
nacing in tone, and containing a less undisguised
exposition of the intentions of the British Govern-
ment. And when Mr. Edmonstone forwarded a
copy of it to Metcalfe, he wrote a private letter
explaining to him Lord Minto’s wishes regarding
the future conduct of his negotiations :

MR. EDMONSTONE TO MR. METCALFE.
“ Calcutta, November 7, 1808.

“ MY DEAR SIR,—Mr. Seton may perhaps have transmitted
to you an English copy of a letter to Runjeet Singh, and have
led you to expect instructions corresponding with the tenor of
it. Further consideration, however, has suggested a change in
some part of the proposed system of proceeding, and occasioned
an alteration of the letter. I send you a copy in its amended
form. Your instructions will follow speedily, and the letter
itself.  You will see that it is wished you should remain; and
I will state in very few words what is intended. Government
is satisfied that Runjeet Singh will never be the cordial friend
of the British Government; an engagement with him for co-
operation would be mere waste paper. His character, conduct,
and views are such as to render it for our interest that his
government were subverted. But we shall do nothing to pro-
mote that object. It would hardly be justifiable to do so; at
the same time, it is desirable not to be embarrassed with en-
gagements which might compel us to assist him against internal
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rebellion. Our object must be at present to remain as free as
possible without breaking with Runjeet. It is not, therefore,
desirable to accelerate the negotiation. The longer 1t is kept in
suspense the better; and on the plea of awaiting the result of
your report to Government that he has withdrawn his army,
disclaimed any interruption to the Cabul Mission, and treated
you as an accredited Minister of a great State ought to be
treated, you can properly and plausibly suspend the conclusion
of engagements. Though I apprehend from your despatch
No. 29, just received, that you may have gone too far under
your former instructions to admit of this course.

“ Froops will be sent to the frontier as was at first announced
in the letter to Runjeet; but it is now thought best to suspend
any notification to him of this arrangement, so you are to know
nothing of these matters.

‘“ As it may be of importance that you should know the
general outline of the intended proceedings as soon as possible,
I write this hurried letter, which will answer the purpose until
the instructions can be completed.

“I remain, with great regard and esteem,
“ Yours most sincerely,

“ B, EDMONSTONE.”

On the evening of his arrival at Umritsur, Met-
calfe, taking with him the Governor-General’s letter,
visited Runjeet Singh. But the Rajah was in no
mood for business. He was in the midst of a riotous
career of self-indulgence. Instead of attending to
the affairs of State which had called the British
Envoy to his presence, he sent for his dancing-girls ;
and soon afterwards, the wonted strong drinks were
introduced. In vain did Metcalfe call the attention
of the Rajah to the business on which he had come;
in vain did he speak of the Governor-General’s letter
of which he was the bearer. Runjeet was willing to
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receive the letter, but he was not prepared to read it.
«“ The evening was devoted to mirth and pleasure.”
The Rajah was in a genial humor—full of cordiality
towards his English visitor; familiar in manner,
friendly in speech. Metcalfe, with right diplomatic
address, entered into the spirit of the scene, within
the limits of becoming hilarity ; and when he took
his departure, it was obvious to him that the Rajah
and his friends were * incapacitated for business.”’*
But Runjeet Singh, drinking and revelling with the
unopened letter of the Governor-General beside him,
was as a man singing and dancing upon a loaded
mine. Whether he had any suspicion of its actual
contents, and was disinclined to mar the pleasurable
excitement of the life to which he had now tempo-
rarily abandoned himself, content to live in the
rapture of the present moment, and to lull all cor-
roding anxieties to rest, can be only matter of con-
jecture. But the morrow passed away, and still
Metcalfe heard nothing of the effects of the letter.
So he wrote the Rajah a note under his own hand,
of which the following is a translation; a mnote
giving no uncertain sound, but clearly and decisively
stating the stage to which the discussion had now
been brought, and the dangers which stared the
Sikh in the face:
Note transmitted by Mr. Metcalfe to the Rajah of Lahore on
12¢h December, 1808.

“I duly communicated to the Right Honorable the Go-
vernor-General the proposition brought forward by the Maha-
rajah respecting the country between the Sutlej and Jumna,
and fully explained all the views of the Maha-rajah on that

* Mr. Metcalfe to Mr. Edmonstone, December 11, 1808,
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point. I have now received his Lordship’s commands to state
his sentiments in reply.

¢ His Lordship has learned with great surprise and concern
that the Maha-rajah aims at the subjection of chiefs who have
long been considered under the protection of the power ruling
in the north of Hindostan, and is more especially astonished to
find that the Maha-rajah requires the assent of the British
Government to the execution of this design.

“By the issue of a war with the Mahrattas, the British
Government became possessed of the power and rights for-
merly exercised by that nation in the north of Hindostan.

“ At that time the Maha-rajah had no claim on the country
between the Sutle) and Jumna. In an early period of that
contest a communication was received from the Maha-rajah by
the late Lord Lake, which proposed to fix the Sutlej as the
boundary between the British Government and his; which is
a clear proof that the Maha-rajah in those days was well aware
that the country in question was dependent on the power para-
mount in the north of Hindostan.

¢ Since the British Government has come into this situation,
it has relieved the chiefs between the Sutlej and Jumna from
tribute, and that degree of subserviency which they were used
to pay to the Mahrattas, and has allowed them to carry on
their own concerns without interference or control. But this
liberality on the part of the British Government was meant for
the benefit of these chiefs, not for their injury. It was never
intended that the forbearance of the British Government should
be taken advantage of by another power to oppress and subju-
gate those whom the British Government wished to protect and
relieve,

““In reply, therefore, to the Maha-rajah’s requisition, it is
hereby declared that the British Government cannot consent
that these chiefs should be subjugated by the Maha-rajah, or any
other power; and it is hereby announced that those chiefs,
according to established custom, are, and will remain, under the
protection of the British Government.
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« Exclusive of these considerations, which are sufficient to
demonstrate the just principles by which the determination of
the British Government is swayed, there are circumstances in
the conduct of the Maha-rajah in bringing forward his proposal,
which would, in any case, make 1t impossible to comply with it.

¢ The British Government sent an Envoy to the Maha-rajah
to give him information of a great danger, and to offer the
assistance of the British Government to repel it, and made cer-
tain propositions to the Maha-rajah, which were particularly
calculated to promote his interests. The Maha-rajah, for reasons
which are not discernible, did not receive those propositions
with the same confidence and cordiality with which they were
made, but in reply brought forward a demand for the assent of
the British Government to the subjugation of chiefs connected
with it, and made a compliance with that demand the condition
of his assent to the friendly propositions of the Governor-
General. It would be unworthy of the dignity of the British
Government to comply with any demand so brought forward.

“ Besides this, the Maha-rajah, instead of making a reference
to the British Government on this subject, and waiting for a
reply, proceeded to execute his intention of subjugating the
chiefs, and taking the country which were the objects of the
reference, thus apparently endeavoring to secure his object
whether the reply should be favorable or not.

“ In making the reference, the Maha-rajah showed that he well
knew that without the consent of the British Government he
had no right to invade the country between the Sutlej and the
Jumna, for if' this had not been the case, there would not have
been any necessity to make the reference. It was, therefore,
peculiarly inconsistent with the respect due to the British
Government, and an improper return for the friendly confi-
dence which that Government had reposed in the Maha-rajah,
to proceed to seize the object of his requisition without so much
as waiting for a reply. |

“This is quite contrary to the established practice amongst
states, which requires that when one power makes a reference
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to another it should await the result of that reference. This
principle is so clear, and according to the rules of common
respect so indispensable, that 1t is surprising that the Maha-rajah
should not have. attended to it. I have repeatedly endeavored
to impress it on the Maha-rajah’s mind, but without success.

¢ Moreover, the Maha-rajah proceeded to execute his plans
without giving any notice to me, and although he carried his
arms close to the confines of the British territories, never made
any candid communication to me of his designs, but sometimes
even assigned a different intention from that which afterwards
appeared. _

¢ In addition to these circumstances, the Maha-rajah’s beha-
viour towards me, the representative of the British Government,
was in other points neither consistent with the respect due to a
friendly state. The Maha-rajah will find in his own breast an
explanation of this observation, and his recollection will point
1t to the facts which have caused it. It is unnecessary in this
place to particularise them; suffice i1t to say that they consti-
tuted a violation of the rules established for the intercourse
between states.

“ Under all these circumstances, even if the Maha-rajah’s
demand had been in itself unexceptionable, it would have been
impossible to comply with it. .

“I am directed by the Right Hon. the Governor-General to
protest against the invasion of the country between the Sutlc]
and the Jumna, in the name of the British Government; and
further, to declare that the British Government cannot acknow-
ledge any right In the Maha-rajah to any territories that he may
have taken possession of situated between the Sutlej and the
Jumna since the first reference of this question to the British
Government.

¢ Moreover, the Governor-General feels himself authorised to
expect, and entertains no doubt, that the Maha-rajah will restore
all the places that he has taken possession of since that period
to the former possessors, and will confine his army to the right
bank of the Sutlej, since he can have no object in maintaining
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it on the left bank, except to overawe and subjugate the chiefs
situated between that river and the Jumna, who are now de-
clared to be under the protection of the British Government.

“In expressing these sentiments, I am directed to inform
the Maha-rajah that the British Government is desirous of main-
taining the most amicable relations with his Government, and
wishes that the friendship subsisting between the two states
may daily improve and increase. The British Government
desires no country for itself. It has enough, and its only am-
bition is to improve the territories which it possesses, and to
promote the happiness of its subjects. It wishes to live in
amity with all mankind. It cannot consent to the subjugation
of chiefs who are closely connected with it, and have claims on
it for protection. At the same time, it entertains the most
friendly designs towards the Maha-rajah, with whom, notwith-
standing the just causes of complaint which the Maha-rajah’s
conduct has afforded, it is anxious to cultivate the relations of
intimate and cordial friendship.

“I trust that the Maha-rajah will duly appreciate the friendly
sentiments of the Right Hon. the Governor-General, and meet
them with reciprocal cordiality and confidence, so as to give
an assurance that for the future the rights and privileges of the
representative of the British Government shall be respected
according to the established usage between states, and that the
intercourse between the two Governments shall be carried on
in the spirit of mutual confidence and friendship.”

Of this unmistakeable communication Metcalfe’s
confidential moonshee was the bearer. 1t was soon
apparent that the contents of the Governor-General's
letter were utterly unknown to the Rajah, who on
perusing the Envoy’s note seemed to stagger under
it, as though under the influence of a ‘ sudden
shock.”” But it was a shock of a salutary nature.
It seemed to sober him. He spoke of the commu-
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nication more humbly and more reasonably than,
judging by his foregone behaviour, there was any
ground to expect. He appeared sensible of the
impropriety of his conduct towards the Mission, and
believed, or pretended to believe, that the determina-
tion of the British Government had been forced
upon it by his want of courtesy towards its repre-
sentative, rather than by his bearing towards the
petty states. And he indulged the hope that a more
favorable reply to his demands would speedily be
despatched to his Court.

The following day was fixed upon for an interview
with the British Envoy, but it brought, after the old
fashion, only excuses for delay. The Rajah had
determined to proceed at once to Lahore, and he
invited Metcalfe to accompany him. It was evi-
dently Runjeet’s object to gain time. Other thoughts
were distracting his mind. There were dangers and
difficulties bristling at his own door. He had hoped
for a little while in the arms of his favorite mistress
to forget all of royalty except its sensual delights.
But that which was to have been to him only a
source of refreshment and repose, became the excit-
ing cause of unexpected trouble and alarm. His
favorite was a Mussulmanee dancing-girl. It may
have been in the plenitude of her Mahomedan zeal—
or it may have been in the mere wantonness of
power—that either by force or persuasion, she had
recently converted a Hindoo to the faith of Islam,
or at least subjected him to its external ritualities.
The act, from whatever feeling it may have resulted,
threw Umritsur into a ferment of excitement. The
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shops of the holy city were closed. The priests of
the great temple issued their manifestoes, and for-
bade the people, under a ban of excommunication,
to open them and return to their wonted business.
The houses of the Mussulmanee dancing-girls—in
expiation of the offences of one of their tribe—were
plundered by the outraged Hindoos. There was a
great strife between the Temporal and the Spiritual
power ; and the former was worsted in the encounter.
So Runjeet was fain to withdraw himself from the
scene of turmoil, and to make his escape to Lahore.*

And thither Metcalfe speedily followed him. But
the change of scene did not induce a change of con-
duct. Runjeet still maintained a cautious silence,
and ¢ found fresh excuses for delaying his answer to
the demands that had been made upon him’’ by the
British Government. At length, on the 17th of De-
cember, just as the Envoy was writing a letter,
peremptorily calling upon the Rajah to declare his
intentions without longer delay, a message of invita-
tion came from the Sikh, and Metcalfe proceeded
to his presence. But even then the old reserve was
upon him. Runjeet appeared careworn and thought-
ful, and little inclined to address himself to affairs
of State. His troubles had followed him from Um-
ritsur to Lahore. The Hindoos were thronging
round the walls of his palace, and sitting dhurnc at
his gates.t Me was ready, therefore, with more
excuses, and eager for more delay. He told Metcalfe

* Mr. Metcalfe to Mr. Edmonstone, fasting and prayer at a man’s door
December 14, 1808. —an cxpressive kind of practical
t To sit “ dhurna™ is to sit in curse.

VOL. I. U
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that ¢ his attention had been much engaged by the
disturbances at Umritsur and Lahore; that he had
had to dismiss his chiefs and followers to their homes;
that several of those with whom he was in the habit
of consulting were absent, and that, to say the truth,
after four months’ campaigning he felt an inclina-
tion for some rest.”’* And all that Metcalfe, pressing
him sorely, could extract from him was the old pro-
mise that he would see him, and make ¢ a full com-
munication on the following day.”

But with the new day, after the old fashion, came
new excuses. Runjeet’s Ministers had tried to re-
concile Metcalfe to the eccentricities of their chief;
but the English gentleman had answered with De-
coming firmness that, although the eccentricities
were sufficiently apparent, he could not admit that
they furnished any justification for his conduct. In
vain they pleaded that Runjeet had never been
habituated to control—that flushed with continual
success he had ever regarded himself, and himself
alone, as the arbiter of his conduct—that he was a
man of a headstrong and ungovernable nature, and
that some allowances ought to be made for him.
Metcalfe was not to be driven from the position he
had taken up. The business in hand, he said, was
an affair between two states, and no considerations
of personal character should be admitted in justifi-
cation of conduct which violated the rights and
lowered the dignity of the Government which he

* Mr. Metculfe to Mr. Edmonstone, December 18, 1808,
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represented.* And he desired the Sikh Minister to
inform his master that he was surprised at the re-
peated excuses he had received, and impatient of
further delay. But in spite of this, on the following
morning, Runjeet’s confidential advisers again ap-
peared before Metcalfe as the bearers of further ex-
cuses, and to request one more day’s delay. Every-
thing, they announced, was in train for the conclusion
of the business, and now, at last, procrastination was
at an end.t There was, indeed, no longer a pretext
for evasion; and so, on the morning of the 20th of
December, the long-delayed conference appeared to
be on the point of accomplishment. But instead of
meeting the Rajah himself, Metcalfe met only a large

assembly of his councillors.
animated, but an unsatisfactory debate.

* The passages in Metcalfe’s cor-
respondence descriptive of this scene
merit quotation. “I asked,” he wrote
to the Chief Secretary, *what expla-
nation I should offer to my Govern-
ment for the delay which had taken
place on the part of the Rajah.
Imaum-ood-deen begged me to bear in
mind that the Rajah, from the earliest
age, had been without control; that
his disposition had, in consequence,
become ungovernable ; that he had
throughout life acted according to his
pleasure; that God had prospered all
his undertakings; that he had acquired
a habit of acting without reference to
the inclination of others ; and that
allowances ought to be made for these
considerations. I observed that the
Rajal’s eccentricities were evident
enough, and that I had been often
amused by them; that they would,
indeed, be very entertaining if they
did not interfere so much with im-
portant business; but that I could not

There was a long and
The young

state them to my Government to ac-
count for the Rajah’s conduct, as any
consideration for them would be inad-
missible. The British Government,
I remarked, could only judge of the
Rajah by his acts, and if these were
improper, could not think of justify-
ing them by any reference to his edu-
cation. I pressed upon the attention of
Imaum-ood-deen thatit was necessary
for the Maha-rajahtoreflect that every
matter pending was between Govern-
ment and Government ; and that it
was indispensable that he should lay
aside the notion that he might act
according to his own pleasure without
regard to the rights and dignity of the
British Government.”

t One of the excuses advanced by
Runjeet was founded on the absence
of a councillor—Mith Singh—in whom
he professed great faith. This man
had been summoned to Lahore, and
was now in attendance on the Rajah.

T2
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English statesman had a host of antagonists, but he
was more than a match for them all. He told the
Sikh chiefs that the plan which the British Govern-
ment purposed to pursue was conceived in a friendly
spirit, and to be prosecuted in a friendly manner;
but that the determination which had been an-
nounced was fixed and irrevocable, and that it were
well that this should be understood by their master.*

The object of this preliminary conference was
plainly to sound Metcalfe. But the councillors re-
tired carrying with them nothing that was likely to
soothe the apprehensions of their chief. And when,
at last, on the following day, the British Envoy met
Runjeet himself, all that the wily Sikh could do was
to repeat oft-refuted arguments, and to put unprofit-
able questions. The Rajah asked why we called upon
him to withdraw from the left bank of the Sutlej—
why we demanded that he should restore the places
he had already captured ? And Metcalfe answered
plainly and firmly, with undeniable logic, that the
British Government intended to take those princi-

* ¢ I was pressed,” wrote Metcalfe, intentions. In order to prevent the

“to say distinctly whether the de-
mands of the British Government were
meant to be made amicably or not. I
replied that that question was an-
swered by so many circumstances
that I wondered it could be put. Why,
I asked, was I here? Why had the
Governor-General addressed afriendly
letter to the Rajah? Why had 1
given in a long cxplanatory note?
Why had the Maha-rajah expressed
his satisfaction at the contents of
these communications, and observed
that friendly remonstrances could not
be produced without regard? Of
course I said the demands that I had
presented were made with friendly

construction that might be assumed
that my consent would be obtained
to a protracted discussion of the re-
spective rights of the British Govern-
ment and the Rajah of Lahore to
political supremacy in the country
between the Jumna and the Sutlej,
and to convince all present that it
would be in vain to agitate that ques-
tion, I declared decidedly that with
respect to the demands that I had
made I must persist in them, and
could not relax in any degree: that
the orders of my Government were
final, and that I would not exercise
any discretion.”
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palities under its protection—and how could they be
protected when the Rajah threatened them with his
armies, or had absolutely brought them under his
rule? But still a decisive answer was not to be
elicited. In general terms the Envoy was told that
an arrangement would be made honorable to both na-
tions; but Metcalfe saw plainly that no arrangement
was likely to be made without an appeal to arms.

A crisis, indeed, was now fast approaching. It
has been seen that the British Government had an-
nounced to Metcalfe its intention of moving forward
a body of troops to take post upon the Sutlej. This
announcement had not yet been made to Runjeet;
but the time for a full revelation of our intentions
seemed now to have arrived. It was doubtful, indeed,
whether rumors of the threatened movement had
not already reached the Sikh ruler, for he was col-
lecting troops, seemingly in anticipation of a coming
struggle. It appeared expedient, therefore, to Met-
calfe to warn the military authorities of the proba-
bility of resistance being offered to the demands of
the British Government. So he wrote the following
letter to the Commander-in-Chief, setting forth the
grounds on which he based his belief in the likelihood
of a speedy collision :*

“To his Iacellency Licutenant-General George Heuwitt,
Commander-in-Chief, §c., §ec., §e.
“ Lahore, December 3, 1808.
“SIr,— . . .. Itisknown to your Excellency that the subju-
gation of the country between the Sutlejand the Jumna is the

. * The commencement of the letter tation of facts with which the reader
is omitted, as it contains only a reci- is already acquainted.
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favorite object of the Rajah’s ambition. His pride is so much
concerned in maintaining that object, that I have no hesitation in
offering it as my opinion that nothing but a conviction of
the absolute impossibility of disputing the point with us with
the smallest hope of success would induce him to assent to our
demands.

“ It must be supposed that that conviction is impressed on his
mind, and it 1s difficult to conceive that he would be so rash as
to encounter the perils of a contest with the British power.

“ Several considerations, however, exist, in my opinion, to
oppose the conclusion that he certainly will not offer resistance
to our projected arrangements. IHis rooted jealousies will lead
him to suspect that the arrangements which Government has
now resolved to adopt are only preliminary to a more extensive
design of conquest in the Punjab, and he may think it not
more dangerous to be overcome in a struggle, than to submit
quietly to the result, inevitable, perhaps, in his view of the in-
creasing expansion of our influence. He may be induced, by
his ideas of honor, to suppose that it will be more creditable
to be reduced by a war with a superior power than to yield his
favorite object without a struggle. His knowledge of the mode-
ration of the British Government towards a fallen enemy may
diminish in his sight the ultimate dangers of a contest; and a cer-
tain degree of confidence which he reposes In his fortune, and o
belief in the infallibility of predestination, may afford somc
encouragement to his elated mind to incur the hazard of a war.

“ The delay which he still makes does not appear to me to
afford any certain indication of his disposition ; because, although
he might intend to assent ultimately to our demands, he would
naturally wish to try the effects of procrastination and negotia-
tion; and although he might be determined to resist them, he
would still wish to gain time.

“T understand, however, that he has issued orders to collect
troops; and under the circumstance of his delaying to make any
satisfactory reply to our requisitions, this step, unaccompanicd
by any explanation, cannot bear any favorable interpretation.
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Indeed, it appears to me to be offensive, and I shall think
myself authorised to require an account of it. Even this mea
sure, however, may proceed more from fear and suspicion than
from a determination to oppose us.

“ With reference to all the considerations stated in this
despatch, I think it my duty to submit to your Excellency’s
notice my opinion that actual circumstances do not afford
sufficient ground to entertain a confident expectation that
Runjeet Singh will assent, without opposition, to the arrange-
ments which Government has determined to adopt.

“T shall transmit to your Excellency the earliest intelligence
of any decisive turn that may take place in the Rajah’s conduct.

‘I have not yet announced to him the resolution adopted by
Government to advance a detachment towards the Sutlej; but
I propose to make that communication this day, and perhaps
the result of it will enable me to offer to your Excellency some
more certain information.

““I have the honor to be, with great respect,

“ Your Excellency’s most obedient, humble servant,
‘“ C. T. METCALFE.”

Having despatched this letter, Metcalfe’s next
care was to intimate distinctly and decisively to
Runjeet Singh that the British Government pur-
posed, without further delay, to advance a military
force to the banks of the Sutlej. The game was now
nearly played out. On the 22nd of December the
British Envoy and the Sikh Rajah were again face
to face. The communication was made. Runjeet
told his attendant chiefs to consider of the matter;
and, under the influence of self-control such as he
rarely exercised, fell into friendly conversation with
the English gentleman. Several questions were
asked concerning the British detachment—what
would be its strength P—where it would be posted—
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whether at Loodhianah, or what other place? To
all of this Metcalfe answered, that the details of the
movement were matters of future consideration. A
hint from the consulting chiefs here drew the Rajah
aside. A brief conversation between them ensued.
Then Runjeet, having ordered Uzeezoodeen to state
his opinions to the British Envoy, left the room,
mounted his horse, and with what appeared to
Metcalfe ¢ surprising levity,” began prancing about
the court-yard of his residence.* There was good
reason afterwards to think that this was less an
indication of levity than of the strong feeling which
was working within him.

‘Whilst Runjeet was caracolling about the court-
yard, Uzeezoodeen delivered his master’s message.
It was not a conciliatory one; and it was not given
in a conciliatory manner. The Rajah, he said, had
flattered himself that the intercourse between the
two states would be conducive to his welfare; but

* Metcalfe’s words are: “ On a hint
from the party aside, the Rajah with-
drew to join them; and after a con-
sultation, sent them to me with a
message, and proceeded himself with
surprising levity to mount his horse
and prance about the court-yard of
his residence.” ITam the more par-
ticular in giving the exact words of
the writer, inasmuch as that this story
has been variously narrated, and has
obtained, perhaps, a wider currency
than any other incident in Metcalfe’s
life. The current version of the story
is this, which I find in a leading article
of the Times newspaper, written in
December, 1839: “ When these terms
were propounded to him, Runjeet,
after a short and futile attempt to
overbear the British Ambassador,
rushed out of an apartment, an ele-

vated summer-room, in which the
conference had taken place, and in an
incredibly short space of time, Sir
Charles Metcalfe saw him on horse-
back, at the head of his immediate
suite, galloping in the most furious
manner over the plain below. When
he had thus digested his spleen he re-
turned, and after telling thc Envoy
that he always took this extraor-
dinary anodyne under extreme vexa-
tion, expressed his determination to
submit implicitly to the requirecments
of the British Government.” This
story is so much more striking and
picturesque than that which I have
given in the text, that I have been
really sorry to substitute the home-
licr version which I have found in
Metcalfe’s own handwriting, written
on the day after the incident occurred.



DECIDED CONDUCT OF METCALFE. 297

instead of this, in reply to a friendly application, he
had received a message of so extraordinary a nature,
that he did not know what to make of it. What
was the use, it was asked, of a small post on the
Sutlej ? — surely such a demonstration would not
deter the French from advancing. To this Metcalfe
replied, that all idea of deterring the French was
out of the question—that he had made certain dis-
tinct propositions to the Rajah, and that he called
for an answer equally distinct. The decided tone in
which he spoke was not without its effect on the
Sikh councillors. Runjeet had by this time dis-
mounted and seated himself in another chamber,
where Uzeezoodeen and his associates waited upon
him with Metcalfe’s message. What passed there
can only be conjectured. The consultation was a
long one; and when the Ministers returned, their
bearing was strangely altered. They spoke mnow
with an affable manner, and in a softened tone.
They said that the plan of advancing a British de-
tachment to the banks of the Sutlej would not be
opposed by the Rajah, if it were done in concert
with him, and in a friendly manner. The answer
was, that if the requisitions of the British Govern-
ment, from which the Envoy would on no account
recede, were complied with, everything would Dle
done in a friendly manner. Again the councillors
sought the Rajah; and again, after a protracted
consultation, they returned to the room where Met-
calfe was quietly awaiting them. The answer they
brought back was more satisfactory than he could
have anticipated cven in his most sanguine mo-
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ments. The Rajah, they said, was confident of our
friendly intentions, and agreed to all our proposals.
“ And so,” wrote Metcalfe, “the demands that I
had presented, respecting which I had not been able
for a fortnight to procure the least answer, were
now treated as if they were mere trifles with which
there was not the smallest difficulty in complying.”

But these were mere idle words—vague generalities
meaning nothing. On the same evening a deputation
waited on Metcalfe to inform him that the proposal
to advance troops to the Sutlej was so extraordinary,
that the Rajah could not give any definite answer
to the requisitions of the British Government until
he had consulted with his chiefs; that he thereforc
purposed to proceed on the following day to Um-
ritsur ; and that he requested the British Envoy to
follow him there. At this, Metcalfe, wontedly so
calm in his outward demeanor, fired up with be-
coming indignation. He thought, with the prophet
of old, that he “did well to be angry.” He de-
nounced the conduct of the Rajah as mere trickery
to gain time—trickery often repeated and now well
understood. He declared that such conduct was
disrespectful in the extreme to the British Govern-
ment ; that if the Rajah determined to march, in
the midst of the negotiation, he could not control
him; but that against such a proceeding he ear-
nestly and indignantly protested.

The remonstrance was not without its effect. The
precipitate movement to Umritsur was abandoned ;
and the negotiations were resumed. But there was
still the old system of chicanery at work—still the
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old excuses and the old delays. Foiled in his at-
tempts either to overbear or over-reach Metcalfe in
oral discussion, Runjeet now resorted to epistolary
communication. First of all he attempted a com-
promise ; but the young English statesman was re-
solute to submit to no half-measures. He called
for the fulfilment of the requisitions of the British
Government without stint or reservation; and his
unshaken firmness ere long achieved the desired
victory. Little by little, Runjeet, not without fresh
displays of procrastination and evasion, yielded to
the demands of the British Envoy. Ile saw that
the announcement of the intended advance of a
British detachment was not an empty menace.
Mectcalfe, it has been seen, was in communication
with the Commander-in-Chief, whose head-quarters
were in Saharunpore; and under instructions from
his Excellency, a detachment had been ordered for
service on the banks of the Sutlej. This detachment
was placed under the command of the fittest man in
the army that could have been nominated for the
performance of such a duty. It was placed under
the command of Colonel David Ochterlony. Early
in January it was ordered to advance.

The first service to be performed by this force was
the expulsion of the Sikh troops from Umballah,
where a considerable body had been for some time
posted. But the Rajah promised to withdraw his
men to his own side of the river, and desired Met-
calfe to consider it as done. But Performance, in
this case as in others, lagged far behind Promise ;
and Metcalfe, weary of all this falsehood and fraud,
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came to the determination that the time had come
for his departure from Runjeet’s Court, if the state
of the military preparations on the frontier seemed
to warrant so decided a step. But it was now the
policy of both parties to temporise. Runjeet was
collecting troops, and eager to gain time. General
Hewitt was making his dispositions, and eager also
to gain time. Metcalfe was recommended to tem-
porise; and by delay the war was averted. Awed
by the resolute bearing of his antagonists, the Sikh
began slowly and reluctantly to fulfil the conditions
demanded by the British Government. On the 6th
of January, one of Runjeet’s chiefs was despatched
to Umballah to recall the troops posted there, and to
make restitution of the place to its rightful owner.
In consequence of this, negotiations were resumed
at Umritsur, to which place the Court and the
Mission quietly proceeded in the middle of January.
Presuming on what he had done in the way of con-
cession, Runjeet demanded that now a treaty of
general amity should be concluded. But Metcalfe
pointed out that other conditions were yet to be
fulfilled ; that if Umballah were restored, Xheir and
Fureed-kote were not; and that he demanded the
cession of all the territory acquired since the arrival
of the Mission. It would take long to tell how
Runjeet promised and broke his promises; and how
from day to day the restitution of these places was
delayed; how the Sikh continued to demand a
treaty, and how the British Envoy called for the
fulfilment of the conditions necessary to the attain-
ment of what he sought. The month of January
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passed away; and the month of February passed
away. Military preparations on both sides were ad-
vancing ; but still Metcalfe remained at Runjeet’s
Court—still the negotiations appeared every morning
to be approaching a favorable issue, and still every
evening it was clear that these appearances had
been most delusive.*

It was whilst affairs were in this state that an in-
cident occurred which awakened Runjeet to a sense
of the danger which he would incur by a collision
with the British troops. At the end of February,
the annual festival of the Molurrum was celebrated
by the Mahomedan sepoys of Metcalfe’s escort. It
is the custom of the followers of the Prophet to
spend upon this great occasion considerable sums of
money on the construction and decoration of gigantic
cars, called Tazeeahs, which are paraded about for
several days in a mnoisy, obtrusive manner, to the
great delight of all true Mahomedans, who pride
themselves upon the grandeur of the ceremony, and
are little disposed to be stinted in their demonstra-
tions. Now the Mussulman sepoys of Metcalfe’s
escort, according to the custom of their sect, made a

* Among other complaints that
Runjeet made, was one to the cffect
that Metcalfe treated him like a Ja-
gecrdar (or pensioner). * He (Run-
jeet) observed (to Hafoozoodeen) on
my note, that when e made any pro-
posal, I replied that I had no autho-
rity; but when I brought forward my
own proposals, Iissuced my commands
to him as authoritatively as if he were
only a Jagecrdar.”—* Considering,”
wrote Metcalfe, “the efforts which I
have always made to conciliate the
Rajah—considering the patience and

forbearance which I have exercised
from first to last in my communica-
tions with him—considering that I
have been barely acquitted by my own
Government of the fault of carrying
moderation to a disgraceful length—
and considering, moreover, that the
late proceedings at this Court have
put my paticnce to a scverer trial
than it had ever before undergone, I
did not expect this charge from the
Rajah."—[Mr. Metcalte to Mr. Ed-
monstone, Junuary 4, 1809.]
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Tazeeah at the appointed time, and paraded it about,
with the usual ceremonies, in the neighbourhood of
the Mission camp. For three or four days this
went on without interruption; and then Metcalfe
was informed that the display of the Tazeeah gave
great offence to the priests of the great temple of
Umritsur. Had he known this before, he would
have prohibited the celebration of the festival, how-
ever unpopular the prohibition might have been to
all the Mahomedans in his camp. As it was—as the
ceremonies were now nearly over—he contented him-
self with giving orders that they should be performed
for the future in the most noiseless and unobtrusive
manner, and that the Tazeeah should not be any
more paraded about in public. All this was donc in
concert with Runjeet Singh, who condemned the
bigotry of the priests; and it was hoped that no
evil consequences would arise from this periodical
display of Mahomedan zeal. I did everything that
could be done,” said Metealfe, reporting the circum-
stances to Government, « to prevent any offence
being taken, except destroying the Tazeeah itself.
That could not be done without exciting great indig-
nation among the Mahomedans; and I had a right
to expect that within the precincts of the British
camp my attendants would be protected by the Go-
vernment in the free exercise of their religion.”
Still further to prevent the possibility of a collision,
it was agreed between Metcalfe and Runjeet that
the former should restrain the sepoys from going
into the town, and the latter should prevent the
people from entering the Mission camp. The
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English gentleman performed his part of the com-
pact ; the Sikh ruler did not. On the morning of the
25th of February a party of religious fanatics—half-
soldiers, half-devotees — known as Akalis, marched
out of the town, with drum